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PART I
Iltem 1. Business

We are an integrated media and entertainment coynpancipally engaged in the development, producaind marketing of television
programming, pay-per- view programming and livergseand the licensing and sale of branded consproeucts featuring our highly
successful World Wrestling Federation brand. Weehasen involved in the sports entertainment busif@sover 20 years, and have
developed the World Wrestling Federation into ohthe most popular forms of entertainment today. ke utilizing this experience in the
creation of the XFL, a professional football leaguhich will begin its inaugural season in Februad@1. See "New Business Developme
for a further discussion of the XFL. We have expeced significant growth in many aspects of ouiress. We believe this growth has been
driven by a series of management decisions indtitdeeposition our business. These decisions disclu

. Expanding our story lines through the furtheegration of contemporary themes;

. Increasing our focus on the continuous developroktalented young performers to supplement oat pbestablished talent;

. Developing additional weekly television programmiand intensifying our pay-per-view marketing effdo expand our audience;
. Bringing the distribution of home videos and publication and distribution of direct mail catatoig-house;

. Expanding the licensing and direct sale of oanldded merchandise;

. Negotiating agreements to expand our rights tadeertising time on our television programmimd

. Establishing a presence on the Internet to fugthemote our brand, generate additional revemaausts, and provide our fans with a channel
for interactive communication.

Our objectives are to broaden our leadership positi the creation, production and promotion of fuum of televised and live entertainment
events and to leverage our technical and operakiitig to pursue complementary entertainmeased business opportunities. Some of the
elements of our strategy are to:

. Continue to produce high quality, branded progrémg, live events and consumer products for wortiiwdistribution;

. Expand our existing television and pay-per-viastribution relationships and develop broader distion arrangements for our branded
programming worldwide;

. Increase the licensing and direct sales of oamdbed products through our distribution channels;
. Further develop the Internet as an entertainraedtadvertising platform;

. Form strategic relationships with other media antbrtainment companies, such as National BroéidgaSompany, Inc. ("NBC") and CBS
and its parent company Viacom Inc. ("Viacom / CB®d)further promote our brand and our productstargkevelop new brands, such as the
XFL;

. Develop new non-core programming; and
. Grow location-based entertainment sites, suauasecently acquired WWF NY themed complex in TsnSgjuare.
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In October 1999, we sold 11,500,000 shares (inotithie underwriters' overallotment of 1,500,000a)gof Class A common stock to the
public at an initial offering price of $17.00 pédrase. World Wrestling Federation Entertainment,,Ifarmerly known as Titan Sports, Inc.,
was incorporated in Delaware in 1987, and in 1988werged with our predecessor company, which hetieeixsince 1980. Our operations
include our whollyewned subsidiaries, World Wrestling Federation Eatement Canada, Inc., Stephanie Music Publishiag WWF Hotel
and Casino Ventures, LLC, TSI Realty Company, E8mices, Inc., WWF New York, Inc., WWFE Sports;.land our majority owned
subsidiary, Titan/Shane Partnership. WWFE Spants,dwns 50% and currently has operating contradfef, LLC which is a new venture
established with NBC.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, "WWF" refersWorld Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc. @#sdubsidiaries and its
predecessors, unless the context otherwise req&iegerences to "we," "us," "our" and the "Compargfer to WWF and its subsidiaries.
World Wrestling Federation and the World WrestlFgederation logo are two of our marks. The Annugdd®eon Form 10-K also contains
other of our trademarks and trade names as wétiogse of other companies. All trademarks and tredees appearing in this report are the
property of their respective holders.

Creative Development and Production

We believe that we have developed the World Wresthiederation brand into one of the most recogiézsfiorts entertainment brands in the
world. We believe our brand can be further levedageenhance our existing businesses by:

. Continuing to develop creative story lines, eaieing characters, exciting live events and talediprogramming;

. Recruiting, developing and maintaining a rosfdnighly skilled athletes who have the physicalgerece, acting ability and charisma to
develop into popular performers;

. Promoting our brand identity through sponsorsHipsnsing, marketing, advertising and other at#ig featuring our performers; and
. Providing opportunities for our performers tdiaé their talents in other forms of television gramming and film projects.

Our creative team, headed by Vincent McMahon, dms=soap opera-like story lines employing the statleniques that are used by many
successful dramatic television series. The intemastamong the characters reflect a wide varietyootemporary topics, often depicting
exaggerated versions of real life situations ampitgily containing "good versus evil" or "settlitlte score" themes. Story lines are usually
played out in the wrestling ring, our main stage] &pically unfold on our weekly television shoasd monthly pay- per-view events.
Woven into the story lines is the ongoing compatitior the various World Wrestling Federation Champhip titles.

In addition, our creative team develops a chardotezach performer. Once a character's basistnave been formulated, we work to define
and emphasize those traits through various acdessarcluding costumes and entrance music. Wetbemights to substantially all of our
characters, and we exclusively license the riglgtslarnot own through agreements with our performers

Our success is, in large part, due to the contmpivpularity of our performers. We currently haxelasive contracts with approximately 120
performers, ranging from development contracts wittspective performers to long term guaranteedracts with established performers.
These contracts vary depending upon a number tdriadncluding the individual's popularity with maudience, his or her skill level, his or
her prior experience and our needs.



Our performers are independent contractors whigtdy trained and motivated and portray popularelters such as Stone Cold Steve
Austin, The Rock, The Undertaker, Triple H, Chyldane and Kurt Angle. We constantly seek to identi&cruit and develop additional
performers for our business. Once recruited, astad performers are immediately incorporated atostory lines while less experienced
performers are invited to participate in our extemsraining program. Under agreements with redignemotors of wrestling events in,
among other places, Southern California, Kentueky Tennessee promising candidates are often 'iban¢he regional promoters allowing
these new performers to hone their skills by wagkimfront of live audiences and appearing on leekdvision programs. The most succes
and popular performers are then incorporated intaeevision programming and pay-per-view everlterg their characters are more fully
developed.

With limited exceptions, we retain all proprietaights in perpetuity to any intellectual propeiyat is developed in connection with the
characters portrayed by our performers. This inefutthe character and any associated costumes, nanogs, story lines and merchandise.
Our performers share in a portion of the revenbaswe receive. We believe that our relationshifih aur performers are generally
satisfactory.

Live and Televised Entertainment

Live events, television shows and pay-per-view progming are our principal creative and productiotivities. Revenues from these
activities were approximately $265.5 million, $17@illion and $92.6 million in fiscal 2000, 1999chh998, respectively. For additional
segment information, see Note 15 of Notes to Catat@d Financial Statements.

Live Events

Live events are the cornerstone of our businespendde the content for our television and pay-yew programming. Each event is a
highly theatrical production, which involves a sfgrant degree of audience participation and emghgrious special effects, including
lighting, pyrotechnics, powerful entrance musiaj anvariety of props.

In fiscal 2000, we held approximately 206 live etgein approximately 100 cities in North Americaglinding 18 of the 20 largest metropoli
areas in the United States, as well as severahgiienal locations. Attendance at our live evemas 2.5 million, 2.3 million and 1.6 million
for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2000, 1999 2868, respectively.

Over this period, we have consistently held ous Bvents at major arenas, such as Madison SquadeiGia New York City, Arrowhead
Pond of Anaheim, Allstate Arena in Chicago, Firgtidh Center in Philadelphia and Fleet Center int&wos

We promote our live events through a variety of imgihcluding television, radio, print, and thedmiet. Our revenues from the live events
are primarily derived from ticket sales, with psder most live events averaging approximately p@7ticket. At Wrestlemania, our premier
event, a ringside seat, including the souvenirrcisails for up to $400. The operator of a venuetath our live event is held typically
receives a fixed fee or a percentage of the revefrom ticket and merchandise sales for use ovémeie.

Television Programming

We are an independent producer of television praogreng. Relying primarily on our in-house producticeppabilities, we produce seven
shows consisting of nine hours of original programyb2 weeks per year.

Four of our seven television shows are currentiyied by the USA Network ("USA"), which is avail&bin approximately 78 million
households in the United States. These includélagship two-hour production, Raw is War, and SynNaght Heat, both of which air in
prime time, and Live Wire and Superstars, postdpeced "magazine” type shows that air on SaturddySamday mornings, and are edited
with younger viewers in mind. We also produce WWEtd and WWF Jakked, which are shown by over 188drast stations across the
country in syndication. Our newest show, WWF Smamkb!, which first aired in August 1999, is a twothgrime-time program on the
United Paramount Network ("UPN"), which is availalih approximately 86 million households in the tddiStates. We voluntarily designi
the suitability of each of our shows using standalelvision industry ratings.
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We anticipate that, effective September 25, 2000fiwe hours of programming currently airing on AJSetwork will be broadcast on cable
networks owned by Viacom/CBS. See "New Businessld@ments" for further information.

According to the Nielsen ratings service, Raw i Was the number one rated regularly scheduled simoeable television for 32 weeks
during our fiscal year ended April 30, 2000, aclrigvan average weekly rating of 6.2. In additidngs its inception, WWF SmackDown! t
been the number one rated weekly program on UPNewag an average weekly rating of 4.7. In fis2@00, Sunday Night Heat achieved an
average weekly Nielsen rating of 3.5. Based onetlhatings, for the year ended April 30, 2000, RaWiar averaged approximately 6.7
million viewers weekly, Sunday Night Heat averagpgroximately 3.8 million viewers weekly and, siritseinception, WWF SmackDown!
averaged 6.6 million viewers weekly.

Our programming is principally directed to audieneged 18 to 34. In the past couple of years sitdg@ome particularly popular with two
groups that are highly coveted by advertisers: satged 18 to 34 and teenagers aged 12 to 17.

We sell advertising time on our television programsver 110 major advertisers and sponsors. Abuegttime and customized sponsorship
programs are sold directly by our New York, Chicagal Toronto-based sales forces since we are upigasitioned to offer comprehensive
advertising programs across all of our media ositietluding our television shows, magazines, heesites, and various live and pay-per-
view events. We believe our ability to offer ouvadisers and sponsors such a comprehensive pragmabies us to maximize the value of
the advertising time in our television programs.

In September 1998, we entered into an arrangemiémtive USA Network pursuant to which we have fightrto sell a substantial majority
the advertising inventory in our shows in exchafigeour obligation to pay the network the greatea dixed percentage of our net advertis
revenues or a minimum guaranteed amount. We aatecipat this agreement will be replaced with the agreement with Viacom/CBS. We
also have an arrangement with UPN, pursuant tolwiie sell a substantial majority of the advertisimgentory in WWF SmackDown!,
which began airing in August 1999, in exchangeoiar obligation to pay the network the greater &ikad percentage of our net advertising
revenues, less production costs, or a minimum giueed amount.

We also sell sponsorships designed to meet theqiional needs of advertisers. These range fronepteg) the Slam Of The Week, a 35-
second spot that airs within our television progsata sponsoring our annual Wrestlemania evenbudir these sponsorships, we offer
advertisers a full range of our promotional velsciacluding television, Internet and print advartg, arena signage, on-air announcements
and special appearances by our performers. We tisb/products from some of the leading companidgkérfood and beverage, video game,
toy, movie and television studio and telecommunicest industries, among others.

Our state-of-the-art facility in Stamford, Conneati, which houses our television and music recgrdindios and post-production operations,
is staffed by 84 employees, including producengalors, editors, cameramen, audio engineers, grdpkigners, English and Spanish-
speaking announcers and an administrative staffotfersees the production schedule. Our staff gereanted by freelance technicians who
assist in our remote television broadcasts. We fgaxpand our facility and continue to upgrade pnaduction equipment as necessary.

Pay-Per-View Programming

Each pay-per-view event is a live three-hour etleat we intensively market and promote throughtelavision shows, our Internet sites, and
a variety of other promotional campaigns.

We have been pioneers in both the production aochgtion of pay-per-view events, since our first pey-view event, Wrestlemania, in
1985. By fiscal 1996, we increased our domesticpetyview offerings to 12 per year. Our events @irstly rank among the pay-per-view
programs achieving the highest number of buysisktaf 2000, we had approximately 6.8 million bugsthese events. Wrestlemania 2000
which aired in April 2000 had approximately 0.8 lioit buys, making it one of the most subscribed-pax-view programs ever.
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Pay-per-view buys of our events have more than lddutiver the past three fiscal years, increasir@gy&anillion in fiscal 2000 from 5.4
million in fiscal 1999 and 2.9 million in fiscal 98.

Our premier event, Wrestlemania, has a suggesteil pece of $39.95 and each of our other 11 ddiogmy-perview events has a sugges
retail price of $29.95. Consistent with industragtices, we share the revenues with the cableragsied pay a fee to inDemand, the leading
distributor of pay-per-view programming in the UdtStates.

Currently, pay-per-view is available to approxinha#®4 million cable subscribers in the United Ssatar approximately 55% of total cable
subscribers. inDemand has the capacity to dis&ibut pay-per-view broadcasts to approximately #Bom cable subscribers. We use other
distribution channels to reach the balance of siate subscribers in the United States. We alse hamangements with DIRECTV and a
growing number of other satellite distributors tother increase the potential subscriber base opay-per- view events.

International

During fiscal 2000, we continued to grow internatily. Our programs are viewed in over 150 coustard in 11 different languages. We
recently signed a five year contract with BSkyB anghe year contract with Channel 4 in the Unitétgklom to air our programs weekly and
signed agreements with Canal Plus in France andiBre in Germany. In fiscal 2001, we expect to tard to expand our reach into other
markets around the world.

The BSkyB and Channel 4 contracts have signifigaaspanded our access to the UK market. In May 2000UK pay-per-view special
generated a 65% increase in buys as compared fscalr 2000 UK pay-per-view special. In connectiwith our agreement with BSkyB, we
are committed to have a minimum of two UK pay- pew programs during each fiscal year through ARi] 2003.

Branded Merchandise

We offer a wide variety of branded retail merchaedhrough both a well- developed domestic andnatenal licensing program and a
comprehensive direct sales effort. We and our §iees market this merchandise through a varietystilgltion channels, including mass
market and specialty retailers, concession stahdsrdive events, and our television programsgiinét sites, magazines and direct mail
catalogs.

Our revenues from the sale of our branded merckandére approximately $113.8 million, $ 81.4 milliand $33.6 million in fiscal 2000,
1999 and 1998, respectively. For additional segrimfatmation, see Note 15 of Notes to Consolid&gethncial Statements.

Licensing and Direct Sales

We have a well-developed domestic and internatiticehsing program using our World Wrestling Federamark and logo, copyrighted
works and characters on thousands of retail preditiuding toys, video games, apparel, and a agd®rtment of other items. As part of
strategic repositioning in 1997, we began to expaggtessively the number of licensees from less Hiato approximately 125. In all of our
licensing agreements, we retain creative approval the design, packaging and location of, anctbenotional material associated with, all
licensed products to maintain the distinctive stidek and quality of our intellectual property am@nd. Our licensing agreements provide
that we receive a percentage of the wholesale tmgeas a royalty and require minimum guaranteds petiodic advances. In addition to our
in-house staff, we contract with outside agenisiémtify, develop and monitor our licensing arramgats. In fiscal 2000, we estimated retail
revenues from the sale of our branded merchanklisedh our licensees at approximately $625.0 nmillio

Our direct merchandise operations consist of tlsggde marketing and sale of various products, sisckhirts, caps and other items, all of
which feature our characters or our World Wresthggleration logo. All of these products are desigmeour in-house creative staff and
manufactured by third parties. The merchandiselis &t our live events under arrangements withatle@as, which receive a percentage o
revenues. Our merchandise is also sold throughmiallg developed catalogs, which are distributedquically as part of World Wrestling
Federation Magazine and



RAW Magazine. We also sell merchandise on a divasts via our television shows and our wwfshopzmoma.Internet site.
Home Video

We own and continue to amass a video library cairtgithousands of hours of programming from our-passview events and our television
shows dating back to the 1970s. Beginning in the-19i80s, this library was used in the productiod sale of home videos by a licensee. In
1998, we began to produce and market home videbsuse. In addition to producing videos from obrdry footage, we create new videos
utilizing original footage produced specificallyrfinis purpose. We create master tapes and contitica third party to duplicate and
distribute the videos to retailers nationwide, sastBlockbuster Video, Wal-Mart and Target. Ouredsl are sold at retail sales prices ranging
from $14.95 to $39.95.

Unit sales in fiscal 2000 of in-house operationsengpproximately 2.6 million units. Our home videwsenues are derived from sales through
approximately 40 unaffiliated distributors and/inedt customers. According to Billboard Magazineyen of our home videos ranked among
the top 10 best selling home videos in the "Spardg&gory as of July 3, 2000.

Music

Music is an integral part of the entertainment eiquese at our live events and on our televisiorgprmns. We compose and record theme
songs tailored to our characters in our recordindis in Stamford, Connecticut. We and a third-panusic publisher own the musical
composition rights to this music and we own alttef sound recording rights to our master recordiAghird party manufactures, markets
and distributes CDs of our music to retailers matimle, such as MusicLand, K-Mart, Wal-Mart, BestyBand Transworld.

Recently, we hired a president of our newly createdrd division who will be responsible for thediembusiness, including the publishing,
marketing and distribution of our music. Duringchi$ 2001, we plan to release a rock compilationichvkvill be our first aloum with
Columbia Records, a unit of Sony Music Entertainm@ur long-term business plan is to attract reicgy@rtists to record their music under
our own label.

Five albums containing our music have been releadadtwo recent compilations containing WWF muSi8)VF Aggression, reached
number eight on the Billboard Top 200 Album Chartl achieved gold status, selling approximatelynilbon units as of July 3, 2000 and
WWEF The Music Volume IV reached number four on Bildboard Top 200 Album Chart and achieved platinstatus, selling approximately
1.1 million units as of July 3, 2000.

Publishing

Our publishing operations consist primarily of tmonthly magazines, World Wrestling Federation Magaand RAW Magazine, which are
used to help shape and complement our story Imesii television programs and at our live events.aMo include our direct marketing
catalog in our magazines on a quarterly basis.m&gazines include color photographs taken at rdisenévents, biographies and features of
our performers, and human interest articles. Oorliined newsstand and combined subscription ciiicustapproximated 4.0 million and 2
million, respectively, in fiscal 2000.

Our in-house publishing and editorial departmemnépare all of the editorial content and use outs@gractors to print and distribute the
magazines to subscribers and newsstands.

During fiscal 2000, through our licensee ReganBoulsreleased two hardcover autobiographies opetformers, "The Rock Says..." and
"Mankind:

Have a Nice Day". Both books reached number 1 anNéw York Times Bestsellers List. During fiscaD20through ReganBooks, we will
be releasing autobiographies on Chyna and the &abioolah, as well as Mick Foley's holiday bookjstorical look at Wrestlemania an
WWF cookbook.



New Media

We utilize the Internet to promote our brand, @eatommunity experience among our fans, and marictistribute our various products.
Through our network of Internet sites, our fans parchase our branded merchandise on- line, obtaitatest news and information,
including content that is accessible only on-listay abreast of our evolving story lines, tap interactive chat rooms to communicate with
each other and our performers, and experiencevativideo and audio clips of performers and previmedia events. We also offer users
ability to purchase our webcast pay-per-view eveims promote wwf.com on our televised programmatgur live events, in our two
monthly magazines and in substantially all of oarketing and promotional materials. In additiomiasf.com, our network of sites includes,
among others, wwfshopzone.com, stonecold.com, ¢kezom, wwfdivas.com and wwfecorpbiz.com.

Our desirable demographics, combined with the velaiftraffic on our network of Internet sites, eleals to attract prospective advertisers
for our web sites. Advertising on our network désiis priced on a cost per million basis deterchioyg page impressions and is primarily ¢
directly by us. In fiscal 2000, we established dicgted Internet advertising sales force to mapoketsites to current and prospective
advertisers. Our Internet advertising revenuesemed to $6.9 million in fiscal 2000 from $0.8 ioifl in fiscal 1999.

Our Internet presence has been expanding at anatgidWe have experienced a significant increasled number of people visiting our sites
and purchasing our products via the Internet. énrtlonth of April 2000, our main site, wwf.com, geated approximately 200 million page
views as compared to 86 million page views in Ap&B9 and according to PC Data Online, we had aqpidely 4.4 million visitors in Apri
2000 as compared to 1.8 million in April 1999. ¥hd million visitors spent an average of 24 minuwawour site. In April 2000, we were the
fourth ranked sports-only web site among all aucksnbehind ESPN, SportsLineUSA and CNNSI; and anmagles aged 12 to 17, we were
the third ranked entertainment and news informatieb site.

New Business Development

As part of our strategy to broaden our leadersbgitipn in the creation, production and promotiémor brand and to further leverage our
technical and operating skills and to pursue neaméls and complementary businesses, we have agreetet into a strategic alliance with
Viacom/CBS, established a new professional footlkaljue called the XFL with NBC and purchased a Wit\éfmed entertainment complex
from our licensee in New York City.

New Television Distribution Agreement

In April 2000, we agreed to enter into a strategii@ance with Viacom/CBS. This alliance will allows to broaden our viewing audience by
providing us access to a variety of television reeks and other operations from which we can prormatebrand and distribute our programs.
Under this agreement, effective with the televisseason beginning in September 2000 and contirthiegigh the television season ending
September 2005, five hours of our programming,entty broadcast by USA Network, will be moved tbleanetworks owned by
Viacom/CBS. Our flagship program, Raw is War ad aglour post produced programs, Live Wire and &iges, will air on The TNN
Network ("TNN") and Sunday Night Heat will air onugic Television ("MTV"). The combined effect of spromotion among a number
networks, and the inclusion of our program on MThhwits large and youthful demographic is expedtedontinue to increase exposure of
our brand to our target audience. As with our aurtelevision contract, we will sell a substantiajority of the commercial advertising for
the TNN programs. Sales of commercial advertisorgSunday Night Heat on MTV will be made by the M$&les force. The contract
provides for lower participation percentages arfabtantially reduced minimum advertising guarant@ég. contract also significantly
increases rights fees paid to us for these progeamdgrovides additional compensation, includingveihg us to produce up to seven specials
a year, at our discretion, for mutually agreed upghts fees. The effectiveness of the Viacom/CBi&@ree is conditioned upon our prevaili

in USA's appeal of a decision favorable to ustigdition brought by USA. See "Legal Proceedings."
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XFL

As part of our strategy to create new brands, werdened that there is a significant amount ofifgerest in a new professional football
league, and we developed a business plan to estableague called the XFL. To implement the plahave entered into a venture with
NBC to own and fund the league. Commencing in Fatyr@001, the XFL will begin its inaugural seasathveight teams playing a total

ten regular season games, culminating with two-pfigames and the XFL championship game. NBC lwitladcast XFL regular season and
championship games. The season will coincide vii¢heind of the National Football League's ("NFL'Qukar season, playoffs and Super
Bowl, where fan interest is at its peak. We intemdapitalize on this interest and established wigwpatterns for the NFL. The eight cities
selected are Chicago, New York/New Jersey, Los Fsg&an Jose, Las Vegas, Birmingham, Memphis ataohdb.

Each of the teams will have an active roster opla§ers and a taxi squad of seven players. Ittisipated that a substantial portion of the
player's compensation will be derived from bonuseyofor each game won during the regular seasomahdre in the $1.0 million XFL
championship bonus pool, while earning a modest bakary. Total player compensation, including tsopools for games won, will be
determined on an annual basis by the league office.

On a weekly basis, one game will air during pririmeet Saturday nights on NBC, one game will air dgijimime-time on Sunday evenings on
UPN and a third game will air at a time and on lleaetwork that has yet to be determined. We anently exploring several possible cable
networks to air the third game. Our intention isniplement rule and other changes designed to peodudaster paced, hard hitting brand of
football. We also plan to have the viewers moreined in the game by allowing them wider acceshéoaction on and off the field.

As of July 14, 2000 we have hired approximatelyeB&loyees, which include five team general manag&rer the next three to four months
we expect to have all of our general managers aad boaches selected as well as our administistifehired. In addition, we have recei\
over 15,000 applications for football players anigind to have our league player draft in Octobéh several mini-training camps and a four
week training camp in January 2001.

WWEF NY

In January 2000, one of our licensees opened a \WiatRed entertainment complex in Times Squareght bf the high visibility of the
complex and its importance to our brand, in May®@@ purchased this complex for approximately $2dilion and took over management
of its operations, believing that we could furtkehance the complex as an entertainment destin&ti@addition, we spent approximately $
million on audio/visual equipment for the complexdaxpect to make additional capital expenditufek2dd million to $3.0 million during
fiscal 2001. Our business plan for the entertairtmemplex is based on our ability to attract oursféo a specific location and to provide a
high level of entertainment. The complex will prd&iour fans with interactive entertainment, inahgdirom time to time:

. the production of various daily afternoon telésisshows in addition to other television programgji
. the airing of our regularly scheduled TV showd pay-per-views,

. the backdrop for our post-produced 'magazine shdwewire and Superstars,

. the potential showcase of some of our up and egmack groups and acts,

. ongoing appearances by our performers and aygbg®ssions, and

. the potential of a disco night club.

The 46,500 foot complex includes a stage areat iigh, restaurant, full service bar, and a restite.
Competition

As an entertainment company, we compete for emmentnt and advertising dollars with other entertaént and leisure activities. Our live
events face competition from professional and gelleaseball, basketball, hockey and football, anudhgr activities, in most cities in which
we hold those live events. We also compete fond#iace, broadcast audiences and advertising rewégtiua wide range of alternative
entertainment and leisure activities.



We compete in the sports entertainment busine#gelates to wrestling on a national basis primyasiith World Championship Wrestling
("WCW"). We compete with WCW in all aspects of duwsiness, including viewership, access to arehassdle and licensing of branded
merchandise and distribution channels for our teta/programs. We also directly compete to fince bind retain talented performers. WCW
has substantially greater financial resources o and is affiliated with television cable netiwwon which WCW's programs are aired.
Notwithstanding, we believe that our sports entent@nt product is highly differentiated from thasfeour competitors by our creati
capabilities, production values, character devekmrand story lines. Other sources of competitioour sports entertainment market are
regional promoters of wrestling events.

With the introduction of the XFL, in addition to m&ports programming, we will compete for viewepsiith the NBA and NHL. We will
compete for players with, among others, the CFLn@@dian Football League) and the AFL (Arena Footbedigue).

In addition to a wide variety of clubs and othetegtainment centers in the New York metropolitasaalWWF NY competes with themed ¢
other restaurants in the Times Square area. Weheekever, that our loyal fans will be drawn to #rgertainment complex when they are in
New York.

Trademarks and Copyrights

We have a portfolio of approximately 1,500 registeand pending trademarks and service marks wattlamd maintain a catalog of
approximately 5,000 registered copyrights on albaf merchandise containing artwork, including rharaise, music, photographs, books
and magazines, videos and apparel art. The focasrakgistration effort is to register marks anatks which embody our trademarked and
copyrighted characters portrayed by our perforrmagswhich encompass images, likenesses or nantkessa characters, commonly referred
to as their trade dress. On an annual basis, vigteegpproximately 300 copyrights, trademarks semdice marks covering all of the
merchandise, publications, home videos, programmirtjcharacters featured in our story lines. Weeatlly own over 350 Internet web
domain names and have a network of developed sitésh contribute to the exploitation of our tradsks and service marks worldwide. We
have the right to use the initials "WWF" as a segwmiark and trademark for our sports entertainmenvices. In 1994, we entered into an
agreement with an unaffiliated third party, WWF-\Wdowide Fund for Nature (the "Fund"), a nonprofiv@onmental conservation
organization, that sets forth limitations with respto our use of these initials domestically anidmationally. This agreement did permit our
use of the then-current World Wrestling Federatamgo anywhere in the world. Our current World Wlest Federation logo contains the
initials "WWEF" in a highly- stylized way and is aarate and independently recognized commerciakisspn. While we believe that the
logo is not restricted by the agreement, the Flagdihitiated litigation seeking injunctive relieidadamages for alleged breaches of the
agreement. See "Legal Proceedings." We vigorousiyree our intellectual property rights by, amorniges things, searching the Internet to
ascertain unauthorized use of our intellectual eriyp seizing goods at our live events that featurauthorized use of our intellectual prop:
and seeking restraining orders in court againstiagiyidual or entity infringing on our intellectlproperty rights.

Employees

As of July 3, 2000, excluding our XFL and WWF NYesgtions, we had 362 fullme employees. Of that total, 130 were primaritgaged il
organizing and producing live performances andsislen and pay-per-view shows, 71 were primarilgaged in licensing, merchandising
and consumer product sales, and 161 were primamdyaged in management and administration. Our iséaproduction staff is
supplemented with contract personnel on an as ddsatgs.

To support the XFL, we anticipate hiring approxielat300 employees over the next three to four mmrithese new employees include
individual team general managers, head coacheshitmpstaffs and other football personnel in additio league and team administrative
staff. Additionally, we will sign over 350 footbgllayers to contracts after the annual player dnadt subsequent tryout camps in the fall of
2000. As of July 14, 2000, we had 28 full-time X&Mployees.



As of July 3, 2000, we had approximately 216 fuld employees at the WWF NY complex. Of that ta2&lwere engaged in the
management and administration and 190 were hoorplayees engaged in the food service and enter&ihaspects of the complex.

We believe that our relationships with our emplayaee generally satisfactory. None of our employgespresented by a union.
Item 2. Properties

We maintain our executive offices, television angsio recording studios, post-production operatams warehouses at locations in or near
Stamford, Connecticut, and sales offices in Newky @hicago, and Toronto, Canada.

We own the buildings in which our executive and adstrative offices, our television and music reding studios and our post-production
operations are located. We lease space for ows efflees, our warehouse facilities and our entent@nt complex. While we believe that our
facilities are adequate for our current needs, theenext year we plan to expand our studios, esssary and, as a matter of policy, will
continue to invest in new equipment in order tontain our state-of-the-art facility.

Our principal properties consist of the following:

Expiration D ate
Facility (1) Location Squar e Feet Owned/Leased of Lease
Executive offices Stamford, CT 1 14,300 Owned
Production studios Stamford, CT 39,900(2) Owned -
Sales office New York, NY 10,075 Leased July 15, 2 008
Sales office Toronto, Canada 3,311 Leased April 30, 2004
Sales office Chicago, IL 347 Leased May 31, 20 01
Warehouse Trumbull, CT 20,000 Leased August 9, 2004
Entertainment complex New York, NY 46,500 Leased October 31 , 2017

(1) Does not include our 193-room hotel and casiricas Vegas, Nevada, which is currently classifisdan asset held for sale on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet. See Note 6 of Not€stsolidated Financial Statements.
(2) Excluding 138,000 square feet of parking spadjacent to the production facilities.

In addition, we own a daycare facility in Stamfo@hnnecticut on property adjacent to our productaamilities, which originally offered child
care services only to our employees but is now agen to the public. The licensing and operatiothis facility is fully managed by a third-
party contractor. We have the responsibility toagbthe required licenses and to ensure that tityameets health, safety, fire and building
codes.

Regulation
Live Events

In certain states in the United States we are requo comply with regulations of state athletienznissions and other applicable regulatory
agencies in order to promote and conduct our Interéainment. Twenty-four states require that weioba promoter's license, which is a
corporate license necessary for us to promoteiveielents and is granted to us on an annual bRsEsnty-one states require our performers
and referees to obtain a performer's license, wilsieim individual license necessary for our perensrand referees to perform at our live
events and is granted to them on an annual bdsigeliEstates require that our performers take anarphysical examination. In addition to
the annual licenses that certain states requinestiges require that we obtain a permit for eaemithat we hold. We are also subject to the
regulations of athletic commissions in certain Ghaa provinces. These commissions require thathtaito promoter's licenses and medical
approval for our performers. We are in compliandth wll applicable state and local athletic comneisgegulations.
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Television Programming

The production and distribution of television pragnming by independent producers is not directlyleatgd by the federal or state
governments, but the marketplace for televisiog@amming in the United States is substantiallycéd by regulations of the Federal
Communications Commission applicable to televigitations, television networks and cable televisigstems and channels. We voluntarily
designate the suitability of each of our televisséhiows using standard industry ratings, such ad PG or TV14.

Other

Currently we own a 193-room hotel in Las Vegas, &tk which is subject to applicable regulatory megoents. In addition, we own a
daycare facility in Stamford, Connecticut operatgda third party, which is subject to applicablatstregulatory requirements.

Our WWF NY complex will be governed by New York &tand City rules and regulations relating to lzend restaurants including liquor
regulations and fire and health codes.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On May 13, 1991, William R. Eadie, a former proferal wrestler who had been one of our performides] a lawsuit in state court in
Wisconsin against us and Mr. McMahon. The caserem®ved to the United States District Court for Ehstrict of Connecticut on August
1991. The suit alleges that we breached an orakagent to compensate Eadie for the use of his ideamnection with a wrestling tag team
called "Demolition" and to employ him for life. mff is seeking $6.5 million in compensatory dagea and unspecified punitive damages.
We have denied any liability and are vigorouslytesting this action. In a similar action filed aggtius on April 10, 1992 in the United St
District Court for the District of Connecticut, RnColley, a former professional wrestler who haeémone of our performers, also alleges
that we breached an oral agreement to compensati®hidisclosing his idea for a wrestling tag teeailed "Demolition." He is seeking
unspecified compensatory and punitive damages. &V/e Henied any liability and are vigorously defegdihis action. Colley's claims were
consolidated for trial with those of Eadie. We beé that both plaintiffs' claims are without me@n May 20, 1998, a magistrate judge ruled
that the plaintiffs' expert on damages could nstifieat trial. Thereafter, the plaintiffs engageedecond expert on damages, whose report wa:
filed on August 31, 1999. Given the substance efsthicond expert's opinion, as well as continuingld@ments in the law regarding the
relevance and reliability of expert opinions, ihist possible to predict whether this second eigepinion will be admitted into evidence at
trial. At a hearing held on July 12, 2000, the Galiowed plaintiffs to amend their complaint arllbaed us to file a Motion to Dismiss. We
believe that an unfavorable outcome in these astioay have a material adverse effect on our firueoindition, results of operations or
prospects.

On June 21, 1996, we filed an action against WCW/ eurner Broadcasting Systems, Inc. ("TBS") inltheted States District Court for the
District of Connecticut, alleging unfair competitiand infringement of our copyrights, servicemaakd trademarks with respect to two
characters owned by us, Razor Ramon and DieseM&n18, 1998, WCW filed an action against us inltthited States District Court for t
District of Connecticut and immediately moved tmsolidate this action with our pending action agaWCW and TBS. WCW alleged that
we diluted various marks owned by and/or licenged/CW by disparaging those marks and also claimtswe engaged in unfair competit|
when we aired a "Flashback" series of past Worléating Federation performances on USA Network adtidisclosing that some of the
performers, at the time the series was subsequertfdcast, were then affiliated with WCW. The jggrhave resolved the pending litigation
between them to their mutual satisfaction.

On June 15, 1999, members of the family of Owert,Haprofessional wrestler performing under coritveith us, filed suit in state court in
Missouri against us, Vincent and Linda McMahon aimé other defendants, including the manufacturénerigging equipment involved,
individual equipment riggers and the arena opera®a result of the death of Owen Hart duringyaex-view event at Kemper Arena in
Kansas City, Missouri on May 23, 1999. The spedgfiegations against us include the failure toarsiinary care to provide proper equipmnr
and personnel for the safety of Owen Hart, theufaito take special precautions when conductiniglaerently dangerous activity,
endangerment and the failure to warn, vicariodsllts for the negligence of the named individuafeindants, the
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failure to properly train and supervise, and thevjgion of dangerous and unsafe equipment. Plisrgdek compensatory and punitive
damages in unspecified amounts. On September 9, W89filed our answer, affirmative defenses amdsifclaims, denying any liability for
negligence and other claims asserted against bseguently, the manufacturing defendants settlediwae have filed third party petitions
against them. We believe that we have meritori@isrises and intend to defend vigorously againssuiteOn October 1, 1999, we filed a
complaint in the United States District Court foe tDistrict of Connecticut, principally seeking ecthratory judgment with respect to the
enforceability of contractual defenses, forum d&@cclauses, and other provisions of Owen Hadfgract with us. The defendants have f

a Motion to Dismiss our complaint for want of judistion which is currently pending before the co@h February 22, 2000, we filed an
Emergency Motion for Specific Enforcement of and$ummary Judgment on Forum Selection Clause sg@kiegal ruling that any claims
belonging to Owen Hart arising out of his relatioipswith us be adjudicated in Connecticut. Our mofis currently pending. We believe that
an unfavorable outcome of this suit may have a nadtdverse effect on our financial condition,ulés of operations or prospects.

On September 20, 1999, we were formally served avitbmplaint regarding an action that Nicole Bagsrofessional wrestler previously
affiliated with us, filed in the United States Dist Court for the Eastern District of New Yorkivhich she alleges sexual harassment under
New York law, civil assault and intentional inflich of emotional distress. Bass's complaint so$g6t0 million in compensatory damag

and $100.0 million in punitive damages. On or alidovember 9, 1999 we received a Notice of Chargeisérimination from the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) filed bicdle Bass. On January 27, 2000, the EEOC closdidaton her claim. We filed a
Motion to Dismiss the complaint on or about Januy2000. Plaintiff filed an amended complaintr@bruary 28, 2000 withdrawing her
stated demand of $100.0 million in punitive damaaesvell as her claims of civil assault and intemai infliction of emotional distress. The
amended complaint now seeks relief under TitlefgillSexual Harassment, Title 42 (S)1981 (a) fordgerbias, and for violations of the New
York Human Rights law. We have filed a Motion tesBiiss, Motion to Strike and Motion for a More Dé#nStatement to the Amended
Complaint. We believe that the claims are withoeritrand intend to vigorously defend against thisoa. Based on our preliminary review
of the allegations and the underlying facts as naeutstand them, we do not believe that an unfal@miicome in this action will have a
material adverse effect on our financial conditiwnmesults of operations or prospects.

On April 17, 2000, WWF-World Wide Fund for Naturestituted legal proceedings against us in the Ehdliigh Court seeking injunctive
relief and unspecified damages for alleged breachas agreement between the Fund and us. The &leges that our use of the initials
"WWEF" in various contexts, including uses in the insem and wwfshopzone.com internet domain namesrandntents of various of our
web sites; our "scratch” logo; and certain oraklaehe contexts of foreign broadcasts of our @ogning, violate the agreement betweer
Fund and us. We believe that we have meritoriusrigefs and intend to defend the action vigorously bélieve that an unfavorable outcome
of this suit may have a material adverse effeavanfinancial condition, results of operations ocogpects.

Pursuant to our contract with USA Network, we terdgo USA an offer made by Viacom/CBS for a sgyatalliance agreement, which
included certain transmission rights for our prognaing. On April 12, 2000, USA Network purportednbatch the offer and simultaneously
filed an action in the Delaware Court of Chanceaglsng (i) injunctive relief enjoining the contrdmtween Viacom/CBS and us, and (ii) an
award of specific performance requiring us to emtter a contract with USA Network. After expeditdidcovery proceedings and a trial on
merits, the Court ruled in our favor that USA Netlwbad failed to match Viacom/CBS's offer. USA fiked an appeal of this ruling to the
Delaware Supreme Court and a hearing is schedafediugust 14, 2000.

We are not currently a party to any other matdeighl proceedings. However, we are involved in sgvather suits and claims in the ordinary
course of business, and we may from time to tinmime a party to other legal proceedings arisirthénordinary course of doing business.

Item 4. Submission of matters to a vote of Securitiolders
Not applicable
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Price Range of Class A Common Stock
Since October 19, 1999, our Class A Common Stoskbleen traded on the Nasdaqg National Market uheéesytmbol "WWFE."

The following table sets forth the high and the kale prices for the shares of Class A Common Siedleported by the Nasdag National
Market for the periods indicated.

Class A Common Stock

Fiscal 2000 High Low

First Quarter

Second Quarter, since October 19, 1999 $ 34 $205/16
Third Quarter $25 13/16  $14 2/16
Fourth Quarter $1911/16 $9 3/4

There were 5,563 holders of record of Class A comstock and three holders of record of Class B comstock as of July 3, 2000.

We plan to retain all of our earnings to finance éixpansion of our business and for general compprerposes and do not anticipate paying
any cash dividends on our Class A or Class B comshaek in the foreseeable future. Any change t® dihiidend policy will be determined
by our board of directors on the basis of vari@etdrs, including our results of operations, finahcondition, capital requirements and
investment opportunities and the limitations immbbg our credit agreements.

On June 12, 2000, we sold to a subsidiary of NB®n2illion newly issued shares of our Class A comratmtk for an aggregate of $30
million, and on July 28, 2000, we sold the same Ibeinof shares to Viacom/CBS for the same purchase.Both were exempt from
registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities & 1933.

Item 6. Selected Historical Consolidated Financiadnd Other Data

The following table sets forth our selected histakiconsolidated financial data for each of the figcal years in the period ended April 30,
2000. The selected historical consolidated findrdaga as of April 30, 2000 and 1999 and for tisedl years ended April 30, 2000, 1999 and
1998 have been derived from the audited consoliditancial statements included elsewhere in thisiF10-K. The selected historical
consolidated financial data as of April 30, 199897 and 1996 and for the fiscal years ended Axill®97 and 1996 have been derived from
our audited consolidated financial statements, whiave not been included in this Form 10-K. Youuttiosead the selected historical
consolidated financial data in conjunction with distorical consolidated financial statements,rédated notes and the information set forth
under "Management's Discussion and Analysis ofrigiz Condition and Results of Operations” contdiaksewhere in this Form 10-K.

Concurrent with the issuance of shares in our imffeon October 18, 1999, we terminated our elediiope subject to the provisions of
Subchapter S and have become subject to the prosisif Subchapter C of the Internal Revenue Code Subchapter C Corporation, we
fully subject to federal, state and foreign incataees. Prior to our initial public offering, beging with our fiscal year ended April 30, 1988,
we elected to be subject to the provisions of
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Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code. Accglglisince that time, our taxable income or loss been included in the federal and
certain state income tax returns of our stockhol@ike provision for income taxes reflected in oistdrical consolidated financial statements
since fiscal 1988 through the date of our offerielgtes only to foreign and certain state incomesdor those states that do not recognize
Subchapter S Corporations. Our stockholder wasresple for the payment of federal and certainesitatome taxes with respect to our
operations, which have been funded by distributfoos our undistributed earnings account. EBITDArasents income from operations [
depreciation and amortization and non-cash chdogestock options. EBITDA is presented because rgament believes that such
information is considered by certain investorseca additional basis for evaluating a companyésaiting performance, leverage and
liquidity. EBITDA should not be considered an aftative to measures of operating performance detewin accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles or as a measurarasferating results and cash flows or as a meadurer liquidity. EBITDA, as derived by
us, may not be comparable to similarly titled measweported by other companies.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

2000

Fiscal Year Ende

1999

1998

(dollars in thousands, exce

d April 30,

1997

1996

pt per share data)

Netrevenues.........cccoovvvvvvvciicccniees $379,310 $251,474 $126,231 $81,863 $85,815
Costof revenues.........ccovvvvvvvvcvccees L 220,980 147,026 87,969 60,958 55,172
Stock option charges (1).....ccccoevvvvvevvnene Ll 15,330 -- - - -
Selling, general and administrative expenses....... . ... 71,095 45,521 26,117 25,862 22,934
XFL Start-up COStS.....ccovvvvvrvviiiieiiieeene 1,079 -- -- -- --
Depreciation and am e ———— 2,544 1,946 1,676 1,729 2,354
Interest eXpense.......ccccovvveevicneveeeneeeee 2,155 1,125 2,019 782 1,025
Interest and other income, net...........ccccccc.... L. 7,571 2,117 479 777 (1,026)
Income (loss) before income taxes.......c.ccoeeee.. L 73,698 57,973 8,929 (6,691) 3,304
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (2)........... ... 14,790 1,943 463 (186) 105
Netincome (I0SS)....covevevvvecevceiiieieeees $ 58,908 $ 56,030 $ 8,466
Earnings (loss) per common share (basic and diluted )(3)... $ 094 $ 0.99 $ 0.15
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Income
Statement Data:
Historical income before income taxes.............. . ... $ 73,698 $ 57,973
Pro forma adjustment other than income taxes (4)... ... 427 2,515
Pro forma income before income taxes................ ... 73,271 55,458
Pro forma provision for income taxes (5).......... . ... 28,722 22,227
Pro forma netincome.........cccocevvvvvcnceenes L $ 44,549 $ 33,231
Pro forma earnings per common share (basic and
diluted) (3).ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiie $ 071 $ 0.59
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities......... ... $ 67,610 $ 57,646 $ 6,256 $3,628 $2,245
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (6)... (15,068) (14,634) (1,294 ) (849) 1,510
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activites ... 3,510 (6,082) 1,974 (1,803) (4,476)
As of April 30,
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
(in thousa nds)
Cash and cash equivalents (7).....ccccocvveeceeee $101,779 $ 45,727 $ 8,797 $1,861 $ 885
Short-term investments (7)....ccccoceevveevveeneee 107,213 - -- -- --
Property and equipment-net........ccccoeeevveeee L 41,484 28,377 26,177 26,499 27,368
Total @SSetS..cccveviieiiiiiii e 337,032 130,188 59,594 41,856 46,739
Total long-term debt (including current portion)... ... 11,417 12,791 12,394 8,267 7,608
Total stockholders' equity......c.cocevvvevveeee L 258,537 72,260 22,697 16,420 25,304
Fiscal Year Ended April 30,
2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Other Financial Data:

(dollars in thousands, exc

ept per share data)

EBITDA (8)cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e $ 86,156 $ 58,927 $ 12,145 $ (4,957) $ 7,709
Capital expenditures........ccocceevcveniovenees 15,068 3,756 1,294 892 343
Other Non-Financial Data:
Number of live events.......ccccoeevvcevvceenee L 206 199 218 199 247
Total attendance........cccoccvvcvenivenseennee 2,503,800 2,273,701 1,576,112 1,060,740 931,954
Average weekly Nielsen rating of
RaW iS War ..o 6.2 5.0 3.1 24 3.0
WWF SmackDown! (9)....cccoevvvvviiinicneeee 47 - - - -
Pay-per-view buys.........cccovvvniiieiins L 6,848,500 5,365,100 2,936,100 2,252,200 2,831,700

(1) Reflects fiscal 2000 non-cash stock option ghartotaling $15.3 million. In April 2000, we ergdrinto a non-forfeitable agreement with
Viacom/CBS whereby, Viacom/CBS could acquire appnately 2.3 million newly issued shares of our Gldscommon stock at $13 per
share, resulting in a charge of $9.3 million. Intdder 1999,
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we granted stock options to certain performers afgoindependent contractors resulting in a non-chahge of approximately $6.0 million.
(2) Reflects an overall tax rate of 20.0% for fis2@00 due to our Subchapter S Corporation stheigh the date of our offering.

(3) Based on a weighted average number of commarestoutstanding - basic of 62,806,726 for theafigear ended April 30, 2000 and
56,667,000 for the fiscal years ended April 30,9,9998, 1997 and 1996 and based on a weightedgav@umber of common shares
outstanding - diluted of 62,830,279 for the fisgahr ended April 30, 2000.

(4) This amount gives pro forma effect to the iag®in compensation to Vincent and Linda McMaharsyant to employment agreements
that became effective as of July 1, 1999. Histdisichoth executives were paid less compensatiaabse they benefited from Subchapter S
distributions to Mr. McMahon.

(5) This amount represents a pro forma estimatupprovision for federal, state and foreign incaapees to give effect to the change in our
tax status to a Subchapter C Corporation for fi$¢®&9 and fiscal 2000. Concurrent with the issuaichares in our initial public offering,
we terminated our status as a Subchapter S Coiporat

(6) In fiscal 1999, we purchased a 193-room hatdl@sino in Las Vegas, Nevada for approximate®:$nillion. We have since
determined that the ownership and operation ofgghaperty is no longer consistent with our busiragectives, and we are currently
accounting for it as an asset held for sale.

(7) Reflects our receipt of the net proceeds framinitial pubic offering of approximately $179.3lkon, after deducting the underwriting
discount and offering expenses.

(8) EBITDA is defined by us as income from opemasiplus depreciation and amortization and non-chahges for stock options.

(9) WWF SmackDown! commenced on August 26, 199@ dverage weekly Nielsen rating is based on 36rpmsg.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition

You should read the following discussion in confimt with the audited consolidated financial stagé@ts and related notes included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

General

We are an integrated media and entertainment coynmancipally engaged in the development, productaod marketing of television
programming, pay-per- view programming and livergseand the licensing and sale of branded conspmoeucts featuring our highly
successful World Wrestling Federation brand.

We have experienced significant growth in many etspef our business. We believe this growth has loewen by a series of management
decisions to reposition our business. Since [a8¥ 1@&e have intensified our focus on the developgraad marketing of our television and
pay-per-view programming, incorporated some openatin house, expanded our branded merchandisatggy, negotiated more favorable
advertising agreements and established a presente dnternet.

These new business initiatives, combined with sawing audience appeal, have led to increasingiféui television ratings and greater pay-
per-view buys, which have heightened demand fopooduct offerings, including licensed productsmeovideos and other branded
merchandise.

Our operations have been organized around twoipghactivities:

. The creation, marketing and distribution of dueland televised entertainment and pay-per-vievg@mming. Revenues are derived
principally from ticket sales to our live eventsirghases of our pay- per-view programs, the salele¥ision advertising time and the receipt
of television rights fees.

. The marketing and promotion of our branded merdis&. Revenues are generated from both royatties the sale of merchandise by third-
party licensees and the direct sale by us of mediba, magazines and home videos.

The consolidated financial statements include ithential statements of our Company, formerly kn@srTitan Sports Inc., and our four
wholly owned subsidiaries, our majority owned sdl@ily, and our XFL venture. Prior to the initialipie offering, except for our Canadian
operations, we were taxed as a Subchapter S Céigpoend we were not subject to federal taxeseattrporate level. As a result of the
initial public offering, our Subchapter S Corpooatistatus was terminated, and since then we hared&ubchapter C Corporation, subject
to federal, state and foreign income taxes.

Recent Developments

We have recently announced a strategic partnevgtiipNBC to jointly own and fund a professional tball league which will begin play on
February 3, 2001. Each party owns 50% of the leagh&h owns all eight teams. NBC has committedrtmadcast certain regular season and
championship games on Saturday nights in ptime-from February through April. We are currerilyilding the infrastructure to support t
league. Based on current assumptions, we expeftltiepitalization of the venture to be approxteig $100.0 million through December

31, 2002. In accordance with the terms of the agess, we will control the operations of the ventaral, accordingly, we will consolidate
such operations in our financial statements untthstime that NBC converts its naoting equity into voting equity. NBC will, howeveiund

a 50% share of the venture's cash needs from teption of the agreement. For income tax purpdsas, NBC and we will allocate the
operations equally in accordance with federal tax |

On May 3, 2000, we purchased the WWF NY entertaitraemplex in Times Square from our licensee f@rapimately $24.5 million. This
amount is in addition to $3.7 million of audio/védiequipment that we previously purchased andlladt&n the complex. We expect to make
additional capital expenditures of $2.0 million#®.0 million in fiscal 2001. The complex consistaagetail store, restaurant, full service bar,
stage area and night club.
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On March 1, 2000, we provided notice of canceltatib our contract with USA Network with respectiearr hours of our programming
effective September 2000. Our agreement with USAvdEK with respect to our remaining hour of prograimg expires in September 2000.
We anticipate that, effective September 2000, oogamming will air on cable networks owned by \Ga@CBS. Four hours of
programming, Raw is War, Livewire and Superstaitbaii on TNN and the remaining hour, Sunday Nible@at, will air on MTV. In additior
our SmackDown! program, which airs on UPN, has lmeended for a period of 3 years through Septer2®es.

On June 12, 2000, NBC purchased approximately 2l®mnewly issued shares of our Class A commamlstat $13 per share for an
investment of $30.0 million. See "Liquidity and @apResources."

On April 3, 2000, we entered into a non-forfeitabtgreement with Viacom/CBS whereby Viacom/CBS cadduire approximately 2.3
million newly issued shares of our Class A commimelsat $13 per share. We have accounted for grseanent under the accounting
provisions of EITF 96-18 and, accordingly, recordefdurth quarter fiscal 2000 charge of $9.3 naifili On July 28, 2000, Viacom/CBS
purchased approximately 2.3 million shares of oias€ A common stock at $13 per share for an investrof $30.0 million.

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2000 compared to Fid@dr Ended April 30, 1999

Net Revenues. Net revenues were $379.3 milliomsoaf 2000 as compared to $251.5 million in fisk@99, an increase of $127.8 million,
51%. Of this increase, $95.4 million was from due land televised entertainment activities, and.43&illion was from our branded
merchandise activities.

Live and Televised Entertainment. Net revenues B265.5 million in fiscal 2000 as compared to $17@illion in fiscal 1999, an increase
$95.4 million, or 56%. Revenues from the sale afeatising time and sponsorships increased by $4ifllbn in fiscal 2000 as a result of
improved ratings for our shows, the full year impafcour agreement with USA, and a new contradbiaradcast television with the United
Paramount Network ("UPN") for WWF SmackDown!, bathwhich provided us with the right to sell a swavgtal majority of the advertising
time in the respective programs. Pay-per-view raeerincreased $25.6 million in fiscal 2000, whiekulted from an increase of 1.4 million
in pay-per-view buys to approximately 6.8 millionfiscal 2000 from approximately 5.4 million. Ag@gularly takes our distributor one year
to finalize the number of buys for each pay-pemvogram, included in the 6.8 million buys fordéd 2000 were 0.8 million buys related to
pay-per-view events in fiscal 1999 not accountadrfdhat year. Revenues from attendance at oardixents increased by $19.2 million in
fiscal 2000 as compared to fiscal 1999, of whichL$8illion was due to an increase in attendance$dddl million was due to an increase in
average ticket prices.

Branded Merchandise. Net revenues were $113.8miifi fiscal 2000 as compared to $81.4 millionigcdl 1999, an increase of $32.4
million, or 40%. This increase was due primarilyirioreases in licensing revenues of $18.1 millmew media revenues of $7.5 million,
publishing revenues of $4.0 million and home videeenues of $2.0 million. The increase in licensiesulted from the continued success of
WWF branded toys by Jakks Pacific, Inc., and thedh of Wrestlemania 2000 for Nintendo 64 by TH®&K3aPacific Inc., the sale of WWF
video games by Acclaim, the release of The RockMadkind's autobiographies by ReganBooks and ise@aternational licensing
revenues. The increase in new media revenues teftexincreased traffic on our Internet web sited the addition in fiscal 2000 of a
dedicated advertising sales force. The increagalitishing revenues was due to the increased atioul of our two monthly magazines to
approximately 6.8 million units in fiscal 2000 frampproximately 5.8 million units in fiscal 1999. 8 mcrease in home video revenues was
due to an increase in international licensing offtame video units and to a lesser extent, thedhiction of DVD units in fiscal 2000.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues was $221.mmilti fiscal 2000 as compared to $147.0 milliofisal 1999, an increase of $74.0
million, or 50%. Of this increase, $59.2 million sveiom our live and televised entertainment adgésgitand $14.8 million was from our
branded merchandise activities. Gross profit asragntage of net revenues was 42% in both fisd20 2@d fiscal 1999.

Live and Televised Entertainment. The cost of renesrto create and distribute our live and televesgdrtainment was $157.7 million in
fiscal 2000 as compared to $98.5 million in fist@99, an increase of $59.2 million, or 60%. Of $#58.2 million increase, $30.3 million
related to the minimum guarantees associated hithiull year impact of our contract with USA Netw@nd our new contract with UPN, fe
paid to our guest celebrities and fees
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paid to our performers which are directly relatedtr increased event revenues. Of the remainiBg@$aillion, $7.8 million was due to an
increase in television production costs, due it fmaour new UPN program, WWF SmackDown!, $6.7 imillwas due to increased arena
rental charges and taxes, which are directly rdlegeur increased event revenues, $4.1 million dvessto increased sponsorship expense anc
$2.6 million was due to an increase in pay-per-véad live event advertising costs. Gross profia percentage of net revenues was 41% in
fiscal 2000 as compared to 42% in fiscal 1999.

Branded Merchandise. The cost of revenues to mariépromote our branded merchandise was $63.®mifi fiscal 2000 as compared to
$48.5 million in fiscal 1999, an increase of $ 1milion, or 31%. The increase in cost of revenwes due primarily to an increase of $12.6
million related to licensing, $2.5 million relatéalpublishing, and $1.0 million related to new needihich were all partially offset by a
decrease in merchandise. The increase in licengsgdue to a change in product mix which resutieéddreased royalties paid to our
performers and $2.9 million incurred in connectigith the operations of our National Hot Rod Asstioiaracing team ("NHRA"). The
increase in publishing and new media costs weetaglto the increased revenues in these areaslebhease in merchandise cost of sales
due to the mix of product sold and a lower providior obsolete inventory in fiscal 2000. Gross jira$ a percentage of net revenues
increased to 44% in fiscal 2000 from 40% in fist@99. The increase in gross profit percentage wadalthe new media revenues increa:
$7.5 million, which favorably impacted our overgtbss profit percentage, partially offset by the@éwet of the increased royalty rate for
licensed product and NHRA expenditures.

Stock Option Charges. In accordance with the prongset forth in the Statement of Financial AcamgStandard No. 123, "Accounting 1
Stock-Based Compensation" and Emerging Issues Hasle Issue No. 96-18, "Accounting for Equity lostients That Are Issued to Other
Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunctionwvielling, Goods or Services," we recorded a seqoiatter fiscal 2000 non-cash charge
of approximately $6.0 million relating to the grigut of stock options to certain performers whoiadependent contractors. The options,
which vest over three years, were granted in catjon with our October 19, 1999 initial public offieg. Additionally, in April 2000, we
entered into a nofoerfeitable agreement with Viacom/CBS whereby Via¢GBS could acquire approximately 2.3 million nevdgued share
of our Class A common stock at $13 per share. We hacounted for this agreement under the accayptiovisions of EITF 96-18 and,
accordingly, recorded a fourth quarter fiscal 2608rge of $9.3 milllion ($5.7 million, net of tax).

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. 8gJlgeneral and administrative expenses were $iillidn in fiscal 2000 as compared to
$45.5 million in fiscal 1999, an increase of $2milion, or 56%. Of this increase, $11.7 million svdue to an increase in staff related
expenses. The number of full-time personnel aspfl 80, 2000 was 343 as compared to 277 full tpaesonnel as of April 30, 1999, an
increase of 66 employees. The increase in persavaselelated to the expansion of our businessddiitian, the chairman and the chief
executive officer were paid in accordance withtdrens of their employment contracts, which becaffectve July 1, 1999. Of the remaini
$15.0 million increase, $5.9 million related toreased professional fees and $4.8 million relateddreased advertising and promotion cc
Selling, general and administrative expenses as@ptage of net revenues was 19% in fiscal 20@@=pared to 18% in fiscal 1999. As of
July 3, 2000, excluding our XFL and WWF NY operaspwe had 362 full-time employees. In May 2000 puechased the WWF NY
entertainment complex located in New York City.&sluly 3, 2000, we had approximately 216 full tisraployees at the complex.

XFL Start-up Costs. XFL start-up costs were $1.liani in fiscal 2000. These costs were relatech®development and start-up of our
professional football league. As of July 14, 2008,had 28 fultime XFL employees. To support the XFL, we antitéplairing approximatel
300 employees over the next three to four monthes& new employees include individual team gemeaalagers, head coaches, coaching
staffs and other football personnel in additioteague and team administrative staff. Additional, will sign over 350 football players to
contracts after the annual player draft and sulegcduyout camps in the fall of 2000.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and dination expense was $2.5 million in fiscal 20@0campared to $1.9 million in fiscal
1999. The increase of $0.6 million reflects thedéased spending on capital projects.

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $2.2 milidiscal 2000 as compared to $1.1 million in &st999. The increase of $1.1 million was
due to interest related to the $32.0 million, 5%&iiast bearing note issued to Mr.
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McMahon on June 29, 1999 for estimated federalstai income taxes payable by him resulting fromSubchapter S status. As of April
30, 2000, we paid the note in full, plus an additiio$8.4 million, which represented the estimatemine tax payments required by the
applicable federal and state taxing authorities.

Interest and Other Income, Net. Interest and dtfeame, net was $7.6 million in fiscal 2000 as canagl to $2.1 million in fiscal 1999. The
increase of $5.5 million was primarily due to iresed interest income resulting from significanilyiter cash and short term investment
balances in fiscal 2000.

Provision for Income Taxes. Concurrent with outidipublic offering, our tax status was changemhfra Subchapter S Corporation to a
Subchapter C Corporation. As a Subchapter C Cotiparave are directly responsible for all fedenatiasstate income taxes. For the year
ended April 30, 2000, we were taxed on our incotrenaeffective rate of approximately 20% based upemumber of days during the fiscal
year that we were a Subchapter S Corporation andumber of days we were a Subchapter C Corporaii®ma Subchapter S Corporation
had to provide for only certain state and foreigeome taxes. The liability for federal, and certstimte income taxes was the responsibility of
our then sole stockholder. As a consequence tali@age in tax status, our provision for incomesasubstantially increased to $14.8 million
in fiscal 2000 as compared to $1.9 million in fist899. On a pro forma basis, as a C Corporatieteral, state, and foreign income taxes
would have been $28.7 million and $22.2 million fiscal 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 1999 compared to Fidezdr Ended April 30, 1998

Net Revenues. Net revenues were $251.5 millioisoraf 1999 as compared to $126.2 million in fisk@$8, an increase of $125.3 million,
99%. Of this increase, $77.5 million was from dueland televised entertainment activities, and.&4f7illion was from our branded
merchandise activities.

Live and Televised Entertainment. Net revenues B&i#.1 million in fiscal 1999 as compared to $9aiion in fiscal 1998, an increase of
$77.5 million, or 84%. This increase was primadttributable to an increase in pay- per-view rewsnof $37.1 million, which resulted from
an increase in pay-per- view buys to approximaedymillion from approximately 2.9 million, or 86%irtually all of our 12 pay-per-view
events contributed to this increase. Revenues &tbemdance at our events increased by $20.8 mitidiscal 1999 primarily as a result of an
increase in attendance to approximately 2.3 milifofiscal 1999 from approximately 1.6 million iis€al 1998, or 44%, and an increase in
average ticket prices. Revenues from the salewréiding time and sponsorships increased by $tifll®n in fiscal 1999 as a result of
improved ratings for our shows and new contractk thie USA Network in July 1998 and September 1988¢ch provided us with the right
to sell a substantial majority of the advertisiimget in our programs.

Branded Merchandise. Net revenues were $81.4 miifidiscal 1999 as compared to $33.6 million stél 1998, an increase of $47.8
million, or 142%. This increase was due primardyiricreases in licensing revenues of $17.8 milllmme video revenues of $17.7 million,
publishing revenues of $5.1 million and direct sakerchandise revenues of $3.1 million. The incréadieensing revenues resulted from
heightened demand for our branded products, péatlgun the apparel and toy categories. Additibnalve increased the number of our
licensees in an effort to broaden our product offgs. In March 1998, we terminated a licensing egrent and began to produce and
distribute home videos iheuse. The increase in home video revenues watdbe full year impact of this decision and, tiesser extent, ¢
increase in the number of titles offered for saléiscal 1999. Licensing revenues related to hoideossales in fiscal 1998 were insignificant.
The increase in publishing revenues was due teasad newsstand sales and increased sales ofigtibssr The increase in direct sale
merchandise revenues was primarily due to an isere&$5.1 million resulting from increased attemziaat our events, partially offset by a
decrease of $0.8 million resulting from a declingeér capita spending.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues was $147.0omilli fiscal 1999 as compared to $88.0 millionigtél 1998, an increase of $59.0 milli
or 67%. Of this increase, $31.0 million was fromt ve and televised entertainment activities, 38.0 million was from our branded
merchandise activities. Gross profit as a percentdget revenues increased to 42% in fiscal 1889 830% in fiscal 1998.

Live and Televised Entertainment. The cost of rexesrto create and distribute our live and televesgdrtainment was $98.5 million in fiscal
1999 as compared to $67.5 million in fiscal 1998jrecrease of $31.0 million,

20



or 46%. Of the $31.0 million increase, $19.4 millielated to our new contracts with the USA Netwiarlvhich we are obligated to pay the
greater of a fixed percentage of our net advegisavenues or a minimum guaranteed amount, ancpédgo our talent which are directly
related to our increased revenues. The remaintrgase was due primarily to a $4.3 million increiasarena rental charges, which are
directly related to our increased revenues froomeattendance, a $3.6 million increase in pay-pewwistribution fees, which are directly
associated with our increase in pay-per-view reesnand a $3.3 million increase in advertising gmnotion costs. Gross profit as a
percentage of net revenues increased to 42% ial 899 from 27% in fiscal 1998. The increase iosgrprofit resulted from increased
revenues from higher margin areas of pay-per-viemggamming and television advertising and, to adegxtent, increased attendance and
higher average ticket prices at our events.

Branded Merchandise. The cost of revenues to marieépromote our branded merchandise was $48.bmiti fiscal 1999 as compared to
$20.5 million in fiscal 1998, an increase of $28llion, or 137%. Gross profit as a percentageeifrevenues increased to 40% in fiscal 1
from 39% in fiscal 1998. The increase in cost ekraies was due primarily to an increase of $11lifomirelated to the full year impact in
fiscal 2000 of our home video and new media opanatiand increased costs of $13.7 million resuldingctly from the increase in revenues
from our licensing and merchandise activities. Hueease in gross profit was due to the commencemeénarch 1998 of the sale of home
video products on a direct basis. This was paytiafiiset by an increase in direct sale merchanclists related to our concession sales.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. 8gllgeneral and administrative expenses, whicluitectorporate overhead expenses, were
$45.5 million in fiscal 1999 as compared to $26illiom in fiscal 1998, an increase of $19.4 milliar 74%. The increase was due primarily
to an increase in the number of full-time persornyeb8 persons. This increase reflects the devedoprand implementation of our home
video and new media businesses, the expansiorr @fdwertising sales force to support our new catsravith the USA Network, an increase
in the number of personnel involved in the produtf our televised programming, and an increas&ministrative personnel. Selling,
general and administrative expenses as a perceoftagt revenues were 18% in fiscal 1999 as conapar@1% in fiscal 1998.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and dination expense was $1.9 million in fiscal 19%9campared to $1.7 million in fiscal
1998, an increase of $0.2 million.

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $1.1 mitidiscal 1999 as compared to $2.0 million in §62998. The decrease of $0.9 million was
primarily the result of lower average outstandigrowings during fiscal 1999.

Interest and Other Income, Net. Interest and atfwame, net was $2.1 million in fiscal 1999 as canag to $0.5 million in fiscal 1998. The
increase of $1.6 million was primarily due to iresed interest income resulting from significanilyhter cash balances in fiscal 1999.

Provision for Income Taxes. As a Subchapter S gatfum, we had to provide only for some state ardign income taxes as our principal
stockholder was responsible for the payment ofriddend certain other state income taxes in thesesy Income taxes were $1.9 million in
fiscal 1999 as compared to $0.5 million in fisc@9&. Upon the termination of our Subchapter S catan election, we became directly
responsible for paying federal, state and foreigoime taxes. After giving effect to our terminatafrour Subchapter S corporation election,
on a pro forma basis, federal, state and foreigarire taxes would have been $22.2 million in fid&89, which represents an effective
income tax rate of 40%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During fiscal 2000, our cash position was favoradbipacted by our sale of 11.5 million shares inioitral public offering in October 1999,
and the continued success of our WWF brand of emtenent. We generated $67.6 million from operationfiscal 2000. In June 2000, we
sold 2.3 million newly issued shares of our Classofnmon stock to NBC for $30.0 million and in J@§00, we sold 2.3 million newly
issued shares of our Class A common stock to ViaC&8 for $30.0 million. On May 3, 2000, we purchidisiee WWF NY entertainment
complex for $24.5 million. In fiscal 2001, we expézinvest $15.0 million to $20.0 million for oshare of the XFL's start up costs, its first
season of operations and its capital expendit@apital expenditures for fiscal 2001 are expeacbelet $32.0 million, exclusive of the XFL
and WWF NY.
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Cash flows from operating activities for the fisgakrs ended April 30, 2000, 1999, and 1998 were6b@illion, $57.6 million and $6.2
million, respectively. This improvement primarilgftects the increase in operating income that weeeenced in fiscal 2000 and fiscal 1999.
Working capital, consisting of current assets rggent liabilities, was $219.8 million as of Ap80, 2000 and $52.7 million as of April 30,
1999.

Cash flows used in investing activities for thedéisyears ended April 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998 W&l million, $14.6 million and $1.3
million, respectively. The purchase of property agdipment of $15.1 million in fiscal 2000 was tethto the purchase of equipment for our
television and post production facility, equipmét WWF NY, and the remodeling of our executiveicdt in Stamford, Ct. in order to
accommodate our increase in personnel. The purdiageperty and equipment in fiscal 1999 prindipaéflects the $10.9 million
acquisition of a 193-room hotel and casino facility.as Vegas, Nevada, which is currently clasdifis an an asset held for sale on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Capital expenditunefisial 2001, excluding the XFL and WWF NY, argegted to be $32.0 million, which
includes the renovation of our television facilityd the expansion of our New Media business.

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing actastfor the fiscal years ended April 30, 2000, 1888 1998 were $3.5 million, $(6.1)
million, and $2.0 million, respectively. In conniect with the initial public offering, we receive@nproceeds, after deducting commissions
and fees and expenses, of $179.3 million for the &al1,500,000 shares of Class A common stoekatffering price of $17.00 per share.
As of April 30, 2000 we had approximately $107.0lio invested in short term corporate and govemnabligations. We made Subchapter
S Corporation distributions to Mr. McMahon in thechl years ended April 30, 2000, 1999 and 19986@t5 million, $6.5 million, and $2.2
million, respectively. The increase in S distriluis in fiscal 2000 was due to the distribution medilr. McMahon on June 29, 1999, of ¢
in the amount of $25.5 million out of our previopsiarned and undistributed earnings, which had bdbntaxed at the stockholder level. On
June 29, 1999, we made an S Corporation distributiamur then sole stockholder in the form of asaqured, 5% interest-bearing note in the
principal amount of $32.0 million due April 10, 2D0The note represented estimated federal andistatme taxes payable by our then sole
stockholder with respect to our taxable incomefitmal 1999 and estimated taxable income for theogeMay 1, 1999 through October 18,
1999 which represents the portion of our taxabtaiags for fiscal 2000 allocated to the S CorpamatiAs of April 30, 2000, we paid the
$32.0 million note in full plus an additional $8wlllion. The additional $8.4 million representedddtbnal tax liabilities of the then sole
stockholder due to a revision of estimated taxgsipla for the tax periods described above. To #tere the portion of our fiscal 1999 and
2000 actual earnings allocated to the S Corpora&imeeds those earnings used in the calculatiestohated income taxes payable by our
then sole stockholder, we may need to make aniadditdistribution to our stockholders of recordoiduly 3, 1999 which is expected to be
paid no later than August 15, 2000.

On June 12, 2000, we formed a venture with NBOwao and fund the XFL, a new professional footbadigee which is scheduled to begin its
first season in February 2001. We are currentlyding the infrastructure to support this league.oAduly 3, 2000 we made a cash capital
contribution of $2.5 million and NBC made a cashita contribution of $2.5 million. Both NBC and well periodically advance required
funds to the venture on a 50/50 basis. Based aemuassumptions we expect the full capitalizatmbe approximately $100.0 million
through December 31, 2002. In accordance withaéhag of our agreement with NBC, until such timet tHBC converts its noreting equity
into voting equity, we will control and manage therations of the venture and accordingly, we @ahsolidate such operations.

On June 12, 2000, NBC purchased approximately Al®mnewly issued shares of our Class A commamlistat $13 per share for a total
investment of $30.0 million. As a result of thisat purchase, we will record a non-cash chargel6f&million which will be amortized over
thirty months, commencing in the first quarteristal 2001.

On May 3, 2000, we purchased the WWF NY entertaitrnoemplex in Times Square from our licensee, fipraximately $24.5 million. Thi
amount is in addition to $3.7 million of audio/vaiequipment that we previously purchased andliegtan the complex. We expect to make
an additional $2.0 million to $3.0 million in cagitexpenditures in fiscal 2001. The complex cosgéta retail store, restaurant, full service
bar, stage area and night club.

In April 2000, we agreed to enter into a strategiiance with Viacom/CBS. The effectiveness of theacom/CBS alliance is conditioned ug
our prevailing in USA's appeal of a decision fawdeao us in litigation brought by USA as discusabdve in Legal Proceedings.
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On April 3, 2000, we entered into a non-forfeitabtgreement with Viacom/CBS whereby Viacom/CBS cadduire approximately 2.3
million newly issued shares of our Class A commimelsat $13 per share. On July 28, 2000 Viacom/@Bi8&hased approximately 2.3
million shares of our Class A common stock at $&Bghare for a total investment of $30.0 million.

On December 12, 1997, we entered into a mortgaagedgreement with GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corhiclv was subsequently
assigned to Citicorp Real Estate, Inc., under whietborrowed $12.0 million at an annual interet# if 7.6% to be repaid in monthly
installments over 15 years. This term loan is ¢efilized by our executive offices and productitd®, both of which are located in
Stamford, Connecticut. Additional collateral inchsdall leases, agreements and other items rekatiogr mortgaged property and its
operation. The term loan may not be prepaid in wloolin part prior to and through December 31, 20Q0reafter, the term loan may be
prepaid in whole with the payment of a premium.oAduly 3, 2000, the outstanding principal amourthe term loan was $10.8 million.

On December 22, 1997, we entered into a $10.0amillevolving credit agreement with IBJ SchroderiBess Credit Corporation that expil
on December 21, 2000. We intend to seek modifinatto our credit agreement to increase the amawaitable to borrow on more favoral
terms and conditions and extend the length oféh®.tWe can give no assurance that we will be @bhegotiate acceptable modifications to
the revolving credit agreement. Interest on outiitemamounts are calculated at the alternate tzeelus 0.5%, or at the Eurodollar rate |
2.5%, based upon the availability of qualifyinge®@bles which collateralize the loan. In additiorqualifying receivables, this revolving
credit agreement is collateralized by our genetalrigible property, excluding intellectual properg of July 3, 2000, no amounts were
outstanding under the revolving portion of thisditegreement. We have received a waiver to reffectermination of our Subchapter S
corporation status.

During July 1998, we amended the revolving cregieament to allow us to make a capital expenditae. Pursuant to this amendment, we
borrowed $1.6 million at the IBJ swap rate plus @82% at July 3, 2000) to be repaid in 29 monthsfallments. The studio equipment
purchased with the proceeds of the loan, as weli@sther collateral under the revolving creditesggnent, collateralizes the term loan. As of
July 3, 2000, the outstanding principal amountefibpan was $0.4 million.

We have entered into various contracts under timastef which we are required to make guaranteedpays, including:
. Performance contracts with all of our performsmne of which provide for future minimum guaradt@ayments.

. Television distribution agreements with the US&tiork, UPN and the proposed television distributagreement with Viacom/CBS that
provide for the payment of the greater of a fixedcgntage of the revenues from the sale of tetviadvertising time or an annual minimum
payment. The agreement with USA Network covers figars of our programming and expires in Septer@bé0 at which point we
anticipate that our programming will be broadcastable networks owned by Viacom/CBS. Our agreemithtViacom/CBS will expire in
September 2005. Our agreement with the UPN cowardiburs of programming every week and expireseipt&nmber 2003. The
effectiveness of the Viacom/CBS alliance is conditid upon our prevailing in USA's appeal of a denisavorable to us in litigation brought
by USA as discussed above in Legal Proceedings.

. Various operating leases related to our salésasfiand warehouse space.

. Employment contract with Vincent K. McMahon, whiis for a seven year term and employment conwibtLinda E. McMahon which is
for a four year term.

. Employment contracts with some of our employé#esterms of which are generally for a period o te three years.

23



For the next three fiscal years, our aggregatermim payment obligations under these contractsydirt) the expected commitment with
Viacom/CBS and the recent extension of our UPNement through September 2003, is $49.6 million,&4dillion, and $37.6 million for
fiscal 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. We gudite that all of these obligations will be satidf@ut of cash flows from operating activities.

We believe that cash generated from operationstiteg with amounts available under the revolvireditragreement, our proceeds from the
sale of approximately 2.3 million newly issued gsaof our Class A common stock to NBC and to Vial&® and from existing cash and
short-term investments, will be sufficient to meat working capital, capital expenditure and caséds for our strategic investments over the
next twelve months. However, during such periothereatfter, depending on the size and number giribjects and investments related to
our growth strategy, we may require the issuanatebf and/or additional equity securities.

Seasonality

Our operating results are not materially affectgddasonal factors, however, because we operadiscal calendar, the number of pay-per-
view events recorded in a given quarter may vanaddition, revenues from our licensing and diezdé of consumer products, including
through our catalogs, monthly magazines and Intesitess, may vary from period to period dependingdte volume and extent of licensing
agreements and marketing and promotion progranesezhinto during any particular period of timewasdl as the commercial success of the
media exposure of our characters and brand. Thegiof these events as well as the continued intttdn of new product offerings and
revenue generating outlets can and will causetfhiain in quarterly revenues and earnings.

Our operating results from WWF NY are expectedeadilgher in the summer months and around the haidae to tourism and school
vacations.

Our operating results from the XFL will be seasomih the playing season beginning in February emding in April. Almost all of our live
game, television, and advertising revenues wiljeeerated during these three months. Cost of regeassociated with these revenue stre
will also occur during the season. Our licensingrechandise, and new media revenues and cost afuesevill occur throughout the entire
year, but are expected to be the highest duringehson

Inflation
During the past three fiscal years, inflation hashrad a material effect on our business.
Recent Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued Statement of Financial Accounting Stadsldlo. 133, as amended by SFAS
No. 137 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments afddging Activities." The statement requires theogggtion of all derivatives as eith
assets or liabilities in the balance sheet andrtbasurement of those instruments at fair value pasdd on the amendment, effective for all
fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning aftene 15, 2000, which, therefore, would requiréousdopt such statement on May 1, 2001.
Although our involvement in derivative type instrents is limited, the adoption of this statement ldaaquire us to reflect on our balance
sheet the estimated fair value of warrants thategeived in connection with some license agreem&ets Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Cssioni ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin N@11("SAB 101"), Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements". SAB 101 sumiwea certain of the SEC's views in applying gelheexcepted accounting principles to
revenue recognition in financial statements. Ore2@, 2000, the SEC issued SAB 101B to defer teetidfe date of implementation of SAB
101 until no later than the fourth fiscal quartéfiscal years beginning after December 15, 1998.ake required to adopt SAB 101 by the
quarter ending April 30, 2001. We are evaluatingtliler SAB 101 will cause any change in our revaraegnition policies and procedures.
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Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the "Safe ¢tafrovisions of the Private Securities LitigatiBeform Act of 1995

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9®ovides a "safe harbor" for certain statemdmds dre forwardeoking and are not bas
on historical facts. When used in this Annual RéparForm 10-K, the words "may," "will," "could,ahticipate," "plan," "continue,"
"project,” "intend", "estimate”, "believe", "expéetnd similar expressions are intended to ideritifyvard- looking statements, although not
all forward-looking statements contain such woidsese statements relate to our future plans, dbgs;texpectations and intentions and are
not historical facts and accordingly involve knoamd unknown risks and uncertainties and other fadt@t may cause the actual results or
the performance by us to be materially differentrfrfuture results or performance expressed or eddly such forward-looking statements.
The following factors, among others, could caugaaaesults to differ materially from those contd in forwardlooking statements made
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in oral stateteenade by our authorized officers: (i) our faéltio continue to develop creative and
entertaining programs and events would likely lead decline in the popularity of our brand of etaimment,

(i) our failure to retain or continue to recrugkperformers could lead to a decline in the appealr story lines and the popularity of our
brand of entertainment, (iii) the loss of the cremservices of Vincent McMahon could adverselyeaffour ability to create popular charac
and story lines, (iv) our failure to maintain onesv key agreements could adversely affect ourtgldidistribute our television and pay-per-
view programming, (v) we may not be able to compdtectively, especially against competitors witeater financial resources or
marketplace presence, (vi) we may not be abledtept our intellectual property rights which coulelgatively impact our ability to compete
in the sports entertainment market, (vii) a decliméhe general economic conditions or in the paptyl of our brand of sports entertainment
could adversely impact our business, (viii) ouniagmce may not be adequate to cover liabilitiesltiég) from accidents or injuries, such as
the Own Hart accident, (ix) we may be prohibitezhirpromoting and conducting our live events if veendt comply with applicable
regulations, (x) we could incur substantial liaie, or be required to conduct certain aspectsipbusiness differently, if pending or future
material litigation is resolved unfavorably, (Xiet failure of our new complementary businessesudireg our professional football league,
XFL, and our entertainment complex, WWF NY and ote@w or complementary businesses into which we exggnd in the future could
adversely affect our existing businesses, (xiiptigh his beneficial ownership of a substantial migj@f our Class B common stock, our
controlling stockholder can exercise significarfluiance over our affairs, and his interests cowldflict with the holders of our Class A
common stock, and

(xiii) a substantial number of shares will be dligifor future sale by our current majority stockies, and the sale of those shares could lower
our stock price. The forward-looking statementsagpenly as of the date of this Annual Report omika0-K and undue reliance should not
be placed on these statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures &out Market Risk

No information with respect to market risk has beetuded as it has not been material to our firgrendition or results of operatior
Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Schaté

The information required by this item is set fariithe Consolidated Financial Statements filed litl report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosures

Not Applicable.
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PART 1lI

The information required by Part Il (Items 10-18)ncorporated herein by reference to the capti@tection of Directors”, "Executive
Compensation" and "Security Ownership of Cetaindieral Owners and Management" in our definitivexpr statement for our 2000 Anni
Meeting of Stockholders.

PART IV
Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules,nal Reports on Form 8-K

(&) The following documents are filed as a patthef report:

1. Financial Statements and Schedule: See inde#mcial Statements on page F-1 of this Report.

2. Exhibits:

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of World
Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Regi stration Statement on Form S-
1 (No. 333-84327)).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Worl d Wrestling Federation
Entertainment, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to
our Registration Statement on Form S -1 (No. 333-84327)).

10.1 Form of 1999 Long -Term Incentive Pl an. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Reg istration Statement on Form
S-1 (No. 333-84327)).*

10.2 Employment Agreement with Vincent K. McMahon. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Reg istration Statement on Form
S-1 (No. 333-84327)).*

10.3 Booking Contract with Vincent K. McM ahon, dated February 15, 2000
(filed herewith).*

10.4 Employment Agreement with Linda E. M cMahon. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Reg istration Statement on Form
S-1 (No. 333-84327)).*

10.5 Booking Contract with Linda E. McMah on dated February 15, 2000
(filed herewith).*

10.6 Employment Agreement between Titan S ports Inc. and August J.
Liguori, dated as of August 24, 1998 . (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-84327)).

10.7 Employment Agreement with Stuart C. Snyder (filed herewith).*

10.8 License Agreement between the USA Ne twork and Titan Sports Inc.,
dated as of July 2, 1998. (Incorpora ted by reference to Exhibit
10.5 to our Registration Statement o n Form S-1 (No. 333-84327).
1)

10.9 Agreement between the USA Network an d Titan Sports Inc., dated as
of September 1, 1998. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to our Registration Statement on For m S-1 (No. 333-84327).

10.10 License Agreement between Titan Spor ts Inc. and inDemand,

formerly known as Viewer's Choice L.
1999. (Incorporated by reference to
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (
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L.C., dated as of January 20,
Exhibit 10.7 to our
No. 333-84327)). (1)



10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

21.1

231

License Agreement between United Par
Wrestling Federation Entertainment,
1999. (Incorporated by reference to
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (

Limited Liability Company Agreement,
WWEFE Sports, Inc. and NBC-XFL Holdin

Registation Rights Agreement, dated
NBC-WWFE Holding, Inc. and the Regis

Registration Rights Agreement, dated
between Viacom Inc. and the Registra

Revolving Credit and Security Agreem
and IBJ Schroder Business Credit Cor
December 22, 1997. (Incorporated by
our Registration Statement on Form S

Amendment to Revolving Credit and Se
Titan Sports Inc. and IBJ Schroder B
dated as of June 9, 1998. (Incorpora
10.10 to our Registration Statement

Open End Mortgage Deed, Assignment o
Agreement between TSI Realty Company
Corp. (assigned to Citicorp Real Est
December 12, 1997. (Incorporated by
our Registration Statement on Form S

Promissory Note issued by TSI Realty
Mortgage Corp. (assigned to Citicorp
of December 12, 1997. (Incorporated
to our Registration Statement on For

Environmental Indemnity Agreement am
Sports Inc. and GMAC Commercial Mort
Citicorp Real Estate, Inc.), dated a
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibi
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-84327

Assignment of Leases and Rents betwe
GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corp. (assi
Inc.), dated as of December 12, 1997
to Exhibit 10.14 to our Registration
333-84327)).

Form of Tax Indemnification Agreemen
Federation Entertainment, Inc., Step
Vincent K. McMahon and the Vincent K
Trust, dated as of June 30, 1999. (I
Exhibit 10.15 to our Registration St
84327)).

Agreement between WWF-World Wide Fun
Sports, Inc. dated January 20, 1994.
to Exhibit 10.16 to our Registration
333-84327)).

List of Significant Subsidiaries. (I
Exhibit 21.1 to our Registration Sta
84327)).

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP (fi
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amount Network and World
Inc., dated as of August 26,
Exhibit 10.8 to our

No. 333-84327)). (2)

dated June 12, 2000, between
g, Inc. (filed herewith).

June 12, 2000, by and between
trant (filed herewith).
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271 Financial data schedule for the fisc al year ended April 30, 2000
(filed herewith).

* Indicates management contract or compensatory @iarrangement.

(1) Certain portions of this exhibit have been ¢edtbased upon a request for confidential treatiiledtby the Company with the Secretary

of the Commission on August 25, 1999, as amendedatober 8, 1999. The omitted portion of this eihilas been separately filed with the
Commission.

(2) Certain portions of this exhibit have been éattbased upon a request for confidential treatrilendtby the Company with the Secretary

of the Commission on September 14, 1999 as amesrdé€xttober 8, 1999. The Omitted portion of thisibitthas been separately filed with
Commission.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:
The Registrant filed a Report on Form 8-K, datedil&y 2000, under Item 5- Other Events.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly causeddiport to be signed on its behalf by
undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.
(Registrant)

Dated: July 28, 2000 By:/s/ August J. Liguori

August J. Liguori
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
O ficer and Treasurer

Dated: July 28, 2000 By:/s/ Frank G Serpe

Frank G Serpe
Seni or Vice President, Finance and
Chi ef Accounting O ficer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature T itle or Capacity Da te

/sl Vincent K. McMahon Chairman of th e Board of Directors July 28, 2000

Vincent K. McMahon

/sl Linda E. McMahon Chief Executiv e Officer and Director July 28, 2000

Linda E. McMahon

/sl Lowell P. Weicker Jr. Director July 28, 2000

Lowell P. Weicker Jr.

/sl David Kenin Director July 28, 2000
David Kenin
/sl Joseph Perkins Director July 28, 2000

Joseph Perkins

~

/sl Stuart C. Snyder President, Chi ef Operating Officer and Director July 28, 2000

Stuart C. Snyder

~

August J. Liguori Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer an d Director July 28, 2000

/s

August J. Liguori
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Waklcestling Federation Entertainment Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of World Wrestling Federation Entertaimmiac. as of April 30, 2000 and
1999 and the related consolidated statements ofriecchanges in stockholders' equity and cash fforsach of the three years in the period
ended April 30, 2000. Our audits also includedfihencial statement schedule listed in the indetteah 14. These financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsilafithe Company's management. Our responsibility express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audiiagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAsnerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6ig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asairgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tbasolidated financial position of the Comp
as of April 30, 2000 and 1999 and the consolida¢sdlts of its operations and its consolidated ¢asts for each of the three years in the
period ended April 30, 2000 in conformity with acoting principles generally accepted in the Uni&ates of America. Also, in our opinion,
such financial statement schedule, when considareglation to the basic consolidated financiatestzents taken as a whole, presents fair
all material respects the information set forttréire

/sl Deloitte and Touche LLP
Stanford, Connecticut

June 20, 2000

(July 28 as to Note 18)
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World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in thousands)

As
2000
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equUIValENtS.......cccccceveees e $101,779
Short-term iNVEStMENTS......uuuvveiccieees e ————— 107,213

Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtf
April 30, 2000 and $920 at April 30, 1999

INVENtOry, Net.......cocveiueiiiieiieeiees

Prepaid expenses and other current assets.....

Assets held for sale.........c.cccoevennne

Total current assets 287,852
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMEN 41,484
OTHER ASSETS....ccoiiiiieeiieceiecs e 7,696
TOTAL ASSETS $337,032

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOL DERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable.........ccccoveeeiiinenns
Accrued expenses and other liabilities........
Accrued inCome taxes..........c.cccveeeeenns
Deferred income
Current portion of long-term debt.............

Total current liabilities.................

LONG-TERM DEBT....ocociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiees i 10,400

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 11)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common StOCK........cccveviiiiiiiieiee
Additional paid in capital................... .
Accumulated other comprehensive income (I0SS). 105
Retained earnings...........ccccevevvveennnen.

Total stockholders' eqUity............... 258,537

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ......... i $337,032

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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of April 30,

$ 45,727

37,509
2,939

$ 12,946
18,816
2,291
11,084
1,388

46,525

11,403



World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal year ended April 30,

2000 1999 1998
NEt rEVENUES....ccvvvveeeeee i e, $379,310 $251,474 $126,231
Cost of revenues... . 220,980 147,026 87,969
Stock option charges.......cccccvvvvveevvciee e, 15,330 - -
Selling, general and administrative expenses....... . 71,095 45,521 26,117
XFL start uUp COStS....uuuviieeaiiiiiiiieeeenns 1,079 - -
Depreciation and amortization...................... 2,544 1,946 1,676
Operating iNCOME..........ccouvveviiieirniiennnns 68,282 56,981 10,469
Interest expense (Note 9) . 2,155 1,125 2,019
Interest and other income, net..................... 7,571 2,117 479
Income before inCome taxes..........cccceeeeeeee. e, 73,698 57,973 8,929
Provision for income taxes (Note 10).......cc....... e 14,790 1,943 463
NEtINCOME..uvvieiiiii e e, $ 58,908 $ 56,030 $ 8,466
Earnings per common share - basiC......ccccoeceeee. e $ 0.94 $ 0.99 $ 0.15

Earnings per common share - diluted................ .~ e $ 0.94 $ 0.99 $ 0.15

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA INFORMATION (Note 3):

Historical income before income taxes......... . e $ 73,698 $57,973
Pro forma adjustment other than income taxes.. ... 427 2,515
Pro forma income before income taxes........... .. 73,271 55,458
Pro forma provision for income taxes......... . L 28,722 22,227
Pro forma net inCome..........ccceevvveeeees e, $ 44,549 $ 33,231
Pro forma earnings per common share - basic... ... $ 071 $ 0.59
Pro forma earnings per common share - diluted. .. $ 071 $ 0.59

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'

Balance, May 1, 1997.........ccccccveenen. $

Comprehensive income:
Netincome........cccceevvvinicnnennne.
Translation adjustment...................

Total comprehensive income.....................

S Corporation distributions....................
Balance, April 30, 1998..........ccccovvvene
Comprehensive income:

Netincome........ccccvevverieenncnnne.
Translation adjustment...................

Total comprehensive income.....................

S Corporation distributions....................
Balance, April 30, 1999.........cccccevunene

Comprehensive Income:
Netincome.........cccovvvivicinennne.
Unrealized holding gain, net of tax.......
Translation adjustment...................

Total comprehensive income.....................
Net proceeds from initial public offering......

Stock iSSUANCe COStS.......ccvveeeiiirenines
Stock option charges.............

S Corporation earnings retained................

S Corporation distributions....................

Balance, April 30, 2000..........ccccccveeene

World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.

(dollars in thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Paid-In Comprehensive
Stock Capital Income (Loss)
567 $ 1 $ 62) $

- - (37)
567 1 (99)
- - 12
567 1 (87)
- - 194

- - @
115 181,700 -
- (2,492) -
- 15,330 -
- 27,996 -

$ 682 $222,535 $ 105

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Retained
Earnings Total

15,914 $ 16,420

8,466 8,466
- (37)
8,429

(2,152) (2,152)

22,228 22,697

56,030 56,030
- 12
56,042
(6,479) (6,479)

71,779 72,260

58,008 58,908
- 194

1
i
—~
N
~

- 181,815
—- (2,492
-~ 15,330
(27,996) -
(67,476) (67,476)

$ 35,215 $258,537




World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)

Year ended Apri

2000 1999
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEtINCOME ..ot $ 58,908 $ 56,030
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization................... s 2,544 1,946
Provision for doubtful accounts . . 113 920
Provision for inventory obsolescence............ L 1,174 1,530
Deferred inCOMe taxes.....ccccceevvcveenenneees s (7,148) (483)
Stock option Charges......cccccveveeees s 15,330 -
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable.........ccccccveeeeee. e (23,027) (17,208)

INVENLOrY......oeiiiiiiiieiiiiee e (987) (1,842

Prepaid expenses and other current assets...
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities......
Accrued inCOMe taxes.........ccovveeernenns

Deferred income

(1,553) (1,522)
4,744 (1,937)
13,814 13,409
2,570 1,698
1,128 5,105

Net cash provided by operating activities. L 67,610 57,646

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment (15,068) (3,756)

Purchase of Las Vegas property..........ccccee.... - (10,878)
Net cash used in investing activities..... L (15,068) (14,634)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayments of short-term debt................... -- --
Proceeds from long-term debt.................... - 1,563

Repayments of long-term debt.................... .
Repayments of capital lease obligations......... . --
Purchase of short-term investments............... L (106,964) --
S Corporation distributions..................... (67,476) (6,479)
Net proceeds from initial public offering....... 181,815 -

(1,373)  (1,166)

Stock issuance COStS.......cccvvvveevevennnnn. (2,492) --
Net cash provided by (used in) financing a ctivities................ 3,510 (6,082)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS.......... . oo 56,052 36,930
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD.....  .cocoviinieiieiene 45,727 8,797
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD ........... eeveeveeneenienieens $101,779 $ 45,727
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the period for income taxes.... L $ 19,697 $ 644

Cash paid during the period for interest........ 2,153 1,143
SUPPLEMENTAL NON-CASH INFORMATION:

Receipt of warrants (Note 16).......ccccceeeeeee e $ 7 $ 2,359
OTHER INFORMATION:

XFL Start-up COStS....ccoovvviiriiieeciieeeee e $ 1,079 --

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per slzad d
1. Basis of Presentation and Business Description

The accompanying consolidated financial statemietade the accounts of World Wrestling Federationtertainment, Inc., formerly known
as Titan Sports Inc., its wholly-owned subsidiarieS| Realty Company, WWF Hotel & Casino VenturésCl World Wrestling Federation
Entertainment Canada, Inc., formerly known as TRammotions (Canada), Inc., Stephanie Music Puibighinc., WWFE Sports, Inc., Event
Services, Inc., WWF New York, Inc. and the Compamyajority-owned subsidiary Titan/Shane Partner@uofiectively the "Company").

The Company's 50% interest (which currently inchidi of the voting equity) in the new venture wNBC ("XFL, LLC"), is held by a

wholly owned subsidiary. In the opinion of managemall adjustments (consisting of normal recuri@mjustments) considered necessary for
a fair presentation have been included. All sigaifit intercompany balances have been eliminatetiai@grior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform with the current year preéagon.

The Company is an integrated media and entertaihooenpany, principally engaged in the developmerdduction and marketing of
television programming, pay-per-view programmirigg levents, and the licensing and sale of brandedumer products featuring its World
Wrestling Federation brand of entertainment. Then@any's operations are organized around two prheigtivities:

. Live and televised entertainment, which cong$ts/e events, television programming and pay-piemw programming. Revenues consist
principally of attendance at live events, saleetdévision advertising time, cable television rigfgss, and pay-per-view buys.

. Branded merchandise, which consists of licenaimgjdirect sale of merchandise. Revenues includs sAmerchandise by third party
licensees and direct marketing and sales of medib@nmagazines and home videos.

Prior to the consummation of the initial publicerfhg of the common stock of World Wrestling FedieraEntertainment, Inc. on October !
1999 (the "Offering"), the Company entered intedes of transactions that consolidated World WiresFederation Entertainment Canada,
Inc. and Stephanie Music Publishing, Inc. under M/@vrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc. Theaagactions were accounted for similar
to a pooling of interests as World Wrestling FetleraEntertainment Canada, Inc. and Stephanie MRsidishing, Inc. had been under
common control since their respective formations.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivaletude cash on deposit in overnight deposibants, certificates of deposit with
original maturities of three months or less ancestinents in money market accounts.

Short-term Investments - The Company classifiesfatls short-term investments as available-foesacurities. Such short-term investments
consist primarily of the United States governmett federal agencies securities, corporate commegrajger and corporate bonds which are
stated at market value, with unrealized gains asdds on such securities reflected, net of taattes comprehensive income in stockholders
equity. Realized gains and losses on short-termsimrents are included in earnings and are derisieg) the specific identification method
for determining the cost of securities. It is then@pany's intent to maintain a liquid portfolio &ké advantage of investment opportunities;
therefore, all securities are considered to belaviai-for-sale and are classified as current assets

Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable relaitecjpally to amounts due the Company from cable ganies for pay-per-view
presentations and balances due from the saleesigedn advertising, videotapes and magazines.
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World Wrestling Federation Entertainment Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Conti nued)
(dollars in thousands, except share and per slzad d

Inventory - Inventory consists of merchandise smidh direct sales basis, and videotapes, whichadethrough wholesale distributors and
retailers. Inventory is stated at the lower of d@isst-in, first-out basis) or market. Substarigiall inventories are comprised of finished
goods.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipmenstated at historical cost. Depreciation and amatitn is computed on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assetshen applicable, the life of the lease, whighds shorter. Vehicles and equipment are
depreciated based on estimated useful lives vaffyamg three to five years. Buildings and relateghiovements are amortized over thirty-one
years, the estimated useful life. Maintenance apdirs are charged directly to expense as incu

Income Taxes - Concurrent with the closing of thiefing, the Company terminated its S Corporatitat&on and thereafter has been subject
to federal, state and foreign income taxes. See Roegarding pro forma income taxes assumingttiea€ompany had been a C Corporation
for the periods prior to the Offering.

Other than World Wrestling Federation Entertainm@ahada, Inc., prior to the termination of its Sowation status, federal taxable income
attributable to the operations of the Company wakided in the federal taxable income of the irdiial stockholder. The provision for
income taxes for the years ended April 30, 199919488 relates to the foreign operations of the Caaimgand certain state taxes. The defe
state and foreign tax provision is determined unkerasset and liability method. Under this methitederred assets and liabilities are
recognized based on differences between finan@wment and income tax basis of assets and tiabilising presently enacted tax rates.
Concurrent with the termination of the Company@dporation election, all deferred taxes were ne@dlusing a combined federal and state
tax rate.

Revenue Recognition - Revenues from live and tesl/ientertainment are recorded when earned, gadigifupon the occurrence or airing of
the related event. Revenues from the licensingsalelof branded consumer products consist prifgiparoyalty revenues, magazine
subscription and newsstand revenues and salesiodéd merchandise, net of estimated returns. Rogalenues are recognized in
accordance with the terms of applicable royalty Erehse agreements with each counter party, wisigenerally upon receipt of notice by
the individual licensee as to license fees dueehtain situations the Company receives royaltyaades from third parties which are deferred
and recognized over the term of the related agrasm8ubscription revenues are initially deferred aarned pro-rata over the related
subscription periods. Sales of merchandise andstamd magazines are recorded when shipped topaitis.

Advertising Expense-- Expenses are charged to iraduming the period incurred, except for expensksad to the development of a major
commercial or media campaign which are chargeddome in the period in which the commercial or caigp is first presented by the
media.

Foreign Currency Translation - For translationh# financial statements of its Canadian subsidig/Company has determined that the
Canadian dollar is the functional currency. Asseid liabilities are translated at the yead exchange rate, and income statement accoe
translated at average exchange rates for the Ykeanesulting translation adjustment is recordedcasimulated other comprehensive income
(loss), a component of stockholders' equity. Fareigrrency transactions are recorded at the exehaatg prevailing at the transaction date.

Use of EstimatesFhe preparation of financial statements in conforwith generally accepted accounting principleguires management
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discksaf contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the regamounts of revenue and expenses during thetiregpperiod. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets - The Company peigatly evaluates the carrying value of long-livexbats when events and circumstances
warrant such a review. The carrying value of a Himed asset is considered impaired when indicabbispairment are present and
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generatéldebasset are less than the asset's carryingramouhat event, a loss is recognized
based on the amount by which the carrying valueeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. Falu® is determined primarily using the
anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate comurateswith the risk involved.
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Stock-Based Compensation--The Company follows ibel@sure-only provisions of Statement of Finanéiatounting Standards ("SFAS")
No. 123, "Accounting for Sto--Based Compensation.” SFAS No. 123 encouragesidas not require, companies to adopt a fair vahsed
method for determining expense related to stocledh@asmpensation. The disclosures are set forttote 82. The Company continues to
account for stock-based compensation using thiméntrvalue method as prescribed under Accountinaciples Board Opinion ("APB") No
25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,"” eldted Interpretations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In June 1998S3¥%o. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instrumemtisd Hedging Activities" was
released, as amended by SFAS No. 137, for therdétdrthe implementation. The statement requihesreécognition of all derivatives as
either assets or liabilities in the balance shadtthe measurement of those instruments at faireyaind is effective for all fiscal quarters of
all fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000 chiiherefore would require the Company to adoph statement on May 1, 2001. Although
the Company's involvement in derivative type instemts is limited, the impact of adoption of thiatetent, if adopted currently, would be to
reflect the estimated fair value of certain warsangiceived by the Company in connection with lieemgreements (see Note 16).

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Cssioni ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin N@11("SAB 101"), "Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements". SAB 101 sumizea certain of the SEC's views in applying gelleeccepted accounting principles to
revenue recognition in financial statements. Ore2f, 2000, the SEC issued SAB 101B to defer tfeetdfe date of implementation of SAB
101 until no later than the fourth fiscal quartéfiscal years beginning after December 15, 199% Tompany is required to adopt SAB 101
by the quarter ending April 30, 2001. The Compangvaluating whether SAB 101 will cause any changes revenue recognition policies
and procedures.

3. Unaudited Pro Forma Information

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statemenitscofme information presents the pro forma effectshe historical consolidated statem:
of income for fiscal years ended April 30, 2000 48989 of $427 and $2,515, respectively, for add@lacompensation to the chairman of the
board of directors and to the chief executive effipursuant to employment agreements that becdetieé July 1, 1999. Additionally, it
presents income taxes of $28,722 and $22,227 éofizhal years ended April 30, 2000 and 1999, retsgay, to give pro forma effect due to
the change in the Company's tax status from a SudvehS Corporation to a Subchapter C Corporat&presenting an overall effective tax
rate of 39.2% for fiscal 2000 and 40% for fisca®29

4. Earnings Per Share

For the year ended April 30, 2000, for the purpafsealculating earnings per share - basic, the teijaverage number of common shares
outstanding was 62,806,726 and for the purposalofilating earnings per share - diluted, the weidlaverage number of common shares
outstanding, including dilutive securities, was8),279 which includes 23,553 shares represertimglitutive effect of outstanding options.

For the years ended April 30, 1999 and 1998, ferptlrpose of calculating earnings per share - lzaglcearnings per share - diluted, the
weighted average number of common shares outsamgis 56,667,000.
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5. Investments

Short-term investments consist of the followingp&gpril 30, 2000:

nrealized Fair
olding Gain Value

$19 $ 9,319
230 96,665
1,229

6. Assets Held for Sale

Assets held for sale at April 30, 2000 and 199%ists primarily of real property of the WWF Hotel@asino Ventures, LLC located in Las
Vegas, Nevada. Management has made a decisiofi tbesproperty and is currently soliciting offefhe property was purchased in the
second quarter of fiscal 1999 as part of the Colyipaxpansion project. The assets are being caatithtbir historical cost, which is less than
estimated fair value less costs to sell. In deteimgi the fair value, the Company considered, amathgr things, the range of preliminary
purchase prices being discussed with potential isug® well as a recent appraisal of the property.

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the followingfas

April 3 0

2000 1999
Land, buildings and improvements.............ceee.. i $ 41,960 $ 31,010
EQUIPMENt. ..cooiiiiiiiiieeeeeees s 24,785 20,170

VehiCles....occoooiiiiiiiiiiiie 629 543
67,374 51,723
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 25,890 23,346
TOtal i $ 41,484 $ 28,377

Depreciation and amortization expense was $2,5494%, and $1,676 for the years ended April 30020099 and 1998, respectively.

8. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisheffollowing as of:

Apri 130
2000 1999
Accrued pay-per-View eVENt COSES......cccceveeees e $ 7,020 $ 5,364
Accrued talent royaltieS.....cccoeeevevevecccccees e 1,981 1,389
Accrued payroll related COSES.....coovviveenneees e 7,228 2,910
Accrued teleVviSION COSES.....ccueiviiiieeiiiccces e 8,719 3,009
ACCrUEd ONET ..o e 7,684 6,144
$32,632 $18,816
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9. Debt

Debt as of April 30, 2000 and 1999 consists offthlewing:

2000 1999
GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corporation............... . i $10,932 $11,410
IBJ-Business Credit Corporation.................... 485 1,133
J.L.J. Financial Services COrp.............ccu... -- 88
Charter Financial, INC...........cccccevvneenn. 160
Total debt..cciciiciiccc e 11,417 12,791
LeSS CUIMTEeNt POrtiON....cccovvviiiiiiiiiiiees e 1,017 1,388
Long-term debt.....ccccoviiiiiiiiiiiccieeeees e $10,400 $11,403

During December 1997, the Company entered into @gage loan agreement with GMAC Commercial Mortg&geporation, assigned to
Citicorp Real Estate, Inc., under the terms of Whie Company borrowed $12,000 at an annual irttesés of 7.6%. Principal and interest
are to be paid in 180 monthly installments of agpnately $112, which commenced on January 1, 1988.10an is collateralized by the
Company's executive offices and television studiStamford, Connecticut.

During December 1997, the Company entered intwalvimg line of credit agreement with IBJ Schro@ersiness Credit Corporation ("IBJ")
under the terms of which the Company may borrowouf10,000 at the IBJ alternate base rate plus &Ofte IBJ eurodollar rate plus
2.50%, based upon the availability of qualifyingaiwables which will collateralize the loan. ThellBgreement expires in December 2000.
The credit agreement contains various financial @etating covenants, which, among other thinggjire the maintenance of certain
financial ratios, places limitations on distributfoto stockholders and restrict the Company'stalidiborrow funds from other sources. In
July 1999, the Company obtained a waiver which,ragrather things, raised the existing limitationsstmckholder distributions. At April 30,
2000, there were no outstanding borrowings underékiolving portion of the credit agreement. ThenPany is obligated to pay an

annual .5% commitment fee on the unused portidghefacility during the term of the agreement.

During July 1998, the Company amended its revolliimg of credit agreement with I1BJ to allow the Quamy to make a capital expenditure
loan, under the terms of which the Company borro$g864 at the IBJ Swap Rate plus 3% (8.92% atl80ri2000 and at April 30,1999) to
be repaid in 29 monthly installments of approxinha&s4 which commenced on September 1, 1998. Tae i collateralized by the
purchased equipment.

During February 1997, the Company entered into teldad Security Agreement with JLJ Finnancial S&wiCorp. under which the
Company borrowed $285 at a fixed interest rate0o89%. As of April 30, 2000, there were no amownitstanding under this agreement.

During fiscal 1995, the Company entered into a Noté Security Agreement with Charter Financial, lneder which the Company borrow
$713 at a fixed interest rate of 10.5%. As of Apfil 2000, there were no amounts outstanding uhdeagreement.

Interest expense was $2,155, $1,125 and $2,0ltBdorears ended April 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998 ectgely. Included in interest expense
for the year ended April 30, 2000 was interesthfi7 incurred in connection with the $32,000 rastgable to the Company's then sole
stockholder.
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At April 30, 2000, the scheduled principal repaytsamder the loan agreements described above wdol@ws:

Ending April 30,

2007 i $1,017
2002...ciiiieeiiee e 570
2003 . 615
2004 663
2005, . i 715
Thereafter........ccoovvvvciiiiiiiieeeeee. 7,837
Totaleeooooieiieeecee e, $11,417

10. Income Taxes

Other than World Wrestling Federation Entertainnt@anada, Inc., the Company was formerly an S Catjmor for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. An S Corporation's income or loss ardluligions are passed through to, and taken intoaat by, the corporation's stockholde
computing personal taxable income. Accordinglypnavision for U.S. federal income tax has been niadke accompanying historical
consolidated financial statements for the fiscalrgeended April 30, 1999 and 1998. Concurrent thithCompany's initial public offering, its
tax status was changed from a Subchapter S Coigotata Subchapter C Corporation. As a Subchd&pt@orporation, the Company is
directly responsible for all federal and state meataxes. As a result of the change in its taxustdor the year ended April 30, 2000, the
Company was taxed on its income at an effective shtipproximately 20% based upon the number of daying the fiscal year that it was a
Subchapter S Corporation and the number of dayasta Subchapter C Corporation. The Company's iadarmprovision for fiscal 2000,
1999 and 1998 was $ 14,790, $1,943 and $463 résplgctand was comprised primarily of current statel foreign taxes for fiscal 1999 and
1998, and includes federal, state and foreign téotefiscal 2000. See Note 3 regarding pro forn@ime taxes assuming the Company had
not been an S Corporation.

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbethe provisions of SFAS 109, "Accounting Focéme Taxes." The components of
the Company's tax provision for each of the thregry in the period ended April 30, 2000 are ag¥l

2000 1999 1998

Current:

Federal.....cooovviieiiiiiiieiiiieeeeeeeee $16,901 - -

State and local.........ccoceeevveevvveeeeee. L 4,764 $2,202 $414

FOreign. e 273 224 49
Deferred:

Federal.....cooovviiiniiiiiiiiiceeeee (5,951) - -

State and local.........cccoovvvvvvvveeeee. L (1,181) (413)

FOreign. e (16) (70) --

1o - | $14,790 $1,943 $463
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The following sets forth the difference betweenphavision for income taxes computed at the U.8efal statutory income tax rate of 35%
and that reported for financial statement purposes:

Year Ended

April 30, 2000
Statutory U.S. federal tax at 35%........cccccceee.. e $ 25,794
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit...... L 3,204
Deferred tax benefit due to change in tax status... (2,660)
Federal benefit of S-Corporation ........ccccceeee. e (11,976)
[0 =T 93
Other permanent iteMS.......cccooccvvvervccceccees e 335
Provision for inCOMe taxesS......ccccccovvcves e $ 14,790

The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to significant portions of the deferred taseds and deferred tax liabilities consist of the
following as of April 30, 2000 and 1999:

2000 199 9

Deferred tax assets:

Accounts receivable $1 88
Inventories..............c.c..... 1 00
Prepaid royalties..........cccccoiuiieeene --
Stock OptioNS......ccvvvveeeeeiiiiiiiiiins --
Accrued liabilities and reserves.............. 65
Other. ..o, 2 26
FOreign......cocveveeiiiiieee e 70
6 49
Deferred tax liabilities:

Fixed assets and depreciation................. 1 17
Intangible assets 7
Other liabilities.......... -- 16
Prepaid royalties 1,522 --
2,739 1 40
Total, Netueeciciiiiiiicceeeeeeeeees e $7651 $5 09

The temporary differences described above represffatences between the tax basis of assetslitifias and their reported amounts in the
consolidated financial statements that will reguliaxable or deductible amounts in future yearsmvthe reported amounts of the assets or
liabilities are recovered or settled. $2,349 ofeédeferred tax asset is included in prepaid esg® and other current assets and the
remaining $5,302 are included in other non-cureasets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

United States income taxes have not been providatheemitted earnings of the Company's foreign iy, because the Company's intent
is to keep such earnings indefinitely reinvestethaforeign subsidiary's operations.
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11. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

The Company has certain commitments, includingousrnon-cancellable operating leases, performamuacts with various performers,
employee agreements, and agreements with USA Nietveord United Paramount Network ("UPN"), both ofiebhare television networks,
which guarantees each of the networks a minimurmeay for advertising during the course of the reipe agreements. The Company's
agreement with USA Networks expires on Septemb20@0 at which time, in connection with the Compamgreement with Viacom/CBS,
the Company anticipates that its programming viilba cable networks owned by Viacom/CBS throught&mber 2005. The agreement v
Viacom/CBS, guarantee the network a minimum payrf@radvertising during the course of the agreemanaddition, as part of the
agreement with Viacom/CBS, the Company's programgragreement with UPN was extended for a three yedod ending September 20!
The effectiveness of the Viacom/CBS agreementiiglitioned upon the Company's prevailing in USA'esd of a decision favorable to the
Company in litigation brought by USA (See "Legab&redings" below). Future minimum payments undetehses and these agreements as
of April 30, 2000, adjusted for the Viacom/CBS ta#ton agreement and UPN extension, as describedeadre as follows:

Operating
Lease Other
Year Ending April 30, Commitments Commitments  Total
2001 $2,984 $ 46,614 $ 49,598
2002t 2,991 38,792 41,783
2003 2,997 34,586 37,583
2004 3,042 19,696 22,738
2005 e 2,888 10,736 13,624
Thereafter.....cccoovviviiiiiieicecee 29,771 13,217 42,988

Total oo $44,673 $163,641 $208,314

Rent expense under operating leases was approyn$afe3, $260 and $170, for the fiscal years entded 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively.

On June 29, 1999, the Company made an S Corpomdistiibution to its then sole stockholder in tenfi of an unsecured, 5% interest-
bearing note in the principal amount of $32,000 Apel 10, 2000. The note represented estimatedriddind state income taxes payable by
the Company's then sole stockholder with respetttedCompany's taxable income for fiscal 1999 astuinated taxable income for the period
May 1, 1999 through October 18, 1999 which reprisstire portion of the Company's taxable earning$isoal 2000 allocated to the S
Corporation. As of April 30, 2000, the Company ptad $32,000 note in full plus an additional $8,400e additional $8,400 represented
additional tax liabilities of the then sole stoclder due to a revision of estimated taxes payairi¢hie tax periods described above. To the
extent the portion of the Company's fiscal 1999 20@0 actual earnings allocated to the S Corporati@eeds those earnings used in the
calculation of estimated income taxes payable $ithién sole stockholder, the Company may need ke ma additional distribution to its
stockholders of record as of July 3, 1999 whicéxgected to be paid no later than August 15, 2000.
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Legal Proceedings

On May 13, 1991, William R. Eadie, a former profesal wrestler who had been one of the Companyf®prers, filed a lawsuit in state
court in Wisconsin against the Company and Mr. Mbbfa The case was removed to the United Statesdi€burt for the District of
Connecticut on August 7, 1991. The suit allegesttir@Company breached an oral agreement to corafeeRadie for the use of his ideas in
connection with a wrestling tag team called "Demnmti’ and to employ him for life. Plaintiff is seiely $6,500 in compensatory damages and
unspecified punitive damages. The Company has demyg liability and is vigorously contesting thigtian. In a similar action filed against
the Company on April 10, 1992 in the United Stddesrict Court for the District of Connecticut, R&nColley, a former professional wrest
who had been one of the Company's performers gdlisges that the Company breached an oral agreéemeompensate him for disclosing
his idea for a wrestling tag team called "DemolfitioHe is seeking unspecified compensatory andtipenrdamages. The Company has denied
any liability and is vigorously defending this acti Colley's claims were consolidated for trialwihose of Eadie. The Company believes
both plaintiffs' claims are without merit. On Ma@,21998, a magistrate judge ruled that the pldg\tfxpert on damages could not testify at
trial. Thereafter, the plaintiffs engaged a secexpert on damages, whose report was filed on AUglist999. Given the substance of the
second expert's opinion, as well as continuing ldgwveents in the law regarding the relevance arnidbriity of expert opinions, it is not
possible to predict whether this second experiisiap will be admitted into evidence at trial. TBe@mpany believes that an unfavorable
outcome in these actions may have a material aghedfsct on its financial condition, results of tgtéons or prospects.

On June 21, 1996, the Company filed an action ag&8fCW and Turner Broadcasting Systems, Inc. ("TB$the United States District
Court for the District of Connecticut, alleging anfcompetition and infringement of its copyrighéeyvicemarks and trademarks with respect
to two characters owned by the Company, Razor RandrDiesel. On May 18, 1998, WCW filed an actigaiast the Company in the
United States District Court for the District of @eecticut and immediately moved to consolidate dleison with the Company's pending
action against WCW and TBS. WCW alleged that then@any diluted various marks owned by and/or licdrts@ VNCW by disparaging tho
marks and also claims that the Company engagenfairicompetition when it aired a "Flashback" seiaé past World Wrestling Federation
performances on USA Network without disclosing thaitne of the performers, at the time the seriesswasequently broadcast, were then
affiliated with WCW. The parties have resolved fiending litigation between them to their mutuaisfattion.

On June 15, 1999, members of the family of Owert,Haprofessional wrestler performing under coritveith the Company, filed suit in ste
court in Missouri against the Company, Vincent aimtla McMahon and nine other defendants, includivgmanufacturer of the rigging
equipment involved, individual equipment riggersl dine arena operator, as a result of the deatwainHart during a pay-per-view event at
Kemper Arena in Kansas City, Missouri on May 2399.9The specific allegations against the Companlude the failure to use ordinary ¢
to provide proper equipment and personnel for #ietg of Owen Hart, the failure to take specialgargions when conducting an inherently
dangerous activity, endangerment and the failuseaim, vicarious liability for the negligence okthamed individual defendants, the failure
to properly train and supervise, and the provisibdangerous and unsafe equipment. Plaintiffs seakpensatory and punitive damages in
unspecified amounts. On September 1, 1999, the @pynifiled its answer, affirmative defenses and sidaims, denying any liability for
negligence and other claims asserted against thgp&ay. Subsequently, the manufacturing defendatiied, and the Company has filed
third party petitions against them. The Companyebek that it has meritorious defenses and intemdefend vigorously against the suit. On
October 1, 1999, the Company filed a complainbi Wnited States District Court for the District@bnnecticut, principally seeking a
declaratory judgment with respect to the enfordagluf contractual defenses, forum selection césjsnd other provisions of Owen Hart's
contract with the Company. The defendants havd &lenotion to dismiss the Company's complaint fantof jurisdiction, which is current
pending before the court. On February 22, 2000Ciwpany filed an Emergency Motion for Specific &ekment of and for Summary
Judgment on Forum Selection Clause seeking a ifeliad that any claims belonging to Owen Hart awgsout of his relationship with the
Company be adjudicated in Connecticut. The Comganwtion is currently pending. The Company beligh@s an unfavorable outcome of
this suit may have a material adverse effect ofintncial condition, results of operations or grests.
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On September 20, 1999, the Company was formallyeslewith a complaint regarding an action that NécBhss, a professional wrestler
previously affiliated with the Company, filed inetfunited States District Court for the Eastern fisbf New York in which she alleges
sexual harassment under New York law, civil assanidt intentional infliction of emotional distre&ass's complaint sought $20,000 in
compensatory damages and $100,000 in punitive desn&n or about November 9, the Company receiwégtiae of Charge of
Discrimination from the Equal Employment Opportyr@ommission (EEOC) filed by Nicole Bass. On Jag@if, 2000, the EEOC closed
file on her claim. The Company filed a Motion tosiiss the complaint on or about January 10, 20RMtH#f filed an amended complaint on
February 28, 2000 withdrawing her stated demar®L60,000 in punitive damages as well as her claihtévil assault and intentional
infliction of emotional distress. The amended camninow seeks relief under Title VII for Sexualrdssment, Title 42 ss.1981 (a) for ger
bias, and for violations of the New York Human Riglaw. The Company has filed a Motion to Dismidstion to Strike and Motion for a
More Definite Statement to the Amended Complaiiie Tompany believes that the claims are withouttraad intend to vigorously defend
against this action. Based on the Company's predirgireview of the allegations and the underlyiagt$, as the Company understands them,
the Company does not believe that an unfavoralileome in this action will have a material adverect on its financial condition or results
of operations or prospects.

On April 17, 2000 WWF-World Wide Fund for Naturéét"Fund") instituted legal proceedings againstGbhenpany in the English High
Court seeking injunctive relief and unspecified daes for alleged breaches of an agreement betlwedfund and the Company. The Fund
alleges that the Company's use of the initials "W\MFvarious contexts, including uses in the wwircand wwfshopzone.com internet
domain names and in contents of various of the Gmyip web sites; its "scratch" logo; and certaal ases in the contexts of foreign
broadcasts of its programming, violate the agre¢inetween the Fund and the Company. The Compaigvbslthat it has meritorius
defenses and intends to defend the action vigorotille Company believes that an unfavorable outcoitieis suit may have a material
adverse effect on its financial condition, resoit®perations or prospects.

Pursuant to the Company's contract with USA Netwtir& Company tendered to USA an offer made by MdEBS for a strategic alliance
agreement, which included certain transmissiontsigr its programming. USA Network purported totatathe offer and simultaneously
filed an action in the Delaware Court of Chancearglsng (i) injunctive relief enjoining the contrdmtween Viacom/CBS and the Company,
and (ii) an award of specific performance requiring Company to enter into a contract with USA Natu After expedited discovery
proceedings and a trial on the merits, the Coudetrin its favor that USA Network had failed to miatviacom/CBS's offer. USA has filed an
appeal of this ruling to the Delaware Supreme Cand a hearing is scheduled for August 14, 2000.

The Company is not currently a party to any othatemal legal proceedings. However, it is involwedeveral other suits and claims in the
ordinary course of business, and it may from timérhe become a party to other legal proceedingiagrin the ordinary course of doing
business.

12. Stockholders' Equity

On October 15, 1999, the Company filed an amendddestated certificate of incorporation which, agother things, authorized
60,000,000 shares of new Class B common stockyglae $.01 per share, reclassified each outstarstiage of World Wrestling Federation
Entertainment, Inc. common stock into 566,670 shafeClass B common stock, authorized 180,000,0@0es of new Class A common
stock, par value $.01 per share and authorized2@®00 shares of preferred stock, par value $.05lere. On October 19,1999, the
Company sold 11,500,000 shares of its Class A camstacck to the public at an initial offering prioE$17.00 per share. The net proceeds to
the Company generated from the offering were apprately $179,323 after deducting commissions, feebexpenses. On April 30, 2000,
the Company had 56,667,000 shares of Class B constook and 11,500,000 shares of Class A commoik stgistanding.

In July 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 LongrTlacentive Plan ("LTIP"), which became effectivéhwthe Offering. The LTIP
provides for grants of options as incentives amards to encourage employees, directors, conssilgantt performers in the lorigkm succes
of the Company. The LTIP provides for grants ofias to
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purchase shares at a purchase price equal toithedeket value on the date of the grant. The aytiexpire 10 years after the date of the ¢
and are generally exercisable in installments begmone year from the date of the grant. The LAlE® provides for the grant of other forms
of equity based incentive awards as determineth&@yCompensation Committee of the Board of Directdhe total number of shares reset
for issuance under the LTIP are 10,000,050, of wbi848,500 stock options were outstanding undet P as of April 30, 2000. Of these
options, 987,000 were granted to independent coioisconsisting primarily of the Company's perferm With respect to the options
granted to independent contractors, the Companyuated for the equity instrument grants in accocdamith SFAS No. 123, "Accounting
for Stock Based Compensation" and with EmergingdssTask Force Issue No. 96-18, "Accounting forifgdastruments That Are Issued to
Other Than Employees For Acquiring, or in Conjunctivith Selling, Goods or Services" and as a resgltrded a charge of $6,020 during
the second quarter of fiscal 2000. The optionstgdhto employees have been accounted for in aceoedaith Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Hayees."

Presented below is a summary of the LTIP's actiatythe period commencing with the date of theoffg through the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2000.

Weighted Ave rage
Options Exercise Pr ice
5,400,500 $17.00
45,000 17.00
(97,000) 17.00

Options granted at Offering.........c..cccceeen.
Options granted subsequent to the Offering.........
Options cancelled...........cccccvvveeeveerenenn.

Balance April 30, 2000.......c.cccocevvvienceees e 5,348,500 $17.00

The following table summarizes information for @pts outstanding and exercisable at April 30, 2000:

Number of Options  Weighted A verage Weighted Average Number of Options Weighted Average
Range of Prices Outstanding Remaining Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$17.00 5,348,500 9.5ye ars $17.00 621,100 $17.00

Pro Forma Fair Value Disclosures

Had compensation expense for the Company's stdaknsgbeen recognized based on the fair value @githnt date under the methodology
prescribed by SFAS No.123, the Company's net incamgebasic and diluted earnings per common shatédoyear ended April 30, 2000
would have been impacted as shown in the followainde:

April 30, 2000

Reported net income.... $ 58,908
Pro forma net income...........cccccceeiiiieeenne $ 53,039
Reported basic and diluted earnings per common shar $ 094
Pro forma basic and diluted earnings per common sha $ 084
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The fair value of options granted to employeesciilié amortized to expense over the option vesiargpd in determining the pro forma
impact, is estimated on the date of the grant ugiad3lack-Scholes option-pricing model with thédwing weighted average assumptions:

Expected life of option 3 years
Risk-free interest rate 5.5%
Expected volatility of the Company's common stock 44%

The weighted average fair value of options grameeimployees during fiscal 2000 is as follows:

Fair value of each option granted to employees $ 6.04
Total number of options granted to employees 4,361,500
Total fair value of all options granted to employee s $ 26,364

In accordance with SFAS No0.123, the weighted avefaiy value of stock options granted to employiedsased on a theoretical statistical
model using the preceding assumptions. In actydlégause the Company's stock options are notdrad@ny exchange, employees can
receive no value nor derive any benefit from hajdétock options under these plans without an irseréa market price of the World
Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc. commorelstSuch an increase in stock price would bené#fgtackholders commensurately.

In April 2000, the Company entered into a non-fisafele agreement with Viacom/CBS whereby, ViacomB8auld acquire 2.3 million
newly issued shares of the Company's stock at $13hmre. The Company accounted for this agreenmelar the provisions of Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue No. 96-18, "Accountindefprity Instruments That Are Issued to Other TharpBgees for Aquiring, or in
Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services," aackordingly, recorded a fourth quarter fiscal 26B@rge of $9,310.

13. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribyilan covering substantially all employees. Undés filan, participants are allowed to
make contributions based on a percentage of thkirigs, subject to a statutorily prescribed antimat. The Company makes matching
contributions of 50 percent of each participant'stdbutions, up to 6 percent of eligible compeisa{maximum 3% matching contribution).
The Company may also make additional discretionantributions to the 401(k) plan. The Company'semge for matching contributions a
additional discretionary contributions to the 40lglan was $1,082 during fiscal 2000 and $233 dyfiscal 1999. There were no Company
matching contributions to the 401(k) plan in fist8b8.

The Company sponsored a profit sharing plan fobgreefit of employees meeting certain eligibiligguirements. This profit sharing plan
was merged into the Company's 401(k) plan duriscpfi 1999, with all assets associated with theitmbéring plan being transferred into the
401(k) plan. The Company's expense under the psiaditing plan was $1,568 during fiscal 1998.

During fiscal 1999 the Company created its MonescRase Plan. Under this plan, the Company makestailgution to each participant's
account based upon a formula as prescribed byldmedocument. The Company's expense under the MBamhase Plan was $1,434 and
$769 during fiscal 2000 and fiscal 1999, respebtive

14. Related Party Transactions

The Company expensed approximately $2, $123 arib31n fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectivelyanel related costs and managen
fees paid to a travel agency which had been owgdbébchief executive officer of the Company. Onel®, 2000, the chief executive officer
sold the travel agency to an unaffiliated thirdtparhe management fee is paid in return for thedl agency's overall management of the
Company's travel planning requirements. Amounts
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receivable from the travel agency at April 30, 2@0@ 1999 was $336 and $205, respectively. Thdsades arise from transactions
conducted in the normal course of business.

A member of the Company's board of directors alas an independent contractor engaged by the Conthaing fiscal 2000. Prior to the
date of the Offering, this director received $68ls services and for the period subsequent t®ffering through April 30, 2000, this
director received $38.

The Company had a receivable from Shane Distribufio. in the amount of $377 at April 30, 2000 aB84. Shane Distribution Co. is a
movie distribution company owned by the chairmathefCompany.

For the fiscal years ended April 30, 2000, 1999 B9@8, the Company made S Corporation distributtorits sole stockholder of $67,476,
$6,479 and $2,152 respectively. Of the $67,476idiged in fiscal 2000, $40,412 related to the pagtrof taxes by our then sole stockholder
for S Corporation earnings of the Company.

On April 10, 2000, in connection with the paymehtte outstanding balance of the note payablestthién sole stockholder, the Company
paid $1,127 of interest on the $32,000 note paybis then sole stockholder.

On June 29, 1999, the Company made a distribufi®2$,500 to its then sole stockholder represerdipgrtion of previously earned and
undistributed earnings, which have been fully taatthe stockholder level. In addition, on JuneZZ®9, the Company made an S
Corporation distribution to its then sole stockleslih the form of an unsecured, 5% interest-beaniotg in the principal amount of $32,000
due April 10, 2000. The note represented estimizgeral and state income taxes payable by the Coytgothen sole stockholder with resg
to the Company's taxable income for fiscal 1999 estimated taxable income for the period May 1 9119®ough October 18, 1999 which
represents the portion of the Company's taxableirgs for fiscal 2000 allocated to the S Corporatis of April 30, 2000, the Company
paid the $32,000 note in full plus an additiona4®®. The additional $8,400 represented addititmaliabilities of the then sole stockholder
due to a revision of estimated taxes payable fotdl periods described above. To the extent théopwf the Company's fiscal 1999 and
2000 actual earnings allocated to the S Corporatimeeds those earnings used in the calculatiestohated income taxes payable by its
sole stockholder, the Company may need to makelditi@anal distribution to its stockholders of redas of July 3, 1999 which is expectet
be paid no later than August 15, 2000.
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15. Segment Information

The Company's operations are currently conductéumihree reportable segments, live and televisedrtainment, branded merchandise
and XFL activities. The live and televised entemagnt segment consists of live events, televisiogramming and pay per view
programming. The branded merchandise segment ieslcdnsumer products sold through third party ees and the marketing and sale of
merchandise, magazines and home videos. The XRFhesgigcurrently consists of costs related to theettgpment and start-up of the
Company's professional football league. The Compmbugs not allocate corporate overhead to eacheag@égments and as a result, corporate
overhead is a reconciling item in the table belmgluded in corporate overhead for the year endgdl 80, 2000 is non-cash stock option
charges of $15,330. There are no intersegment vegeiResults of operations and assets from nonddices are less than 10% of the
respective consolidated financial statement amodis table presents information about the findmeisults of each segment for the years
ended April 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998 and assetsAgrib 30, 2000 and 1999.

Apri 1 30,
2000 1999 1998

Net revenues:

Live and televised entertainment - WWF brand.. $265,485 $ 170,045 $ 92,649

Branded merchandise - WWF brand............... 113,825 81,429 33,582

Total NEL TEVENUES......evvveeeeeevecees e $379,310 $ 251,474 $ 126,231
Depreciation and Amortization:

Live and televised entertainment - WWF brand.. e, $ 1,333 $ 908 $ 633

Branded merchandise - WWF brand...............
COrporate.....cccceeevvvriiiieeeeeiiieieens

Total depreciation and amortization...........

Operating Income (Loss):

1,038 1,043

1946 $ 1,676

Live and televised entertainment - WWF brand.. e, $ 94672 $ 61,870 $ 19,390
Branded merchandise - WWF brand............... 41,340 26,163 11,159
XFL (start-up CostS) ......ccceeevvveennnns (1,079)

Corporate (including fiscal 2000 non-cash stoc

k option charges of $15,330)... (66,651)

(31:652) éo,080)

Total operating iNCOME......cccccvevveeeeces e $ 68,282 $ 56,981 $ 10,469
Assets:

Live and televised entertainment............... e $ 72,042 $ 39,096

Branded merchandise 23,320 24,118

Unallocated 241,670 66,974

TOtal @SSEIS. v e $337,032 % 130,188
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16. Financial Instruments and Off-Balance Sheek Ris

Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instrumgnthich potentially subject the Company to conaitns of credit risk, are principally
bank deposits and accounts receivable. Cash ahcegasvalents are deposited with high credit gydiitancial institutions. Except for
receivables from cable companies related to pay#gev events, concentrations of credit risk witepgect to trade receivables are limited due
to the large number of customers. A significantiparof trade receivables for pay-per-view evemesaue from the Company's pay-per-view
administrator, who collects and remits paymenthéoCompany from individual cable system operafohe Company performs ongoing
evaluations of its customers' financial conditimejuding its pay-per-view administrator, and monstits exposure for credit losses and
maintains allowances for anticipated losses.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The carryargounts of cash, cash equivalents, accounts rddeigad accounts payable approximate
fair value because of the short-term nature andintyaof such instruments. The carrying amounthaf Company's long-term debt
approximates fair value as the interest rates enrtstruments approximate market rates. In additieen Company has received warrants from
three publicly traded companies with whom it hastising agreements. The estimated fair value ofviveants on the date of receipt
aggregated approximately $2,366. Such amount iggheicognized as license revenues over the regpéicense periods. The carrying
amount of these warrants is included in other asse@pril 30, 2000. The estimated fair value affswarrants was $2,657 at April 30, 2000.

17. Quarterly Financial Summaries (unaudited)

1st 2nd 3rd 4th

Quarter Quarter(1) Quarter Qua rter (1)
2000
Net revenuUeS......cccevveveeeiieeiieiiiiiieeeeee . $76,222 $88,267 $98,374 $ 116,447
Gross Profit.....cccccecveeciieeiieevieeeeees $35,177 $36,139 41,711 $ 45,303
NetinCOME....coovvivviiciie e $20,276 $7,848 $20,169 $ 10,615
Earnings per common share - basic.......ccccceee.e.. . L $036 $014 $030 $ 0.16
Earnings per common share--diluted................. ... $036 $014 $029 $ 0.16
Pro forma netincome.......cccocevcvvvvveccvnee L $12,499 $6,851 $15721 $ 9,478
Pro forma earnings per common share - basic and dil uted..... $022 $012 $023 $ 0.14
1999
NEt rEVENUES....cvvvieiieiieiie e $39,042 $53,412 $65,199 $ 93,821
Gross Profitc.ccciiieeiee e $14,011 $22,485 $27,870 $ 40,082
NetiNCOME.....ccooiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee $5,061 $12,234 $17,031 $ 21,704
Earnings per common share - basic and diluted...... ... $009 $022 $030 $ 0.38
Pro forma netincome.......cccocevcvvvvvvccnec L $2,801 $7,222 $10,198 $ 13,010
Pro forma earnings per common share - basic and dil uted..... $ 005 $013 $ 018 $ 0.23
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(1) - Includes the second quarter fiscal 2000 reshiccharge of approximately $6,020 relating togitaeting of stock options to certain
performers who are independent contractors.

(2) - Includes the fourth quarter fiscal 2000 naistt charge of approximately $9,310 ($5,660, n&bdfrelating to the Company's
nonforfeitable agreement with Viacom/CBS to aqaipproximately 2.3 million newly issued shares & @ompany's Class A common stock.

18. Subsequent Events
Purchase of WWF NY Entertainment Complex

On May 3, 2000, the Company acquired net assetpoximately $21,000 of the WWF NY entertainmemhplex from its licensee for
$24,500. The Company will account for this transacas a purchase. Goodwill arising as a resuthisftransaction amounted to
approximately $3,500 which will be amortized overykars.

NBC Agreements

On June 12, 2000, the Company entered into a wemtiiih National Broadcasting Company, Inc. ("NB@')own and fund a professional
football league, XFL. Both the Company and NBC @46 of the league, which owns all eight footbadirtes. In accordance with the terms
of the agreement, the Company will control the apiens of the venture and, accordingly, will coimdate such operations in its financial
statements until such time that NBC converts its-mating equity into voting equity. NBC will, howey, fund a 50% share of the venture's
cash needs from the inception of the agreementinEome tax purposes, both NBC and the Companyalidtate the operations equally in
accordance with federal tax law. On June 12, 20BX; purchased approximately 2.3 million newly istsbares of the Company's Class A
common stock at $13 per share for a total investro£$30,000. As a result of the stock purchase Gbmpany will record a non-cash charge
of $10,700 which will be amortized over approxinhat®0 months, commencing in the first quarter etél 2001.

Viacom/CBS Agreeement

On July 28, 2000 Viacom/CBS purchased approxima&edymillion newly issued shares of the Companyegs£A common stock at $13 per
share for a total investment of $30,000.
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SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

B
Description o]

For the Year Ended April 30, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted

from accounts receivable.................. $

Inventory obsolesence
For the Year Ended April 30, 199
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted
from accounts receivable.................
Inventory obsolesence
For the Year Ended April 30, 1998
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted
from accounts receivable..................
Inventory obsolesence.......................

(In Thousands)

Balance Additions
At Charged to Balance
eginning Costs and End o
f Period Expenses Deductions(1) Perio
920 $ 113 $ - $1,03
1,530 1,174 (633) 2,07
- 920 - 92
- 1,530 - 1,53
124 - (124) -

(1) Deductions are comprised of disposals of olteateventory.
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EXHIBIT 10.3

WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
BOOKING CONTRACT

This World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, IBooking Contract ("Agreement"), dated this Fiftre(l5th) day of February, 2000, and
made effective as of January 1, 2000, by and betWéerld Wrestling Federation Entertainment, IndQelaware corporation, with its
principal place of business at 1241 East Main §t&tamford, Connecticut 06902 (hereinafter refibteeas "COMPANY"), and Vincent K.
McMahon, an individual residing at 14 Hurlinghami&; Greenwich, CT 06831 (hereinafter referredsBALENT").

PREMISES

WHEREAS, COMPANY is duly licensed, as required¢ctmduct professional wrestling exhibitions anddsially engaged in the business of
organizing, publicizing, arranging, staging andaweting professional wrestling exhibitions throughthe world and of representing
professional wrestlers in the promotion and expt@n of a professional wrestler's name, likenpsssonality and character; and

WHEREAS, COMPANY has established a nationwide neétvad television stations which regularly broadc@@MPANY's wrestling
programs for purposes of publicizing COMPANY's msdional wrestling exhibitions and COMPANY has lelssaed a network of cable
television organizations which regularly broadd@®MPANY's professional wrestling exhibitions onaygper-view basis; and in addition
thereto, COMPANY has developed and produced ceothiar television programs, which are also useultdicize, display and promote
COMPANY's professional wrestling exhibitions; and

WHEREAS, COMPANY's business operations afford TAOEdpportunities to wrestle and obtain public expesuhich will increase the
value of his wrestling services and his standinth@professional wrestling community and entertant industry; and

WHEREAS, TALENT is duly licensed, as required, tgage in professional wrestling exhibitions anddgially engaged in the business of
performing as a professional wrestler; and

WHEREAS, TALENT is a performing artist and the msdional wrestling exhibitions arranged by COMPAbbnstitute demonstrations of
wrestling skills and abilities designed to provathletic-styled entertainment to the public, anchswrestling exhibitions constitute
entertainment and are not competitive sports; and

WHEREAS, TALENT desires COMPANY to arrange wreglimatches for TALENT and to assist TALENT in obtampublic exposure
through live exhibitions, television programs, patappearances, and merchandising activities, ferotise;
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NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual preesiand agreements as set forth herein and fargdloe and valuable considerati
the receipt and sufficiency of which are herebyraeledged, the parties intending to be legally lihwo hereby agree as follows:

1. BOOKING
1.1 TALENT hereby grants exclusively to COMPANY da@OMPANY hereby accepts, the following worldwidghts:

(a) During the term of this Agreement as defineldethe right to engage TALENT's performance irestling matches at professional
wrestling exhibitions, as well as appearances gft@pe at other events, engagements or entertainpnegrams in which TALENT performs
services as a professional wrestler, entertainettmrwise directed by COMPANY in its sole disapeticollectively the "Events"), whether
such Events are staged before a live audiencetgleasion broadcast studio, on location (for latewing or broadcast) or otherwise.

(b) During the term of this Agreement as definelblethe right, in perpetuity, to sell or otherwidistribute tickets of admission to the
general public for viewing any or all of the Everds well as to view the Events on any closed titelevision, pay-pexiew television, vide
exhibition or any other medium now known or herétieradiscovered.

(c) During the term of this Agreement and thereafis provided for in this Agreement, the righstdicit, negotiate, and enter into agreem
for and on behalf of TALENT for the exploitation loitellectual Property (as defined hereinbelow)rf@rchandising, commercial tie-ups,
publishing, personal appearances, performancesrirmestling events and endorsements.

1.2 In consideration of TALENT's granting of righlisense and other services, as set forth heagith provided TALENT shall faithfully and
fully perform all obligations hereunder, COMPANYahendeavor to book TALENT as an individual oraasmember of a group, which
determination shall be made in COMPANY's sole di8on, in matches at various Events.

2. WORKS

2.1 If COMPANY books TALENT to appear and perfortrEaents, TALENT hereby grants to COMPANY and COMPAhereby accepts,
the exclusive right during the term of this Agreermt® video tape, film, photograph, or otherwiseorel, or to authorize others to do so, by
any media now known or hereinafter discovered, TNIE appearance, performance, commentary, andtary work product for any or all
of the Events. (These recordings by tape, dism, filr otherwise are collectively referred to heresrthe "Programs".)

2.2 Notwithstanding the termination of this Agreetnf®r any reason, and notwithstanding any othevigion of this Agreement, COMPAN
shall have the right to produce, reproduce, reissiamipulate, reconfigure, license, manufacturegnmd, perform, exhibit, broadcast, televise
by any form of television (including without limtian, free, cable, pay cable, closed circuit and
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pay-per-view television), transmit, publish, copgtonfigure, compile, print, reprint, vend, selgtdbute and use via any other medium now
known or hereinafter discovered, and to authorthers to do so, the Programs, in perpetuity, inmaypner or media and by any art, method
or device, now known or hereinafter discoveredl(idng without limitation, by means of videodisigdeocassette, optical, electrical and/or
digital compilations, theatrical motion picture @mdnon-theatrical motion picture). All gags, cosis or parts of costumes, accessories,
crowns, inventions, championship, title or otheltséf applicable), and any other items of tangiptoperty provided to TALENT by
COMPANY and/or containing New Intellectual Propeaity defined in paragraph 3.2 (a) shall be immelgiat¢urned to COMPANY upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.

2.3 TALENT's appearance, performance and work proitiuany or all of the Events and/or Programsldbaldeemed work for hire; and
notwithstanding the termination of this Agreem&@®MPANY shall own, in perpetuity, all Programs aibof the rights, results, products
and proceeds in and to, or derived from the EvantsPrograms (including without limitation, all idents, dialogue, characters, actions,
routines, ideas, gags, costumes or parts of costumeeessories, crowns, inventions, championstigpt other belts (if applicable), and any
other tangible or intangible materials written, gmsed, submitted, added, improvised, or createaf lhigr TALENT in connection with
appearance at the Events and/or in the ProgrardsT@MPANY may obtain copyright and/or trademark/an@ny other legal protection
therefor, now known or hereinafter discoveredhim mame of COMPANY and/or on behalf of COMPANY'sidace.

2.4 If COMPANY directs TALENT, either singly or itonjunction with COMPANY, to create, design or depeany copyrightable work
(herein referred to as a "Development"), such Dgwalent shall be deemed work for hire and COMPAN&lIshwn such Development. All
Programs and Developments referred to in this Agese are collectively referred to as "Works."

2.5 All Works and TALENT's contributions theretcaditbelong solely and exclusively to COMPANY in petuity notwithstanding any
termination of this Agreement. To the extent thathsWorks are considered: (i) contributions toective works, (ii) a compilation, (iii) a
supplementary work and/or (iv) as part or compowémt motion picture or other audidgsual work, the parties hereby expressly agreeth
Works shall be considered "works made for hire"arttie United States Copyright Act of 1976, as afedn(17 U.S.C. (S) 101 et seq.). In
accordance therewith, all rights in and to the VEakall belong exclusively to COMPANY in perpetuitytwithstanding any termination of
this Agreement. To the extent that such Works amrted works other than "works made for hire," TAOEMNreby assigns to COMPANY
all right, title and interest in and to all righitssuch Works and all renewals and extensionsettpyrights or other rights that may be
secured under the laws now or hereafter in forceedfect in the United States of America or anyeottountry or countries.

3. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

3.1 The parties agree that as of the date of thie@ment, all service marks, trademarks and anykiather distinctive and identifying
indicia under which TALENT claims any rights,



including but not limited to TALENT's legal namdckname, ring name, likeness, personality, charactgicatures, voice, signature,
costumes, props, gimmicks, gestures, routinestzames, which are owned by TALENT or in which TALEK&s any rights anywhere in the
world (collectively, the "Original Intellectual Pperty") are described and identified on Schedultached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference. During the Term of the Agreement, TALEINFeby assigns in good faith to COMPANY and COMPANereby accepts all
worldwide right, title and interest in and to TALEN Original Intellectual Property, including, ndt limited to, the rights to license,
reproduce, manipulate, promote, expose, exploitadnerwise use the Original Intellectual Propertyvahere in the world in any commercial
manner, media, art form, method or device now knowhereinafter discovered.

3.2 (a) With the exception of TALENT's Original étiectual Property, any service marks, trademankiaa distinctive and identifying

indicia, including ring name, nickname, likenessrgonality, character, caricatures, voice, sigmaforops, gestures, routines, themes,
incidents, dialogue, actions, gags, costumes ds paicostumes, accessories, crowns, inventiornplonship, title or other belts (if
applicable), and any other items of tangible ocanigible property written, composed, submitted, dddaprovised, created and/or used by or
associated with TALENT's performance in the busmeprofessional wrestling or sports entertainngemtng the term of this Agreement
(collectively the "New Intellectual Property") anereby assigned to and shall belong to COMPANYerpetuity, with COMPANY retainin
all such ownership rights exclusively throughowt #orld notwithstanding any termination of this Agment.

(b) Upon the termination of this Agreement, alhtigin and to the Original Intellectual Propertalihevert to TALENT, except that
COMPANY, its licensees, sublicensees and assigiysomatinue to exploit any and all materials, goadsychandise and other items
incorporating the Original Intellectual Property armsbefore such termination, until all such matserigbods and merchandise are sold off.

3.3 Itis the intention of the parties that the Netellectual Property belongs to COMPANY, in petpsy, even to the exclusion of TALENT,
and shall survive the termination of this Agreemfentany reason. COMPANY shall have the exclusigbtrto assign, license, sublicense,
reproduce, promote, expose, exploit and otherwssetive New Intellectual Property in any commeneiahner now known or hereinafter
discovered, regardless of whether such rights»eecsed during or after the Term of this Agreemaamd notwithstanding termination of this
Agreement for any reason.

3.4 The Original Intellectual Property and the Netellectual Property are hereinafter collectivedferred to as "Intellectual Property."

3.5 TALENT agrees to cooperate fully and in godthfaith COMPANY for the purpose of securing an@gerving COMPANY's rights in
and to the Intellectual Property. In connectiorelgth, TALENT acknowledges and hereby grants to GMNY the exclusive worldwide
right during the Term of this Agreement (with respi® Original Intellectual Property) and in pengst
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(with respect to New Intellectual Property) to gpfar and obtain trademarks, service marks, copysignd other registrations throughout the
world in COMPANY's name and/or on behalf of Comparmesignee. At COMPANY's expense and request, CANMMWand TALENT shall
take such steps, as COMPANY deems necessary faregistration or any litigation or other proceeditmgprotect COMPANY's rights in the
Original Intellectual Property and/or New Intelleat Property and/or Works.

4. MERCHANDISING

4.1 TALENT hereby agrees that COMPANY shall hawe dkclusive right (i) during the Term of this Agneent and thereafter, as providec
this Agreement, to use the Original Intellectuagtrty and (i) in perpetuity, to use the New ligefual Property in connection with the
manufacture, production, reproduction, reissuam@aipulation, reconfiguration, broadcast, rebroatadistribution, sale, and other
commercial exploitation in any manner, now knowrmereinafter discovered, of any and all matergd®ds, merchandise and other items
incorporating the Intellectual Property. As toslch materials, goods, merchandise or items credéseloped, produced and/or distributed
during the Term of this Agreement using the Oriintellectual Property, COMPANY shall have the kesive right to sell and exploit such
materials, goods and merchandise until the selbbfame. As to all such materials, goods, mercisarat items using the New Intellectual
Property, COMPANY shall have the exclusive rightperpetuity, to sell and exploit same forevervigay of example and not of limitation,
such items include t-shirts, posters, photos, vidges and video cassettes, dolls, books, bioggaphirticles and stories, and any other such
material goods, merchandise, or items relatingAbHNT.

4.2 It is the intention of the parties that COMPANRIYights described under paragraph 4.1 are exeltsiCOMPANY even to the exclusion
of TALENT. COMPANY shall own all copyrights and ttemarks in any and all such materials, goods, nagidike and items and shall be
entitled to obtain copyright, trademark, servicekrar other registrations in COMPANY's name or ahalf of its designee; and TALENT
shall provide all reasonable assistance to COMPANY0 obtaining such copyright, trademark, sermiagk or other registrations.

5. EXCLUSIVITY

5.1 It is the understanding of the parties thatighits, licenses, privileges and all other iteragein given or granted or assigned by TALENT
to COMPANY are exclusive to COMPANY even to the lesion of TALENT.

6. TERM AND TERRITORY

6.1 The term of the Agreement shall be co-terminitis a certain Employment Agreement dated Octolde2000 between World Wrestling
Federation Entertainment, Inc. and Vincent K.



McMahon ("Contract"). In the event the Contradeisninated for any reason, it is agreed that tljseA@ment shall automatically terminate
effective the date of termination of the Contract.

6.2 Reference herein to the Term hereof meansttial Term and any such Renewal Term. During amghsRenewal Term, all rights, duti
obligations, and privileges hereunder shall cortias stated herein. Notwithstanding anything herethe contrary, termination of this
Agreement for any reason shall not affect COMPANXismership of and rights in, including but not lied to, any Works, New Intellectual
Property and any registrations thereof, or thetsiglesults, products, and proceeds in and to aridestl from TALENT during the Term of
this Agreement; and the exploitation of rightsfeeth in Paragraphs I, 2, 3 and 4 hereof in anyahthedia now known or hereinafter
discovered.

6.3 The territory of this Agreement shall be theldio
7. PAYMENTS/ROYALTIES
7.1 This paragraph is intentionally left blank.

7.2 (a) If TALENT appears and performs in any Eviardn arena before a live audience at which adamss charged other than those arena
events which are taped or broadcast for purposessignt to paragraph 7.2 (b) and paragraph 7.2

(c) hereof (hereinafter "House Shows"), TALENT shal paid by COMPANY an amount equal to such pasmgmof the paid receipts for
such House Show from the live House Show gate pecenly as is consistent with the nature of thécin@n which TALENT appears, i.e.,
preliminary, mid-card, main event, etc. and anypdsads COMPANY establishes specifically for suchub Show. However, such amount
shall not be less than One Hundred Fifty Dollafkb(%00) per House Show.

(b) If TALENT appears and performs in connectiothadn arena or studio Event which is taped or krasidfor use on COMPANY's
television network or on a pay-per-view basis ("Taping"), TALENT shall be paid by COMPANY an amounat less than Fifty Dollars
($50.00) for each day of TV Taping, if any, on WhitALENT renders services hereunder in connectitih the production of the TV
Taping.

7.3 PROMOTER shall not be liable in any way to payalties, residuals, fees, or any other compemsathatsoever to WRESTLER in
connection with the performance of WRESTLER's Smwihereunder other than as set forth in Paragr@pdibove.

7.4 This paragraph is intentionally left blank.

7.5 This paragraph is intentionally left blank.



7.6 In the event the Original and/or New IntellettBroperty are used by COMPANY or licensed, seged or assigned for non-wrestling
personal appearances and performances such aggleappearances for advertising or non-wrestlirggrimtional purposes, radio and
television commercials, movies, etc., TALENT shdin an amount to be mutually agreed to by TALENd by COMPANY.

7.7 If COMPANY instructs TALENT to appear and perfoin any Events or Programs as a commentator atalfmarticipate in post-Event
production and/or voice- over activities as a comtawr, TALENT's commentating shall be deemed wéok-hire and TALENT hereby
assigns to COMPANY and COMPANY shall own all rightsperpetuity, to all of TALENT's commentary ahdLENT shall not be entitled
to receive any royalty payments, or any additiammehpensation or residual payments whatsoeverresut of COMPANY's commercial
exploitation of such commentary in any form, whethadcast programming, cable programming, payvi@wv programming, videotapes,
videodiscs, the Internet or other mediums now oeihafter discovered.

7.8 It is the understanding of the parties that EAIT shall not be paid anything for COMPANY's expddion of the Original and/or New
Intellectual Property in any of COMPANY's magazime®ther publications, which COMPANY may publipnpduce or distribute at arenas,
at newsstands and/or by mail or through electron&ny other manner of media or distribution, navewn or hereinafter discovered,
including, but not limited to, publication or di&tation on the Internet or America On Line.

7.9 For the avoidance of doubt and subject to papgl2.2, the non-compete provision of this AgreemTALENT acknowledges and
agrees that TALENT shall only be eligible for theyments set forth in paragraphs 7.1 through 7.§@boconnection with Events or
activities conducted by COMPANY.

8. COMPANY'S OBLIGATIONS

8.1 Although under paragraph 9.1 TALENT shall besponsibility for obtaining appropriate licenses participating in wrestling
exhibitions, COMPANY shall be responsible for ohtag all other appropriate licenses to conductgssional wrestling exhibitions
involving TALENT. If COMPANY, at its discretion, ages to assist TALENT in obtaining his licenses  ENT shall reimburse COMPAN
for its fees and expenses incurred in connectierethith.

8.2 COMPANY shall bear the following costs in coatien with the development and enhancement of éheevof TALENT's performance
hereunder and TALENT's standing in the professiamaktling community, all of which shall benefit TENT:

(@) In connection with TALENT's appearances andgoerance at Events staged before a live audienORANY shall bear the cost of
location rental, COMPANY's third party comprehemsiiability insurance for the benefit of the venuagsplicable state and local admission
taxes, promotional assistance, sound and lightpagemt, wrestling ring, officials, police and fire
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protection, and such additional security guardS@MPANY shall require in its discretion during afessional wrestling match;

(b) In connection with the production, distributjiand exploitation of the Programs, COMPANY shalaball costs incurred in connection
with such production, distribution, broadcast, smission or other forms of mass media communication

(c) In connection with any product or service lisgy activities and/or merchandising activities, MIPANY shall bear all costs of

negotiating, securing or otherwise obtaining thedpict or service licensing arrangements, includiogts of agents, consultants, attorneys anc
others involved in making the product or servicellising activities; and COMPANY shall bear all sasft creating, designing, developing,
producing and marketing merchandise or servicestder to fulfill these obligations, COMPANY may keaany arrangements, contractua
otherwise, it deems appropriate to delegate, assigotherwise transfer its obligations.

9. TALENT'S OBLIGATIONS

9.1 TALENT shall bear responsibility for obtainiali appropriate licenses to engage in, particigater otherwise appear in professional
wrestling exhibitions.

9.2 TALENT shall be responsible for TALENT's owaitring, conditioning, and maintenance of wrestlfdls and abilities, as long as they
do not interfere with TALENT's appearance at schedievents as follows:

(a) TALENT shall establish his own training prograshall select time of training, duration of traigj exercises, pattern of exercise and other
actions appropriate to obtaining and maintainingsptal fithess for wrestling. TALENT shall seleés lown training apparatus, including

mats, weights, machines and other exercise panaglieerTALENT is responsible for supplying his otvaining facilities and equipment,
whether by purchase, lease, license, or otherwise.

(b) TALENT shall establish his own method of physiconditioning, shall select time for conditionjryration of conditioning and form of
conditioning. TALENT shall select time for sleejmeé for eating, and time for other activities. TANIE shall select his own foods, vitamins
and other ingested items, excepting illegal andémtrolled substances and drugs, which are prautiy COMPANY's Drug Policy.

9.3 TALENT shall be responsible for providing aistumes, wardrobe, props, and make-up necessattyef@erformance of TALENT's
services at any Event and TALENT shall bear altsoscurred in connection with his transportatiorahd from any such Events (except
those transportation costs which are covered by €8NIY's then current Travel Policy), as well as the
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costs of food consumed and hotel lodging utilizgd BLENT in connection with his appearance at skekents.

9.4 TALENT shall use best efforts in employing TANE's skills and abilities as a professional TALEMNA be responsible for developing
and executing the various details, movements, atenvers required of wrestlers in a professionaktling exhibition.

9.5 TALENT shall take such precautions as are gpjate to avoid any unreasonable risk of injuryptioer wrestlers in any and all Events.
These precautions shall include, without limitatipre-match review of all wrestling moves and mamesi with wrestling partners and
opponents; and pre-match demonstration and/oripeagith wrestling partners and opponents to insanaliarity with anticipated wrestling
moves and maneuvers during a wrestling match.drettent of injury to TALENT, and/or TALENT's partiseand opponents during a
wrestling match, TALENT shall immediately signakipeer, opponent and/or referees that it is timealiermatch to end; and TALENT shall
finish the match forthwith so as to avoid aggravanf such injury.

9.6 TALENT shall use best efforts in the ring i fherformance of wrestling services for a matchtber activity, in order to provide an
honest exhibition of TALENT's wrestling skills aafilities, consistent with the customs of the pssfenal wrestling industry; and TALENT
agrees all matches shall be finished in accordasittethe COMPANY's direction. Breach of this paragin shall cause a forfeiture of any
payment due TALENT pursuant to SECTION 7 of thiségment and all other obligations of COMPANY to TAUT hereunder, shall enti
COMPANY to terminate this Agreement, but such biresttall not terminate COMPANY's licenses and otfgdts under this Agreement.

9.7 TALENT agrees to cooperate and assist withoytaalditional payment in the publicizing, advertgiand promoting of scheduled Events,
including without limitation, appearing at and peigating in a reasonable number of joint and/qrasate press conferences, interviews, and
other publicity or exploitation appearances onaiidis (any or all of which may be filmed, taped,otherwise recorded, telecast by any form
of television now known or hereafter discovered|uding without limitation free, cable, pay calbded closed circuit and pay-per-view
television, broadcast, exhibited, distributed, asdd in any manner or media and by any art, metiradevice now known or hereafter
created, including without limitation by means adeodisc, video cassette, theatrical motion picamé/or non-theatrical motion picture and
Internet), at times and places designated by COMPANconnection therewith.

9.8 TALENT acknowledges the right of COMPANY to neattecisions with respect to the preparation antbéagion of the Programs and/or
the exercise of any other rights respecting Origamal/or New Intellectual Property, and in this meation TALENT acknowledges and agr
that COMPANY's decision with respect to any agrestheisposing of the rights to the Original andlew Intellectual Property are final,
except as to TALENT's legal name, which COMPANY noayy dispose of upon TALENT's written consent. TAMT agrees to execute any
agreements COMPANY deems necessary in connectibnamiy such agreements, and if
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TALENT is unavailable or refuses to execute suateagents, COMPANY is hereby authorized to do SBARENT's name as TALENT's
attorney-in-fact.

9.9 TALENT agrees to cooperate fully and in goathfasith COMPANY to obtain any and all documentati@pplications or physical
examinations as may be required by any governitigpaity with respect to TALENT's appearance angenformance in a professional
wrestling match.

9.10 TALENT, on behalf of himself and his heirs segsors, assigns and personal representativekinsteathnify and defend COMPANY a
COMPANY's licensees, assignees, parent corporaidrsidiaries and affiliates and its and their eetipe officers, directors, employees,
advertisers, insurers and representatives anddaald of them harmless against any claims, deméabgities, actions, costs, suits, attorney
fees, proceedings or expenses, incurred by artyeofi by reason of TALENT's breach or alleged bredany warranty, undertaking,
representation, agreement, or certification madentered into herein or hereunder by TALENT. TALENR behalf of himself and his heirs,
successors, assigns and personal representatiedisndemnify and defend COMPANY and COMPANY'slitsees, assignees, parent
corporation, subsidiaries and affiliates and itd Hreir respective officers, directors, employealertisers, insurers and representatives and
hold each of the harmless against any and all sladlemands, liabilities, actions, costs, suitgratty fees, proceedings or expenses, incurred
by any of them, arising out of TALENT'S acts, tractsons and/or conduct within or around the rirggjvays, dressing rooms, parking lots
other areas within or in the immediate vicinitytbé facilities where COMPANY has scheduled Eventstdach TALENT is booked. Such
indemnification shall include all claims arisingtai any acts, transactions and/or conduct of TAIEM others occurring at Events or in
connection with any appearances or performancdAh¥NT not conducted by COMPANY in accordance witis Agreement.

9.11 TALENT shall be responsible for payment of@dlTALENT's own Federal, state or local incomeetsxall social security, FICA and
FUTA taxes, if any, as well as all contributiongéirement plans and programs, or other supplesthérome plan or program that would
provide TALENT with personal or monetary benefion retirement from professional wrestling.

9.12 (a) TALENT shall be responsible for his owmoercial general liability insurance, worker's cangation insurance, professional
liability insurance, as well as any excess liapilitsurance, as TALENT deems appropriate to indgademnify and defend TALENT with
respect to any and all claims arising out of TALENG@wn acts, transactions, or conduct.

(b) TALENT acknowledges that the participation autivities required by TALENT in connection with TENT's performance in a
professional wrestling exhibition may be dangerand may involve the risk of serious bodily injulfALENT knowingly and freely assumes
full responsibility for all such inherent risks agll as those due to the negligence of COMPANYgeofhALENTS or otherwise.
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(c) TALENT, on behalf of himself and his heirs, sassors, assigns and personal representativebylreteases, waives and discharges
COMPANY from all liability to TALENT and covenantsot to sue COMPANY for any and all loss or damageccount of injury to any
person or property or resulting in serious or peremd injury to TALENT or TALENT's death, whetheruszd by the negligence of the
COMPANY, other wrestlers or otherwise.

(d) TALENT acknowledges that the foregoing releasaiver and indemnity is intended to be as broatliadlusive as permitted by the law
the State, Province or Country in which the prafess wrestling exhibition or Events are conducaed that if any portion thereof is held
invalid, it is agreed that the balance shall, ntitatanding, continue in full force and effect.

9.13 (a) TALENT may at his election obtain healifie, and/or disability insurance to provide bergfit the event of physical injury arising
out of TALENT's professional activities; and TALENitknowledges that COMPANY shall not have any rasjtmlity for such insurance or
payment in the event of physical injury arising oblT ALENT's professional activities.

(b) In the event of physical injury arising outPALENT's professional activities, TALENT acknowlesiythat TALENT is not entitled to any
worker's compensation coverage or similar ben&ditinjury, disability, death or loss of wages; ahlLENT shall make no claim against
COMPANY for such coverage or benefit.

9.14 TALENT shall act at all times with due reg&gublic morals and conventions during the terrthaf Agreement. If TALENT shall

have committed or shall commit any act or do amghhat is or shall be an offense or violation inirmy moral turpitude under Federal, state
or local laws, or which brings TALENT into publi¢stlepute, contempt, scandal or ridicule, or whit$uits or offends the community or any
employee, agent or affiliate of COMPANY or whiclures TALENT's reputation in COMPANY's sole judgmesr diminishes the value of
TALENT's professional wrestling services to the lpmubr COMPANY, then at the time of any such actaay time after COMPANY learns
of any such act, COMPANY shall have the right teefiTALENT in an amount to be determined by COMPAMYd COMPANY shall have
the right to suspend and/or terminate this Agreerfaethwith.

10. WARRANTY

10.1 TALENT represents, warrants, and agrees tARENT is free to enter into this Agreement and targ the rights and licenses herein
granted to COMPANY; TALENT has not heretofore eateand shall not hereafter enter into any contteagreement which is in conflict
with the provisions hereof or which would or migiterfere with the full and complete performanceT®LENT of his obligations hereunder
or the free and unimpaired exercise by COMPANYrof af the rights and licenses herein granted toAl, ENT further represents and
warrants there are no prior or pending claims, astrative proceedings, civil lawsuits, criminabpecutions or other litigation matters,
including without limitation any immigration or détic commission related matters, affecting TALENfich would or might interfere with
COMPANY's full and complete
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exercise or enjoyment of any rights or licensesitgé hereunder. Any exceptions to this Warrantysatdorth in Schedule B, attached hereto.

10.2 TALENT represents, warrants and agrees thaENY is in sound mental and physical conditiontfthALENT is suffering from no
disabilities that would impair or adversely aff@&LENT's ability to perform professional wrestlisgrvices; and that TALENT is free from
the influence of illegal drugs or controlled sulbstas, which can threaten TALENT's well being ansepa risk of injury to TALENT or

others. To insure compliance with this warranty LENT shall abide by COMPANY's Drug Policy for TALBENas well as any and all
amendments, additions, or modifications to the C@MF's Drug Policy implemented during the Term ostAgreement and consents to the
sampling and testing of his urine in accordancé witch Policy. In addition, TALENT agrees to subaritually to a complete physical
examination by a physician either selected or apggtdoy COMPANY. COMPANY's current Drug Policy, whiTALENT acknowledges
herewith receiving, is annexed hereto and incotpdrly reference and made a part hereof.

10.3 COMPANY reserves the right to have TALENT exaed by a physician of its own choosing at its exgeeat any point during the Term
of this Agreement.

10.4 TALENT further represents, warrants and agtieaisthis Agreement supersedes all prior bookgrgements between TALENT and
COMPANY, whether written or oral, and that he haemfully compensated, where applicable, under ptioh booking agreement(s).

11. EARLY TERMINATION

11.1 This Agreement may be terminated prior toeth@ of its Term by a written instrument executedbgh of the parties expressing their
mutual consent to so terminate without any furttaaility on the part of either. In the event ofcbuearly termination, COMPANY shall pay
TALENT for all uses of the Intellectual Propertyancordance with Section 7 of this Agreement.

11.2 This Agreement will be terminated by TALEN@&ath during the Term, with no further compensatioe TALENT's heirs, successors,
personal representatives or assigns.

11.3 Upon the termination of this Agreement for a@gson, including breach, the parties acknowledigkagree that COMPANY shall own

all right, title and interest in all Works, New étiectual Property and any registrations theredf @@MPANY shall have the exclusive right
to sell or otherwise dispose of any materials, goaterchandise or other items (i) produced dultiegTterm of this Agreement incorporating
any Original Intellectual Property, and (ii) proédicincorporating New Intellectual Property, in petrpty.

12. BREACH

12.1 The parties further agree that because dfgkeial, unique, and extraordinary nature of tHeyations of COMPANY and TALENT
respecting all rights and licenses concerning buogski
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promoting, Programs, Events, Intellectual Propestyich are the subject matter of this Agreement| . ENT's breach of this Agreement shall
cause COMPANY irreparable injury which cannot bequdately measured by monetary relief; as a conseguUOMPANY shall be entitled
to injunctive and other equitable relief againstUEINT to prevent TALENT's breach or default hereunaied such injunction or equitable
relief shall be without prejudice to any other tglremedies or damages which COMPANY is legalljtied to obtain.

12.2 In no circumstances, whatsoever, shall efthety to this Agreement be liable to the othery#&st any punitive or exemplary damages;
and all such damages, whether arising out of thadbr of this Agreement or otherwise, are expresalyed.

13. MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 Nothing contained in this Agreement shall bestrued to constitute TALENT as an employee, garom joint venturer of COMPANY,
nor shall TALENT have any authority to bind COMPANYany respect. TALENT is an independent contraatad TALENT shall execute
and hereby irrevocably appoints COMPANY attorneyfatt to execute, if TALENT refuses to do so, amgtruments necessary to
accomplish or confirm the foregoing or any ancbélhe rights granted to COMPANY herein.

13.2 This Agreement contains the entire understendi the parties with respect to the subject méteeof and all prior booking contracts
entered into between COMPANY and TALENT and as afedrare merged into this Agreement. There are mer aigreements,
representations, or warranties not set forth hesétim respect to the subject matter hereof; ancgptrées expressly acknowledge that any
representation, promise or inducement by any garény other party that is not embodied in thiseggnent is not part of this Agreement, .
they agree that no party shall be bound by ordiddt any such alleged representation, promisadudement not set forth herein.

13.3 This Agreement may not be changed or altexedps in writing signed by COMPANY and TALENT.

13.4 Any term or provision of this Agreement whishnvalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction Bhas to such jurisdiction, be ineffective
to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceabpilitithout rendering invalid or unenforceable thmaéning terms and provisions of this
Agreement, or affecting the validity or enforcedbpibf any of the terms or provisions of this Agneent in any other jurisdiction.

13.5 COMPANY shall have the right to assign, liana transfer any or all of the rights grantedmd hereunder to any person, firm or
corporation, provided that such assignee has tlamdial ability to meet the Company's obligatioasdunder, and if any assignee shall as:
in writing COMPANY's obligations hereunder, COMPANYall have no further obligations to TALENT. TALENnay not assign, transfer
or delegate his rights or obligations hereunderamdattempt to do so shall be void.
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13.6 Any notices required or desired hereundel bleaih writing and sent postage prepaid by cedifinail, return receipt requested, or by
prepaid telegram addressed as follows, or as ttipanay hereafter in writing otherwise designate:

TO COMPANY: TO TALENT:
World Wrestling Federation
Entertainment, Inc. Vincent K. McMahon
Attn: Linda E. McMahon 14 Hurlingham Drive
President and Chief Executive Officer Greenwich, CT 06831

1241 E. Main Street
Stamford, CT 06902

The date of mailing shall be deemed to constitutedate of service of any such notice by COMPANNe @ate of receipt shall be deemed to
constitute the date of service of any such notic8 ALENT.

13.7 This Agreement is made in Connecticut and sleagjoverned by and interpreted in accordance thi¢gHaws of the State of Connecticut,
exclusive of its provisions relating to conflictslaw.

13.8 In the event there is any claim, dispute,tbelomatter in question arising out of or relatinghis Agreement, the enforcement of any
provisions therein, or breach of any provision ¢&udy it shall be submitted to the Federal, stat®cal courts, as appropriate, only in the State
of Connecticut. This provision to submit all claindissputes or matters in question to the Federataie courts in the State of Connecticut
shall be specifically enforceable; and each pdwyeby waiving personal service of process ande/etansents to jurisdiction in Connecticut
for purposes of any other party seeking or secuaimglegal and/or equitable relief.

14. CONFIDENTIALITY

14.1 Other than as may be required by applicakle davernment order or regulations, or by ordedexree of the Court, TALENT hereby
acknowledges and agrees that in further considerafi COMPANY's entering into this Agreement, andtinued Agreement, TALENT sh
not, at any time during this Agreement, or after termination of this Agreement for any reason wbever, disclose to any person,
organization, or publication, or utilize for thentedit or profit of TALENT or any other person orgamnization, any sensitive or otherwise
confidential business information, idea, proposatret, or any proprietary information obtainedleskiith COMPANY and/or regarding
COMPANY, its employees, independent contractorenggy officers, directors, subsidiaries, affiliatdiwisions, representatives, or assigns.
Included in the foregoing, by way of illustrationlp and not limitation, are such items as repdntsiness plans, sales information, cost or
pricing information, lists of suppliers or custometalent lists, story lines, scripts, story boavdgleas, routines, gags, costumes or parts of
costumes, accessories, crowns, inventions, chamsigifprtitle or other belts (if applicable) and atiier tangible or intangible materials
written, composed, submitted, added, improvisedyeated by or for TALENT in
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connection with appearances in the Programs, irdéam regarding any contractual relationships naaned by COMPANY and/or the terms
thereof, and/or any and all information regardif_EENTs engaged by COMPANY.

14.2 TALENT acknowledges and agrees that its ageaeiho be bound by the terms hereof is a mateoiadlition of COMPANY's willingnes
to use and continue to use TALENT's services. Qtieen as may be required by applicable law, govenirarder or regulation; or by order
decree of the court, the parties agree that neithtrem shall publicly divulge or announce, oaimy manner disclose, to any third party, any
of the specific terms and conditions of this Agream and both parties warrant and covenant to anthar that none of their officers,
directors, employees or agents will do so either.

All of the terms and conditions of any Addenda oh&llules are incorporated herein by reference autkra part hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlgieement on the day and year first above written.

WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION VINCE NT K. McMAHON
ENTERTAINMENT, INC. ("TAL ENT")
("COMPANY")
By: By:__
James Ross Vincent K. McMahon

Senior Vice President Talent Relations
& Wrestling Administration
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT )
) ss: Stamford
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )

On 2000 before me persoraitye dames Ross, Senior Vice President of TaleatiBe$ & Wrestling
Administration., to me known, and known to me tae individual described in, and who executedftinegoing, and duly acknowledged to
me that he is a duly authorized corporate offidéVorld Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inaddhat he executed the same on behalf of
said Company.

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this day of , 2000.

Notary Public
My commission expires:

STATE OF CONNECTICUT )
) ss:
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )

I am a Notary Public for said County and Statehdeby certify that Vincent K. McMahon personalppaared before me this day and
acknowledged the due execution of the foregointgunsent to be his free act and deed for the puptisrein expressed.

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this day of , 2000.

Notary Public
My commission expires:
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SCHEDULE A
ORIGINAL INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Vincent K. McMahon
Vince McMahon
Mr. McMahon
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SCHEDULE B
EXCEPTIONS TO WARRANTY
PENDING CONTRACTS/CLAIMS/LITIGATION WHICH MAY INTER  FERE OR
CONFLICT WITH
TALENT'S PERFORMANCE AND/OR GRANT OF RIGHTS

NONE
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EXHIBIT 10.5

WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
BOOKING CONTRACT

This World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, IBooking Contract ("Agreement"), dated this Fiftre(l5th) day of February, 2000, and
made effective as of January 1, 2000, by and betWéerld Wrestling Federation Entertainment, IndQelaware corporation, with its
principal place of business at 1241 East Main $t&tamford, Connecticut 06902 (hereinafter refitteeas "COMPANY"), and Linda E.
McMahon, an individual residing at 14 Hurlinghami&; Greenwich, CT 06831 (hereinafter referredsBALENT").

PREMISES

WHEREAS, COMPANY is duly licensed, as required¢ctmduct professional wrestling exhibitions anddsially engaged in the business of
organizing, publicizing, arranging, staging andaweting professional wrestling exhibitions throughthe world and of representing
professional wrestlers in the promotion and expt@n of a professional wrestler's name, likenpsssonality and character; and

WHEREAS, COMPANY has established a nationwide neétvad television stations which regularly broadc@@MPANY's wrestling
programs for purposes of publicizing COMPANY's msdional wrestling exhibitions and COMPANY has lelssaed a network of cable
television organizations which regularly broadd@®MPANY's professional wrestling exhibitions onaygper-view basis; and in addition
thereto, COMPANY has developed and produced ceothiar television programs, which are also useultdicize, display and promote
COMPANY's professional wrestling exhibitions; and

WHEREAS, COMPANY's business operations afford TAOEdpportunities to wrestle and obtain public expesuhich will increase the
value of her wrestling services and her standintpénprofessional wrestling community and enterteant industry; and

WHEREAS, TALENT is duly licensed, as required, tgage in professional wrestling exhibitions andadgially engaged in the business of
performing as a professional wrestler; and

WHEREAS, TALENT is a performing artist and the msdional wrestling exhibitions arranged by COMPAbbnstitute demonstrations of
wrestling skills and abilities designed to provathletic-styled entertainment to the public, anchswrestling exhibitions constitute
entertainment and are not competitive sports; and

WHEREAS, TALENT desires COMPANY to arrange wreglimatches for TALENT and to assist TALENT in obtampublic exposure
through live exhibitions, television programs, palappearances, and merchandising activities, lerotise;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual preesiand agreements as set forth herein and fargdloe and valuable considerati
the receipt and sufficiency of which are herebyraeiledged, the parties intending to be legally lihwo hereby agree as follows:
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1. BOOKING
1.1 TALENT hereby grants exclusively to COMPANY da@OMPANY hereby accepts, the following worldwidghts:

(a) During the term of this Agreement as defineldethe right to engage TALENT's performance irestling matches at professional
wrestling exhibitions, as well as appearances gft@pe at other events, engagements or entertainpnegrams in which TALENT performs
services as a professional wrestler, entertainettmrwise directed by COMPANY in its sole disapet{collectively the "Events"), whether
such Events are staged before a live audiencetgleasion broadcast studio, on location (fordatewing or broadcast) or otherwise.

(b) During the term of this Agreement as definelblethe right, in perpetuity, to sell or otherwidistribute tickets of admission to the
general public for viewing any or all of the Everds well as to view the Events on any closed ttitelevision, pay-pexiew television, vide
exhibition or any other medium now known or herétieradiscovered.

(c) During the term of this Agreement and thereatis provided for in this Agreement, the righsadicit, negotiate, and enter into agreem
for and on behalf of TALENT for the exploitation lwitellectual Property (as defined hereinbelow)rf@rchandising, commercial tie-ups,
publishing, personal appearances, performancesrirmestling events and endorsements.

1.2 In consideration of TALENT's granting of righlisense and other services, as set forth heagith provided TALENT shall faithfully and
fully perform all obligations hereunder, COMPANYathendeavor to book TALENT as an individual oraasmember of a group, which
determination shall be made in COMPANY's sole dison, in matches at various Events.

2. WORKS

2.1 If COMPANY books TALENT to appear and perfortrEaents, TALENT hereby grants to COMPANY and COMPAhereby accepts,
the exclusive right during the term of this Agreermt® video tape, film, photograph, or otherwiseorel, or to authorize others to do so, by
any media now known or hereinafter discovered, TNIE appearance, performance, commentary, andtary work product for any or all
of the Events. (These recordings by tape, diso, filr otherwise are collectively referred to herairthe "Programs”.)

2.2 Notwithstanding the termination of this Agreern®r any reason, and notwithstanding any othevigion of this Agreement, COMPAN
shall have the right to produce, reproduce, reissiamipulate, reconfigure, license, manufacturegnma, perform, exhibit, broadcast, televise
by any form of television (including without limtian, free, cable, pay cable, closed circuit angpar-view television), transmit, publish,
copy, reconfigure, compile, print, reprint, vendll,sdistribute and use via any other medium nowvkm or hereinafter discovered, and to
authorize others to do so, the Programs, in peitgetn any manner or media and by any art, methiodevice, now known or hereinafter
discovered (including without limitation, by meaofsvideodisc,



videocassette, optical, electrical and/or digitahpilations, theatrical motion picture and/or nbedtrical motion picture). All gags, costumes
or parts of costumes, accessories, crowns, invesitichampionship, title or other belts (if appliegband any other items of tangible property
provided to TALENT by COMPANY and/or containing Nédmtellectual Property as defined in paragraph(&Zhall be immediately
returned to COMPANY upon termination of this Agremrhfor any reason.

2.3 TALENT's appearance, performance and work proituany or all of the Events and/or Programsldimldeemed work for hire; and
notwithstanding the termination of this Agreem&@®MPANY shall own, in perpetuity, all Programs aibof the rights, results, products
and proceeds in and to, or derived from the EventsPrograms (including without limitation, all idents, dialogue, characters, actions,
routines, ideas, gags, costumes or parts of costumseessories, crowns, inventions, championstigot other belts (if applicable), and any
other tangible or intangible materials written, gmsed, submitted, added, improvised, or createat higr TALENT in connection with
appearance at the Events and/or in the ProgramdsT@MPANY may obtain copyright and/or trademark/an@ny other legal protection
therefor, now known or hereinafter discoveredhimmame of COMPANY and/or on behalf of COMPANY'sidace.

2.4 If COMPANY directs TALENT, either singly or itonjunction with COMPANY, to create, design or depeany copyrightable work
(herein referred to as a "Development"), such Dmwelent shall be deemed work for hire and COMPANalIsbwn such Development. All
Programs and Developments referred to in this Age are collectively referred to as "Works."

2.5 All Works and TALENT's contributions theretcadibelong solely and exclusively to COMPANY in petuity notwithstanding any
termination of this Agreement. To the extent thathsWorks are considered: (i) contributions toective works, (ii) a compilation, (iii) a
supplementary work and/or (iv) as part or compoéat motion picture or other audidsual work, the parties hereby expressly agreeth
Works shall be considered "works made for hire"amttie United States Copyright Act of 1976, as atedn(17 U.S.C. (S) 101 et seq.). In
accordance therewith, all rights in and to the V@kall belong exclusively to COMPANY in perpetuitptwithstanding any termination of
this Agreement. To the extent that such Works assried works other than "works made for hire," TAOBEMNreby assigns to COMPANY
all right, title and interest in and to all righitssuch Works and all renewals and extensionsetdpyrights or other rights that may be
secured under the laws now or hereafter in forceedfect in the United States of America or anyeottountry or countries.

3. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

3.1 The parties agree that as of the date of thie@ment, all service marks, trademarks and anykiether distinctive and identifying
indicia under which TALENT claims any rights, inding but not limited to TALENT's legal name, nickne, ring name, likeness,
personality, character, caricatures, voice, sigeattostumes, props, gimmicks, gestures, routindsteemes, which are owned by TALENT
or in which TALENT has any rights anywhere in therld (collectively, the "Original Intellectual Prepty") are described and identified on
Schedule A attached hereto and incorporated hbyeiaference. During the Term of the Agreement,
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TALENT hereby assigns in good faith to COMPANY &@@@MPANY hereby accepts all worldwide right, titledainterest in and to
TALENT's Original Intellectual Property, includingut not limited to, the rights to license, reproeumanipulate, promote, expose, exploit
and otherwise use the Original Intellectual Propartywhere in the world in any commercial mannezdia, art form, method or device now
known or hereinafter discovered.

3.2 (a) With the exception of TALENT's Original étiectual Property, any service marks, trademankiaa distinctive and identifying

indicia, including ring name, nickname, likenessigonality, character, caricatures, voice, sigmatorops, gestures, routines, themes,
incidents, dialogue, actions, gags, costumes ds paicostumes, accessories, crowns, inventiormnplonship, title or other belts (if
applicable), and any other items of tangible oanigible property written, composed, submitted, dddaprovised, created and/or used by or
associated with TALENT's performance in the businegrofessional wrestling or sports entertainntemtng the term of this Agreement
(collectively the "New Intellectual Property") dnereby assigned to and shall belong to COMPANYserpetuity, with COMPANY retainin
all such ownership rights exclusively throughowt #orld notwithstanding any termination of this Agment.

(b) Upon the termination of this Agreement, alhtigin and to the Original Intellectual Propertalshevert to TALENT, except that
COMPANY, its licensees, sublicensees and assigiysaoitinue to exploit any and all materials, goadsrchandise and other items
incorporating the Original Intellectual Property siegbefore such termination, until all such matsrigbods and merchandise are sold off.

3.3 Itis the intention of the parties that the Netellectual Property belongs to COMPANY, in pearpgy, even to the exclusion of TALENT,
and shall survive the termination of this Agreemfentany reason. COMPANY shall have the exclusigbtrto assign, license, sublicense,
reproduce, promote, expose, exploit and otherwsgsetlie New Intellectual Property in any commengiahner now known or hereinafter
discovered, regardless of whether such rightsxaecessed during or after the Term of this Agreemamd notwithstanding termination of this
Agreement for any reason.

3.4 The Original Intellectual Property and the Netellectual Property are hereinafter collectivedferred to as "Intellectual Property."

3.5 TALENT agrees to cooperate fully and in godthfaith COMPANY for the purpose of securing an@gerving COMPANY's rights in
and to the Intellectual Property. In connectiorelagth, TALENT acknowledges and hereby grants to GMY the exclusive worldwide
right during the Term of this Agreement (with resfp Original Intellectual Property) and in penggt (with respect to New Intellectual
Property) to apply for and obtain trademarks, serwarks, copyrights and other registrations thinougjthe world in COMPANY's name
and/or on behalf of Company's designee. At COMPANXpense and request, COMPANY and TALENT sha# s&lch steps, as
COMPANY deems necessary for any registration orldiggation or other proceeding, to protect COMPANYights in the Original
Intellectual Property and/or New Intellectual Pnape&nd/or Works.



4. MERCHANDISING

4.1 TALENT hereby agrees that COMPANY shall hawe dkclusive right (i) during the Term of this Agneent and thereafter, as providec
this Agreement, to use the Original Intellectuagtrty and (i) in perpetuity, to use the New ligefual Property in connection with the
manufacture, production, reproduction, reissuam@aipulation, reconfiguration, broadcast, rebroatadistribution, sale, and other
commercial exploitation in any manner, now knowrereinafter discovered, of any and all materigd®ds, merchandise and other items
incorporating the Intellectual Property. As toslch materials, goods, merchandise or items credéseloped, produced and/or distributed
during the Term of this Agreement using the Oriintellectual Property, COMPANY shall have the Iesive right to sell and exploit such
materials, goods and merchandise until the selbbfame. As to all such materials, goods, mercisarat items using the New Intellectual
Property, COMPANY shall have the exclusive rightperpetuity, to sell and exploit same forevervigay of example and not of limitation,
such items include t-shirts, posters, photos, vidges and video cassettes, dolls, books, bioggaphirticles and stories, and any other such
material goods, merchandise, or items relatingAaHNT.

4.2 It is the intention of the parties that COMPANRIYights described under paragraph 4.1 are exeltsiCOMPANY even to the exclusion
of TALENT. COMPANY shall own all copyrights and ttemarks in any and all such materials, goods, nagidike and items and shall be
entitled to obtain copyright, trademark, servicekrar other registrations in COMPANY's name or ahalf of its designee; and TALENT
shall provide all reasonable assistance to COMPANY0 obtaining such copyright, trademark, sermiagk or other registrations.

5. EXCLUSIVITY

5.1 It is the understanding of the parties thatighits, licenses, privileges and all other iteragein given or granted or assigned by TALENT
to COMPANY are exclusive to COMPANY even to the lesion of TALENT.

6. TERM AND TERRITORY

6.1 The term of the Agreement shall be co-terminitis a certain Employment Agreement dated Octolde2000 between World Wrestling
Federation Entertainment, Inc. and Linda E. McMafi@ontract”). In the event the Contract is ternbéabfor any reason, it is agreed that this
Agreement shall automatically terminate effective tlate of termination of the Contract.

6.2 Reference herein to the Term hereof meanaitial Term and any such Renewal Term. During armghsRenewal Term, all rights, duti
obligations, and privileges hereunder shall cortias stated herein. Notwithstanding anything herethe contrary, termination of this
Agreement for any reason shall not affect COMPANXisership of and rights in, including but not lied to, any Works, New Intellectual
Property and any registrations thereof, or thetsigh



results, products, and proceeds in and to andetbfrom TALENT during the Term of this Agreementgdathe exploitation of rights set forth
in Paragraphs |, 2, 3 and 4 hereof in any and adiennow known or hereinafter discovered.

6.3 The territory of this Agreement shall be theldio
7. PAYMENTS/ROYALTIES
7.1 This paragraph is intentionally left blank.

7.2 (a) If TALENT appears and performs in any Evieran arena before a live audience at which adariss charged other than those arena
events which are taped or broadcast for purposessignt to paragraph 7.2 (b) and paragraph 7.2

(c) hereof (hereinafter "House Shows"), TALENT shal paid by COMPANY an amount equal to such pasmmof the paid receipts for
such House Show from the live House Show gate pexenly as is consistent with the nature of théctnan which TALENT appeatrs, i.e.,
preliminary, mid-card, main event, etc. and anypdsads COMPANY establishes specifically for suchub® Show. However, such amount
shall not be less than One Hundred Fifty Dollatkb(%00) per House Show.

(b) If TALENT appears and performs in connectiothadn arena or studio Event which is taped or keasidfor use on COMPANY's
television network or on a pay-per-view basis ("Taping"), TALENT shall be paid by COMPANY an amoundt less than Fifty Dollars
($50.00) for each day of TV Taping, if any, on WhiEALENT renders services hereunder in connectiih the production of the TV
Taping.

7.3 PROMOTER shall not be liable in any way to payalties, residuals, fees, or any other compemsathatsoever to WRESTLER in
connection with the performance of WRESTLER's Smwihereunder other than as set forth in Paragr@pdibove.

7.4 This paragraph is intentionally left blank.
7.5 This paragraph is intentionally left blank.

7.6 In the event the Original and/or New IntellettBroperty are used by COMPANY or licensed, seged or assigned for non-wrestling
personal appearances and performances such asgeappearances for advertising or non-wrestlirggrmtional purposes, radio and
television commercials, movies, etc., TALENT shedln an amount to be mutually agreed to by TALENd by COMPANY.

7.7 If COMPANY instructs TALENT to appear and perfoin any Events or Programs as a commentator atalfmarticipate in post-Event
production and/or voice- over activities as a comtamr, TALENT's commentating shall be deemed wéok-hire and TALENT hereby
assigns to COMPANY and COMPANY shall own all rightsperpetuity, to all of TALENT's commentary ahdLENT shall not be entitled
to receive any royalty payments, or any additi@mshpensation or residual payments whatsoeverresut of COMPANY's commercial
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exploitation of such commentary in any form, whetheadcast programming, cable programming, payvj@v programming, videotapes,
videodiscs, the Internet or other mediums now oeihafter discovered.

7.8 It is the understanding of the parties that EMIT shall not be paid anything for COMPANY's expédion of the Original and/or New
Intellectual Property in any of COMPANY's magazime®ther publications, which COMPANY may publipnpduce or distribute at arenas,
at newsstands and/or by mail or through electron&ny other manner of media or distribution, nawen or hereinafter discovered,
including, but not limited to, publication or di&tation on the Internet or America On Line.

7.9 For the avoidance of doubt and subject to papgl2.2, the non-compete provision of this AgreethnTALENT acknowledges and
agrees that TALENT shall only be eligible for theyments set forth in paragraphs 7.1 through 7.§e@boconnection with Events or
activities conducted by COMPANY.

8. COMPANY'S OBLIGATIONS

8.1 Although under paragraph 9.1 TALENT shall besponsibility for obtaining appropriate licensesgarticipating in wrestling
exhibitions, COMPANY shall be responsible for ohtag all other appropriate licenses to conductgssional wrestling exhibitions
involving TALENT. If COMPANY, at its discretion, ages to assist TALENT in obtaining her licenses|. ENT shall reimburse
COMPANY for its fees and expenses incurred in catioa therewith.

8.2 COMPANY shall bear the following costs in coatien with the development and enhancement of #heevof TALENT's performance
hereunder and TALENT's standing in the professiamaktling community, all of which shall benefit TENT:

(&) In connection with TALENT's appearances andgoerance at Events staged before a live audien©dJRANY shall bear the cost of
location rental, COMPANY's third party comprehemsiiability insurance for the benefit of the venuagplicable state and local admission
taxes, promotional assistance, sound and lightpegemt, wrestling ring, officials, police and fireopection, and such additional security
guards as COMPANY shall require in its discretiaming a professional wrestling match;

(b) In connection with the production, distributjiand exploitation of the Programs, COMPANY shalaball costs incurred in connection
with such production, distribution, broadcast, smission or other forms of mass media communication

(c) In connection with any product or service lisgy activities and/or merchandising activities, MIPANY shall bear all costs of

negotiating, securing or otherwise obtaining thedpict or service licensing arrangements, includiogts of agents, consultants, attorneys anc
others involved in making the product or servicellising activities; and COMPANY shall bear all sasft creating, designing, developing,
producing and marketing merchandise or services. In



order to fulfill these obligations, COMPANY may meakny arrangements, contractual or otherwise gitndeappropriate to delegate, assign,
or otherwise transfer its obligations.

9. TALENT'S OBLIGATIONS

9.1 TALENT shall bear responsibility for obtainiali appropriate licenses to engage in, participater otherwise appear in professional
wrestling exhibitions.

9.2 TALENT shall be responsible for TALENT's owaitring, conditioning, and maintenance of wrestldls and abilities, as long as they
do not interfere with TALENT's appearance at schedievents as follows:

(&) TALENT shall establish her own training prograhall select time of training, duration of traigj exercises, pattern of exercise and other
actions appropriate to obtaining and maintainingsital fithness for wrestling. TALENT shall sele@rtown training apparatus, including
mats, weights, machines and other exercise panaplieerTALENT is responsible for supplying her otvaining facilities and equipment,
whether by purchase, lease, license, or otherwise.

(b) TALENT shall establish her own method of phgsiconditioning, shall select time for conditionjrduration of conditioning and form of
conditioning. TALENT shall select time for sleepné for eating, and time for other activities. TANE shall select her own foods, vitamins
and other ingested items, excepting illegal anddmtrolled substances and drugs, which are prehilliy COMPANY's Drug Policy.

9.3 TALENT shall be responsible for providing abistumes, wardrobe, props, and make-up necessattyef@erformance of TALENT's
services at any Event and TALENT shall bear altsoxcurred in connection with her transportatioranhd from any such Events (except
those transportation costs which are covered by €8NY's then current Travel Policy), as well as tsts of food consumed and hotel
lodging utilized by TALENT in connection with heppearance at such Events.

9.4 TALENT shall use best efforts in employing TANE's skills and abilities as a professional TALEMNId be responsible for developing
and executing the various details, movements, atenvers required of wrestlers in a professionaktling exhibition.

9.5 TALENT shall take such precautions as are gpjate to avoid any unreasonable risk of injuryptioer wrestlers in any and all Events.
These precautions shall include, without limitatipre-match review of all wrestling moves and masmesi with wrestling partners and
opponents; and pre-match demonstration and/oripeawith wrestling partners and opponents to ingangiliarity with anticipated wrestling
moves and maneuvers during a wrestling match.drettent of injury to TALENT, and/or TALENT's partiseand opponents during a
wrestling match, TALENT shall



immediately signal partner, opponent and/or refetkat it is time for the match to end; and TALEBHall finish the match forthwith so as to
avoid aggravation of such injury.

9.6 TALENT shall use best efforts in the ring i fherformance of wrestling services for a matchtber activity, in order to provide an
honest exhibition of TALENT's wrestling skills aadilities, consistent with the customs of the psefenal wrestling industry; and TALENT
agrees all matches shall be finished in accordasitbtethe COMPANY's direction. Breach of this paragin shall cause a forfeiture of any
payment due TALENT pursuant to SECTION 7 of thiségment and all other obligations of COMPANY to TAUT hereunder, shall enti
COMPANY to terminate this Agreement, but such biresttall not terminate COMPANY's licenses and otfgdts under this Agreement.

9.7 TALENT agrees to cooperate and assist withoytaalditional payment in the publicizing, advertgsiand promoting of scheduled Events,
including without limitation, appearing at and peigating in a reasonable number of joint and/qrasate press conferences, interviews, and
other publicity or exploitation appearances onaiidis (any or all of which may be filmed, taped,otherwise recorded, telecast by any form
of television now known or hereafter discovered|uding without limitation free, cable, pay calbded closed circuit and pay-per-view
television, broadcast, exhibited, distributed, asdd in any manner or media and by any art, mettradkvice now known or hereafter
created, including without limitation by means adeodisc, video cassette, theatrical motion picturé/or non-theatrical motion picture and
Internet), at times and places designated by COMPANconnection therewith.

9.8 TALENT acknowledges the right of COMPANY to neattecisions with respect to the preparation antbéagion of the Programs and/or
the exercise of any other rights respecting Origama/or New Intellectual Property, and in this seation TALENT acknowledges and agr
that COMPANY's decision with respect to any agreeimeisposing of the rights to the Original andMew Intellectual Property are final,
except as to TALENT's legal name, which COMPANY noayy dispose of upon TALENT's written consent. TAMT agrees to execute any
agreements COMPANY deems necessary in connectitbnany such agreements, and if TALENT is unavadallrefuses to execute such
agreements, COMPANY is hereby authorized to dmsSDALENT's name as TALENT's attorney-in-fact.

9.9 TALENT agrees to cooperate fully and in goathfasith COMPANY to obtain any and all documentati@pplications or physical
examinations as may be required by any governitigpaity with respect to TALENT's appearance angenformance in a professional
wrestling match.

9.10 TALENT, on behalf of himself and her heirs&gsors, assigns and personal representativekinsteahnify and defend COMPANY

and COMPANY's licensees, assignees, parent coiporaubsidiaries and affiliates and its and thespective officers, directors, employees,
advertisers, insurers and representatives anddaald of them harmless against any claims, deméabgities, actions, costs, suits, attorney
fees, proceedings or expenses, incurred by artyeofi by reason of TALENT's breach or alleged bredany warranty, undertaking,
representation, agreement, or certification madentered into herein or hereunder by TALENT.
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TALENT, on behalf of himself and her heirs, sucoessassigns and personal representatives, sdalinify and defend COMPANY and
COMPANY's licensees, assignees, parent corporatigdrsidiaries and affiliates and its and their eesipe officers, directors, employees,
advertisers, insurers and representatives anddaald of the harmless against any and all claimmadds, liabilities, actions, costs, suits,
attorney fees, proceedings or expenses, incurreshpyf them, arising out of TALENT'S acts, trart&ats and/or conduct within or around
the ring, hallways, dressing rooms, parking lotsyther areas within or in the immediate vicinifytloe facilities where COMPANY has
scheduled Events at which TALENT is booked. Suclemnification shall include all claims arising adfitany acts, transactions and/or
conduct of TALENT or others occurring at Eventsroconnection with any appearances or performahgéBSALENT not conducted by
COMPANY in accordance with this Agreement.

9.11 TALENT shall be responsible for payment of@dlTALENT's own Federal, state or local incomeetsxall social security, FICA and
FUTA taxes, if any, as well as all contributiongéirement plans and programs, or other supplesthérdome plan or program that would
provide TALENT with personal or monetary benefion retirement from professional wrestling.

9.12 (a) TALENT shall be responsible for her owmeoercial general liability insurance, worker's camgation insurance, professional
liability insurance, as well as any excess liapilitsurance, as TALENT deems appropriate to indgademnify and defend TALENT with
respect to any and all claims arising out of TALE&NG@wn acts, transactions, or conduct.

(b) TALENT acknowledges that the participation autivities required by TALENT in connection with TENT's performance in a
professional wrestling exhibition may be dangerand may involve the risk of serious bodily injulfALENT knowingly and freely assumes
full responsibility for all such inherent risks agll as those due to the negligence of COMPANYgeofhALENTS or otherwise.

(c) TALENT, on behalf of himself and her heirs, sessors, assigns and personal representativebylreteases, waives and discharges
COMPANY from all liability to TALENT and covenantsot to sue COMPANY for any and all loss or damageccount of injury to any
person or property or resulting in serious or perem injury to TALENT or TALENT's death, whetherused by the negligence of the
COMPANY, other wrestlers or otherwise.

(d) TALENT acknowledges that the foregoing releasaiver and indemnity is intended to be as broatliadlusive as permitted by the law
the State, Province or Country in which the prafess wrestling exhibition or Events are conducaed that if any portion thereof is held
invalid, it is agreed that the balance shall, ntitatanding, continue in full force and effect.

9.13 (a) TALENT may at her election obtain hedlifle,and/or disability insurance to provide berefit the event of physical injury arising
out of TALENT's professional activities; and TALENitknowledges that COMPANY shall not have any rasjtmlity for such insurance or
payment in the event of physical injury arising oblT ALENT's professional activities.
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(b) In the event of physical injury arising outPALENT's professional activities, TALENT acknowlesigthat TALENT is not entitled to any
worker's compensation coverage or similar ben&fitinjury, disability, death or loss of wages; ahllLENT shall make no claim against
COMPANY for such coverage or benefit.

9.14 TALENT shall act at all times with due reg&mcublic morals and conventions during the terrthef Agreement. If TALENT shall

have committed or shall commit any act or do amghhat is or shall be an offense or violation inirey moral turpitude under Federal, state
or local laws, or which brings TALENT into publiéstiepute, contempt, scandal or ridicule, or whitduits or offends the community or any
employee, agent or affiliate of COMPANY or whichures TALENT's reputation in COMPANY's sole judgmesr diminishes the value of
TALENT's professional wrestling services to the lmbr COMPANY, then at the time of any such actaay time after COMPANY learns
of any such act, COMPANY shall have the right tefiTALENT in an amount to be determined by COMPAMYd COMPANY shall have
the right to suspend and/or terminate this Agredrfathwith.

10. WARRANTY

10.1 TALENT represents, warrants, and agrees tARENT is free to enter into this Agreement and targ the rights and licenses herein
granted to COMPANY; TALENT has not heretofore eatkand shall not hereafter enter into any contsaagreement which is in conflict
with the provisions hereof or which would or mighiterfere with the full and complete performancel®LENT of her obligations hereunder
or the free and unimpaired exercise by COMPANY rof af the rights and licenses herein granted td6At ENT further represents and
warrants there are no prior or pending claims, a@strative proceedings, civil lawsuits, criminabpecutions or other litigation matters,
including without limitation any immigration or détic commission related matters, affecting TALENWfich would or might interfere with
COMPANY's full and complete exercise or enjoymeinay rights or licenses granted hereunder. Anyeptions to this Warranty are set
forth in Schedule B, attached hereto.

10.2 TALENT represents, warrants and agrees thafENY is in sound mental and physical conditiontthALENT is suffering from no
disabilities that would impair or adversely aff@&LENT's ability to perform professional wrestlisgrvices; and that TALENT is free from
the influence of illegal drugs or controlled sulpst@s, which can threaten TALENT's well being ansepa risk of injury to TALENT or

others. To insure compliance with this warranty LENT shall abide by COMPANY's Drug Policy for TALENas well as any and all
amendments, additions, or modifications to the C@MF's Drug Policy implemented during the Term ostAgreement and consents to the
sampling and testing of her urine in accordancé wiitch Policy. In addition, TALENT agrees to subamihually to a complete physical
examination by a physician either selected or apgtdoy COMPANY. COMPANY's current Drug Policy, whiTALENT acknowledges
herewith receiving, is annexed hereto and incotpdrly reference and made a part hereof.

10.3 COMPANY reserves the right to have TALENT exaed by a physician of its own choosing at its exgeeat any point during the Term
of this Agreement.
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10.4 TALENT further represents, warrants and agtieaisthis Agreement supersedes all prior bookgrgements between TALENT and
COMPANY, whether written or oral, and that he haemfully compensated, where applicable, under ptioh booking agreement(s).

11. EARLY TERMINATION

11.1 This Agreement may be terminated prior toethe of its Term by a written instrument executedbgh of the parties expressing their
mutual consent to so terminate without any furttaaility on the part of either. In the event ofcbuearly termination, COMPANY shall pay
TALENT for all uses of the Intellectual Propertyaoncordance with Section 7 of this Agreement.

11.2 This Agreement will be terminated by TALEN@&ath during the Term, with no further compensadioe TALENT's heirs, successors,
personal representatives or assigns.

11.3 Upon the termination of this Agreement for a@gson, including breach, the parties acknowledigkagree that COMPANY shall own

all right, title and interest in all Works, New éfliectual Property and any registrations theredf @@MPANY shall have the exclusive right
to sell or otherwise dispose of any materials, goaterchandise or other items (i) produced duitiegTterm of this Agreement incorporating
any Original Intellectual Property, and (ii) pro@dicincorporating New Intellectual Property, in perpty.

12. BREACH

12.1 The parties further agree that because dfgkeial, unique, and extraordinary nature of tHeyations of COMPANY and TALENT
respecting all rights and licenses concerning bugski promoting, Programs, Events, Intellectual Briyp which are the subject matter of this
Agreement, TALENT's breach of this Agreement sballse COMPANY irreparable injury which cannot becdhtely measured by
monetary relief; as a consequence COMPANY shadifiggled to injunctive and other equitable relighanst TALENT to prevent TALENT's
breach or default hereunder and such injuncticegoitable relief shall be without prejudice to atler rights, remedies or damages which
COMPANY is legally entitled to obtain.

12.2 In no circumstances, whatsoever, shall eftaety to this Agreement be liable to the othery#at any punitive or exemplary damages;
and all such damages, whether arising out of thadbr of this Agreement or otherwise, are expresalyed.

13. MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 Nothing contained in this Agreement shall bestrued to constitute TALENT as an employee, @airtm joint venturer of COMPANY,
nor shall TALENT have any authority to bind COMPANYany respect. TALENT is an independent contnaatal TALENT shall execute
and hereby irrevocably appoints COMPANY attorneyfatt to execute, if TALENT refuses to do so, amstruments necessary to
accomplish or confirm the foregoing or any ancbélhe rights granted to COMPANY herein.
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13.2 This Agreement contains the entire understendi the parties with respect to the subject méteeof and all prior booking contracts
entered into between COMPANY and TALENT and as afedrare merged into this Agreement. There are mer @igreements,
representations, or warranties not set forth hesétim respect to the subject matter hereof; ancgptrées expressly acknowledge that any
representation, promise or inducement by any garény other party that is not embodied in thisegnent is not part of this Agreement, .
they agree that no party shall be bound by ordidt any such alleged representation, promisadudement not set forth herein.

13.3 This Agreement may not be changed or altexedps in writing signed by COMPANY and TALENT.

13.4 Any term or provision of this Agreement whishnvalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction Bhas to such jurisdiction, be ineffective
to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceabpilitithout rendering invalid or unenforceable thmaéning terms and provisions of this
Agreement, or affecting the validity or enforcedbpibf any of the terms or provisions of this Agmeent in any other jurisdiction.

13.5 COMPANY shall have the right to assign, liana transfer any or all of the rights grantedmd hereunder to any person, firm or
corporation, provided that such assignee has tlamdial ability to meet the Company's obligatioasdunder, and if any assignee shall as:
in writing COMPANY's obligations hereunder, COMPANMYall have no further obligations to TALENT. TALENnay not assign, transfer
or delegate her rights or obligations hereunderaarydattempt to do so shall be void.

13.6 Any notices required or desired hereundell bleah writing and sent postage prepaid by cedifinail, return receipt requested, or by
prepaid telegram addressed as follows, or as ttipanay hereafter in writing otherwise designate:

TO COMPANY: TO TALENT:
World Wrestling Federation
Entertainment, Inc. Linda E. McMahon
Attn: Linda E. McMahon 14 Hurlingham Drive
President and Chief Executive Officer Greenwich, CT 06831

1241 E. Main Street
Stamford, CT 06902

The date of mailing shall be deemed to constitugedate of service of any such notice by COMPANNe Tate of receipt shall be deemed to
constitute the date of service of any such notic8 ALENT.

13.7 This Agreement is made in Connecticut and sleadjoverned by and interpreted in accordance thg¢Haws of the State of Connecticut,
exclusive of its provisions relating to conflictslaw.
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13.8 In the event there is any claim, dispute,tbeiomatter in question arising out of or relatinghis Agreement, the enforcement of any
provisions therein, or breach of any provision ¢odrit shall be submitted to the Federal, stateacal courts, as appropriate, only in the State
of Connecticut. This provision to submit all claindissputes or matters in question to the Federataie courts in the State of Connecticut
shall be specifically enforceable; and each pdwtyeby waiving personal service of process ande/etansents to jurisdiction in Connecticut
for purposes of any other party seeking or secuaimglegal and/or equitable relief.

14. CONFIDENTIALITY

14.1 Other than as may be required by applicalle dgavernment order or regulations, or by ordedexree of the Court, TALENT hereby
acknowledges and agrees that in further considerafi COMPANY's entering into this Agreement, andtinued Agreement, TALENT sh
not, at any time during this Agreement, or after tbrmination of this Agreement for any reason wb@ver, disclose to any person,
organization, or publication, or utilize for thentedit or profit of TALENT or any other person orgamnization, any sensitive or otherwise
confidential business information, idea, proposagtret, or any proprietary information obtainedleviith COMPANY and/or regarding
COMPANY, its employees, independent contractorenggy officers, directors, subsidiaries, affiliatéiwisions, representatives, or assigns.
Included in the foregoing, by way of illustrationlg and not limitation, are such items as repdntsiness plans, sales information, cost or
pricing information, lists of suppliers or custommgetalent lists, story lines, scripts, story boavdgleas, routines, gags, costumes or parts of
costumes, accessories, crowns, inventions, chamsigifprtitle or other belts (if applicable) and atiier tangible or intangible materials
written, composed, submitted, added, improvisedreated by or for TALENT in connection with appeages in the Programs, information
regarding any contractual relationships maintaimeCOMPANY and/or the terms thereof, and/or any alhthformation regarding
TALENTSs engaged by COMPANY.

14.2 TALENT acknowledges and agrees that its ageaeiho be bound by the terms hereof is a mateoiadlition of COMPANY's willingnes
to use and continue to use TALENT's services. Qtieen as may be required by applicable law, govenirarder or regulation; or by order
decree of the court, the parties agree that neithtrem shall publicly divulge or announce, oaimy manner disclose, to any third party, any
of the specific terms and conditions of this Agreamand both parties warrant and covenant to anthar that none of their officers,
directors, employees or agents will do so either.

All of the terms and conditions of any Addenda oh&llules are incorporated herein by reference aukra part hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlgieement on the day and year first above written.

WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION Linda E. M cMahon
ENTERTAINMENT, INC. ("TALENT")
("COMPANY")
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By: B

: y:
James Ross Linda E. McMahon

Senior Vice President Talent Relations & Wrestlikaministration
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT )
) ss: Stamford
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )

On 2000 before me personally came JRogss Senior Vice President of Talent Relationd/éstling Administration., to me
known, and known to me to be the individual desiim, and who executed the foregoing, and dulyaskedged to me that he is a duly
authorized corporate officer of World Wrestling Eeation Entertainment, Inc., and that he execltedsame on behalf of said Company.

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this day of , 2000.

Notary Public My commission expires:

STATE OF CONNECTICUT )
) ss:
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )

I am a Notary Public for said County and Statehdeby certify that Linda E. McMahon personally egmed before me this day and
acknowledged the due execution of the foregointyunsent to be her free act and deed for the pusptherein expressed.

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this day of , 2000.

Notary Public My commission expires:
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SCHEDULE A
ORIGINAL INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Linda E. McMahon
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SCHEDULE B
EXCEPTIONS TO WARRANTY
PENDING CONTRACTS/CLAIMS/LITIGATION WHICH MAY INTER  FERE OR
CONFLICT WITH
TALENT'S PERFORMANCE AND/OR GRANT OF RIGHTS

NONE
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EXHIBIT 10.7
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement ("Agreement”) is entdrgd as of this day of May, 2000 effective as of the Fifth (5th)
day of June, 2000, unless otherwise agreed inngrlty the parties, by and between World Wrestliagdfation Entertainment, Inc.
("WWEFE"), with offices at 1241 East Main Streeta®ford, CT 06902, and Stuart C. Snyder, an indadidesiding at 251 West 92nd Street,
Apt. 11A, New York, New York ("Employee"), individlly referred to as a "party" and collectively meésl to as the "parties.”

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promisesenants and agreements set forth herein andter gbod and valuab
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agréalows:

1. DUTIES/ACCOUNTABILITIES: WWFE agrees to employrployee as . President and Chief Operating Offidering Employee's
employment with WWFE, Employee shall do and perfathservices and acts necessary or advisabldfih five duties and responsibilities
as are commensurate and consistent with Emplogesigon and shall render such services on thessehforth herein. During Employee's
employment with WWFE, Employee shall report dingetl WWFE's . Chief Executive Officer. Employee lslagso take direction from
WWEFE's Chairman (collectively, "Reporting OfficeysEmployee shall have such powers and duties negpect to WWFE as may
reasonably be assigned to Employee by the Repd@tifigers, to the extent consistent with Employg@sition and status (collectively,
"Duties").

Employee shall devote his best efforts and fullifress time and attention to the performance obhies and shall protect and promote the
interests of

[OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE. Employee's principal placeashployment shall be WWFE's offices located in Stach CT. Employee shall
cooperate in any reasonable manner whatsoeve[@BAECT OMITTED]WWEFE in connection with the perfoamce of the Duties.
Employee acknowledges and agrees that there agecimhsubtasks within the services set forth altloaewill be performed as part of the
Duties.

Note: Areas of responsibility and employees repgrto Employee shall be clarified and an organizeti chart will be providec

2. TERM: The term of this Agreement shall be faeth(3) years,

commencing on June 5, 2000 and, unless terminatdidreas set forth below, ending on June 4, 2008r(n"). Each year of the Term shall
referred to hereinafter as a "Contract Year".

3. TERRITORY: The territory for this Agreement dhaz the entire world.

4. COMPENSATION: Employee will be entitled to reeeicompensation hereunder, as follows:

(a) During the Term, [OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE shall peynployee a base salary at the annual rate of 8pdked Thousand US Dollars
(US$600,000.00) for the First Contract Year; Sixidred Thirty Thousand US Dollars ($630,000.00)tfer Second Contract Year; and Six
Hundred Sixty One Thousand Five Hundred US Dol($661,500.00) for the Third Contract Year. .



compensation shall be payable, less deductionsaxed required by law, in weekly or semimonthiytatimnents as determined by WWFE in
its sole discretion;

(b) Employee shall be granted options to purchasehundred thousand (200,000) shares of WWFE'ss@lasommon stock under WWFE's
Long Term Incentive Plan consistent with the St@gkion Agreement for Employees and Directors atddiereto as Exhibit A and
incorporated herein by reference. Employee wilkbgible to participate in any program createdgenior management with respect to the
grant of additional options;

(c) Within ten (10) days after the first day ofimetemployment tentatively scheduled for May 299@0Employee shall be paid a one-time
signing bonus in the amount of Seventy-Five Thod4a8 Dollars ($75,000.00) net of taxes and othéhnhaldings normally associated with
Employee compensation, it being understood anceddgteat should this Agreement be terminated by WWF/Br before June 4, 2001,
WWFE may credit this signing bonus against any paysithat may be owed to Employee under Paragrdphbélow, otherwise this signi
bonus shall be nonrecoupable by WWFE; and

(d) During each Contract Year of this Agreementployee shall be eligible for a bonus, to be paisdlaupon performance targets
established by WWFE's Reporting Officers in advaame before or within the first quarter of each €act Year, and in consultation with
Employee. The target will be sixty percent (60%Jafployee's then current base salary with an ugsitiential of up to eighty percent (80%)
of Employee's then current annual base salary.

5. EXPENSES:

(a) WWEFE shall reimburse Employee for any reasaahbb necessary expenses incurred in the perfomudgs Duties hereunder, which
shall include providing Employee with first clasdiae tickets on business related flights and ather reasonable and necessary travel,
business entertainment and lodging expenses, mattht reimbursement hereunder shall be subjadMb-E's then current policies
regarding such reimbursement, now or hereaftertaddpy WWFE, that any and all such expenses anmapg in advance by the WWFE's
CEO and only upon receipt of adequate supportirogiiehentation therefor. All such expenses shall babersed within thirty (30) calendar
days following submission to and approval by WWHRRminvoice no more frequently than on a montrdgib.

6. BENEFITS:

(a) Employee shall be eligible during the Termto$ tAgreement for those benefits generally avadldblsimilarly situated employees of
[OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE including but not limited toeifare, health and life insurance and pension liezed incentive programs,
vacation and the like;

(b) Employee shall be a member of WWFE's Execufiumnmittee during the term of this Agreement;
(c) At WWFE's sole discretion, at a time deemedapate by the Reporting Officers
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during the term of the Agreement, Employee willFbasonably considered to be added as a member dfE\8/Board of Directors;

(d) Employee shall have the use of either his owa company cellular telephone, it being understand agreed in either case that WWFE
shall reimburse Employee for monthly service chaiged any reasonable and necessary toll callher btisiness related fees incurred in
connection with the use thereof; and

(e) Employee shall be entitled to reimbursementfoto One Hundred US Dollars ($100.00) per moatthbme office telephone and fax
charges.

7. TERMINATION:

(a) [OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE shall have the right tarténate Employee's employment and this Agreementediately for "Cause." For
purposes hereof, "Cause" shall mean if Employgés found to have engaged in fraud, deceit, miggmpation, embezzlement, theft,
unethical conduct, or other act of gross miscondgeinst [OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE or any of its affiles; (ii) is determined to have
engaged in behavior that [OBJECT OMITTED]substdlytiand publicly injures [OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE's rafation in the community;
(iii) is determined to have willfully and knowingolated any rules or regulations of any governmiemtaegulatory body; or (iv) is convicted,
pleads or enters a plea of nolo contendere tooafelf [OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE terminates Employee fdause, Employee shall be p
any unpaid consideration as set forth in Paragrdpbsand 6 above only through the date of termonaEmployee and

[OBJECT OMITTED]WWEFE shall have no further obligatihereunder, financial or otherwise, from the ddtermination; and Employee
and [OBJECT OMITTED]WWFE shall have all other riglaind remedies available under this or any othexeagent and at law or in equity.

(b) WWFE may terminate this Agreement at any tioresiny reason other than Cause provided that wiérir(10) days after such terminati
it pays Employee on a non-mitigated basis (i) tifieidnce between One Million Eight Hundred Nin€@pe Thousand Five Hundred Dollars
($1,891,500.00) and what WWFE has paid Employesyant to paragraph 4(a) above up to the date déhisnation; (ii) all bonuses due
under Paragraph 4(d) that remain unpaid, includipgo-rata bonus for a partial Contract Year, fflegable, and (iii) all consideration due
under Paragraphs 5 and 6.

(c) Should Employee resign at any point duringTbem of this Agreement, WWFE shall have no furtbieligation thereafter to Employee
under this Agreement, whether financial or otheewexcept for accrued and unpaid consideratiompdusuant to Paragraphs 4, 5 and 6
above.

(d) In the event of Employee's Disability (as defirbelow) (to the extent not prohibited by The Aicems With Disabilities Act of 1990 or
any other law), Employee shall be paid his unpaitgensation and consideration as set forth in Papag 4(a), 4(d), 5 and 6 above through
the date of resignation or Disability (as



applicable). WWFE shall have no further obligati@reunder, financial or otherwise, except the stiyations set forth in paragraph 4 (b)
above, subject of course to any restrictions caethin WWFE's Long Term Incentive Plan and the IS@ption Agreement set forth in
Exhibit A, from the date of resignation or Disatyil{as applicable) and WWFE shall have all othghts and remedies available under this or
any other agreement and at law or in equity. Fop@ses hereof, "Disability” shall mean if as a lestiIEmployee's medically diagnosed
incapacity due to physical or mental iliness (a®iheined in good faith by a physician acceptab/d/M/FE and Employee's representative),
Employee shall have been absent from fintle performance of his Duties with WWFE for fod) €onsecutive months during any twelve |
month period.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary settff@bove, should Employee die during the Ternhief Agreement, WWFE shall pay
Employee's heirs

(i) the difference between One Million Eight Hunddinety One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1,890,00) and what WWFE has paid
Employee pursuant to paragraph 4(a) above up tdatesof his death; (ii) all bonuses due under gtaph 4(d) that remain unpaid, including
a pro-rata bonus for a partial Contract Year, filagable, and (iii) all consideration due underd&maphs 5 and 6.

(f) For the avoidance of doubt, Employee's eligfipilo exercise any stock options granted hereustlall be consistent with the provisions of
the Long Term Incentive Plan and Exhibit A.

8. WORK FOR HIRE: Employee hereby acknowledges a@liatuties performed hereunder were specificalleoed or commissioned by
WWFE ("Work™"); that the Work constitutes and stahstitute a work-made-for-hire as defined in thetét States Copyright Act of 1976;
that WWFE is and shall be the author of said woddeifor-hire and the owner of all rights in andhe Work throughout the universe, in
perpetuity and in all languages, for all now knoevrhereafter existing uses, media and forms, inetudvithout limitation, the copyrights
therein and thereto throughout the universe foirhil term and any and all extensions and rerdgweereof; and that WWFE shall have the
right to make such changes therein and such usesathas it may deem necessary or desirable. "Wahl include, but not be limited to all
material and information created by Employee indberse of Employee's employment by WWFE whiclixied in a tangible medium of
expression, including, but not limited to, noteswings, memoranda, correspondence, documentsdsgcmtebooks, flow charts, computer
programs and source and object codes, regardleks afedium in which they are fixed. To the extiat the Work is not recognized as a
work-made-for-hire, Employee hereby assigns, temssdind conveys to WWFE, without reservation, Btmmployee's right, title and interest
throughout the universe in perpetuity in the WamnkJuding, without limitation, all rights of copyght and copyright renewal in said Work or
any part thereof. Employee will take whatever stapd do whatever acts WWFE requests at WWFE's iogtiding, but not limited to,
placement of WWFE's proper copyright notice on sidrks to secure or aid in securing copyright petoe and will assist WWFE or its
nominees in filing applications to register claiaizopyright in such works. Employee will not reguze, distribute, display publicly, or
perform publicly, alone or in combination with adgta processing or network system, any Works of \BWithout the written permission
from WWFE.

9. COVENANTS OF EMPLOYEE. In order to induce WWHFiEenter into this Agreement, Employee hereby agasdsllows:

(a) Confidentiality. Employee acknowledges thatdégson of his relationship with and service to WWERployee has had and will have
access to confidential information relating



to operations and technology and know-how whichehaeen and will be developed by WWFE and its até, including, without limitation,
information and knowledge pertaining to wrestlirrgguctions and performances, public relations aadketing, products and their design
and manufacture, methods of operation, sales afit gata, customer and supplier lists and relaigps between WWFE and its affiliates
and its customers, suppliers and others who hasméss dealings with it, and plans for future depeients relating thereto. In recognition of
the foregoing, during the Term and at all timesdhéer, Employee will maintain the confidentialdf/all such information and other matters
of WWFE and its affiliates known to Employee whiafe otherwise not in the public domain and will distclose any such information to &
person outside the organization of WWFE, whereveated, except as required by law or with WWFE'arB®f Directors' prior written
authorization and consent.

(b) Records. All papers, books and records of ekirg and description relating to the businessaffairs of WWFE, or any its affiliates,
whether or not prepared by Employee, other thasqmed notes prepared by or at the direction of Byg®, shall be the sole and exclusive
property of WWFE, and Employee shall surrender theM/WFE at any time upon request by WWFE. Emplts/personal notes, papers and
possessions, including those at the offices of WW&FEIl be accessible to Employee and be avaifablemoval during the Term and after
termination.

(c) Non-Competition. Employee hereby agrees with FBAthat during the Term and for a period of oney€dr following the date of
termination, (i) he shall not perform servicesdoion behalf of any professional wrestling orgatieaor entity including without limitation
World Championship Wrestling or any subsidiary fiiliated company thereof, or any subsidiary oiil&ffed company thereof principally
engaged in the business of professional wresttingxtreme Championship Wrestling or any subsid@rsffiliated company thereof
principally engaged in the business of professiamaktling; (ii) he shall not actively solicit aeynployee of WWFE or any of its subsidiaries
or affiliates to leave the employment thereof; &iijlhe shall not induce or attempt to induce amgtomer, supplier, licensee or other
individual, corporation or other business organaahaving a business relation with WWFE or itssidlaries or affiliates to cease doing
business with WWFE or its subsidiaries or in any walawfully interfere with the relationship betweany such customer, supplier, licensee
or other person and WWFE or its subsidiaries aliafs, it being understood and agreed, howebeat, Paragraph 9 (c)(i) above shall not
apply in the event that WWFE terminates Employeovit cause.

(d) Enforcement. Employee agrees and warrantghieatovenants contained herein are reasonableydahdtconsiderations have been and
will be received therefor and that the agreemegit$osth herein are the result of arms-length niagjons between the parties hereto.
Employee recognizes that the provisions of this&aph 9 are vitally important to the continuingfare of WWFE, and its affiliates, and
that money damages constitute a totally inadegeatedy for any violation thereof. Accordingly, metevent of any such violation by
Employee, WWFE, and its affiliates, in additionatay other remedies they may have, shall have ¢ 1o institute and maintain a
proceeding to compel specific performance theredd dssue an injunction restraining any actiorbmgployee in violation of this Paragraph
9.



10. ASSIGNMENT: This Agreement contemplates thespeal services of Employee and is not assighabEnyyloyee. WWFE may assign
this Agreement in whole or in part, without limitat or restriction, provided that WWFE or the assgig remains fully responsible for the
obligations of WWFE hereunder.

11. GOVERNING LAW; JURISDICTION:

(a) Governing Law: This Agreement shall be goverbgdand construed in accordance with, the lanth®fState of Connecticut applicable to
contracts entered into and to be fully performestein.

(b) Jurisdiction: The parties hereto agree to stisoiely to the jurisdiction of the United Stateistict Court located in Bridgeport,
Connecticut and the Judicial District Court of Stard located in Stamford, Connecticut. The paréigeee that service of process by malil
shall be effective service of same and such seshadl have the same effect as personal servidethdt State of Connecticut and result in
personal jurisdiction over the parties in the formnthe State of Connecticut. The provisions cargdiin this Paragraph shall survive the
termination and/or expiration of this Agreement.

12. NOTICES: Any notices are to be sent by cedifigail, return receipt requested or federal expagssaddressed as follows:

TO WWEFE: World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.
Attn: Linda E. McMahon
Chief Executive Officer
1241 East Main Street
Stamford, CT 06902

WITH A COPY TO:  World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc.
Attn: Edward L. Kaufman
Senior Vice President and G eneral Counsel

1241 East Main Street
Stamford, CT 06902

TO EMPLOYEE: Stuart C. Snyder
251 West 92nd Street, Apt. 11A
New York, New York

WITH A COPY TO: Robert V. Gaulin, Esg.
Robert V. Gaulin & Associat es
200 West 57th Street
New York, NY 10019
13. SEVERABILITY: In the event that any provision or portion of this

Agreement shall be declared invalid or unenforceddnl any reason by a court of competent jurisdictsuch
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provision or portion shall be considered separateapart from the remainder of this Agreement, Wisicall remain in full force and effect.

14. NAME AND LIKENESS: WWFE and its licensees andigsignees shall have the exclusive and perpeginr) but not the obligation, to
use and license the use of Employee's name, agpphaograph, likeness and biographical data ("NantkLikeness") for the purpose of
advertising, marketing, promoting, publicizing agloiting any matter related to the Duties perfednmereunder with Employee's
permission, which shall not be unreasonably wittihel

15. INDEMNITY: a) Employee shall hold WWFE, its pat, subsidiary and affiliate companies and theatiars, officers, employees,
licensees, successors, assigns and agents ofrégmiing, harmless from and against all claimsijlitéds, damages, costs and attorneys' fees
arising from any grossly negligent acts, or intendél acts by Employee outside the scope and caditsie employment.

(b) WWEFE shall hold Employee harmless from and agfall claims, liabilities, damages, costs andragys' fees arising solely from the
performance of Employee's Duties within the cownse scope of Employee's employment hereunder.

16. REMEDIES: The waiver by either party of anydwuie hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of any prisubsequent breach hereof. All
remedies of either party shall be cumulative amdpirsuit of one remedy shall not be deemed a waivany other remedy.

17. INTEGRATION: This Agreement contains the contplenderstanding existing between the parties erstibjects covered and supers¢
any previous written or verbal understandings watspect thereto. This Agreement may not be ameexiegpt by a writing signed by
authorized representatives of Employee and WWFE.

18. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executemimterparts, each of which shall be deemed &nbariginal but all of which
together will constitute one and the same instrumen

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exeatthis Agreement as of the date first above written

STUART C. SNYDER World Wrestling F ederation Entertainment, Inc.
("Employee") ("WWFE")
By: By:
Stuart C. Snyder Linda E. McMahon

Chief Exe cutive Officer



STATE OF CONNECTICUT )

) ss:
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )
On , 2000 , before me personaifhedanda E. McMahon, Chief Executive Officer, Wokidrestling Federation

Entertainment, Inc., to me known, and known to mbe the individual described in, and who execttedoregoing, and duly acknowledged
to me that she is a duly authorized corporate effaf World Wrestling Federation Entertainment,.Jrand that she executed the same on
behalf of said company.

Notary Public
My commission expires:

STATE OF )
)ss:
COUNTY OF )

On , 2000 before me personall y came Stuart C. Snyder to me

known, and known to me to be the individual destim, and who executed the foregoing Agreemeit day acknowledged to me that he
executed the same.

Notary Public

My commission expires:
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XFL, LLC
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

THIS LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT is made ad entered into as of this 12th day of June, 209&ru between WWFE
SPORTS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("WWFE"), &RIC-XFL HOLDING, INC., a Delaware corporation ("NBX

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, WWFE and NBC have formed XFL, LLC, a Detawrlimited liability company (the "Company"), asehicle through which to
establish, develop and operate a professional &tlddague to be known as the "XFL", by filing ar@fecate of Formation (the "Certificate™)
with the office of the Secretary of State of that8tof Delaware on March 20, 2000.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ctavts and agreements herein contained and othdragmbvaluable consideratic
the receipt and sufficiency of which are herebynaeidledged, and intending to be legally bound heréisy parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE |

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

As used in this Agreement, the following terms hthefollowing definitions:

AAA Global Headquarters. "AAA Global Headquartehsls the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 12tHi@Agreement.

Act. "Act" means the Delaware Limited Liability Caany Law, Delaware

Code Annotated, Title 6, Chap. 18, as amended fim® to time, in effect.

Additional Capital Contribution. "Additional Caplt&@ontribution" has the meaning ascribed theretBention 3.2(a) of this Agreement.

Adjusted Capital Account Deficit. "Adjusted Capitatcount Deficit" means, with respect to any Memiiee deficit balance, if any, in such
Member's Capital Account as of the end of the @é¥iscal Year, after giving effect to the follogiadjustments:

(i) Credit to such Capital Account any amounts Wwhsach Member is deemed to be obligated to resiangiant to the penultimate sentences
in Sections 1.7C-2(g)(1) and 1.7C-2(i)(5) of the Regulations; ar



(i) Debit to such Capital Account the items delsed in Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), 1.704-18)fii)(d)(5) and 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6) of
the Regulations.

The foregoing definition of Adjusted Capital Accaudeficit is intended to comply with the provisioogSection 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) of the
Regulations and shall be interpreted consisteh#yawith.

Affiliate. "Affiliate" means, with respect to a B®m, a Person that, directly or indirectly, throwgie or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, flist mentioned Person, or any member of the Imated-amily of the second mentioned
Person.

Agreement. "Agreement" means this Limited Liabil@pmpany Agreement, as it may be amended or suepleh from time to time, and is
the "Limited Liability Company Agreement" of the @pany as defined in Section 18- 101(6) of the Act.

Board of Managers. "Board of Managers" means thagof Managers that exercises the powers, andgearthe business and affairs, of the
Company pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement.

Book Item. "Book Item" has the meaning ascribedédtwein Section 6.2(d)(i)(A) of this Agreement.
Broadcast Agreement. "Broadcast Agreement” hasdening ascribed thereto in Section 2.8 of thise&grent.
Business. "Business" has the meaning ascribedtthier&ection 2.4 of this Agreement.

Business Day. "Business Day" means any day otlaer ahSaturday, a Sunday, or any day on which redtlsanking associations in the State
of New York are closed.

Call Exercise Notice. "Call Exercise Notice" has theaning ascribed thereto in Section 8.4(a) sfAlgreement.
Call Closing. "Call Closing" has the meaning asedibhereto in Section 8.4(a) of this Agreement.

Capital Account. "Capital Account" means, with respto any Member, the Capital Account maintair@dstich Member in accordance with
the following provisions:

() To each Member's Capital Account there shaktteselited (A) such Member's Capital Contributiofigy, such Member's distributive share
of Profits and any items in the nature of incomgain which are specially allocated pursuant taiSe®.2 hereof, and (C) the amount of any
Company liabilities assumed by such Member or whighsecured by any property distributed to suctmbt. The principal amount of a
promissory note which is not readily traded on stalglished securities market and which is conteétubd the Company by the maker of the
note (or a Member related to the maker of the ndttein the meaning of
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Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(c)) shall betincluded in the Capital Account of any Membuetilihe Company makes a taxable
disposition of the note or until (and to the exigmtncipal payments are made on the note, altooedance with Regulations Section 1.704-1

()(2)(iv)(d)(2);

(i) To each Member's Capital Account there shaldebited (A) the amount of money and the GrosetAgalue of any property distributed
to such Member pursuant to any provision of thise®gnent, (B) such Member's distributive share afdes and any items in the nature of
expenses or losses which are specially allocateslipat to Section 6.2 hereof, and (c) the amouangfliabilities of such Member assumed
by the Company or which are secured by any propenmyributed by such Member to the Company;

(iii) In the event Shares are Transferred in acance with the terms of this Agreement, the traresfeshall succeed to the Capital Account of
the transferor to the extent it relates to the $tamed Shares; and

(iv) In determining the amount of any liability fpurposes of subparagraphs (i) and (ii) above thleadl be taken into account Code Section
752(c) and any other applicable provisions of tlel€and Regulations.

The foregoing provisions and the other provisiohthis Agreement relating to the maintenance ofi@apccounts are intended to comply
with Regulations Section 1.704-1(b), and shalliierpreted and applied in a manner consistentsuith Regulations. In the event the Board
of Managers shall determine that it is prudent talify the manner in which the Capital Accountsany debits or credits thereto (including,
without limitation, debits or credits relating tabilities which are secured by contributed orrilistted property or which are assumed by the
Company or any Member), are computed in order toptp with such Regulations, the Board of Manageay make such modification. The
Board of Managers also shall (i) make any adjustmtitat are necessary or appropriate to maintaialiég between the Capital Accounts of
the Members and the amount of capital reflectetherCompany's balance sheet, as computed for haploges, in accordance with
Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g), and fidke any appropriate modifications in the evenntingated events might otherwise cause
this Agreement not to comply with Regulations Sgttl.704-1(b).

Capital Contributions. "Capital Contributions" msawith respect to any Member, the amount of mareythe initial Gross Asset Value of
any property (other than money) contributed toGeenpany with respect to the Shares in the Compald/dr purchased by such Member,
including additional Capital Contributions.

Certificate. "Certificate" means the Company's ifiedate of Formation filed with the Secretary oi&t of the State of Delaware on March 20,
2000, as amended from time to time.

Class A Membership Units. "Class A Membership Uniteans the limited liability company Intereststod Company represented by the
800,000 units designated as Class A MembershislimiBection 2.7 of this Agreement.

3



Class B Membership Units. "Class B Membership Uniteans the convertible, namting limited liability company Interests of the@pany
represented by the 400,000 units designated as 8ld&embership Units in

Section 2.7 of this Agreement.

Class C Membership Unit. "Class C Membership Umigans the redeemable, non-voting, cumulative, pegfenon-participating limited
liability company Interest of the Company represdrtty the 1 unit designated as a Class C Membeld#titgn Section 2.7 of this Agreeme
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreeme¢he Class C Membership Unit holder shall bétledtsolely to a Priority Return to ti
extent provided herein and shall receive no othecation of Profit or Loss or distribution hereward

Code. "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code @,1#8amended, 26

U.S.C.A,, et seq., or any succeeding federal imle@venue law as from time to time in effect. Arference to any section of the Code shall
include the provisions of any successor revenuekafvom time to time in effect.

Company. "Company" means XFL, LLC, a Delaware kditiability company, being the limited liabilitypmpany formed pursuant to the
Certificate and governed by this Agreement.

Company Minimum Gain. "Company Minimum Gain" has theaning given the term "partnership minimum gairSections 1.704-2(b)(2)
and 1.704-2(d) of the Regulations.

Control. "Control" (including the terms "controllég" and "under common control with") means thesassion, directly or indirectly, of the
power to direct or cause the direction of the managnt or policies of a Person, whether throughotheership of voting securities or other
ownership interests, by contract or otherwise.

Controlled Affiliate. "Controlled Affiliate" meansyith respect to a Person, a Person that, directigdirectly, through one or more
intermediaries, is controlled by the first mentidrigerson, and, in the case of NBC, also means arspR that, directly or indirectly, through
one or more intermediaries, is controlled by NBCeRa

Conversion Date. "Conversion Date" has the meaastgibed thereto in Section 10.1(c).

Conversion Notice. "Conversion Notice" has the niggascribed thereto in Section 10.1(a) of thisefgnent.

Defaulting Member. "Defaulting Member" has the nmiagrascribed thereto in Section 3.2(c) of this Agnent.

Deficiency. "Deficiency" has the meaning ascribeereto in Section 3.2(c) of this Agreement.

Deficiency Contribution. "Deficiency Contributiofiias the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3d?(itlis Agreement.
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Depreciation. "Depreciation” means, for each Fidesr, an amount equal to the depreciation, anaditia, or other cost recovery deduction
allowable with respect to an asset for such Fisealr, except that if the Gross Asset Value of aetdiffers from its adjusted basis for
federal income tax purposes at the beginning dfi $uscal Year, Depreciation shall be an amount twbiears the same ratio to such
beginning Gross Asset Value as the federal incaxelépreciation, amortization, or other cost recpdeduction for such Fiscal Year bears
to such beginning adjusted tax basis; provided,evaw that if the adjusted basis for federal incéaxepurposes of an asset at the beginning
of such Fiscal Year is zero, Depreciation shaklletermined with reference to such beginning Grassef\Value using any reasonable method
selected by the Board of Managers.

Depreciation Recapture. "Depreciation Recapturg"tha meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.2(B)(iji) of this Agreement.

Dispute. "Dispute" has the meaning ascribed thene®ection 12.1 of this Agreement.

Estimated Tax Amount. "Estimated Tax Amount” sina#lan, for each Fiscal Year, an amount of cash whidfe good faith judgment of the
Board of Managers, equals (i) the amount of taxaieme allocable from the Company in respect ochdtiscal Year to the Member
receiving the greatest allocation of such incomeltiplied by (ii) forty percent (40%).

Fair Market Value. "Fair Market Value" has the miegrascribed thereto in Section 8.5 of this Agreeime

Financial Statements. "Financial Statements" hasrtéaning ascribed thereto in Section 7.3(a) sfAlgireement.

Fiscal Year. "Fiscal Year" has the meaning ascrihedeto in Section 7.2 of this Agreement.

Gross Asset Value. "Gross Asset Value" means w#pect to any asset, the asset's adjusted bassléyal income tax purposes, except as
follows:

(i) The initial Gross Asset Value of any asset dbunted by a Member to the Company shall be thegfair market value of such asset, as
determined by the Board of Managers;

(i) The Gross Asset Values of all Company assedd e adjusted to equal their respective grossifarket values (taking Code Section
7701(g) into account) as determined by the Boafdariagers as of the following times:

(A) the acquisition of an additional Interest it tBompany by any new or existing Member in exchdogenore than a de minimis Capital
Contribution; (B) the distribution by the Compaiwyat Member of more than a de minimis amount of Camypproperty as consideration for
an Interest in the Company; and (C) the liquidatbthe Company within the meaning of Regulatiorst®n 1.704-

1(b)(2)(ii)(g), provided that an adjustment desedlin clauses (A) and (B) of this paragraph shaliiade only if the Board of Managers
reasonably determines that such adjustment is sa@geto reflect the relative economic interestthefMembers in the Company;
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(iii) The Gross Asset Value of any item of Compasgets distributed to any Member shall be adjustedual the gross fair market value
(taking Code Section 7701(g) into account) of saséet on the date of distribution as determinethéyBoard of Managers; and

(iv) The Gross Asset Values of the Company as$eti Ise increased (or decreased) to reflect anysalents to the adjusted basis of such
assets pursuant to Code Section 734(b) or Codé8é&tt3(b), but only to the extent that such adnesits are taken into account in
determining Capital Accounts pursuant to RegulatiSaction 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m) and subparagraphdithe definition of "Profits" and
"Losses" or Section 6.2(b)(vii) hereof; providedwever, that Gross Asset Values shall not be agtjugtirsuant to this subparagraph (iv) to
the extent that an adjustment pursuant to subpapagr

(i) is required in connection with a transactibat would otherwise result in an adjustment purst@this subparagraph (iv).

If the Gross Asset Value of an asset has beenrdieted or adjusted pursuant to subparagraph (iiMprsuch Gross Asset Value shall
thereafter be adjusted by the depreciation takenaocount with respect to such asset, for purposesmputing Profits and Losses.

GAAP. "GAAP" shall mean U.S. generally acceptedoacting
principles, consistently applied.

Immediate Family. "Immediate Family" means, anlinnted to, an individual's current spouse, paregtandparents, children, siblings,
grandchildren and other lineal descendants, arst @r estate of which the primary beneficiariessrch individual or such related persons.

Initial Business Plan. "Initial Business Plan" med#me budget and strategic operating plan for th@@any for the period commencing on
May 1, 2000 and ending on April 30, 2002 in thenfattached to this Agreement as Exhibit A.

Interest. "Interest" means the entire ownershipradt of a Member in the Company at any time, tlialg such Member's Percentage Interest
and the right of such Member to any and all beséditwhich a Member may be entitled as provideithi;m Agreement, together with the
obligations of such Member to comply with all oétterms and provisions of this Agreement.

IPO. "IPO" has the meaning ascribed thereto ini&edi4.1 of this

Agreement.

Liguidator. "Liquidator" means that Person, or amgcessor thereto, who shall be designated talid@ithe Company pursuant to Section
hereof.

Manager. "Manager" means any Person hereafteredlesta member of the Board of Managers of the @agnps provided in this
Agreement, but does not include any Person whaéased to be a member of the Board of Managetedfompany. Each member of the
Board of Managers is a "Manager" within the mearmh§ection 18-101(10) of the Act.
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Member. "Member" means any Person executing thieémgent as a member or hereafter admitted to thep@oy as a member as provided
in this Agreement, but does not include any Pevgon has ceased to be a member in the Company aahdember is a "Member" within
the meaning of Section 18-101(11) of the Act.

Member Nonrecourse Debt. "Member Nonrecourse Dedi"the same meaning as the term "partner nongeedabt” in Section 1.704-2(b)
(4) of the Regulations.

Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain. "Member Nootgse Debt Minimum Gain" means an amount, witpeesto each Member
Nonrecourse Debt, equal to the Company Minimum @zanwould result if such Member Nonrecourse Dredrte treated as a Nonrecou
Liability, determined in accordance with
Section 1.704-2(i)(3) of the Regulations.

Member Nonrecourse Deductions. "Member NonrecoDestuctions” has the same meaning as the term graromrecourse deductions” in
Sections 1.704- 2(i)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(2) of thegRations.

Merchandising Agreement. "Merchandising Agreeméat8 the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2tBi®AAgreement.
Monthly Management Reports. "Monthly Managementdres) has the meaning ascribed thereto in Secti®fayof this Agreement.
NBC. "NBC" means NB-XFL Holding, Inc., a Delaware corporation, its

successors or permitted transferees of its enttezdst, as the case may be.

NBC Parent. "NBC Parent" means National Broadcgstiompany, Inc., a Delaware corporati

NBC IPO Notice. "NBC IPO Notice" has the meaningrdmed thereto in Section 14.2 of this Agreem

NBC IPO Put Notice. "NBC IPO Put Notice" has theamiag ascribed thereto in Section 14.2 of this &grent.

NBC IPO Put Right. "NBC IPO Put Right" has the magrascribed thereto in Section 14.2 of this Agreetr

NBC Put Notice. "NBC Put Notice" has the meaningri#ed thereto in Section 8.4(b) of this Agreem

NBC Put Right. "NBC Put Right" has the meaning éeat thereto in Section 8.4(b) of this Agreem:

NFL. "NFL" has the meaning ascribed thereto in ack.13 of this

Agreement.

Non-Defaulting Member. "Non-Defaulting Member" has theaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.2(c) of Agseement.
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Nonrecourse Deductions. "Nonrecourse Deductions'tinia meaning set forth in Section 1.-2(b)(1) of the Regulations.
Nonrecourse Liability. "Nonrecourse Liability" httee meaning set forth in Section 1.-2(b)(3) of the Regulations.
Notice Letter. "Notice Letter" has the meaning dmd thereto in Section 12.2 of this Agreem:

Observer. "Observer" has the meaning ascribedttharé&ection 5.3 of this Agreement.

Offer Period. "Offer Period" has the meaning astithereto in Section 8.3 of this Agreement.

Offered Interest. "Offered Interest” has the meguiscribed thereto in Section 8.3 of this Agreement

Offered Members. "Offered Members" has the meaaswibed thereto in Section 8.3 of this Agreement.

Offering Member. "Offering Member" has the meanasgribed thereto in Section 8.3 of this Agreement.

Percentage Interest. "Percentage Interest" of amykr means the percentage of all outstanding @ladésmbership Units and Class B
Membership Units, taken together, held by such Mamb

Performance Based Conversion Notice. "Performarase@ Conversion Notice" has the meaning ascrilaétihin Section 10.1(a) of this
Agreement.

Person. "Person" means any person, corporatiotnguahip, limited partnership, limited liability egany, joint venture, association, joint
stock company, trust, business trust, unincorpdragsociation or other entity.

Priority Return. "Priority Return" means a sum ddaden percent (10%) per annum, determined omé#sis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as
the case may be, for the actual number of daylseipériod for which the Priority Return is beingetenined, cumulative (but not
compounded) to the extent not distributed in amggiFiscal Year pursuant to Section 6.1(d) herefahe Capital Contribution attributable to
the Class C Membership Unit ($12.50), commencingherfirst day the Class C Membership Unit is issteethe WWFE.

Profits and Losses. "Profits" and "Losses" meangéxh Fiscal Year, an amount equal to the Compaayable income or loss for such Fis
Year, determined in accordance with Code Secti@{ajqfor this purpose, all items of income, géiiss, or deduction required to be stated
separately pursuant to Code Section 703(a)(1) bkalicluded in taxable income or loss), with tbkkofving adjustments (without
duplication):



(i) Any income of the Company that is exempt fraeddral income tax and not otherwise taken into @uicim computing Profits or Losses
pursuant to this definition of "Profits" and "LosSehall be added to such taxable income or loss:

(i) Any expenditures of the Company described 0d€ Section 705(a)(2)(B) or treated as Code SeZt&a)(2)(B) expenditures pursuan
Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(i), and ntitaywise taken into account in computing Profitdosses pursuant to this definition of
"Profits" and "Losses", shall be subtracted frormhstaxable income or loss;

(iii) In the event the Gross Asset Value of any @amy asset is adjusted pursuant to subparagrapbs (i) of the definition of Gross Asset
Value, the amount of such adjustment shall bedreas an item of gain (if the adjustment increéisessross Asset Value of the asset) or an
item of loss (if the adjustment decreases the Ghssst Value of the asset) from the dispositioswifh asset and shall be taken into account
for purposes of computing Profits or Losses;

(iv) Gain or loss resulting from any dispositiongwbperty with respect to which gain or loss isogrtized for federal income tax purposes
shall be computed by reference to the Gross Asakte\bf the property disposed of, notwithstandhmag the adjusted tax basis of such
property differs from its Gross Asset Value;

(v) In lieu of the depreciation, amortization, asttier cost recovery deductions taken into accaunbmputing such taxable income or loss,
there shall be taken into account Depreciatiors€mh Fiscal Year computed in accordance with thi@itlen of Depreciation;

(vi) To the extent an adjustment to the adjust&dsis of any Company asset pursuant to Codeddet84(b) is required, pursuant to
Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(4), tothken into account in determining Capital Accowagsa result of a distribution other than in
liquidation of a Member's Interest in the Compahyg, amount of such adjustment shall be treated @&sm of gain (if the adjustment
increases the basis of the asset) or loss (ifdpesment decreases such basis) from the dispogifisuch asset and shall be taken into
account for purposes of computing Profits or Losaad

(vii) Notwithstanding any other provision of thigfihition, any items which are specially allocafrdsuant to Section 6.2 hereof shall not be
taken into account in computing Profits or Losses.

The amounts of the items of Company income, gass br deduction available to be specially allotaersuant to Sections 6.2 hereof shall
be determined by applying rules analogous to tiseséorth in subparagraphs (i) through (vi) above.

Purchased Assets. "Purchased Assets" has the rgesstribed thereto in Section 13.2 of this Agreemen
Put Closing. "Put Closing" has the meaning ascritheceto in Section 8.4(b) of this Agreement.
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Put Rejection. "Put Rejection" has the meaningilasdrthereto in Section 8.4(c) of this Agreement.
Redemption Notice. "Redemption Notice" has the nmepascribed thereto in Article 11 of this Agreemen
Regulatory Allocations. "Regulatory Allocations"shéne meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.3isfAgreement.

Regulations. "Regulations" means the Income TaxuRéigns, including Temporary Regulations, promtéglaunder the Code, as such
regulations are amended from time to time.

Rules. "Rules" has the meaning ascribed thereSeation 12.1 of this Agreement.

Scheduled Contributions. "Scheduled Contributidress the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 5.18ioAgreement.
Securities Act. "Securities Act" means the Secasi#ct of 1933, as amended.

Service. "Service" means the Internal Revenue Eervi

Shares. "Shares" means any Class A Membership, @iass B Membership Units or Class C Membershij fdom time to time issued and
outstanding.

Subsequent Business Plan. "Subsequent Businesshakithe meaning ascribed thereto in Section Bet8of.

Tax Matters Member. "Tax Matters Member" means Beason designated as the Tax Matters Member purtu&ection 5.14 hereof.
Tax Statements. "Tax Statements" has the meananigpad thereto in Section 7.3(a) of this Agreement.

Threshold Interest. "Threshold Interest” has thammg ascribed thereto in Section 5.3 of this Agrest.

Transfer. "Transfer" means the sale, assignmentster, disposition, mortgage, pledge, charge oumbrance, or contract to do or permit
any of the foregoing, whether voluntarily or by cgtéon of law.

Transferee. "Transferee" has the meaning ascrimréto in Section 8.3 of this Agreement.
Transfer Notice. "Transfer Notice" has the mearsiagribed thereto in Section 8.3 of this Agreement.
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Valuation Date. "Valuation Date" has the meaningiaed thereto in Section 8.5 of this Agreement.

WWFE. "WWFE" means WWFE Sports, Inc., a Delawangomtion, its

successors or permitted transferees of its enttezdst, as the case may be.

WWFE Call Option. "WWFE Call Option" has the meanascribed thereto in Section 8.4(a) of this Agreein
WWEFE IPO Call Notice. "WWFE IPO Call Notice" hagtmeaning ascribed thereto in Section 14.3 ofAQgieement.
WWEFE IPO Call Option. "WWFE IPO Call Option" hagtmeaning ascribed thereto in Section 14.3 ofAgieement.
WWFE IPO Notice. "WWFE IPO Notice" has the meanasgribed thereto in Section 14.3 of this Agreement.
WWEFE Parent. "WWFE Parent" means World Wrestlinddfation Entertainment, Inc., a Delaware corponatio

XFL Property Rights. "XFL Property Rights" has theaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of thise&grent.
ARTICLE Il

FORMATION, NAME, OFFICES AND PURPOSES; MEMBERS

Section 2.1. Formation. The Company was formed anckl 20, 2000 by the filing of the Certificate witte Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware. Except as otherwise provided in this Agrent, the rights, duties, liabilities and obligas of the Members, and all other Persons
who become members of the Company in the manndéortletherein, and the administration, dissolutimimding up and termination of the
Company shall be governed by the Act.

Section 2.2. Name. The name of the Company is "XEIC". The

Company shall execute a certificate or certificagzgiired by law to be filed in connection with ofgas in the name of the Company or the
conduct of the business of the Company and shafiecauch certificate or certificates to be filedhia appropriate offices.

Section 2.3. Offices. The principal office of ther@pany shall be located at 1241 East Main Stréamfrd, CT 06902. The Company's
registered office and the name of its initial régiied agent at such address shall be as set foittle iCertificate. The Company may have such
substituted and additional offices at such otheations as the Members shall designate. The Congpeayistered office and registered agent
may be changed from time to time by filing the addrof the new registered office and/or the nandelaa acceptance of the new registered
agent with the Delaware Secretary of State pursigaifie Act.
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Section 2.4. Purposes; Power. The purpose of tingp@ny shall be, and the Company shall have the pamg:authority, to establish, deve
and operate a professional football league to lmevkras the "XFL" (the "Business") and to acquirgnpmanage and sell such assets and
properties as may be necessary or convenient imexbion with the operation of the Business. Inydag out these purposes and exercising
these powers, the Company may enter into, makgarfdrm all contracts and other undertakings arghge in all activities and transactions
as may be necessary and proper to operate theeBgsifihe Company shall commence operations notteterthe date hereof. Any change
or expansion of, the purpose or scope of the Basishall require the prior written approval of NB& WWFE.

Section 2.5. Scope of Members' Authority. Exceppthgrwise expressly and specifically providedhiis Agreement, no Member shall have
authority to bind or act for, or assume any oblmad or responsibilities on behalf of, any othemMber or the Company. Neither the
Company nor any Member shall be responsible olditdy any indebtedness or obligation of any otilember incurred or arising either
before or after the execution of this Agreementegt as to such joint responsibilities, liabilitiesdebtedness or obligations incurred after the
date hereof pursuant to a written instrument. Blgeeement shall not be deemed to create a paripessiother affiliation between the
Members with respect to any activities whatsoestirer than activities within the purpose of the @amy as specified in Section 2.4 above.

Section 2.6. Confidential Information. The Compamgd each Member shall not use or disclose to otirereonfidential information receiv
from the Company or any other Member which is ribeowvise available to the public (or any confidehitnformation made available to the
public as a result of a breach of this Agreementhieybreaching party) for any purpose other thahHe benefit of the Company, as
determined by the Board of Managers, or as requayedw.

Section 2.7. Classes of Membership Interests; Nubthorized.

(a) The limited liability company Interests of tiempany (as defined in Section 18-101(8) of the Abtll be represented by the Class A
Membership Units, the Class B Membership Units liedClass C Membership Unit. No additional classlasses of limited liability
company Interests of the Company shall be creatéstoed without the prior approval of the Members.

(b) The total number of Class A Membership Unitst tthe Company shall have the authority to iss@9000. On the date of this
Agreement, 200,000 Class A Membership Units amgeidsand outstanding and held of record by WWFE.tote& number of Class B
Membership Units that the Company shall have thlaity to issue is 400,000. On the date of thise®gnent, 200,000 Class B Membership
Units are issued and outstanding and held of relopMdBC. The total number of Class C Membershipt&/tiiat the Company shall have the
authority to issue is 1. On the date of this Agreetnl Class C Membership Unit is issued and outistg and held of record by WWFE.
Except as specifically provided in this Agreemert,additional Class A Membership Units, Class B Mership Units or Class C
Membership Units shall be issued by the Company.
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Section 2.8. Ancillary Agreements. On the datehaf Agreement, the Company is entering into (i) edhandising and Support Services
Agreement with WWFE Parent (the "Merchandising Agnent") and (ii) a Broadcast Agreement with NBCelRa(the "Broadcast
Agreement").

ARTICLE Il

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Section 3.1. Initial Capital Contribution.

(@) On the date hereof, WWFE has made an initisth €apital Contribution in the amount of $2,500,8602 The Capital Account of WWFE
shall be increased from zero to $2,500,012.50.

(b) On the date hereof, NBC has made an initiah €epital Contribution in the amount of $2,500,@00.The Capital Account of NBC shall
be increased from zero to $2,500,000.00.

Section 3.2. Additional Capital Contributions.

(a) Each Member shall contribute to the capitahef Company (an "Additional Capital Contributioiit§ proportionate share, based on its
Percentage Interest, of the aggregate amount oéddiyional cash contributions called for by theaBbof Managers in accordance with this
Agreement, the Initial Business Plan and any SuleseoBusiness Plan. Except as specifically provitegin, no additional Shares shall be
issued upon receipt of any Additional Capital Citmition.

(b) On approximately a monthly basis, the BoartYlahagers shall send a written notice to each Meroéiing for such Member to make its
proportionate share of the Additional Capital Cimttions then due, as contemplated by the InitizdiBess Plan or any Subsequent Business
Plan, as the case may be. Such notice shall gbt(fpthe aggregate amount of such Additional @dgontributions and (i) each Member's
proportionate share of such Additional Capital Géntions. Additional Capital Contributions in thenounts called for in such notice shall be
made by the Members within five (5) Business DajWwing receipt of such notice from the Board ohivaigers. A failure by the Board of
Managers to make a call for an Additional Capitah@ibution at such time as the same is contemgplagethe Initial Business Plan, any
Subsequent Business Plan or this Agreement shialehieve the Members from their obligations unttes Agreement to make such
Additional Capital Contributions when and as theasanay be called for by the Board of Managers. &lbfor an Additional Capital
Contribution in excess of the amounts called fahim Initial Business Plan or any Subsequent Bgsifdan, as the case may be, shall be
made by the Board of Managers without the priottemi approval of NBC and WWFE.

(c) Upon the failure of a Member (a "Defaulting Meen") to make any Additional Capital Contributi@yuired by this Section (the portion
thereof not contributed by such Defaulting Membein referred to herein as the "Deficiency"), theaRl of Managers shall give written
notice of such failure, including the name of theféulting Member
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and the amount of such Deficiency, to the other Mers (each, a "Non-Defaulting Member"). Each N@efaulting Member may (in additic
to, and not in lieu of, any other rights or remsdiach Non-Defaulting Member may have under thissAment, at law or in equity), in its
sole and absolute discretion, within five (5) Besis Days after receipt of such written notice, ouate all or any portion of such Deficiency
to the capital of the Company (a "Deficiency Cdmition"); provided, however, that if the proposggegate Deficiency Contributions of
two or more Non-Defaulting Members are greater tii@namount of the Deficiency, then, unless such-Nefaulting Members agree on the
amount of the Deficiency Contribution to be madeshgh of them, such Deficiency Contributions shalmade in proportion to such Non-
Defaulting Members' Percentage Interests. In tlemeef any such Deficiency Contribution(s), a numiieadditional Class A Membership
Units or Class B Membership Units, as the case beaghall be issued to the Non-Defaulting Membavilembers making such Deficiency
Contribution(s) (in proportion to the Deficiency @dbution made by each Non-Defaulting Member)tsat the Defaulting Member's
Percentage Interest is reduced by an amount (esqatés terms of a percentage) equal to the qualietermined by dividing (1) the amount
of such Deficiency Contribution(s) by (2) the aggate sum of all Capital Contributions (includingfidiency Contributions) made by all
Members to the Company through the date such additiClass A Membership Units or Class B Memberghifis are issued, and the
aggregate Percentage Interests of the Nefaulting Member or Members making such Deficie@ontribution(s) shall be increased by a
amount (and in proportion to the Deficiency Conitibn made by each Non-Defaulting Member).

Section 3.3. Non Cash Capital Contributions. If Bhembers make any Capital Contributions in a fotheothan cash, the Members shall
execute and deliver to the Company any assignnaent®ther instruments of transfer as may be deemegssary to confirm and carry out
the contributions to capital of the Company.

Section 3.4. Use of Capital Contributions. All ailmtitions to capital of the Company shall be avdédao the Company to carry out the
purposes of the Company.

Section 3.5. Other Source of Funds. Subject toi@est18, the Company may, at the Board of Managlkssretion, from time to time borra
and re-borrow funds (for working capital purposedtiding ordinary course intercompany reimbursesjamider terms and conditions

determined by the Board of Managers, including authimitation, borrowing funds from Members andilMites thereof as well as
institutional lenders. No Member shall be requit@tban money to the Company.

ARTICLE IV

PARTICIPATION IN COMPANY PROPERTY

Section 4.1. Ownership by Member of Company. No Menshall have any right of partition with respecany property or assets of the
Company.

Section 4.2. Return of Capital. Except as expragssiyided herein, no Member shall have the rightémand or receive a distribution of any
capital prior to the
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dissolution of the Company, and no Member shalethihe right to demand and receive property othem ttash in return for any contribution
to the capital of the Company.

Section 4.3. No Interest. No Member shall be ettitb receive any interest with respect to its @Ghfiontributions or Capital Account.
ARTICLE V

MANAGEMENT

Section 5.1. Management by the Board of Managewse|i for situations in which the approval of therwbers, or NBC and/or WWFE
specifically, is required by this Agreement or lpnavaivable provisions of the Act or the approvialh® Broadcast Committee is required
under the Broadcast Agreement, (i) the powers®fdbmpany shall be exercised by or under the atittaff and the business and affairs of
the Company shall be managed under the directioth@Board of Managers; and (ii) the Board of Mgara may make all decisions and take
all actions for the Company not otherwise proviftadn this Agreement or in the Broadcast Agreem#rany action taken by the Board of
Managers conflicts or is inconsistent in any wathveiny action taken by the Broadcast Committeel¢fimed in the Broadcast Agreement)
pursuant to its powers under the Broadcast Agregrttenaction taken by the Broadcast Committed sleatontrolling.

Section 5.2. Actions by Board of Managers. In mamaghe business and affairs of the Company andcestieg its powers granted hereunder,
the Board of Managers may act through meetingsrittenr consents pursuant to Sections 5.5 and Sy.Person dealing with the Company,
other than a Member, may rely on the authority bfamager or any duly appointed officer of the Compin taking any action in the name of
the Company without inquiry into the provisionstios Agreement or compliance herewith, regardiéssh@ther that action actually is taken
in accordance with the provisions of this Agreeméitch Member, by execution of this Agreement, egte, consents to, and acknowledges
the delegation of powers and authority to the Badrslanagers granted hereunder, and to the acéiodslecisions of the Board of Managers
within the scope of their authority as provideddier

Section 5.3. Number and Term of Office. The BodriMlanagers shall consist of three Managers pridhéoConversion Date and on and a
the Conversion Date shall consist of six Manager&r to the Conversion Date, the holders of thaes€IA Membership Units shall be entitled
to designate all three Managers to the Board ofadars. Prior to the Conversion Date, the holdeth®fClass B Membership Units shall be
entitled to designate one individual (the "Obsebvetho shall not be a Manager but who may attehdhaktings of the Board of Managers.
The Observer shall receive all materials and conications as and when received by the Managershaitizave no authority to vote on any
matter presented to the Board of Managers, but Baaé the ability to submit non-binding recommeiaizs to the Board of Managers. On
and after the Conversion Date and so long as €adhFE and NBC owns at least eighty-five percery® of the total number of Shares
owned by it as of the date hereof (subject to gmisie adjustment in the event of any equity disttion, split, combination or other similar
recapitalization) (the "Threshold Interest"), WWS§ikall be entitled to designate three Managersed@thard of Managers and NBC shall be
entitled to designate
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three Managers to the Board of Managers; providediever, that during any time after the Converdate that either or both of WWFE and
NBC own less than the Threshold Interest, NBC dtmkntitled to designate a number (rounded to¢faeest whole number) of Manager:
the Board of Managers that is directly proportienatthe ratio of NBC's Percentage Interest to WWPErcentage Interest and WWFE shall
be entitled to designate a number (rounded to ¢laeast whole number) of Managers to the Board afddars that is directly proportionate
the ratio of WWFE's Percentage Interest to NBCtsdtgage Interest. In the event that any adjusttieeWfWFE's and NBC's representation
on the Board of Managers is required by the immetligpreceding sentence, WWFE or NBC, as the casebms, shall cause an appropriate
number of Managers designated by it to resign fileenBoard of Managers and any vacancy resulting fach resignation(s) shall be filled
by the other such Member. For purposes of thisi®@eét3, the number of Shares owned by, and thEentive Percentage Interests of, NBC
and WWFE shall be deemed to include the SharesaWyeand the Percentage Interests of, their réispeiffiliates. On and after the
Conversion Date, there shall be no Observer. Oraétedthe Conversion Date, the Chairman of ther@ofd Managers shall be a Manager
designated by WWFE and the Vice Chairman of ther@o&Managers shall be a Manager designated by.NlB(the Conversion Date, the
Observer on the Conversion Date, together withadditional individuals designated by NBC, shalldee the initial Managers designated
by NBC. On and after the Conversion Date, all exfiees herein to the Board of Managers shall be dé¢orefer to the full six-member
Board of Managers.

The following persons are the Managers of the Compea of the date hereof and until their succesam@rsluly elected:
Vincent K. McMahon
Linda E. McMahon
August J. Liguori
The following person is the Observer as of the Hateof:
Dick Ebersol

Section 5.4. Vacancies; Removal; Resignation. Amndger may be removed at any time, with or witlwawise, but only by the holders of
the Shares (or the Member, if applicable) who destigd such Manager. In the event that any Manageses to serve as a Manager during
term of office, the resulting vacancy shall beefillby the holders of the Shares (or the Membeamppficable) entitled to appoint the Manager
whose absence has created such vacancy. Any Mamagyeresign his office at any time.

Section 5.5. Meetings.

(a) A majority of the total number of Managers shahstitute a quorum for the transaction of businef the Board of Managers, and the act
of a majority of the Managers present at a meeadinghich a quorum is present shall be necessarguaffidient to be the act of the Board of
Managers. A Manager who is present at a meetirigeoBoard of Managers at which action on any Compaatter is taken shall be
presumed to have assented to

16



the action unless his dissent shall be enterddaeimtinutes of the meeting or unless he shall fdeahitten dissent to such action with the
Person acting as secretary of the meeting beferadfournment thereof or shall deliver such disteitte Company immediately after the
adjournment of the meeting. Such right to disshatisot apply to a Manager who voted in favor efls action. Any Manager who is present
at a meeting of the Board of Managers shall beledtto cast the vote of any Manager who is nos@né and who was appointed by the same
Member as the Manager casting the vote.

(b) Meetings of the Board of Managers may be hekliah place or places as shall be determined firamto time by resolution of the Board
of Managers. At all meetings of the Board of Marragbusiness shall be transacted in such ordéradisfiiom time to time be determined by
resolution of the Board of Managers.

(c) Regular meetings of the Board of Managers dleteld at such times and places as shall berdgsidjfrom time to time by resolution of
the Board of Managers, but shall not be held lesgulently than quarterly. Notice of such meetirftaisot be required.

(d) Special meetings of the Board of Managers negdiled by the Chairman of the Board of Manageeng two Managers on at least 24
hours' notice to each other Manager. Such notied net state the purpose or purposes of, nor thieéss to be transacted at, such meeting,
except as may otherwise be required by law or plexy/ifor in this Agreement.

(e) Any matter upon which the Board of Managemeiadlocked shall be resolved pursuant to the pomgsof Article 12.

Section 5.6. Approval or Ratification of Acts ori@mcts by Members. The Board of Managers in tilisicretion may submit any act or
contract for approval or ratification at any annoespecial meeting of the Members.

Section 5.7. Action by Managers by Written Conseritelephone Conference. Any action permitted quired by the Act, the Certificate or
this Agreement to be taken at a meeting of the @o&Managers may be taken without a meeting rasent in writing, setting forth the
action to be taken, is signed by that number oMhe@agers having not less than the minimum numbeotes that would be necessary to
authorize or take such action at a meeting at wailcklanagers were present and voting. Such corsteit have the same force and effect as
a vote at a meeting and may be stated as suclyidaument or instrument filed with the Secretdr$tate of Delaware, and the executiol
such consent shall constitute attendance or presargerson at a meeting of the Board of Manadiubject to the requirements of the Act,
the Certificate or this Agreement for notice of tiregs, unless otherwise restricted by the Certiicthe Managers may participate in and
hold a meeting of the Board of Managers by mearssaafnference telephone or similar communicatiauspenent by means of which all
Persons participating in the meeting can hear etiwr, and participation in such meeting shall titute attendance and presence in perst
such meeting, except where a Person participatiégeimeeting for the express purpose of objectintgé¢ transaction of any business on the
ground that the meeting is not lawfully called oneened.
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Section 5.8. Conflicts of Interest. Subject to thiger express provisions of this Agreement, eachddar, Member and officer of the
Company at any time and from time to time may ergagnd possess interests in other business esntfiany and every type and
description, independently or with others, withaldigation to offer to the Company or any other Mem Manager or officer the right to
participate therein. The Company may transact legsimvith any Manager, Member, officer or Affilidteereof, provided the terms of those
transactions are no less favorable than those dngp@ny could obtain from unrelated third parties.

Section 5.9. Actions by Members. Regular meetifigh@Members may be held at such places, andchttiues, as the Members may from
time to time determine. No notice of any such nmeesihall be required. Special meetings of the Memb®y be held at any time or place
called by any Member. Notice by letter, telegramiedopy or telephone of a special meeting of thenkkers shall be given by the Member
calling the meeting not less than two (2) Busirieags before the special meeting. The Members meicjpate in a meeting of the Members
by means of conference telephone or similar comaoatioins equipment by means of which all personsqaaiting in the meeting can hear
each other. The Secretary of the Company shall keen minutes of all meetings of the Membersaltmeetings of the Members,
Members holding a majority of the outstanding Clagdembership Units entitled to vote shall congéta quorum for the transaction of
business and shall be necessary and sufficiemnakarg any action, except that where any actiomireg the prior approval of NBC and/or
WWEE, the presence of NBC and/or WWFE, as the wasebe, shall be required to constitute a quorunthie taking of such action. Any
action to be taken by the Members shall requireaffiemative vote of the holders of a majority dff the outstanding Class A Membership
Units present in person or by proxy and entitleddte, except as otherwise specially provided is fgreement (e.g., where the prior
approval of NBC and/or WWFE is required). Each koldf outstanding Class A Membership Units shalkkbttled to one vote for each Cl:

A Membership Units held by that Member at each imgeif Members (and written actions in lieu of niegs$) with respect to any and all
matters presented to the Members for their actioosideration and on which they are entitleddtevHolders of Class B Membership
Units and the Class C Membership Unit shall notibiitled to vote on any action presented to the bk, except as required by law or by
the provisions of this Agreement. Any action reqdior permitted to be taken at any meeting of tleenldlers may be taken without a meeting
if a consent in writing, setting forth the actianlie taken, is signed by that number of Memberiflehto vote thereon having not less thar
minimum number of votes that would be necessagnuthorize or take such action at a meeting at whilcbuch Members were present and
voting (including, in cases where the prior appt@faa Member is required, the approval of the isiggt Member(s)). No Member shall be
prohibited from voting on a matter solely becadserhatter relates to such Member or an Affiliatswth Member. No contract, action or
transaction will be void or voidable with respexthhe Company because it is between or affect€tmpany and one or more of its Members
or their Affiliates regardless of whether any of ttonditions set forth in Section 18-107 of the Aate been met. Any matter upon which the
Members are deadlocked shall be resolved pursaahetprovisions of Article 12.

Section 5.10. Officers. Subject to the rights anttharity of the Board of Managers, the day-to-dpgrations of the Company shall be run by
the officers of the Company who will be electedthy Board of Managers. The officers shall condist Bresident, one or

18



more Vice Presidents, a Secretary and a Treasnmdnmnay consist of such other officers (includinghief Financial Officer) and assistant
officers as the Board of Managers may determinehedficer or assistant officer shall serve atptemasure of the Board of Managers. The
compensation of all officers and assistant officdall be fixed by, or pursuant to authority detegaby, the Board of Managers from time to
time. Any two or more offices may be held by thenegerson.

(A) President. The President shall be the chietetiee officer of the Company and shall have gelnemd active charge and control over the
business and affairs of the Company, subject toteesight of the Board of Managers.

(B) Vice President. The Vice President or, if thelhall be more than one, the Vice Presidents,arotlder of their seniority unless otherwise
specified by the Board of Managers, shall havefalhe powers and perform all of the duties ofliesident during his absence or inability to
act. Each Vice President shall also have such gihwers and perform such other duties as shalléscpbed from time to time by the Board
of Managers or the President.

(C) Secretary. The Secretary shall keep a recotdeofninutes of the proceedings of meetings oMbeenbers and the Board of Managers,
shall give notice of all such meetings as requingdthe Act or this Agreement. The Secretary shaliehcustody of the seal of the Company
and of all books, records, and papers of the Compatcept such as shall be in the charge of thasimer or of some other Person authorized
to have custody and possession thereof by resolofithe Board of Managers. The Secretary shall laés’e such other powers and perform
such other duties as are incident to the offickhefsecretary of a limited liability company orsdll be prescribed from time to time by, or
pursuant to authority delegated by, the Board ofiddgers or the President.

(D) Treasurer. The Treasurer shall keep full armieate accounts of the receipts and disbursemétite @ompany in books belonging to the
Company, shall deposit all moneys and other vatueafiects of the Company in the name and to thaitooéthe Company in such
depositories as may be designated by the Boardaofalgers, and shall also have such other powerpafamm such other duties as are
incident to the office of the treasurer of a linditéability company or as shall be prescribed friamme to time by, or pursuant to authority
delegated by, the Board of Managers or the Presiden

The following officers of the Company shall sertdhe pleasure of the Board of Managers until teeacessors are elected: PresideBasil
DeVito; Vice President, Football Operations -- MaethKeller; Vice President, Administration -Williakticks; Vice President, Finance, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer - August Liguorgc®etary -Linda McMahon.
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Section 5.11. Bank Accounts. Only the Treasurdri®designees in accordance with authorizationscandfile with the Company's banks
may sign checks on behalf of the Company.

Section 5.12. Compensation. Except as otherwiseeesly provided in this Agreement, no Managers fiitidte of any Managers shall be

entitled to any compensation from the Company aeimbursement for expenses incurred in conneetitimthe business or affairs of the
Company, except with the prior approval of the Mgera. The Company shall pay the reasonable oubdiegi expenses incurred by each
Manager and Observer in connection with attendiegneetings of the Board of Managers.

Section 5.13. Activity of Members; Football Redinos. Except as specifically set forth in this t8#t 5.13 or pursuant to Section 8.4, no
Member or any Affiliate thereof shall be prohibitedm engaging in any other business or activityistue of its status as a Member in the
Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither NBE WWFE (nor any Affiliate of either of the for@gg) shall, directly or indirectly,
own, operate or broadcast via television (othen thighlights of any length for use in any formaneoedia) any teams, games or other events
of a professional football league or own or opeeaggofessional football league (it being expresglyeed that the National Football League,
Inc. ("NFL") is excluded as it relates to this Sewt5.13 and that, accordingly, nothing in this égment will prohibit any Member (or any of
its Affiliates) from owning, operating or broaddagtany NFL team, game or other event).

Section 5.14. Tax Matters Member. The Tax Matteesrider shall be WWFE. The Tax Matters Member stalktthe responsibility of a tax
matters partner specified under the Code. The Tattdvs Member shall immediately notify all Membefsany action taken by the Service
relating to an audit or review of the Company'sfediincome tax filings and shall keep all Memhkafermed of the status of any such
proceedings. Each Member shall have the right tgizate in such proceedings at such Member's expense. The Tax Matters Member
shall not enter into any agreement with the Serwibeeh purports to bind any Member without firstaning the consent of such Member.
The Company shall reimburse the Tax Matters Merfdreall expenses reasonably incurred in connedtibh its duties hereunder.

Section 5.15. Reliance on Acts of the ManagersfitNncial institution or other Person dealing wath officer or another agent or attorney-in-
fact for the Board of Managers will be requiredaszertain whether the officer or such represemtatithe Board of Managers is an
authorized agent acting in accordance with thise&grent, but such financial institution or such oferson will be protected in relying sol
upon the deed, transfer or assurances or on thoeitxe of such instrument or instruments by théceff a Manager or any authorized agent
thereof.

Section 5.16. Rights and Obligations of Membersdpk as expressly set forth in this Agreement andated by the Act, no Member shall
have any liability to the Company in excess of sMigmber's Capital Contributions, and no Memberldieale any liability to any other
Member for the return or repayment of the Capitahi@ibutions of such other Member or for the repaptrof any loan by such other Mem
to the Company. No Member shall be required totpaiie Company or any other Member any deficituiahsother Member's Capital
Account (upon dissolution or otherwise). A Membélt mot be personally liable for any debts
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or losses of the Company beyond the Member's didigander Article Il to make Capital Contributi®mor as otherwise required by the Act.
Section 5.17. Indemnity of the Managers, OfficEnsiployees, an®ther Agents.

(a) The Company shall indemnify, to the fullestesttnow or hereafter permitted by law, each ManagerObserver (including each former
Manager and Observer) of the Company who was miaide a party to or a witness in or is threatendzbtmade a party to or a witness in any
threatened, pending or completed action or proogedvhether civil, criminal, administrative or irst@ative, by reason of the fact that such
Person is or was an authorized representativeedCttimpany, against all expenses (including att@'rfegs and disbursements), judgments,
fines (including excise taxes and penalties) anduats paid in settlement actually and reasonalalyried by such Person in connection with
such action or proceeding.

(b) The Company shall pay all expenses (includitgraeys' fees and disbursements) incurred by aalgl@mnor Observer (including a former
Manager or Observer) referred to in Section 5.1@éagof in defending or appearing as a withessynaetion or proceeding described in
Section 5.17(a) hereof in advance of the final aé#jion of such action or proceeding upon recef@roundertaking by or on behalf of such
Person to repay all amounts advanced if it is @taty determined that he or she is not entitlebetindemnified by the Company as provided
in Section 5.17(d) hereof.

(c) The Company shall, unless otherwise determioyechutual agreement of NBC and WWFE, indemnifyhte tullest extent now or hereal
permitted by law, any Person who was or is madarey po or a witness in or is threatened to be nsgarty to or a witness in, or was or is
otherwise involved in, any threatened, pendingamngleted action or proceeding, whether civil, criedj administrative or investigative, by
reason of the fact that such Person is or was tnoared representative of the Company, both astion in such Person's official capacity
and as to action in another capacity at the Compaayguest while holding such office or positiogaiast all expenses (including attorneys'
fees and disbursements), judgments, fines (inctudktise taxes and penalties), and amounts paietilement actually and reasonably
incurred by such Person in connection with suctoadr proceeding. The Company shall, unless ottserdetermined by mutual agreement
of NBC and WWFE, pay expenses incurred by any ®erlson by reason of his or her participation imetion or proceeding referred to in
this Section 5.17(c) in advance of the final disfims of such action or proceeding upon receipafundertaking by or on behalf of such
Person to repay such amount if it shall ultimatedydetermined that he or she is not entitled tmtéemnified by the Company as provided in
Section 5.17(d) hereof.

(d) Indemnification under this Section shall notrbade by the Company in any case where a countndietes that the alleged act or failure to
act giving rise to the claim for indemnification s expressly prohibited by the Act or any sucoessatute as in effect at the time of such
alleged action or failure to take action, (ii) ctnges willful misconduct, bad faith, gross neglige or reckless disregard of a Person's duties
or (iii) is
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outside the scope of such Person's duties perfoimigid or her official capacity or in another cejpyat the Company's request.

(e) The Company may purchase and maintain insurameehalf of any Person who is or was a ManagandDbserver, or is or was an
authorized representative of the Company, agamgstiability asserted against or incurred by suelsBn in any such capacity, or arising out
of the status of such Person as such, whethertagheacCompany would have the power to indemnifyhsBerson against such liability under
the provisions of this Section.

() Each Manager and Observer shall be deemed o aach capacity in reliance upon such rightsxdémnification and advancement of
expenses as are provided in this Section. Thesrighindemnification and advancement of expensesiged by this Section shall not be
deemed exclusive of any other rights to which aegsé&n seeking indemnification or advancement oéagps may be entitled under any
agreement, statute or otherwise, both as to astisnch Person's official capacity and as to adticemother capacity at the Company's rec
while holding such office or position, and shalhtinue as to a Person who has ceased to be arriaatheepresentative of the Company and
shall inure to the benefit of the heirs and perkogfaresentatives of such Person. Indemnificatimh @&lvancement of expenses under this
Article shall be provided whether or not the inddied liability arises or arose from any threatengeinding or completed action by or in the
right of the Company. Any repeal or modificationthis Article shall not adversely affect any rigintprotection existing at the time of such
repeal or modification to which any Person may titled under this Section.

(9) For purposes of this Section, references te @Gbmpany" shall include all constituent limiteablility companies, corporations or other
entities absorbed in a consolidation, merger oisitin, as well as the surviving or new limited lidlp companies, corporations or other
entities surviving or resulting therefrom, so tfipany Person who is or was an authorized reptasea of a constituent, surviving or new
limited liability company, corporation or other éptshall stand in the same position under the igions of this Section with respect to the
surviving or new limited liability company, corpdi@n or other entity as such Person would if heler had served the surviving or new
limited liability company, corporation or other éntin the same capacity and (ii) any Person whariwas an authorized representative of the
Company shall stand in the same position undepttbeisions of this Section with respect to the sang or new limited liability company,
corporation or other entity as such Person woutt véspect to the Company if its separate existbadecontinued.

(h) For the purposes of this Section, the termHarited representative” shall mean a Manager, @bgesfficer, employee or agent of the
Company or of any subsidiary of the Company, austée, custodian, administrator, committeemaidoicfary of any employee benefit plan
established and maintained by the Company or bysahgidiary of the Company, or a Person servingreme@orporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise in any of thedoing capacities at the request of the Company.

(i) No Member shall have any obligation to indergrahy other Member, Manager, Observer, officer, leyge, agent or other authorized
representative of the Company under any circumstanc
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() No Member, Manager, Observer, officer, Compamployee or Affiliate of any of the foregoing oethrespective agents and/or the legal
representatives of any of them shall be liablenyp lember, the Company or any other Person forakést of judgment or for action or
inaction which such Member, Manager, ObserverceffiCompany employee, Affiliate, agent or legaresentative reasonably believed to
be in or not opposed to the best interests of ra@any unless such action or inaction constitutéi&ilymisconduct, bad faith, gross
negligence or reckless disregard of, or is outdidescope of, his or its duties and, with respeetrty criminal action, such party reasonably
believes his conduct was lawful. Each Member, Olesesind Manager may (on its own behalf or on tHealfef any representative, any
Affiliates of such Member or their respective agesnnd/or legal representatives of any of them) womsth counsel, accountants and other
experts in respect of the Company's affairs antl 8iarson shall be fully protected and justifieéuiry action or inaction which is taken in
accordance with the advice or opinion of such celjreecountants or other experts. Notwithstandimgat the foregoing to the contrary, the
provisions of this Section shall not be construedsto relieve (or attempt to relieve) (i) anygderof any liability, to the extent (but only to
the extent) that such liability may not be waivethdified or limited under applicable law, but sHadl construed so as to effectuate the
provisions of this Section to the fullest extentrpitted by law or (ii) any Member of any liabilifgr the breach of any contract related to the
Business, including, without limitation, this Agraent.

Section 5.18. Member Protective Provisions. Notstahding any other provision of this Agreement® ¢ontrary, at any time when eithel
WWFE or NBC (together with their respective Affikg) (a) has less than three

(3) Managers designated by it to the Board of Menaignd (b) has a Percentage Interest greatefiftem percent (15%), the Company sl
not take any of the following actions without thiop written approval of such Member:

(a) Issue any additional membership Interest, grright to acquire any membership Interest, in@Goenpany to any Person (except in
accordance with Section 3.2 of this Agreement);

(b) Incur or guarantee any obligation or liabilffixed or contingent) for borrowed money such ttmet Company has, individually or in the
aggregate, in excess of $1,000,100 of indebtedmeamounts guaranteed outstanding at any time;

(c) Transfer or acquire assets that, individuatlynahe aggregate, have a book value in exce$4,600,100;

(d) Merge or consolidate with any other Personnyagie in any recapitalization, reclassificatiomyrganization or any other extraordinary
corporate transaction;

(e) Pledge, mortgage, grant a security interest permit the placing of a lien or encumbrance lboraany part of the assets of the Company
other than in the ordinary course of the Compaby&ness;

(f) Enter into or modify the terms of any agreem@entengage in any transaction or enter into argngement, understanding or commitment,
with any Member or any Affiliate of any Member;

23



(g) Settle any litigation or other proceeding inigththe amount involved exceeds $2,000,000;

(h) Confess a judgment against the Company in adimmewith any threatened or pending legal actegcute or deliver any assignment for
the benefit of creditors of the Company, authotieefiling of a bankruptcy petition, consent to fiiemg of an involuntary bankruptcy

petition, consent to the appointment of a trusteegiver or liquidator of all or substantially afithe Company's assets or, except as expressly
permitted pursuant to Section 8.4(c), voluntaiidylidate the Company; and

(i) Make any decision which affects the calculata§rCapital Accounts, Depreciation or Gross Assellié or make or not make any election
for federal, state, local or non-U.S. tax matters.

Section 5.19. Subsequent Business Plan. At legstffee (45) days prior to the end of each Fis¢aar beginning with the Fiscal Year end
April 30, 2002, the President shall present toBbard of Managers for its approval an annual opggdiudget and capital budget for the
Company for the next Fiscal Year (each, a "SubsggBesiness Plan"). Each Subsequent Business R#inbe in substantially the form of
the Initial Business Plan and shall contain, amathgr things, a quarterly schedule of Additionapifa Contributions that the Company
expects to need during the next Fiscal Year (angithmhal Capital Contributions contained in thetili Business Plan and each Subsequent
Business Plan being hereinafter referred to as3bbkeduled Contributions"). Notwithstanding anyesthprovision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all Scheduled Contributions, and any rfication of the Initial Business Plan or any Suhsst Business Plan so as to increase by
more than 5%

(whether by a single modification or a series ofifications with such effect)

the total amount of any Scheduled Contribution$wéispect to any fiscal quarter of the Company,tinesipproved by each of WWFE and
NBC; provided, however, that if either WWFE or NEdils to approve any of the foregoing matters im ithmediately preceding sentence
the Board of Managers determines, in the exerdiis ceasonable judgment, that the Company regudslitional funds in excess of the
Members' Capital Contributions and any Scheduledti@utions that have been approved by WWFE and NBéh WWFE and/or NBC mi
agree to lend the Company up to a combined aggred&5 million (but subject to the limitation theich $5 million amount shall be the
maximum outstanding balance of all such loans nyd&WFE and/or NBC pursuant to this Section 5.18rst given time) on terms that,
taken as a whole, are at least as favorable t€dmepany as the terms that could then have beemeltm an arm's length negotiation from a
party that is not a Member or an Affiliate of a Meen. If both NBC and WWFE desire to make such Idartke Company but are unable to
agree on the amount that each such Member will tertdle Company, such loans shall be made in ptigpoto their then respective
Percentage Interests (which, for purposes of taiién 5.19, shall be deemed to include the Pegsigeninterests of their respective Affiliate
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ARTICLE VI

DISTRIBUTIONS; ALLOCATIONS OF PROFITS AND
LOSSES FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES

Section 6.1. Distributions.

(a) General. Except as otherwise provided hereaBoard of Managers, acting in good faith anduimhierance of the purpose of the
Company, shall have sole discretion as to the atsamd timing of distributions to Members and disttions to Members shall be in
proportion to the Members' Percentage Interests.

(b) Tax Distributions. The Board of Managers shak its best efforts to estimate the EstimatedArarunt for each fiscal quarter of the
Company prior to the close of such fiscal quaded shall make distributions to each Member inranunt equal to the Estimated Tax
Amount for that period not later than the thirti¢8@th) day following the close of the fiscal qeartThe Board of Managers shall, subject to
any applicable covenants and restrictions contaiimélte Company's loan agreements and other agréemeobligations to which the
Company or its properties are subject, use itsdfésits to ensure that the Estimated Tax Amouatldie distributed to each Member. At the
close of the Fiscal Year, the Board of Managerd shake proper adjustments as may be necessang tarhounts of such distributions to
reconcile the final Estimated Tax Amount as ofdlase of the Fiscal Year with the projected Estadatax Amount previously distributed to
each Member with respect to such Fiscal Year.

(c) Property Distributions. Except as otherwisevided in the Broadcast Agreement, the Board of Manamay not distribute to the
Members any property of the Company (other thah)oaithout the prior approval of the Members. Ampgerty so distributed to the
Members shall be distributed to the Members in edaace with their respective Percentage Interpstsided, however, that so long as
WWFE is a Member, the XFL logo, all related Tradeksaand Trademark applications, the XFL URL andbtiler intellectual property rights
related to the XFL (the "XFL Property Rights") dhadt be distributed in kind to any Member untiéttissolution of the Company pursuan
Article 1X, and then shall be distributed only to/MFE upon such dissolution provided that WWFE (i haPercentage Interest of at least ten
percent (10%) immediately prior to such dissolutom (ii) pays to the Company the fair market valtithe XFL Property Rights as
determined by an appraiser selected by the Liqoidat

(d) Priority Distributions. No later than the 3@thy after the end of each Fiscal Year, the Boaftdariagers shall use its best efforts to ensure
that a distribution is made to the Class C Membprsimit holder of record in an amount equal to ¢ixeess of (i) the cumulative Priority
Return from the inception of the Company to the ehsluch Fiscal Year, over (ii) the sum of all pritistributions made to the Class C
Membership Unit holder of record. Accrual and pagbt the Priority Return in any Fiscal Year is tingent upon the Company recogniz

a net Profit (determined without regard to claus® ¢f the definition of Profit) in the Fiscal Ye#&o which such Priority Return relates.
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Section 6.2. Allocations.

(a) Profits and Losses. After giving effect to #pecial allocations set forth in Section 6.2(bhffes and Losses for any Fiscal Year shall be
allocated to the Members in proportion to theird@aetage Interests.

(b) Special Allocations.
The following special allocations shall be madéhia following order:

(i) Minimum Gain Chargeback. Except as otherwisavigled in Section 1.704-2(f) of the Regulationgwithstanding any other provisions of
this Section 6.2, if there is a net decrease in @ Minimum Gain during any Fiscal Year, each Memdhall be specially allocated items
of Company income and gain for such Fiscal Yead (§mecessary, subsequent Fiscal Years) in aruatregual to such Member's share of
the net decrease in Company Minimum Gain, detemhin@ccordance with Regulations Section 1.704-Zdcations pursuant to the
previous sentence shall be made in proportiongaelpective amounts required to be allocateddb Bember pursuant thereto. The item
be so allocated shall be determined in accordaiitesections 1.704-2(f)(6) and 1.704-2(j)(2) of fRegulations. This Section 6.2(b)(i) is
intended to comply with the minimum gain chargebaiuirement in Section 1.704-2(f) of the Regulasiand shall be interpreted
consistently therewith.

(i) Member Minimum Gain Chargeback. Except as othge provided in Section 1.704-2(i)(4) of the Rigions, notwithstanding any other
provision of this Section 6.2, if there is a net@@se in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gairbattable to a Member Nonrecourse
Debt during any Fiscal Year, each Member who hsisaae of the Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gtiibatable to such Member
Nonrecourse Debt, determined in accordance withicGes.70« 2(i)(5) of the Regulations, shall be speciallpahted items of Company
income and gain for such Fiscal Year (and, if ne@gs subsequent Fiscal Years) in an amount equaldh Member's share of the net
decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt, determinaddardance with Regulations Section 1.704-2(iydlpcations pursuant to the previous
sentence shall be made in proportion to the resgeaimounts required to be allocated to each Membesuant thereto. The items to be so
allocated shall be determined in accordance witti@es 1.704-2(i)(4) and 1.704-2(j)(2) of the Reggidns. This

Section 6.2(b)(ii) is intended to comply with thénfimum gain chargeback requirement in Section 1-Z@QW{4) of the Regulations and shall
be interpreted consistently therewith.

(i) Qualified Income Offset. In the event any Mber unexpectedly receives any adjustments, allmesibr distributions described in
Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), 1.704-
1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5), or 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6) of thRegulations, items of Company income and gaitl sbapecially
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allocated to such Member in an amount and manriécisat to eliminate, to the extent required by tRegulations, the Adjusted Capital
Account Deficit of the Member as quickly as possijlgrovided that an allocation pursuant to thisiBed.2(b)(iii) shall be made only if and
to the extent that the Member would have an Adfu§&apital Account Deficit after all other allocat®provided for in this Section 6.2 have
been tentatively made as if this Section 6.2(B)\ire not in the Agreement.

(iv) Gross Income Allocation. In the event any Mamhas a deficit Capital Account at the end of Bisgal Year which is in excess of the
sum of (i) the amount such Member is obligatedegiare pursuant to the penultimate sentences afl&é&ms Sections 1.704-2(g)(1) and
1.704-2(i)(5), each such Member shall be specallbcated items of Company income and gain in theunt of such excess as quickly as
possible, provided that an allocation pursuanhi® $ection 6.2(b)(iv) shall be made only if andhe extent that such Member would have a
deficit Capital Account in excess of such sum adléother allocations provided for in this Sect®2 have been made as if Section 6.2(b)(iii)
and this Section 6.2(b)(iv) were not in the Agreatne

(v) Nonrecourse Deductions. Nonrecourse Deductionany Fiscal Year shall be specially allocatetht®s Members in proportion to their
respective Percentage Interests.

(vi) Member Nonrecourse Deductions. Any Member Naourse Deductions for any Fiscal Year shall beiapg allocated to the Member
who bears the economic risk of loss with respetihiéoMember Nonrecourse Debt to which such Memhmrécourse Deductions are
attributable in accordance with Regulations Sectigi94-2(i)(1).

(vii) Section 754 Adjustments. To the extent aruatpent to the adjusted tax basis of any Compasstasursuant to Code Section 734(b) or
Code Section 743(b) is required, pursuant to Reiguis.

Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(2) or 1.704-1(b)(2)(w)(4), to be taken into account in determiningi@d Accounts as the result of a
distribution to a Member in complete liquidationsafch Member's Interest in the Company, the amofusiich adjustment to Capital
Accounts shall be treated as an item of gain @éfatjustment increases the basis of the assai3®(if the adjustment decreases such basis)
and such gain or loss shall be specially allocaddtie Members in accordance with their Interasthié Company in the event Regulations
Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(2) applies, or to tlember to whom such distribution was made in thenéRegulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)

(iv)(m)(4) applies.

(viii) Priority Return. The Class C Membership Usiitall be allocated items of income in an amoungétp the Priority Return accrued
during the Fiscal Year.

27



(ix) Certain Correlative Adjustments. In the evdrdt the taxable income of a Member in respecttodigsaction between a Member and the
Company is increased by any taxing authority (pamsto Section 482 of the Code or otherwise), aawarhof the correlative deduction equal
to the amount of such increase shall be specilitigated to such Member.

(c) Other Allocation Rules.

(i) For purposes of determining the Profits, Losgesany other items allocable to any period, Rspfiosses, and any such other items she¢
determined on a daily, monthly, or other basigjetermined by the Board of Managers using any ssilsie method under Code Section 706
and the Regulations thereunder.

(i) The Members are aware of the income tax conseges of the allocations made by this Sectiormbd2hereby agree to be bound by the
provisions of this Section 6.2 in reporting thdiages of Company income and loss for income tagqses.

(d) Tax Allocations.
(i) Section 704(b) Allocations.

(A) Each item of income, gain, loss, deduction redd for federal income tax purposes which coroesis to an item of income, gain, loss or
expense that is either taken into account in comguRrofits or Losses or specially allocated punta Section

6.2(b) (a "Book Item") shall be allocated amongMembers in the same proportions as the correspgrigtbok Item is allocated among th
pursuant to Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b).

(B) If the Company recognizes Depreciation Recap(as defined below) in respect of the sale of@mpany asset:

(i) the portion of the gain on such sale whichliscated to a Member pursuant to Sections 6.2(&) 2(b) shall be treated as consisting of a
portion of the Company's Depreciation Recapturéhersale and a portion of the balance of the Coyipaain on such sale under principles
consistent with Regulations Section 1.1245-1; and

(i) if, for federal income tax purposes, the Compaecognizes both "unrecaptured 1250 gain" (améefin Section 1(h) of the Code) and
gain treated as ordinary income under

Section 1250(a) of the Code in respect of suchtkalamount treated as Depreciation Recapture Betdion 6.2(d)(i)(B)(i) shall be
comprised of a proportionate share of both suchgygd gain.
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(iiif) For purposes of Section 6.2(d)(i)(B) "Depratibn Recapture" means the portion of any gain frleendisposition of an asset of the
Company which, for federal income tax purposes,i¢Ajeated as ordinary income under Section 124BeoCode, (B) is treated as ordinary
income under Section 1250 of the Code, or (C) is€aaptured 1250 gain" as such term is defineaeati@ 1(h) of the Code.

(if) Section 704(c) Allocations. In the event ampperty of the Company is credited to the Capitat@dunt of a Member at a value other than
its tax basis (whether as a result of a contrilsutibsuch property or a revaluation of such prgppursuant to clause

(i) of the definition of Gross Asset Value), thaltocations of taxable income, gain, loss and déduogs with respect to such property shall be
made in a manner which will comply with Section #)%f the Code and the Regulations thereunder.Gdgrapany, with the consent of all
Members, may make "curative" or "remedial" allocasi (within the meaning of the Regulations undeitie 704(c) of the Code) including,
but not limited to:

(A) "curative" allocations which offset the effaaftthe "ceiling rule" for a prior Fiscal Year (withthe meaning of Regulations
Section 1.704-3(c)(3)(ii)); and

(B) "curative" allocations from dispositions of ¢dhuted property (within the meaning of Regulatd@ection 1.704-3(c)(3)(iii)(B)).

(iiif) Other Provisions. The tax allocations madeguant to this Section 6.2(d) shall be solely &t purposes and shall not affect any
Member's Capital Account or share of non-tax aliece or distributions under this Agreement.

(e) Tax Elections. Upon the request of a transfefeghares or a distributee of a Company distrdsytthe Company shall make the election
provided for in Section 754 of the Code.

Section 6.3. Curative Allocations. The allocatises forth in Sections 6.2(b)(i), 6.2(b)(ii), 6.2(b), 6.2(b)(iv), 6.2(b)(v), 6.2(b)(vi), 6.2(b)

(vii) and 6.4 (the "Regulatory Allocations") ardénded to comply with certain requirements of tlegiations. It is the intent of the Memhb
that, to the extent possible, all Regulatory Altimas shall be offset either with other Regulatatpcations or with special allocations of
other items of Company income, gain, loss or dadngiursuant to this Section 6.3. Therefore, ndtstanding any other provision of this
Article 6 (other than the Regulatory Allocationg)e Members jointly shall make such offsetting splealocations of Company income, gain,
loss or deduction in whatever manner that the Membetermine appropriate so that, after such diifigeallocations are made, each
Member's Capital Account balance is, to the expassible, equal to the Capital Account balance $ember would have had if the
Regulatory Allocations were not part of the Agreatrend all Company items were allocated pursuaBetdions 6.2(a), 6.2(b)(viii) and 6.2

(0)(ix).
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Section 6.4. Loss Limitation. Losses allocated pans to Section 6.2(a) hereof shall not exceedrtheimum amount of Losses that can be
allocated without causing any Member to have arugtgid Capital Account Deficit at the end of anyckisrear. In the event some but not all
of the Members would have Adjusted Capital Accdbeficits as a consequence of an allocation of Logsesuant to Section 6.2(a) hereof,
the limitation set forth in this

Section 6.4 shall be applied on a Member-by-Menhlasis and Losses not allocable to any Member asudt of such limitation shall be
allocated to the other Members in accordance wighpbsitive balances in such Members' Capital Astso as to allocate the maximum
permissible Losses to each Member under

Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) of the Regulations.

ARTICLE VII

ACCOUNTING

Section 7.1. Books and Records.

(a) The Board of Managers, or its designee, skepkbooks of account in which will be entered falhd accurately every transaction of the
Company. The books of account shall be kept oraticeual method of accounting and in accordance GARP.

(b) Such books of account, together with all cqgoeglence, papers and other documents, shall beakepth offices of the Company as the
Board of Managers shall designate and shall, upasanable notice to the Board of Managers, be tupve examination of any Member,
Manager or its authorized representatives whoheilpermitted to make copies of all or any partéb&at such Member's or Manager's cost.

(c) If the Federal income tax return of any Memiseaudited, investigated, reviewed, or questionethb Service, the Tax Matters Member
shall provide all books, records and other necgssaancial information regarding the Company whislin its possession, or can be obtained
by the Tax Matters Member, to such Member.

Section 7.2. Fiscal Year. To the extent permittgd€bde Section 706 and the Regulations promulgite@under, the Fiscal Year and the tax
year of the Company shall begin upon the commenntofahe existence of the Company and shall exgirépril 30 thereaftel

Section 7.3. Reports.

(a) The Board of Managers shall have prepared atpgaay expense, documents containing: (i) IntermaleRue Service Form K-1 or similar
form as may be required by the Service statingtbmber's allocation of income, gain, loss or créglithe fiscal year annually (“Tax
Statements") (if and so long as the Company isctaxeler Subchapter K of the Code); (i) monthly a@ement reports (to consist of an
unaudited profit and loss statement, an unaudtedreent of cash flows and an unaudited conderslaade sheet as of and for the month
and year-to-date period then ended) ("Monthly Mamagnt Reports"); and (iii) financial statementddbeae sheet, statement of profits or
losses, Members' equity, and changes in finanaisitipn) on a quarterly and annual basis, whichl iea
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prepared in accordance with GAAP and shall prefsgrty the financial condition and results of opwas of the Company as of the end of
and for the period covered thereby ("Financial Stegnts"). The quarterly Financial Statements giraent the quarterly and year-to-date
results of operations of the Company, contain apamative analysis to the same periods in the igecal Year and be certified by the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. The annual Finah8tatements shall be both unaudited and cettifiethe Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, as well as audited and certified by them@any's independent public accountants. Tax Statenskall be distributed within ninety
(90) days after the close of each Fiscal Year. Migrilanagement Reports shall be distributed withianty one (21) days after each calel
month. The Financial Statements with respect tditeethree fiscal quarters of the Company shaldistributed within forty-five (45) days
after the close of each such fiscal quarter andrthancial Statements with respect to the fourbdi quarter of the Company and the full
Fiscal Year shall be distributed within ninety (2a)ys after the close of each Fiscal Year.

(b) The Board of Managers, at Company expensel, chiade to be prepared and timely filed with appedp federal and state regulatory and
administrative bodies, all reports required to ikslfwith such entities under then-current appliedaws, rules and regulations. Such reports
shall be prepared on the accounting or reportirsish@quired by such regulatory bodies. Any Mendbetl be provided with a copy of any
such report upon request and without expense to Bieéenber. The Board of Managers shall cause atinrectax information returns for the
Company to be prepared and, following review armgteyal by NBC, timely filed with the appropriatetharities. The Board of Managers
hereby designates Deloitte & Touche LLP as thepeddent public accountants for the Company; sudbgandent public accountants may
not be discharged or otherwise replaced withouafiroval of the Board of Managers.

(c) The Tax Matters Member shall give notice toMdimbers of any audit or review of the Companyli® $ervice and shall make such
additional reports to all the Members as are reasigmecessary to keep them informed of the staftasy such review or audit and any
negotiations, proposed settlements or litigatidatesl thereto and shall inform the Members of tlemner in which they may opt out of any
proposed settlements.

ARTICLE VI

SALE, TRANSFER, AND ADMISSION

Section 8.1. General.

(a) WWFE Holding Period. Except as expressly pdaditn this Agreement, WWFE shall not Transfemalany portion of the Shares held
it prior to the earlier to occur of (i) June 1, 208 (ii) the termination of the Broadcast Agreettreamd NBC Parent's obligations thereunder.

(b) NBC Holding Period. Except as expressly pemiin this Agreement, NBC shall not Transfer alany portion of the Shares held by it
prior to the earlier
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to occur of (i) December 31, 2002 or (ii) the temation of the Broadcast Agreement and NBC Parebtigations thereunder.

Section 8.2. Transfers to Affiliates. NotwithstamgliSection 8.1 of this Agreement, any Member magng time, Transfer all (but not less
than all) of the Shares held by it to an Affiliatiesuch Member; provided that any such transfelned automatically be bound by the terms of
this Agreement and shall be required as a condjtienedent to the consummation of such Transfirtdn and execute and deliver a copy
of this Agreement to the Members as a party toAlgieement. No Transfer of Shares shall relieverduesferring Member of any duty,
responsibility or obligation hereunder. Notwithstarg the foregoing, any Transfer pursuant to thEsti®n 8.2 which, alone or together with
previous Transfers, causes a termination of the 2oy pursuant to Section 708 of the Code shallirege prior written consent of the
Members.

Section 8.3. Right of First Refusal. If a Membére(tOffering Member") desires to Transfer (othearthio an Affiliate pursuant to Section 8.2
or in a public offering registered under the Se@siAct) all or any portion of the Shares heldthyhe "Offered Interest”), and such Transfer
is otherwise permitted by the terms of this Agreetntihe Offering Member shall first deliver a weitt notice (the "Transfer Notice") to the
Company and the other Members (such other Memtier$Offered Members") indicating that the Offeribig@mber desires to Transfer such
Shares. Each Offered Member shall have until tter taf (i) thirty (30) Business Days from the d#ite Offer Notice is given and (ii) five (5)
Business Days after the Fair Market Value of thief@fl Interest is determined pursuant to Sectibr(fich period, the "Offer Period") in
which to notify the Offering Member in writing whdr it elects to purchase all (but not less th§rodits pro rata share (based on the
percentage such Offered Member's Shares bear agtivegate number of Shares held by all Membegs dilan the Offering Member) of the
Offered Interest for an aggregate cash purchase pgual to the Fair Market Value of its pro rdtare of the Offered Interest. If the Offered
Members elect to purchase all of the Offered Irgtieireaccordance with this Section 8.3, the closihguch purchase and sale shall occur
within ten (10) Business Days after the end of@ffer Period at such place as the Offering Memiperrthe Offered Members may agree.
After completion of the procedures described is Béction 8.3, if the Offered Members elect nqgiurchase all of the Offered Interest within
the Offer Period, the Offering Member may, durihg sixty (60) Business Day period following the efithe Offer Period, Transfer to any
Person (the "Transferee") all (but not less thfnohlthe Offered Interest at a price not less tti@Fair Market Value of the Offered Interest
so Transferred. As a condition to such Transfer, Tttansferee shall agree in writing to be bounthiyy Agreement to the same extent as the
Offering Member was bound. If the proposed Tranisferot completed within the sixty (60) Business/pariod described above, the Offe
Interest shall again be subject to this Section 8.3

Section 8.4. Put/Call on Termination of Broadcagteement.

(a) WWFE Call Option. At any time following the teination of the Broadcast Agreement, WWFE or ariliafe thereof may, but shall not
be required to (except as required by Section B.4frchase all

(but not less than all) of the Shares then owneNB§ (the "WWFE Call Option™)

for an aggregate cash purchase price equal toaind/Farket Value of the Shares then owned by NBGVWFE elects to exercise the WWI
Call Option, it shall
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so notify NBC in writing of such election (the "C&lxercise Notice"), whereupon NBC shall be oblkgghto sell the Shares then owned by it
to WWFE. The closing of the purchase and sale puntsio this Section 8.4(a) (the "Call Closing") Isbacur on the later of (i) the thirtieth
(30th) Business Day after receipt by NBC of thel Eakrcise Notice and (i) the fifth (5th) Busind3ay after the Fair Market Value of the
Shares owned by NBC is determined pursuant to @e8tb, at such place as WWFE and NBC may agretheA€all Closing, NBC shall
assign the Shares then owned by it to WWFE and W\aH& pay the purchase price for such Sharessh onother immediately available
funds.

(b) NBC Put Right. At any time following the ternaition of the Broadcast Agreement, NBC may, uport&rinotice to WWFE (the "NBC
Put Notice"), cause WWFE or an Affiliate thereofotiarchase the Shares then owned by NBC (the "NB@Rint") for an aggregate cash
purchase price equal to the Fair Market Value efShares then owned by NBC. The closing of thelage and sale pursuant to this Section
8.4(b) (the "Put Closing") shall occur on the lai&(i) the thirtieth (30th) Business Day afteregt by WWFE of the NBC Put Notice and |
the fifth (5th) Business Day after the Fair Mark@iue of the Shares owned by NBC is determinedyantsto Section 8.5, at such place as
NBC and WWFE may agree. At the Put Closing, NBAIlsissign the Shares then owned by it to WWFE aMif# shall pay the purcha
price for such Shares in cash or other immediatedilable funds.

(c) NBC Put Right as a Voluntary Liquidation. Notiastanding Section 8.4(b), WWFE shall have thetrigkercisable by written notice to
NBC within thirty (30) Business Days after recdiptWWFE of the NBC Put Notice) to reject the exsecby NBC of the NBC Put Right (tl
"Put Rejection"). Upon a Put Rejection, (i) WWFEkHhave no obligation to purchase the Shares ovyedBC pursuant to Section 8.4(b),
and the Company shall as promptly as practicaleleettfter be dissolved in accordance with the prawisof Article 9 of this Agreement and
the Act and (ii) for a period of three years aftech dissolution, neither WWFE nor any of its Affies shall, directly or indirectly, own,
operate, support (financially or otherwise) or lolo@st (via network, cable or otherwise) any teayames or other events of a professional
football league, or own, operate or in any wayipgrate in any professional football league, preddhowever that, nothing in this Section
shall prohibit WWFE (or any of its Affiliates) fromwning, operating, supporting or broadcasting ldfy. team, game or other event.

Section 8.5. Fair Market Value. The Fair Marketyabf any Shares to be Transferred pursuant todBe®t3, Section 8.4, Section 14.2 or
Section 14.3 shall be determined in accordance tvélprocedures set forth in this Section

8.5. If NBC and WWFE do not agree on the Fair Makkalue of any such Shares within a period of tH)) Business Days following receipt
of the Transfer Notice, the Call Exercise Notites NBC Put Notice, the NBC IPO Put Notice or the WBMPO Call Notice, as the case may
be (the "Valuation Date"), the Fair Market Valuablbe determined by an appraiser mutually agrgechuy NBC and WWFE. If an
appraiser is not agreed upon within ten (10) Bissrigays following the Valuation Date, each of NB@ &/WFE shall select one appraiser
who together shall select a single appraiser whadl sblely determine the Fair Market Value of s&ttares. The appraiser who shall
determine the Fair Market Value of the Shares stmBo within thirty (30) Business Days after thaliation Date, and the determination of
such appraiser shall be final and binding
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upon the Members. In making its determination,ahpraiser shall take into consideration the follayactors: the terms and conditions of
any bona fide thirgrarty offer for the Shares; whether there are atiydroadcast arrangements in place with resgelHL games and oth
events, or the likelihood that such arrangemeniiso@imade, and the terms thereof; other sourceswainue for the Business, whether or not
then in existence. Notwithstanding the foregoifg, bona fide third-party (i.e., other than fromAsffiliate of any Member) offer for the

Shares to be Transferred has been made in writieg,the Fair Market Value of such Shares shalbedess than the offer price therefor. All
appraisers shall be investment banking firms abnat standing with experience in valuing sporefrhises. The costs of the appraisers shall
be split equally between the Members.

Section 8.6. Additional Members. Additional Persamsy be admitted to the Company as Members and ewsimp Interests may be created
and issued to those Persons upon the unanimousvabpf the Members. A Person who becomes a newbéeshall execute and deliver a
joinder to this Agreement pursuant to which thatsBe agrees to be bound by all of the provisionthisfAgreement applicable to Membe

Section 8.7. Preemptive Rights.

(a) Each Member shall have a preemptive right apprtion to its Percentage Interest to subscrib@fdo purchase (i) any shares of any ¢
of equity interest whatsoever which the Company mexgafter issue or sell or (ii) any obligationsecurities which the Company may
hereafter issue or sell convertible into or excleatde for any equity interest in the Company of elags or (iii) any warrants, options or ot
rights which the Company may hereafter issue ditisai confer upon the holder or owner thereofripht to subscribe for or purchase from
the Company any of its equity interest of any clarssuch convertible or exchangeable securiti@s({iji and (iii) collectively, "New
Securities"). Such preemptive right may be execciadull or in part at the Member's option andlkbaist regardless of the character of the
consideration proposed to be received for thedstsrto be issued or sold by the Company.

(b) In the event that the Company proposes to takkeian issuance of New Securities, the Companygikie the Members written notice of
its intention, describing the type of New Secusitéand the price and general terms upon which tmepaay proposes to issue such New
Securities. Each Member shall have twenty (20) dieys the date any such notice is given to agrqautchase all or any part of its pro rata
share of such New Securities for the price and upergeneral terms specified in the notice by gjwritten notice to the Company and
stating therein the quantity of New Securities éopirchased. In the event that any Member faiéxeacise in full its preemptive right within
such twenty (20) day period, the Company shall lsaxty (60) days thereafter to sell the New Se@msitvith respect to which preemptive
rights were not exercised at a price and upon gétenms no more favorable to the purchaser(sktfdhan specified in the Company's
notice to the Members. In the event the Companynbasold such New Securities within such sixty)(@8y period, the Company shall not
thereafter issue or sell such New Securities witlfiost offering such New Securities to the Membiarthe manner provided above.
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(c) "New Securities" shall not include Shares dreotequity interests or securities of the Companigguable upon conversion of Shares (or
other equity interests or securities) or pursuardry options, warrants, rights or agreements,igeavthat the preemptive rights established
by this

Section 8.7 shall apply with respect to the iniiggluance, sale, grant or entering into by the Gommwf such Shares (or other equity interests
or securities), options, warrants, rights or agrexs, (ii) offered to the public generally pursusman effective registration statement under
the Securities Act, (iii) issued pursuant to thguasition by the Company of all or any part of dr@tPerson, whether by merger, purchase of
shares, purchase of assets or other transactgrisgiled pursuant to any employee benefit plameygal in accordance with this Agreement,
(v) issued in connection with any recapitalizatieglassification, reorganization or similar tractgan or

(vi) issued pursuant to Section 3.2 of this Agreeine

ARTICLE IX

TERM AND DISSOLUTION

Section 9.1. Term. The term of the Company comm#ncethe date of

filing of the Certificate with the Secretary of &taf the State of Delaware and shall continue wétpetual existence until dissolved as
provided herein.

Section 9.2. Dissolution. In addition to those dsdisted in Section 18-801 of the Act, the Compuaiilybe dissolved upon the occurrence of
any of the following:

(a) Agreement of all Members;
(b) Pursuant to Section 8.4(c); or
(c) An order of a court of competent jurisdictiorering the dissolution of the Company.

The death, retirement, resignation, bankruptcyissalution of any Member shall not constitute aargwf dissolution of the Company unless
required by the Act.

Section 9.3. Liquidation and Termination. On dission of the Company, NBC and WWFE shall appoibhtcuidator. The Liquidator shall
proceed diligently to wind up the affairs of ther@many and make final distributions as provided ine@ad in the Act. The costs of

liquidation shall be borne as a Company expensél fural distribution, the Liquidator shall contie to operate the Company properties with
all of the power and authority of the Board of Mgees. The steps to be accomplished by the Liquidatoas follows:

(a) as promptly as possible after dissolution agadraafter final liquidation, the Liquidator shalluse a proper accounting to be made by a
recognized firm of certified public accountantgled Company's assets, liabilities, and operatibrugh the last day of the calendar mont
which the dissolution occurs or the final liquidetiis completed, as applicable;
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(b) the Liquidator shall pay, satisfy or dischafigen Company funds all of the debts, liabilitieslaybligations of the Company (including,

without limitation, all expenses incurred in ligaitbn) or otherwise make adequate provision fonpayt and discharge thereof (including,
without limitation, the establishment of a cashrescfund for contingent liabilities in such amouwantd for such term as the Liquidator may
reasonably determine); and

(c) all remaining assets of the Company shall B&ituted to the Members as follows:
(i) the Liquidator may sell any or all Company pedy, including to Members; and

(i) Company cash and property shall be distribdiex to redeem the Class C Membership Unit imarount equal to $12.50 plus any
accrued and unpaid Priority Return (but only toeReent that the amount of such accrued and uriprdadity Return does not exceed the
amount of the Company's net Profit (determined etitiregard to clause (vii) of the definition of Rtpin the Fiscal Year in which the
distribution occurs) and then among the Membepraportion to their respective Percentage Inter&ish distributions shall be made by the
end of the taxable year of the Company during witehliquidation of the Company occurs (or, if la@0 days after the date of the
liquidation).

All distributions in kind to the Members shall bede subject to the liability of each distributeedosts, expenses, and liabilities theretofore
incurred or for which the Company has committedipio the date of termination and those costs, msg® and liabilities shall be allocated to
the distributee pursuant to this Section 9.3.

Section 9.4. Deficit Capital Accounts. Notwithstamglanything to the contrary contained in this Agrent, and notwithstanding any custom
or rule of law to the contrary, to the extent ttieg deficit, if any, in the Capital Account of alember results from or is attributable to
deductions and losses of the Company (includingeash items such as depreciation), or distribut@fmaoney or other property pursuant to
this Agreement, upon dissolution of the Companyhgieficit shall not be an asset of the Companysarth Member shall not be obligated to
contribute such amount to the Company to bringolance of such Member's Capital Account to zero.

ARTICLE X

CONVERSION OF
CLASS B MEMBERSHIP UNITS

Section 10.1. Optional Conversion. (a) Subjectno ia compliance with the provisions of this Sewti®.1, all (but not less than all)
outstanding Class B Membership Units may, at th®omf the holder thereof, be converted into & lilumber of Class A Membership Units
upon 365 days' prior written notice to the Boardvainagers given at any time after the second arsave of the date of this Agreement (the
"Conversion Notice"). The Conversion

36



Notice shall set forth the effective date of thexersion of the Class B Membership Units into Clagdembership Units. The Conversi
Notice may be withdrawn by the holder of Class Brbership Units by written notice to the Board ofiidgers at any time prior to t
Conversion Date without prejudice to the rightseéh holder under this Article 10 or otherwise.Witlistanding the foregoing, if the audited
or unaudited annual Financial Statements providedyant to Section 7.3(a) with respect to any Figear ending on or after April 30, 2002
reflect annual or cumulative operating results #rat5% or more below the annual or cumulative atpey results projected in the Initial
Business Plan or the Subsequent Business Plandbrperiod, as the case may be, then, for a pefitidrty (30) calendar days following the
receipt by the holder of the Class B Membershipt®Jof such Financial Statements, such holder mayeax all (but not less than all) of the
Class B Membership Units held by it into a like henof Class A Membership Units, effective immeeliatupon delivery at any time during
such thirty (30) calendar day period of writtenio@tof such conversion to the Board of Managers (Berformance Based Conversion
Notice"). In addition, notwithstanding the foreggjnn the event the Company undertakes an IPChdlder of the Class B Membership Ur
may convert all (but not less than all) of the GlBsMembership Units held by it into a like numbé&iClass A Membership Units by
delivering written notice of such conversion to Baard of Managers at any time prior to the datthefclosing of the IPO, and such
conversion shall be effective on the date of, drall e expressly conditioned upon, the closinthefIPO.

(b) Reorganization, Recapitalization or Reclasatfan. If the Class A Membership Units shall beraded into the same or a different number
of shares of any class or classes of equity oCthimpany, whether by reorganization, recapitaliratieclassification or otherwise, then an
each such event each holder of Class B Membershiis Shall have the right thereafter to converthsugits into the kind and amount of
shares of equity and other securities and propedgivable upon such reorganization, recapitabpatieclassification or other change by
holders of the number of Class A Membership Umits hich such Class B Membership Units might haeen converted immediately prior
to such reorganization, recapitalization, reclésaifon or change.

(c) Conversion Date. The date set forth in the @osion Notice as the effective date for the corivarsf Class B Membership Units into
Class A Membership Units, or the date of deliveirthe Performance Based Conversion Notice, or kbgireg date of the IPO, as applicable,
shall be the "Conversion Date." Such conversiofi bleadeemed to have been effected immediately poithe close of business on the
Conversion Date, and at such time the rights ofi fuadder as a holder of Class B Membership Uniédl slease and such Person shall be
deemed to have become a holder of Class A Memlpetstits with all rights appurtenant thereto. No$3l8 Membership Units that have
been converted shall be reissued without the jppproval of the Members.

(d) Reservation of Class A Membership Units. Thenpany hereby expressly reserves 200,000 of thesm#u but unissued Class A
Membership Units solely for the purpose of effegtihe conversion of the Class B Membership Unitstanding on the date hereof. The
Members agree to take all necessary action to dhesgompany to at all times reserve and keepablailout of the authorized but unissued
Class A Membership Units, solely for the purposeféécting the conversion of the Class B Membershijts, such number of its

37



Class A Membership Units as shall from time to tineesufficient to effect the conversion of all datsling Class B Membership Units.
ARTICLE Xl

REDEMPTION OF THE
CLASS C MEMBERSHIP UNIT

NBC shall have the right, exercisable by writtetic®to the Board of Managers at any time on arafie Conversion Date (the "Redempt
Notice"), to cause the Company to redeem the qudstg Class C Membership Unit at a price equall®.%0 plus any accrued and unp
Priority Return on the Class C Membership Unit. TQ@npany shall, immediately following receipt oétRedemption Notice, redeem the
Class C Membership Unit from the holder thereofe Thass C Membership Unit redeemed pursuant toAttisle 11 shall be canceled and
may not, under any circumstances, be reissued osdidansferred and the Company shall take suchoappate action as may be necessary to
eliminate the authorized Class C Membership Unit.

ARTICLE Xl

DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Section 12.1. Arbitration. Subject to the provisiai Section 12.2 below, all disputes arising duboin connection with, this Agreement or
the commercial relationships between or among #nggs that are created by this Agreement, inclyidimy disputes concerning the
formation, validity, performance or terminationtbfs Agreement or any of the rights or obligationsated or transferred hereby, and
including any disputes concerning the jurisdictagrthe arbitral tribunal or the scope of arbitraisieues (collectively, "Disputes"), shall be
finally resolved by arbitration pursuant to the UNRAL Arbitration Rules (the "Rules"). Any such d@ration shall be administered by the
American Arbitration Association through its glofedadquarters in New York (the "AAA Global Headdaes™), and the AAA Global
Headquarters shall act as the appointing authoritler the Rules. The place of arbitration shalNe® York, New York (without prejudice 1
the powers of the arbitral tribunal under Articless (2) and (3) of the Rules). The law to be appi@ethe merits of any Dispute shall be the
law of New York and, in the event a claim is assthat is governed by federal law, the arbitilinal shall apply federal law as it would
applied to such a dispute by a United States Bis@rourt for the Southern District of New York.

All pleadings, proceedings and information exchahgedisclosed in the arbitration shall be treatedaonfidential and shall not be disclosed
by the parties except (1) as necessary in conmewtiilh the prosecution or defense of the arbitrgt{@) to protect or assert a right providec
law, or

(3) to comply with an obligation imposed by law.eTarbitral tribunal shall have the power to impletend enforce this agreement
concerning confidentiality by appropriate order.

Section 12.2. Submission to Member Management Ryiérbitration. If a Dispute arises, the Membeeimding to commence arbitration
concerning the Dispute shall,
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prior to commencing the arbitration, submit to ¢tleer Members who will be made parties to the eabi@in a letter (the "Notice Letter")
setting forth the nature of the Dispute, includihg claims proposed to be asserted in arbitratienparties involved in the Dispute, and the
nature and amount of the relief to be sought intation if the Dispute cannot be resolved. Theetiéd Members' executive management
teams shall attempt in good faith to resolve thepDie within 10 calendar days after receipt ofNloéice Letter, including any disagreement
concerning the number of arbitrators (one or thted)e appointed in the event the Dispute procéedsbitration, and including the selection
of a sole arbitrator if a sole arbitrator is todppointed. If the Dispute is not resolved withiclsperiod of 10 calendar days, then any Mer
who is a party to the Dispute may commence armmgtursuant to the Rules and, absent an agreenitiit such 10 calendar days upon a
sole arbitrator whom the parties shall jointly noate, a three-member arbitral tribunal shall benfedt in accordance with the Rules, and the
Member commencing the arbitration shall nominatarditrator in the Notice of Arbitration (which dhimclude the Statement of Claim
provided for in Article 18 of the Rules) at the &rthe arbitration is commenced.

Section 12.3. Consent to Jurisdiction. The pahiEgby consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of theted States District Court for the
Southern District of New York for the purposes nfgudicial proceedings relating to an arbitrabisgte, including any proceedings to
enforce or to set aside an arbitral award.

ARTICLE XIII

CERTAIN PRE-CLOSING MATTERS

Section 13.1. General; Reimbursement of ExpendesMembers acknowledge that, prior to the dathisfAgreement, each of NBC and
WWFE (and their respective Affiliates) has incuregbenses, acquired property or entered into costia its individual capacity but for the
benefit of the Company. As soon as practicable #fedate hereof (but subject to the approval BENind WWFE as described below), the
Company shall reimburse each of NBC and WWFE ferrdasonable expenses incurred by each of thentl{amdespective Affiliates) in
good faith and upon prior consultation with theestparty for the benefit of the Company after A@ri2000 but prior to the date of this
Agreement. Each of NBC and WWFE shall submit todtieer party an itemized list of the expenses foictv it seeks reimbursement
pursuant to this Section 13.1 and shall providé sgddlitional information or explanation with respiereto as the other party may
reasonably request. The Company shall promptlybaise the expenses incurred by each of NBC and W{sR&their respective Affiliate:
that NBC and WWFE reasonably determine were incumegood faith by such party and upon prior cotaidn with the other party for the
benefit of the Company during such period. The Camypshall not reimburse either NBC or WWFE for fibes and expenses of its (and its
Affiliates’) counsel or other professional advisorghe costs incurred by such party (and its #&ft#s) in the negotiation of this Agreement
and the transactions related thereto.

Section 13.2. Purchase and Sale of Certain Assets.

(a) WWFE Parent does hereby sell, assign, transé¢igver and deliver unto the Company, and thefg@amy does hereby purchase, pay for
and accept from
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WWEFE Parent, the assets and properties set forixbibit B to this Agreement (the "Purchased As3efthe Company does hereby pay in
immediately available funds to WWFE Parent the aggte purchase price for the Purchased Asseterieibih Exhibit B. After the date
hereof, WWFE Parent shall execute and deliver stichr documents and instruments as may be reagomatéssary or appropriate to more
fully vest title to the Purchased Assets in the @any.

(b) WWFE Parent represents and warrants to the @oyniie following:

WWEFE Parent owns all of the Purchased Assets fideckear of any liens, pledges, security intereststrictions, third-party rights, claims
and encumbrances of any nature whatsoever. ThHeetitel property included in the Purchased As@éts "Purchased Intellectual Property™)
is valid and subsisting. The use of the Purchastadléctual Property does not infringe on the righit any Person and, to the best knowledge
of WWFE Parent, no Person is infringing on the Rased Intellectual Property. There is no pendingoothe best knowledge of WWFE
Parent, threatened claim challenging the ownersilidity, effectiveness or use by WWFE Parenthaf Purchased Intellectual Property.

ARTICLE XIV

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

Section 14.1. Initial Public Offering. NBC and WW/Riay mutually agree at any time to undertake aalrpublic offering (the "IPO") of
equity interests in the Company. In the IPO, NB@ ¥WWFE shall have equal rights of participationtWgut limiting the authority of NBC
and WWEFE to elect otherwise, NBC and WWFE may, ettito applicable tax and accounting consideratiageee to convert the Company
into a corporation in order to facilitate the IF@ior to incorporation, the Company shall redeeenGfass C Membership Unit at a price ec
to $12.50 plus any accrued and unpaid Priority Retout only to the extent that the amount of sactrued and unpaid Priority Return does
not exceed the amount of the Company's net Paste¢mined without regard to clause (vii) of théirdgon of Profit) in the Fiscal Year in
which the redemption occurs). Upon incorporatibe, total outstanding shares of common stock otthporation shall be distributed among
the Members in proportion to their respective Petage Interests on the date of incorporation. Upoarporation, each Member shall have
the registration rights with respect to such shafemmon stock as are set forth in the form ofiBteation Rights Agreement attached
hereto as Exhibit C. The Members shall work dilifyeand shall cooperate in good faith to consumnaaie IPO that is undertaken by the
Company as promptly as practicable.

Section 14.2. NBC's Right to Request IPO. If, at time after the completion of the second full fwadt season conducted by the Company,
NBC shall notify WWFE in writing (the "NBC IPO Natt") of its good faith desire to undertake the 1BaqJ either (i) WWFE does not agi
within ninety (90) calendar days following recegtthe NBC IPO Notice to cause the Company to eftee IPO or (ii) the IPO is not
consummated by the first anniversary of the datecdipt of the NBC IPO Notice, then NBC may (sebje the remainder of this Section
14.2), upon written notice to WWFE (the "NBC IPOt Riotice"), cause WWFE or an Affiliate thereof torphase all or any portion of the
Shares then owned by NBC (the "NBC IPO Put Rightti)an aggregate cash purchase price equal todind/larket
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Value of such Shares. The closing of the purchadesale pursuant to this

Section 14.2 shall occur on the later of (i) thietigth (30th) Business Day after receipt by WWHEhe NBC IPO Put Notice and (ii) the fif
(5th) Business Day after the Fair Market Valuehaf 8hares then owned by NBC is determined purdaa¢ction 8.5, at such place as NBC
and WWFE may agree. At the closing, NBC shall as#iig Shares being sold to WWFE and WWFE shalltpayurchase price for such
Shares in cash or other immediately available fuNdgwithstanding the foregoing, if an underwritdmational standing mutually acceptable
to NBC and WWFE determines in good faith that madomditions are not favorable for the IPO withie tone year period referred to in
clause (ii) above, then such period shall autorabiyibe extended until such time as such underndigdéermines in good faith that market
conditions have become favorable for the IPO. TBENPO Put Right shall be suspended and may nekbecised by NBC during any such
extension of the one year period referred to above.

Section 14.3. WWFE's Right to Request IPO. If,rat time after the completion of the second fulltimdl season conducted by the Company,
WWEFE shall notify NBC in writing (the "WWFE IPO Nioe") of its good faith desire to undertake the JR@d NBC does not agree within
ninety (90) calendar days following receipt of WW&/FE IPO Notice to cause the Company to effect®@, then WWFE or an Affiliate
thereof may, upon written notice to NBC (the "WWHD Call Notice"), purchase all or any portion loé tShares then owned by NBC (the
"WWEFE IPO Call Option") for an aggregate cash pasghprice equal to the Fair Market Value of sucir&h The closing of the purchase
and sale pursuant to this Section 14.3 shall oontthe later of (i) the thirtieth (30th) Businesayafter receipt by NBC of the WWFE IPO
Call Notice and (ii) the fifth (5th) Business Dafyeat the Fair Market Value of the Shares then owle®IBC is determined pursuant to
Section 8.5, at such place as WWFE and NBC mayeagditethe closing, NBC shall assign the Sharesgpinmchased to WWFE and WWFE
shall pay the purchase price for such Shares im @asther immediately available funds.

ARTICLE XV

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 15.1. eCommerce Activities; Merchandisdiliuent. The Company shall use commercially readna efforts to utilize the services
of ValueVision International, Inc. as the providér(i) direct television sales and marketing of @@mpany's merchandise and (ii) fulfillment
services for electronic commerce engaged in byCiiapany.

Section 15.2. Binding Effect and Benefit. This Agmeent will be binding upon, and will inure to thenlefit of, the parties hereto and their
successors and permitted assigns.

Section 15.3. Certificates, etc. At the expenstefCompany, the Members shall promptly cause forépared and executed all legally
required fictitious name, state qualification dn@tapplications, registrations, publications,ifiedtes and affidavits for filing with the proper
governmental authorities, and shall arrange foiptloper advertisement, publication and filing tledéfer record where required by applicable
law in any jurisdiction in which such is required.
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Section 15.4. Members' Relationships Inter Se. fixase expressly provided herein, nothing hereirtainad will be construed to constitute
any Member the agent of any other Member or inraapner to limit the Members in the carrying onhait own respective business or
activities. Except as provided in 13.1 hereof h® éxtent any Member has entered into agreemettigegipect to the Company and is not
entitled to be reimbursed hereunder or under angratgreement among the parties hereto for expémsased in carrying out such
agreements, such expenses shall be consideredi¢heldigation of the Member.

Section 15.5. Notices, Statements, etc. All notisetements or other documents which are reqoiredntemplated by this Agreement shall
be in writing and delivered personally or sent ibgtfclass registered or certified mail (postageppid, return receipt requested), overnight
courier service or telecopy to the address mosinthcprovided to the Members or such other addoesslecopy number as may be
designated in writing by any party to the othertiparhereto. Any notice or other communicationraogmitted shall be deemed to have been
given on the day of delivery, if delivered persdypabn the business day following receipt of tel@ege@onfirmation, if sent by telecopy, one
business day after delivery to an overnight cows@vwice or five days after mailing if sent by mail

Section 15.6. Integration/Amendments. This Agreerifie Merchandising Agreement and the Broadcaseément represent the entire
understanding of the parties and supersede aneélcamg and all prior negotiations, undertakings ageements among the parties with
respect to their subject matter. This Agreement begmended, and any provision hereof may be waateahy time and from time to time
with the prior consent of the Members.

Section 15.7. Interpretation. Whenever in this Agnent reference is made to "this Agreement" ontopovision "hereof", or words to
similar effect, such reference shall be constroe@fer to this Agreement. As used in this Agreetnamy gender will include any other
gender and the plural will include the singular #mel singular will include the plural, each wheneappropriate. The titles of the articles and
sections herein have been inserted for conveniehegference only and will not control or affecetmeaning or construction of any term or
provision hereof.

Section 15.8. Governing Law. This Agreement shalirtterpreted and construed in accordance wittetiveof the State of Delaware, without
regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof.

Section 15.9. Severability. If one or more prowisi@f this Agreement are held to be unenforceatdeuapplicable law, such provision shall
be excluded from this Agreement and the balan¢keoAgreement shall be interpreted as if such giomiwas so excluded and shall be
enforceable in accordance with its terms.

Section 15.10. Counterparts. This Agreement magxeeuted in counterparts, each of which when erecshall be deemed to be an original
but all of which taken together shall constitute @md the same agreement.
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Section 15.11. Guarantees.

(a) By WWFE Parent. WWFE Parent hereby absolutetgonditionally and irrevocably guarantees the gopayment and performance, in
each case when due, of all obligations (monetadyrexm-monetary) of WWFE and/or any of its Affiliatander this Agreement. WWFE
Parent agrees that this guarantee is continuingture and shall survive and continue in full fonoéwithstanding the dissolution or
liquidation of, or the insolvency or bankruptcy oferger or any other corporate change or otherroamece whatsoever affecting the
obligations and liabilities of WWFE or any such ilifite. WWFE Parent agrees that, with respect éonlonetary obligations of WWFE or
any such Affiliate under this Agreement, this Seeti5.11(a) is a guarantee of performance and patyamel not merely of collection, and
that WWFE Parent will perform said obligations waith offset of any kind and without first pursuingyarights or remedies that it may have
against WWFE or any such Affiliate, regardlesshaf ¢xistence or adequacy of such rights or remedi®gFE Parent agrees to reimburse
Company for all costs and expenses, including regtde attorneys' fees and expenses, incurred b§dhgany in connection with the
enforcement of the Company's rights under thisi@ect

15.11(a). WWFE Parent hereby unconditionally anelvimcably waives, to the extent permitted by aiie law, (i) notice of acceptance of
the guarantee and any notice regarding the perfazenar non-performance of WWFE or any such Affdiatith respect to any of its
obligations hereunder, (ii) presentment for paymeatice of non-payment or non-performance, dempratest, notice of protest and notice
of dishonor or default to anyone, (iii) defensep&y or perform based upon any of the obligatidn&/@/FE or any such Affiliate hereunder
not being a valid and binding obligation of WWFEamy such Affiliate enforceable in accordance wtgherms for any reason whatsoever,
(iv) all other notices to which WWFE Parent maydgitled but which may legally be waived, (v) argfehse or circumstance which might
otherwise constitute a legal or equitable dischafd&WFE Parent and (vi) all rights under any statéederal statute dealing with or
affecting the rights of creditors. WWFE Parent esg@nts and warrants that WWFE is, and at all tioeisg the term of this Agreement will
be, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WWFE Parent.

(b) By NBC Parent. NBC Parent hereby absolutelgpaditionally and irrevocably guarantees the propgytment and performance, in each
case when due, of all obligations (monetary andmonetary) of NBC and/or any of its Affiliates umdbis Agreement. NBC Parent agrees
that this guarantee is continuing in nature andl shavive and continue in full force notwithstangdithe dissolution or liquidation of, or the
insolvency or bankruptcy of, merger or any othepogate change or other occurrence whatsoevertaffeihe obligations and liabilities of
NBC or any such Affiliate. NBC Parent agrees thath respect to the monetary obligations of NBGoy such Affiliate under thi
Agreement, this Section 15.11(b) is a guarantgeedbrmance and payment and not merely of collactimd that NBC Parent will perform
said obligations without offset of any kind andwitit first pursuing any rights or remedies thamdty have against NBC or any such Affilic
regardless of the existence or adequacy of subltsriy remedies. NBC Parent agrees to reimburs€ahgpany for all costs and expenses,
including reasonable attorneys' fees and expemsmsred by the Company in connection with the erdment of the Company's rights under
this Section 15.11(b). NBC Parent hereby unconuily and irrevocably waives, to the extent pereditby applicable law, (i) notice of
acceptance of the guarantee and any notice reggtttknperformance or non-performance of NBC orsuh Affiliate with respect to any of
its obligations hereunder, (ii)
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presentment for payment, notice of non-paymenborperformance, demand, protest, notice of pra@edtnotice of dishonor or default to
anyone, (iii) defenses to pay or perform based wpynof the obligations of NBC or any such Affiatereunder not being a valid and
binding obligation of NBC or any such Affiliate em€eable in accordance with its terms for any reagioatsoever,

(iv) all other notices to which NBC Parent may In¢itteed but which may legally be waived, (v) anyfelese or circumstance which might
otherwise constitute a legal or equitable dischafgéBC Parent and (vi) all rights under any statéederal statute dealing with or affecting
the rights of creditors. NBC Parent representsveaudlants that NBC is, and at all times during #rent of this Agreement will be, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of NBC Parent.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettlis Agreement as of the day and year first alvanitten.
WWFE SPORTS, INC.

By:

Title:

NBC-XFL HOLDING, INC.

By:

Title:

WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION ENTERTAINMENT, INC.,
solely for the purpose of agreeing to be bound éxstiSns 13.2 and 15.11 of this Agreement.

By:

Title:

NATIONAL BROADCASTING COMPANY, INC.,
solely for the purpose of agreeing to be bound duxstiSn 15.11 of this Agreement.

By:

Title:

45



EXHIBIT 10.13
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
by and between
NBC-WWFE HOLDING, INC.
and
WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Dated as of June 12, 2000



REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this or the "Agreent® dated as of June 12, 2000, by and between MBEFE Holding, Inc., ¢
Delaware corporation ("NBC") and World Wrestlingdégation Entertainment, Inc., a Delaware corporatihe "Company").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, NBC and the Company have entered intmak3urchase Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2088 Gtock Purchase
Agreement, as amended or otherwise modified frome tio time, the "Purchase Agreement”), pursuanthich the Company will sell, and
NBC will purchase, 2,307,692 nev-issued shares of Class A Common Stock, par valie #r share, of the Company (the "Common
Shares").

WHEREAS, in order to induce NBC to enter into thedhase Agreement, the Company has further agoegivide certain registration
rights in respect of the Registrable Securitiesd@&fged below) on the terms and subject to thalitimms set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premised @iithe mutual agreements contained herein, andtfier good and valuab
consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, and intending to be kegallind hereby, the parties hereto agree
as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Agreement, the daling terms shall have the following meanings:

"Affiliate” shall mean (i) with respect to any Pers any other Person directly or indirectly coritngl or controlled by or under direct or
indirect common control with such Person, andwith respect to any individual, shall also meangheuse, sibling, child, stepchild,
grandchild, niece, nephew or parent of such Pexsatfie spouse thereof.

"Blackout Period" shall have the meaning set fontBection 2.6.

"Common Shares" shall have the meaning set forthdrrecitals hereto.

"Company" shall have the meaning set forth in teamble.

"Demand Registration" shall mean a registrationireqgl to be effected by the Company pursuant t¢i@e2.1.

"Demand Registration Statement" shall mean a magigh statement of the Company which covers thgisdable Securities requested to be
included therein pursuant to the provisions of ®ac2.1 and all amendments and supplements toreggistration statement, including post-
effective amendments, in each case including thegerctus contained therein, all exhibits theretbalhmaterial incorporated by reference

(or deemed to be incorporated by reference) therein

"Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended from time to time, and tiesrand regulations thereunder, or
any successor statu



"Holders" shall mean the Initial Holder for so loag it owns any Registrable Securities and sudts oéspective successors and permitted
assigns (including any permitted transferees ofigtedle Securities) who acquire or are otherwhigettansferee of Registrable Securities,
directly or indirectly, from such Initial Holder (@ny subsequent Holder), for so long as such ssots and permitted assigns own any
Registrable Securities.

"Holders' Counsel" shall mean one firm of counger (registration) to the Holders of Registrableusigies participating in such registration,
which counsel shall be selected (i) in the case DEmand Registration, by the Initiating Holder&lhmy a majority of the Registrable
Securities for which registration was requesteth@éRequest, and (ii) in all other cases, by th@hitg Holders of the Registration.

"Incidental Registration” shall mean a registratiequired to be effected by the Company pursuaBSetdion 2.2.

"Incidental Registration Statement" shall meangasteation statement of the Company which coveesRhgistrable Securities requested to be
included therein pursuant to the provisions of ®ac2.2 and all amendments and supplements toreggistration statement, including post-
effective amendments, in each case including thegerctus contained therein, all exhibits theretbalhmaterial incorporated by reference

(or deemed to be incorporated by reference) therein

“Initial Holder" shall mean NBC.

"Initiating Holders" shall mean, with respect tpaticular registration, the Holders who initiatké Request for such registration.

"Inspectors” shall have the meaning set forth ictia 4.1(g).

"Majority Holders" shall mean one or more Holdefskegistrable Securities who would hold a majodfyhe Registrable Securities then
outstanding.

"Majority Holders of the Registration" shall meavith respect to a particular registration, one erenHolders of Registrable Securities who
would hold a majority of the Registrable Securite$e included in such registration.

"NASD" shall mean the National Association of Sétes Dealers, Inc.

"Person” shall mean any individual, firm, partn@pskorporation, trust, joint venture, associatifmnt stock company, limited liability
company, unincorporated organization or any othétyeor organization, including a government oeagy or political subdivision thereof,
and shall include any Successor (by merger or wike) of such entity.

"Prospectus” shall mean the prospectus includedRegistration Statement (including, without lirtita, any preliminary prospectus and any
prospectus that includes any
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information previously omitted from a prospectuedias part of an effective registration statenienéliance upon Rule 430A promulgated
under the Securities Act), and any such Prospesti@snended or supplemented by any prospectus supmtieand all other amendments and
supplements to such Prospectus, including postteffeamendments, and in each case including akmahincorporated by reference (or
deemed to be incorporated by reference) therein.

"Registrable Securities" shall mean (i) the Comr8bares issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreenet(ii)aamy other securities of the
Company (or any successor or assign of the Compamther by merger, consolidation, sale of assetsherwise) which may be issued or
issuable with respect to, in exchange for, or institution of, the Registrable Securities referehiceclause (i) above by reason of any
dividend or stock split, combination of shares, geer consolidation, recapitalization, reclassiiimat reorganization, sale of assets or similar
transaction. As to any particular Registrable Séesr such securities shall cease to be Regigti@bturities when (A) a registration stater
with respect to the sale of such securities staletbeen declared effective under the SecuritiesaAd such securities shall have been
disposed of in accordance with such registratiatestent, (B) such securities have been otherwassfierred, a new certificate or other
evidence of ownership for them not bearing the helgestricting further transfer shall have beerveedd by the Company and subsequent
public distribution of them shall not require regigion under the Securities Act,

(C) such securities shall have ceased to be odisignor (D) such securities become eligible fdesmder Rule 144(k) without any volume,
manner of sale or other restrictions.

"Registration Expenses" shall mean any and all exgeincident to performance of or compliance whits Agreement by the Company and
its subsidiaries, including, without limitation) &ll SEC, stock exchange, NASD and other registmatisting and filing fees, (ii) all fees and
expenses incurred in connection with compliancé wiiite securities or blue sky laws and compliavite the rules of any stock exchange
(including fees and disbursements of counsel imeotion with such compliance and the preparatioa loiue sky memorandum and legal
investment survey), (iii) all expenses of any Pessetained by the Company in preparing or asgjstippreparing, word processing, printing,
distributing, mailing and delivering any RegistoatiStatement, any Prospectus, any underwritingeageats, transmittal letters, securities
sales agreements, securities certificates and dtieements relating to the performance of or coamgie with this Agreement, (iv) the fees
and disbursements of counsel for the Companyhg@/faées and disbursements of all independent pabtiountants (including the expense
any audit and/or "cold comfort" letters) and thesf@and expenses of other Persons, including expetained by the Company, (vi) the
expenses incurred in connection with making roamhspresentations and holding meetings with potémieestors to facilitate the
distribution and sale of Registrable Securitiesaolutdre customarily borne by the issuer, (vii) aggsfand disbursements of underwriters
customarily paid by issuers, and (viii) premiums ather costs of policies of insurance againsilligds arising out of the public offering of
the Registrable Securities being registered; pexlithowever, Registration Expenses shall not irchlidcounts and commissions payable to
underwriters, selling brokers, dealer managerstmrasimilar Persons engaged in the distributioarof of the Registrable Securities or the
fees and disbursements of Holders' Counsel; anddwe, further, that in any case where Registraigpenses are not to be borne by the
Company, such expenses shall not include
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salaries of Company personnel or general overhepehses of the Company, auditing fees, premiunadh@r expenses relating to liability
insurance required by underwriters of the Compamtioer expenses for the preparation of finandatkesnents or other data normally
prepared by the Company in the ordinary coursésdiusiness or which the Company would have indunmeny event.

"Registration Statement” shall mean any registnastatement of the Company which covers any RetjiltrSecurities and all amendments
and supplements to any such Registration Statenmehiding post-effective amendments, in each @adeding the Prospectus contained
therein, all exhibits thereto and all material ippmrated by reference (or deemed to be incorpotatadference) therein.

"Request” shall have the meaning set forth in 8eQil(a).

"SEC" shall mean the Securities and Exchange Cosionisor any

successor agency having jurisdiction to enforceStbeurities Act.

"Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act 883, as amended from time to time, and the ruldsegulations thereunder, or any
successor statute.

"Shelf Registration" shall have the meaning sethfor Section 2.1(a).

"Shelf Registration Period" shall have the meamsiegforth in Section 2.3(b).

"Underwriters" shall mean the underwriters, if aof/the offering being registered under the Semsifct.

"Underwritten Offering" shall mean a sale of setieisi of the Company to an Underwriter or Underwsitr reoffering to the public.
"Withdrawn Demand Registration" shall have the niegset forth in Section 2.1(a).

"Withdrawn Request” shall have the meaning sehfortSection 2.1(a).

-4-



2. REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.
2.1 Demand Registration.

(a) Right to Demand Registration. Commencing Deamib, 2000, at any time or from time to time wiies Shelf Registration Statement
provided for in

Section 2.3 has not become or is not effective utigeSecurities Act, the Majority Holders shall/bdhe right to request in writing that the
Company register all or part of such Holders' Regjlide Securities (a "Request") (which Requestl sipalcify the amount of Registrable
Securities intended to be disposed of by such Hislded the intended method or methods of dispasitiereof) by filing with the SEC a
Demand Registration Statement. As promptly as jwaaie, but no later than 10 days after recei@ Bequest, the Company shall give
written notice of such requested registration talalders of Registrable Securities. Subject totl®ac2.1(b), the Company shall include in a
Demand Registration (i) the Registrable Securititended to be disposed of by the Initiating Hoddand (ii) the Registrable Securities
intended to be disposed of by any other Holder wkitall have made a written request (which regstest specify the amount of Registrable
Securities to be registered) to the Company fdusion thereof in such registration within 20 dayter the receipt of such written notice fr
the Company. The Company shall, as expeditiouspoasible following a Request, use its best effrtsause to be filed with the SEC a
Demand Registration Statement providing for théstegtion under the Securities Act of the Regidea&ecurities which the Company has
been so requested to register by all such Holtiethe extent necessary to permit the dispositfiauoh Registrable Securities so to be
registered in accordance with the intended mettiatisposition thereof specified in such Requestl(iding, without limitation, by means o
shelf registration pursuant to Rule 415 under theuBties Act (a "Shelf Registration") if so reqtessand if the Company is then eligible to
use such a registration). The Company shall udeegs efforts to have such Demand RegistratioreStant declared effective by the SEC as
soon as practicable thereafter and to keep suchabefRegistration Statement continuously effectorelie period specified in Section 4.1

A Request may be withdrawn prior to the filing bétDemand Registration Statement by the Majoritidels of the Registration (a
"Withdrawn Request") and a Demand Registratione®tant may be withdrawn prior to the effectivenbssdaof by the Majority Holders of
the Registration (a "Withdrawn Demand Registrafijpahd such withdrawals shall be treated as a DdrRa&gistration which shall have been
effected pursuant to this Section 2.1, unless thieéts of Registrable Securities to be includesluch Registration Statement reimburse the
Company for its reasonable out-of-pocket RegisiraExpenses relating to the preparation and fitihguch Demand Registration Statement
(to the extent actually incurred); provided, howeteat if a Withdrawn Request or Withdrawn Dem&ejistration is made (A) because of a
material adverse change in the business, finaooiadition or prospects of the Company determinethé case of an Underwritten Offering,
by the sole or lead managing Underwriter in itsogeble discretion, or (B) because the sole oreaclhging Underwriter advises that the
amount of Registrable Securities to be sold in @aftdring be reduced pursuant to Section 2.1(binloye than 20% of the Registrable
Securities to be included in such Registrationesi&int, or

(C) because of a postponement of such registratiosuant to Section 2.6, then such withdrawal si@lbe treated as a Demand Registration
effected
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pursuant to this Section 2.1 (and shall not be tmitoward the number of Demand Registrations),thedCompany shall pay all Registrat
Expenses in connection therewith. Any Holder retingsnclusion in a Demand Registration may, at ame prior to the effective date of t
Demand Registration Statement (and for any reaswmoke such request by delivering written noticéh® Company revoking such requested
inclusion.

There is no limitation on the number of Demand Regtions pursuant to this Section 2.1 which thex@any is obligated to effect. The
registration rights granted pursuant to the provisiof this Section 2.1 shall be in addition torgistration rights granted pursuant to the
other provisions of

Section 2 hereof.

(b) Priority in Demand Registrations. If a DemarepRtration involves an Underwritten Offering, ahd sole or lead managing Underwriter,
as the case may be, of such Underwritten Offeritadi sdvise the Company in writing (with a copyetach Holder requesting registration) on
or before the date five days prior to the date gehreduled for such offering that, in its opinitne amount of Registrable Securities reque
to be included in such Demand Registration excdeslaumber which can be sold in such offering withiprice range acceptable to the
Majority Holders of the Registration (such writitgstate the basis of such opinion and the appraémumber of Registrable Securities
which may be included in such offering), the Compahall include in such Demand Registration, toekient of the number which the
Company is so advised may be included in suchioffethe Registrable Securities requested to bdeded in the Demand Registration by
Holders allocated pro rata in proportion to the benmof Registrable Securities requested to be dedun such Demand Registration by each
of them. In the event the Company shall not, byueirof this Section 2.1(b), include in any DemargjiBtration all of the Registrable
Securities of any Holder requesting to be inclusieslich Demand Registration, such Holder may, wpditen notice to the Company given
within five days of the time such Holder first istified of such matter, reduce the amount of Regjid¢ Securities it desires to have included
in such Demand Registration, whereupon only theidRedple Securities, if any, it desires to haveduded will be so included and the Holders
not so reducing shall be entitled to a correspandinrease in the amount of Registrable Securitid® included in such Demand
Registration.

(c) Underwriting; Selection of Underwriters. Nothstanding anything to the contrary contained intise@.1(a), if the Initiating Holders
holding a majority of the Registrable Securitiesvitich registration was requested in the Requeslect, the offering of such Registrable
Securities pursuant to such Demand Registratiolh lshén the form of a firm commitment Underwritt€ffering; and such Initiating Holders
may require that all Persons (including other Had)lparticipating in such registration sell thegdistrable Securities to the Underwriters at
the same price and on the same terms of underg/afiplicable to the Initiating Holders. If any DemlaRegistration involves an
Underwritten Offering, the sole or managing Undéievs and any additional investment bankers andagens to be used in connection with
such registration shall be selected by the Compsutyject to the approval of the Initiating Holdadding a majority of the Registrable
Securities for which registration was requestethRequest (such approval not to be unreasonatiiheid).

-6-



(d) Registration of Other Securities. WheneverGoepany shall effect a Demand Registration, noriisiother than the Registrable
Securities shall be covered by such registratidaasnthe Majority Holders shall have consentedritinvg to the inclusion of such other
securities.

(e) Effective Registration Statement; SuspensioBPefmand Registration Statement shall not be deembdve become effective (and the
related registration will not be deemed to haventeféected) (i) unless it has been declared effediiy the SEC and remains effective in
compliance with the provisions of the Securities with respect to the disposition of all RegisteBlecurities covered by such Demand
Registration Statement for the time period spetifieSection 4.1(b), (i) if the offering of any gistrable Securities pursuant to such Derr
Registration Statement is interfered with by ampsirder, injunction or other order or requiremaithe SEC or any other governmental
agency or court, or (iii) if, in the case of an @ndritten Offering, the conditions to closing sgied in an underwriting agreement to which
the Company is a party are not satisfied other tyathe sole reason of any breach or failure by-bkers of Registrable Securities or are
otherwise waived.

(f) Other Registrations. During the period (i) baging on the date of a Request and (ii) endindherdate that is 90 days after the date that a
Demand Registration Statement filed pursuant tb Rexquest has been declared effective by the SE€tlbe Holders shall withdraw such
Request or such Demand Registration Statemenheodate of such Withdrawn Request or such Withdd@amand Registration, the
Company shall not, without the consent of the Majdfolders, file a registration statement (otHgart a registration statement on Form S-4
or S-8 or any successor form to such forms) perngito any other securities of the Company.

(9) Registration Statement Form. Registrations utite Section 2.1 shall be on such appropriatéestegion form of the SEC (i) as shall be
selected by the Initiating Holders holding a majodf the Registrable Securities for which registra was requested in the Request and as
shall be reasonably acceptable to the Company(i@nehich shall be available for the sale of Regible Securities in accordance with the
intended method of disposition specified in theuesis for registration; provided, however, thah& Company is then a registrant entitled to
use Form S-3 or any successor form thereto totexgisich securities, such registration shall bectéd on such form. The Company agrees to
include in any such Registration Statement allimi@tion which any selling Holder, upon advice ofiesel, shall reasonably request.

2.2 Incidental Registration.



(a) Right to Include Registrable Securities. If @@mpany at any time or from time to time propasa®gister any of its equity securities
under the Securities Act (other than in a regigtnabn Form S-4 or 8-or any successor form to such forms and other poasuant to Sectic
2.1 or 2.3) whether or not pursuant to registratights granted to other holders of its securitied whether or not for sale for its own accc
the Company shall deliver prompt written notice ighhnotice shall be given at least 30 days prisuoch proposed registration) to all Hold

of Registrable Securities of its intention to uridke such registration, describing in reasonahtaildbe proposed registration and distribut
(including the anticipated range of the proposddriofg price, the class and number of securitieppsed to be registered and the distribution
arrangements) and of such Holders' right to pgdie in such registration under this Section 2.Bessinafter provided. Subject to the other
provisions of this paragraph (a) and Section 2,2(pdn the written request of any Holder made wi20 days after the receipt of such writ
notice (which request shall specify the amount efiRtrable Securities to be registered), the Comphall effect the registration under the
Securities Act of all Registrable Securities rege@dy Holders to be so registered (an "IncideR&distration”), to the extent requisite to
permit the disposition of the Registrable Secuwsitie to be registered, by inclusion of such Reajiddr Securities in the Registration Statement
which covers the securities which the Company psepdo register and shall cause such RegistrataiarBent to become and remain
effective with respect to such Registrable Se@gitn accordance with the registration procedusefosth in Section 4. If an Incidental
Registration involves an Underwritten Offering, iradiately upon notification to the Company from Wederwriter of the price at which

such securities are to be sold, the Company shaltigise each participating Holder. The Holdersiestjng inclusion in an Incidental
Registration may, at any time prior to the effeetilate of the Incidental Registration Statemerd fanany reason), revoke such request by
delivering written notice to the Company revokingls requested inclusion.

If at any time after giving written notice of itstention to register any securities and prior éffective date of the Incidental Registration
Statement filed in connection with such registmatiime Company shall determine for any reasonmatgister or to delay registration of such
securities, the Company may, at its election, gigten notice of such determination to each HolofeRegistrable Securities and, thereupon,
(A) in the case of a determination not to regidtee, Company shall be relieved of its obligatiomegister any Registrable Securities in
connection with such registration (but not fromdldigation to pay the Registration Expenses irexiin connection therewith), without
prejudice, however, to the rights of Holders tosmaguch registration to be effected as a registratnder

Section 2.1 or 2.3, and (B) in the case of a dat&tion to delay such registration, the Companyl ffeapermitted to delay the registration of
such Registrable Securities for the same periddeadelay in registering such other securitiesyioied, however, that if such delay shall
extend beyond 120 days from the date the Compamjved a request to include Registrable Secuiitissich Incidental Registration, then
the Company shall again give all Holders the opputy to participate therein and shall follow thetification procedures set forth in the
preceding paragraph. There is no limitation onrtheber of such Incidental Registrations pursuatiit

Section 2.2 which the Company is obligated to effec
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The registration rights granted pursuant to theigions of this
Section 2.2 shall be in addition to the registratights granted pursuant to the other provisidrSeztion 2 hereof.

(b) Priority in Incidental Registration. If an Ini@ntal Registration involves an Underwritten Offigr{on a firm commitment basis), and the
sole or the lead managing Underwriter, as the nasebe, of such Underwritten Offering shall advtse Company in writing (with a copy to
each Holder requesting registration) on or befbeedate five days prior to the date then schedigiesuch offering that, in its opinion, the
amount of securities (including Registrable Semsjtrequested to be included in such registragiaeeds the amount which can be sold in
such offering without materially interfering withe successful marketing of the securities beingreff (such writing to state the basis of such
opinion and the approximate number of such seesrnitihich may be included in such offering withautts effect), the Company shall inclt
in such registration, to the extent of the numbkictv the Company is so advised may be includedi¢ch ®ffering without such effect, (i) in
the case of a registration initiated by the Comp#éAy first, the securities that the Company praso® register for its own account, (B)
second, the Registrable Securities requested itmcheded in such registration by the Holders, ated pro rata in proportion to the numbe
Registrable Securities requested to be includedidh registration by each of them, and (C) thitdeosecurities of the Company to be
registered on behalf of any other Person, andh(ifie case of a registration initiated by a Persthier than the Company, (A) first, the
securities requested to be included in such registr by any Persons initiating such registratallgcated pro rata in proportion to the nurr
of securities requested to be included in suchsteggion by each of them, (B) second, the Regikr@bcurities requested to be included in
such registration by the Holders, allocated pra matproportion to the number of Registrable Se@msirequested to be included in such
registration by each of them, (C) third, if the Gmamy was not the Person initiating such registnatioe securities that the Company proposes
to register for its own account, and (D) fourtheatsecurities of the Company to be registeredatvalb of any other Person; provided,
however, that in the event the Company will notybiyue of this Section 2.2(b), include in any suebistration all of the Registrable
Securities of any Holder requested to be includeslich registration, such Holder may, upon writietice to the Company given within thi
days of the time such Holder first is notified ath matter, reduce the amount of Registrable S@esiii desires to have included in such
registration, whereupon only the Registrable Séiesriif any, it desires to have included will keiscluded and the Holders not so reducing
shall be entitled to a corresponding increaseératinount of Registrable Securities to be includeslich registration.

2.3 Shelf Registration Statement.

(a) The Company: (A) shall cause to be filed wite SEC, on or before October 22, 2000, a shelétregion statement (the "Shelf
Registration Statement") on an appropriate formeatide Securities Act, relating solely to the offied sale of all the Registrable Securities
by the Holders thereof from time to time in accorckawith the methods of distribution specified bg tnitial Holder as set forth in the
Registration Statement and Rule 415 under the 8iesufict; and (B) shall use its best efforts tednauch Shelf Registration declared
effective by the SEC as soon as practicable thieredifut in no event later than
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December 15, 2000; provided, however, that no Hqloher than the Initial Holder) shall be entitkedhave the Registrable Securities held
by it covered by such Registration Statement urdash Holder agrees in writing to be bound bytadl provisions of this Agreement
applicable to such Holder.

(b) The Company shall use its best efforts to kbeShelf Registration Statement continuously ¢ffecsupplemented and amended in order
to permit the Prospectus included therein to bdulyvdelivered by the Holders of the RegistrabkrBrities through the date on which all of
the Registrable Securities covered by such ShejfdRation may be sold pursuant to Rule 144(k) unlde Securities Act (or any successor
provision having similar effect) without any volupmaanner of sale or other restrictions, or suchteh@eriod that will terminate on the date
on which all of the Registrable Securities havenbs@d pursuant to the Shelf Registration Stateriergny such case, such period being
called the "Shelf Registration Period"); providadwever, that prior to the termination of such $Relgistration, the Company shall first
furnish to each Holder of Registrable Securitiegigigating in such Shelf Registration (i) an opinj in form and substance satisfactory to the
Majority Holders of the Registration, of counsel foe Company satisfactory to the Majority Holdstating that such Registrable Securities
are freely saleable pursuant to Rule 144(k) uniteiStiecurities Act (or any successor provision lggimilar effect) without any volume,
manner of sale or other restrictions or (ii) a "Nction Letter" from the staff of the SEC statingitthe SEC would not recommend
enforcement action if the Registrable Securitietuitled in such Shelf Registration were sold in blipwsale other than pursuant to an
effective registration statement. The Company dfemlleemed not to have used its best efforts tp teeRegistration Statement effective
during the Shelf Registration Period if it voluniatakes any action that would result in Holdefshe Registrable Securities covered thereby
not being able to offer and sell such Registralgleuities during the Shelf Registration Periodgsalsuch action is required by applicable
law.

(c) If at any time the Majority Holders requestariting that all or any part of the Registrable Gettes covered by the Shelf Registration
Statement be offered by means of a firm commitrbrderwritten Offering, the Company shall causeddiled with the SEC as soon as
practicable any necessary or appropriate suppletoghe Shelf Registration Statement in order featfsuch Underwritten Offering. In such
case, the sole or managing Underwriters and aniiacia investment bankers and managers to be imseghnection with such registration
shall be selected by the Company, subject to theoapl of such Majority Holders (such approval tiobe unreasonably withheld).

2.4 Expenses. The Company shall pay all Registr&ipenses in connection with any Demand Registratncidental Registration, or Shelf
Registration, whether or not such registrationlghetome effective and whether or not all Regida&ecurities originally requested to be
included in such registration are withdrawn or otfise ultimately not included in such registratiercept as otherwise provided with respect
to a Withdrawn Request and a Withdrawn Demand Ragjisn in Section 2.1(a). Each Holder shall pdyacounts and commissions
payable to underwriters, selling brokers, managergher similar Persons engaged in the distrilmubibsuch Holder's Registrable Securities
pursuant to any registration pursuant to this $ai
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2.5 Underwritten Offerings.

(a) Underwritten Offerings. If requested by theesot lead managing Underwriter for any Underwrit@fering effected pursuant to a
Demand Registration or the Shelf Registration &tat#, the Company shall enter into a customary mwriteng agreement with the
Underwriters for such offering, such agreementaadasonably satisfactory in substance and forthet@Company and to each Holder of
Registrable Securities participating in such offgriand to contain such representations and wasaloy the Company and such other terms
as are generally prevailing in agreements of §ya tincluding, without limitation, indemnificaticend contribution to the effect and to the
extent provided in Section 5.

(b) Holders of Registrable Securities to be Pattddnderwriting

Agreement. The Holders of Registrable Securitidsetalistributed by Underwriters in an Underwrit@fiering contemplated by Section 2
shall be parties to the underwriting agreement betwthe Company and such Underwriters and maygchtidolders' option, require that any
or all of the representations and warranties bg,the other agreements on the part of, the Comfmaagd for the benefit of such
Underwriters shall also be made to and for the titeofesuch Holders of Registrable Securities dmat any or all of the conditions precedent
to the obligations of such Underwriters under suistierwriting agreement be conditions precederttiéabligations of such Holders of
Registrable Securities; provided, however, thatGbepany shall not be required to make any reptagens or warranties with respect to
written information specifically provided by a $eff Holder for inclusion in the Registration Staterh No Holder shall be required to make
any representations or warranties to, or agreenvgtlisthe Company or the Underwriters other theyoresentations, warranties or agreernr
regarding such Holder and such Holder's Registr@bturities.

(c) Participation in Underwritten Registration. Mithstanding anything herein to the contrary, ncsBe may participate in any underwritten
registration hereunder unless such Person (i) agoegell its securities on the same terms andittons provided in any underwritten
arrangements approved by the Persons entitled iggeto approve such arrangement and (i) accyratehpletes and executes in a timely
manner all questionnaires, powers of attorney,rimu#es, custody agreements, underwriting agreesreeml other documents reasonably
required under the terms of such underwriting ayeaments.

(d) Limitations on Underwritten Offerings. In noent shall the Company be required to effect moae tivo (2) Underwritten Offerings
pursuant to this Agreement (whether as a DemandsiRaiipn pursuant to Section 2.1(a) or a Shelfiegtion Statement pursuant to Section
2.3), provided, however, that such Holders shakiigled to an additional Underwritten Offeringthre event any Underwritten Offering by
the Holders under this Agreement is cut back for r@ason.

2.6 Postponements. The Company shall be entitipdstpone a Demand Registration and to requiréltiders of Registrable Securities to
discontinue the disposition of their securitiesa®ad by a Shelf Registration during any Blackoutdee(as defined below) (i) if the Board of
Directors of the Company determines in good fditt effecting such a
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registration or continuing such disposition at stiste would have an adverse effect upon a propsakdof all (or substantially all) of the
assets of the Company or a merger, reorganizaggapitalization or similar current transaction enely affecting the capital, structure or
equity ownership of the Company, or (ii) if the Quemny is in possession of material information whiwd Board of Directors of the Comps
determines in good faith is not in the best intesre$ the Company to disclose in a registratiotest@nt at such time provided, however, that
the Company may delay a Demand Registration andreethe Holders of Registrable Securities to didicme the disposition of their
securities covered by a Shelf Registration onlyafoeasonable period of time not to exceed 90 {(taysuch earlier time as such transaction is
consummated or no longer proposed or the matafiamation has been made public) (the "Blackoutdey; provided, further, that the
effectiveness period shall be extended by the numib@ays in any Blackout Period to the extent thatRegistration Statement already was
effective at the commencement of the Blackout Refldere shall not be more than one Blackout Peri@hy 12 month period. The
Company shall promptly notify the Holders in wriiga "Blackout Notice") of any decision to postp@Bemand Registration or to
discontinue sales of Registrable Securities covbyea Shelf Registration pursuant to this Secti@ghatd shall include an undertaking by the
Company to promptly notify the Holders as soon &emand Registration may be effected or sales gfsRable Securities covered by a
Shelf Registration may resume. In making any swatkrdhination to initiate or terminate a Blackouti®g, the Company shall not be requi

to consult with or obtain the consent of any Hol@ard any such determination shall be the Compawlesresponsibility. Each Holder shall
treat all notices received from the Company pursta@this

Section 2.6 in the strictest confidence and shatlidisseminate such information. If the Companyllgiastpone the filing of a Demand
Registration Statement pursuant to this Sectiont@eésMajority Holders shall have the right to witaw the request for registration. Any such
withdrawal shall be made by giving written noticetie Company within 30 days after receipt of thecBout Notice. Such withdrawn
registration request shall not be treated as a DdrR&gistration effected pursuant to Section 2ntl &hall not be counted towards the nun

of Demand Registrations effected), and the Comsaayl pay all Registration Expenses in connectinewith.

3. RESTRICTIONS ON SALE.

3.1 Restrictions on Sale by Holders of Common Share

(a) Each of the Holders agrees not to sell, trarmfetherwise dispose of any Shares to any Paymr than an Affiliate of such Holder,
except in accordance with the following schedule:

Date Maximum percent age of Common Shares which

the Holders may sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of

November 1, 2000 50%
March 16, 2001 100%
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(b) If the Company shall at any time hereafter pievto any holder of any securities of the Compaasjrictions with respect to the sale of
such securities on terms or conditions more faverabsuch holder than the terms and conditionsigeal in this Agreement, the Company
shall provide (by way of amendment to this Agreenmgrotherwise) such more favorable terms or comusitto the Holders.

3.2 Restrictions on Sale by the Company and Othédrs.Company agrees that (i) if timely requestedriiing by the sole or lead managing
Underwriter in an Underwritten Offering of any Retgable Securities, it will not make any short s#ldoan, grant any option for the
purchase of or effect any public sale or distributdf any of the Company's equity securities (gr security convertible into or exchangeable
or exercisable for any of the Company's equity ses) during the nine business days (as such ieused in Rule 10b-6 under the
Exchange Act) prior to, and during the time perniedsonably requested by the sole or lead managidgnuriter not to exceed 90 days,
beginning on the effective date of the applicabdgiBtration Statement (except as part of such undten registration or pursuant to
registrations on Forms S-4 or8Ser any successor form to such forms), and (Wilitcause each officer and director of the Compand eac
Affiliate that holds 5% or more of equity securdti@r any security convertible into or exchangeablexercisable for any of its equity
securities) of the Company purchased from the Compaany time after the date of this Agreemertigothan in a registered public
offering) to so agree.

4. REGISTRATION PROCEDURES.

4.1 Obligations of the Company. Subject to Secidi) whenever the Company is required to effectelgéstration of Registrable Securities
under the Securities Act pursuant to Section hisfAgreement, the Company shall, as expeditioasipgossible:

(a) prepare and file with the SEC (promptly, anduiy event within 60 days after receipt of a retit@segister Registrable Securities) the
requisite Registration Statement to effect sucksteggion, which Registration Statement shall congd to form in all material respects with
the requirements of the applicable form and inclaltiéinancial statements required by the SEC tdiled therewith, and the Company shall
use its best efforts to cause such Registratiore®&nt to become effective (provided, that the Camypmnay discontinue any registration of
its securities that are not Registrable Securitiag, under the circumstances specified in Se&idnits securities that are Registrable
Securities); provided, however, that before film&egistration Statement or Prospectus or any amemts or supplements thereto, or
comparable statements under securities or bludasks/ of any jurisdiction, the Company shall (i) yide Holders' Counsel and any other
Inspector with an adequate and appropriate oppityttoparticipate in the preparation of such Regiton Statement and each Prospectus
included therein (and each amendment or supplethergto or comparable statement) to be filed WwithEC, which documents shall be
subject to the review and comment of Holders' Celjraad (ii) not file any such Registration Statetna@ Prospectus (or amendment or
supplement thereto or comparable statement) wittStC to which Holder's Counsel, any selling Holaleasiny other Inspector shall have
reasonably objected on the grounds that such filmes not comply in all material respects withrbguirements of the Securities Act or of
the rules or regulations thereunder;
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(b) prepare and file with the SEC such amendmamdssapplements to such Registration StatementhenBriospectus used in connection
therewith as may be necessary (i) to keep suchsRation Statement effective, and (ii) to complyhathe provisions of the Securities Act
with respect to the disposition of all RegistraBlurities covered by such Registration Statenreegch case until such time as all of such
Registrable Securities have been disposed of iordance with the intended methods of dispositiddah in such Registration Statement;
provided, that except with respect to any Shelfi&egtion, such period need not extend beyond sirths after the effective date of the
Registration Statement; and provided, further, Wit respect to any Shelf Registration, such gkneed not extend beyond the time period
provided in Section 2.3, and which periods, in emgnt, shall terminate when all Registrable Seiegritovered by such Registration
Statement have been sold

(but not before the expiration of the 90 day perigigrred to in Section 4(3)

of the Securities Act and Rule 174 thereundempfligable);

(c) furnish, without charge, to each selling Holdésuch Registrable Securities and each Undemyiftany, of the securities covered by si
Registration Statement, such number of copies @i Registration Statement, each amendment andesuppt thereto (in each case incluc
all exhibits), and the Prospectus included in dRegistration Statement (including each prelimir@rgspectus) in conformity with the
requirements of the Securities Act, and other damis) as such selling Holder and Underwriter magaaably request in order to facilitate
the public sale or other disposition of the Reglsig Securities owned by such selling Holder (tben@any hereby consenting to the use in
accordance with applicable law of each such Registr Statement (or amendment or post-effectiveraiment thereto) and each such
Prospectus (or preliminary prospectus or supplertameto) by each such selling Holder of Regisaracurities and the Underwriters, if
any, in connection with the offering and sale & Registrable Securities covered by such Regisir&tatement or Prospectus);

(d) prior to any public offering of Registrable Sieties, use its best efforts to register or quyadill Registrable Securities and other securities
covered by such Registration Statement under stiner securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdics as any selling Holder of Registrable
Securities covered by such Registration Statemetfiteosole or lead managing Underwriter, if anyymeasonably request to enable such
selling Holder to consummate the disposition inhspucisdictions of the Registrable Securities owbgduch selling Holder and to continue
such registration or qualification in effect in Baich jurisdiction for as long as such Registratatement remains in effect (including
through new filings or amendments or renewals),@mdny and all other acts and things which magydeessary or advisable to enable any
such selling Holder to consummate the dispositiosuich jurisdictions of the Registrable Securitiesied by such selling Holder;

provided, however, that the Company shall not lpeired to (i) qualify generally to do business iy gurisdiction where it would not
otherwise be required to qualify but for this Sewstit.1(d), (ii) subject itself to taxation in anycé jurisdiction, or (iii) consent to general
service of process in any such jurisdiction;

(e) use its best efforts to obtain all other appt®yconsents, exemptions or authorizations froch giovernmental agencies or authorities as
may be necessary to enable the
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selling Holders of such Registrable Securitiestostmmate the disposition of such Registrable &es)r

(f) promptly notify Holders' Counsel, each HoldéiRegistrable Securities covered by such Regisingfitatement and the sole or lead
managing Underwriter, if any: (i) when the Registna Statement, any pre-effective amendment, tlosg&rictus or any prospectus supplement
related thereto or post- effective amendment tdRibgistration Statement has been filed and, wipeet to the Registration Statement or any
post-effective amendment, when the same has beetigwtive, (ii) of any request by the SEC or amatetsecurities or blue sky authority for
amendments or supplements to the RegistrationrBéaieor the Prospectus related thereto or for maha@it information, (iii) of the issuance

the SEC of any stop order suspending the effeatisgiof the Registration Statement or the initiatiothreat of any proceedings for that
purpose, (iv) of the receipt by the Company of aaijfication with respect to the suspension ofdhalification of any Registrable Securities
for sale under the securities or blue sky lawsnyfjarisdiction or the initiation of any proceedifay such purpose, (v) of the existence of any
fact of which the Company becomes aware or the dw@ppg of any event which results in (A) the Registm Statement containing an untrue
statement of a material fact or omitting to stateaderial fact required to be stated therein oessary to make any statements therein not
misleading, or (B) the Prospectus included in dRebistration Statement containing an untrue statéofea material fact or omitting to state
a material fact required to be stated therein cesgary to make any statements therein, in thedigthe circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading, (vi) if at any time tepresentations and warranties contemplated bydse2i5(b) cease to be true and correct in
all material respects, and (vii) of the Compangasonable determination that a post-effective amentito a Registration Statement would
be appropriate or that there exists circumstanogeget disclosed to the public which make furthedes under such Registration Statement
inadvisable pending such disclosure and post-éffeeimendment; and, if the natification relatesutoevent described in any of the clauses
(i) through (vii) of this

Section 4.1, the Company shall promptly preparepplement or post-effective amendment to such Ragjisn Statement or related
Prospectus or any document incorporated therenefieyence or file any other required document ab th

(1) such Registration Statement shall not contajinuantrue statement of a material fact or omittédesa material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements theoéimisleading, and (2) as thereafter delivereithéopurchasers of the Registrable
Securities being sold thereunder, such Prospebalbrot include an untrue statement of a matéaietl or omit to state a material fact requ

to be stated therein or necessary to make thexsats therein in the light of the circumstancesenwhich they were made not misleading
(and shall furnish to each such Holder and eachetimdter, if any, a reasonable number of copiesuzh Prospectus so supplemented or
amended); and if the notification relates to améwdescribed in clause (iii) of this Section 4.1{fle Company shall take all reasonable action
required to prevent the entry of such stop ordéowemove it if entered;

(g) make available for inspection by any sellingdéo of Registrable Securities, any sole or leadaging Underwriter participating in any
disposition pursuant to such Registration Stateptéoiders' Counsel and any attorney, accountaattar agent retained by any such sell¢
any Underwriter (each, an "Inspector" and, colledi, the "Inspectors"), all financial and othecaoeds, pertinent corporate documents and
properties of the
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Company and any subsidiaries thereof as may beisteace at such time (collectively, the "Recordss)shall be necessary, in the opinion of
such Holders' and such Underwriters' respectivaseluto enable them to exercise their due diligaesponsibility and to conduct a
reasonable investigation within the meaning ofSkeurities Act, and cause the Company's and arsidiabes' officers, directors and
employees, and the independent public accountéuite €Company, to supply all information reasonakelguested by any such Inspectors in
connection with such Registration Statement;

(h) obtain an opinion from the Company's counsélaticold comfort" letter from the Company's indegent public accountants who have
certified the Company's financial statements inetldr incorporated by reference in such Regismefimtement, in each case dated the
effective date of such Registration Statement {fsdch registration involves an Underwritten Ofifigy, dated the date of the closing unde!
underwriting agreement), in customary form and cogesuch matters as are customarily covered bly spmions and "cold comfort" letters
delivered to underwriters in underwritten publifevings, which opinion and letter shall be reastynahtisfactory to the sole or lead
managing Underwriter, if any, and to the Majoritglders, and furnish to each Holder participatinghia offering and to each Underwriter, if
any, a copy of such opinion and letter addresseadd¢b Holder (in the case of the opinion) and Uwdéer (in the case of the opinion and the
"cold comfort" letter);

(i) provide and cause to be maintained a trangfentand registrar for all such Registrable Seiegritovered by such Registration Statement
not later than the effectiveness of such Registnafitatement;

(j) otherwise use its best efforts to comply witheg@plicable rules and regulations of the SEC anyl other governmental agency or authority
having jurisdiction over the offering, and makeitalae to its security holders, as soon as readgnahcticable but no later than 90 days ¢
the end of any 12-month period, an earnings stateffjecommencing at the end of any month in whHRggistrable Securities are sold to
Underwriters in an Underwritten Offering and (igramencing with the first day of the Company's cdé@rmonth next succeeding each sale
of Registrable Securities after the effective ddta Registration Statement, which statement slwadér such 12-month periods, in a manner
which satisfies the provisions of Section 11(a)hef Securities Act and Rule 158 thereunder;

(k) if so requested by the Majority Holders of fRegistration, use its best efforts to cause alhgRegistrable Securities to be listed (i) on ¢
national securities exchange on which the Compam®garities are then listed or (ii) if securitiddtee Company are not at the time listed on
any national securities exchange (or if the listfidregistrable Securities is not permitted untierrules of each national securities exchange
on which the Company's securities are then list@ug national securities exchange or The Nasdack$darket's National Market, as
designated by the Majority Holders;

() keep each selling Holder of Registrable Semsiadvised in writing as to the initiation andgmass of any registration under Section 2
hereunder;
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(m) enter into and perform customary agreementdu@ing, if applicable, an underwriting agreementiustomary form) and provide office
certificates and other customary closing documents;

(n) cooperate with each selling Holder of Regidra®ecurities and each Underwriter participatinthim disposition of such Registrable
Securities and their respective counsel in conaedatiith any filings required to be made with the 8IAand make reasonably available its
employees and personnel and otherwise provide mahioassistance to the Underwriters (taking ictmant the needs of the Company's
businesses and the requirements of the marketoaeps) in the marketing of Registrable Securitiemny Underwritten Offering;

(o) furnish to each Holder participating in theesffig and the sole or lead managing Underwritaanif, without charge, at least one manually-
signed copy of the Registration Statement and asy-gffective amendments thereto, including finahsiatements and schedules, all
documents incorporated therein by reference aneikalbits (including those deemed to be incorpatdig reference);

(p) cooperate with the selling Holders of Regidea®ecurities and the sole or lead managing Undemyif any, to facilitate the timely
preparation and delivery of certificates not begquamy restrictive legends representing the Redlstr@ecurities to be sold, and cause such
Registrable Securities to be issued in such deratinims and registered in such names in accordaitbdhve underwriting agreement prior to
any sale of Registrable Securities to the Undeensior, if not an Underwritten Offering, in accanda with the instructions of the selling
Holders of Registrable Securities at least thresrimss days prior to any sale of Registrable Seesiri

(q) if requested by the sole or lead managing Umdtar or any selling Holder of Registrable Sedasf immediately incorporate in a
prospectus supplement or post-effective amendmesht information concerning such Holder of RegideeRecurities, or the Underwriters or
the intended method of distribution as the sollead managing Underwriter or the selling HoldeRefQistrable Securities reasonably reqt
to be included therein and as is appropriate irr¢hsonable judgment of the Company, includingheuit limitation, information with respect
to the number of shares of the Registrable Seesiiiteing sold to the Underwriters, the purchasgreing paid therefor by such
Underwriters and with respect to any other termthefUnderwritten Offering of the Registrable Sé&s to be sold in such offering; make
all required filings of such Prospectus supplenoengost-effective amendment as soon as notifigti@matters to be incorporated in such
Prospectus supplement or post-effective amendraadtsupplement or make amendments to any Registratatement if requested by the
sole or lead managing Underwriter of such Registr&8ecurities; and

(r) use its best efforts to take all other stepsensary to expedite or facilitate the registratiod disposition of the Registrable Securities
contemplated hereby.

4.2 Seller Information. The Company may requirehesadling Holder of Registrable Securities as tacltany registration is being effected
furnish to the Company such information regardinghsHolder, such Holder's Registrable Securitiessarch Holder's
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intended method of disposition as the Company may time to time reasonably request in writing;\pded that such information shall be
used only in connection with such registration.

If any Registration Statement or comparable stat¢émeder "blue sky" laws refers to any Holder byneaor otherwise as the Holder of any
securities of the Company, then such Holder stalklthe right to require (i) the insertion thereianguage, in form and substance
satisfactory to such Holder and the Company, teeffext that the holding by such Holder of suchusies is not to be construed as a
recommendation by such Holder of the investmenlityuaf the Company's securities covered therehy that such holding does not imply
that such Holder will assist in meeting any futfinancial requirements of the Company, and (ii)ha event that such reference to such
Holder by name or otherwise is not in the judgnaithe Company, as advised by counsel, requireithéyBecurities Act or any similar
federal statute or any state "blue sky" or se@gitaw then in force, the deletion of the refereiocguch Holder.

4.3 Notice to Discontinue. Each Holder of Regidee®ecurities agrees by acquisition of such ReajitdrSecurities that, upon receipt of any
notice from the Company of the happening of anyneeéthe kind described in Section 4.1(f)(ii) tbhgh (vii), such Holder shall forthwith
discontinue disposition of Registrable Securitissspant to the Registration Statement covering Regjistrable Securities until such Hold
receipt of the copies of the supplemented or anwpdaspectus contemplated by Section 4.1(f) arsh directed by the Company, such
Holder shall deliver to the Company (at the Compaaypense) all copies, other than permanentditées, then in such Holder's possession
of the Prospectus covering such Registrable Séesirithich is current at the time of receipt of sackice. If the Company shall give any s
notice, the Company shall extend the period dunihigh such Registration Statement shall be maiatheffective pursuant to this Agreem
(including, without limitation, the period referréalin Section 4.1(b)) by the number of days dutimgperiod from and including the date of
the giving of such notice pursuant to Section 4.to(fand including the date when the Holder shallehreceived the copies of the
supplemented or amended prospectus contemplataddosneeting the requirements of Section 4.1(f).

50 INDEMNIFICATION; CONTRIBUTION.

5.1 Indemnification by the Company. The Companyagtto indemnify and hold harmless, to the fulbesént permitted by law, each Holder
of Registrable Securities, its officers, directgartners, members, shareholders, employees,afffliand agents (collectively, "Agents") and
each Person who controls such Holder (within thamrey of the Securities Act) and its Agents withpect to each registration which has
been effected pursuant to this Agreement, agaimstad all losses, claims, damages or liabilifieisit or several, actions or proceedings
(whether commenced or threatened) in respect thexrd expenses (as incurred or suffered and inguidbut not limited to, any and all
expenses incurred in investigating, preparing éemtding any litigation or proceeding, whether comoe or threatened, and the reasonable
fees, disbursements and other charges of legaketjun respect thereof (collectively, "Claims')sofar as such Claims arise out of or are
based upon any untrue or alleged untrue statenfientnaterial fact contained in any Registration&tent or Prospectus (including any
preliminary, final or summary prospectus and angadment or

-18-



supplement thereto) related to any such registraiicany omission or alleged omission to state terizd fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein not mistgar any violation by the Company of the SetiesiAct or any rule or regulation
thereunder applicable to the Company and relatragtion or inaction required of the Company inreation with any such registration, or
any qualification or compliance incident theretmyded, however, that the Company will not be lkailp any such case to the extent that any
such Claims arise out of or are based upon anyesatement or alleged untrue statement of a rabfact or omission or alleged omission
of a material fact so made in reliance upon ancbimformity with written information furnished toéfCompany in an instrument duly
executed by such Holder specifically stating thatds expressly for use therein. The Company siesdl indemnify any Underwriters of the
Registrable Securities, their Agents and each Rex$m controls any such Underwriter (within the mieg of the Securities Act) to the same
extent as provided above with respect to the indiéeation of the Holders of Registrable Securiti8sich indemnity shall remain in full force
and effect regardless of any investigation maderlgn behalf of any Person who may be entitlechttemnification pursuant to this

Section 5 and shall survive the transfer of seiesriby such Holder or Underwriter.

5.2 Indemnification by Holders. Each Holder, if Regable Securities held by it are included in $leeurities as to which a registration is
being effected, agrees to, severally and not jimidemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest exgermitted by law, the Company, its
directors and officers, each other Person whogpaties as an Underwriter in the offering or sdlsuzh securities and its Agents and each
Person who controls the Company or any such Undterwwithin the meaning of the Securities Act) arsdAgents against any and all
Claims, insofar as such Claims arise out of ohased upon any untrue or alleged untrue statenmientnaterial fact contained in any
Registration Statement or Prospectus (including@eiiminary, final or summary prospectus and amgadment or supplement thereto)
related to such registration, or any omission lagald omission to state therein a material faatired to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading, texkent, but only to the extent, that such untragestent or alleged untrue statement or
omission or alleged omission was made in reliarppmnwand in conformity with written information fushed to the Company in an instrum
duly executed by such Holder specifically statihgttit was expressly for use therein; provided, éav, that the aggregate amount which
such Holder shall be required to pay pursuantigoSlkection 5.2 shall in no event be greater tharathount of the net proceeds received by
such Holder upon the sale of the Registrable S@esipursuant to the Registration Statement givisgyto such Claims less all amounts
previously paid by such Holder with respect to angh Claims. Such indemnity shall remain in fulicland effect regardless of any
investigation made by or on behalf of such indemadiparty and shall survive the transfer of suatuses by such Holder or Underwriter.

5.3 Conduct of Indemnification Proceedings. Prognafter receipt by an indemnified party of notideaay Claim or the commencement of
any action or proceeding involving a Claim undés tection 5, such indemnified party shall, if aii in respect thereof is to be made ag
the indemnifying party pursuant to Section 5, @Jify the indemnifying party in writing of the Clai or the commencement of such action or
proceeding; provided, that the failure of any indéiad party to provide such notice shall not reée¢he indemnifying party of its obligations
under this Section 5, except to the extent thermmidfying party is
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materially and actually prejudiced thereby and lshat relieve the indemnifying party from any lifityi which it may have to any indemnified
party otherwise than under this Section 5, anc@imit such indemnifying party to assume the dedesf such claim with counsel reasonably
satisfactory to the indemnified party; providedweoer, that any indemnified party shall have tlghtito employ separate counsel and to
participate in the defense of such claim, but gesfand expenses of such counsel shall be atple@sxof such indemnified party unless (A)
the indemnifying party has agreed in writing to saigh fees and expenses, (B) the indemnifying syl have failed to assume the defense
of such claim and employ counsel reasonably satsfiato such indemnified party within 10 days afeceiving notice from such

indemnified party that the indemnified party beés\t has failed to do so, (C) in the reasonaldgruent of any such indemnified party, be
upon advice of counsel, a conflict of interest reaist between such indemnified party and the ind8smg party with respect to such claims
(in which case, if the indemnified party notifié®tindemnifying party in writing that it electsemploy separate counsel at the expense of the
indemnifying party, the indemnifying party shallti@ave the right to assume the defense of suctn@aibehalf of such indemnified party)
(D) such indemnified party is a defendant in amoscor proceeding which is also brought againstitidemnifying party and reasonably shall
have concluded that there may be one or more tigfahses available to such indemnified party whighnot available to the indemnifying
party. No indemnifying party shall be liable foryasettlement of any such claim or action effectéthout its written consent, which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld. In additiorthauit the consent of the indemnified party (whiongent shall not be unreasonably
withheld), no indemnifying party shall be permittedconsent to entry of any judgment with respegcbt to effect the settlement or
compromise of any pending or threatened actiordadmdn respect of which indemnification or contrtibon may be sought hereunder
(whether or not the indemnified party is an actugbotential party to such action or claim), unlsssh settlement, compromise or judgment
(1) includes an unconditional release of the ind@ethparty from all liability arising out of sucdction or claim, (2) does not include a
statement as to or an admission of fault, culpghili a failure to act, by or on behalf of any indefied party, and (3) does not provide for
any action on the part of any party other thanpdngment of money damages which is to be paid irbfuthe indemnifying party.

5.4 Contribution. If the indemnification providedrfin Section 5.1 or 5.2 from the indemnifying dir any reason is unavailable to (other
than by reason of exceptions provided thereinjs arsufficient to hold harmless, an indemnifiedtpdereunder in respect of any Claim, tl
the indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying sutmdemnified party, shall contribute to the amopaid or payable by such indemnified
party as a result of such Claim in such proporéeiis appropriate to reflect the relative faulthaf indemnifying party, on the one hand, and
the indemnified party, on the other hand, in cotinaawith the actions which resulted in such Claas,well as any other relevant equitable
considerations. The relative fault of such indewinig party and indemnified party shall be deterrdibg reference to, among other things,
whether any action in question, including any uatou alleged untrue statement of a material fachaission or alleged omission to state a
material fact, has been made by, or relates torimdtion supplied by, such indemnifying party orénthified party, and the parties' relative
intent, knowledge, access to information and oppaty to correct or prevent such action. If, howgvke foregoing allocation is not
permitted by applicable law, then each indemnifypagty shall contribute to the amount paid or pdgdly such indemnified party in
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such proportion as is appropriate to reflect ndy sach relative faults but also the relative bésedf the indemnifying party and the
indemnified party as well as any other relevantitatple considerations.

The parties hereto agree that it would not begast equitable if contribution pursuant to this 8tb.4 were determined by pro rata
allocation or by any other method of allocation e¥hdloes not take into account the equitable coridas referred to in the immediately
preceding paragraph. The amount paid or payabkegarty as a result of any Claim referred to initheediately preceding paragraph shall
be deemed to include, subject to the limitationdaeh in Section 5.3, any legal or other feests@r expenses reasonably incurred by such
party in connection with any investigation or predmg. Notwithstanding anything in this Section ta4he contrary, no indemnifying party
(other than the Company) shall be required purstaatitis

Section 5.4 to contribute any amount in excest®fiet proceeds received by such indemnifying festy the sale of the Registrable
Securities pursuant to the Registration Statemiemgyrise to such Claims, less all amounts presippaid by such indemnifying party with
respect to such Claims. No person guilty of frasdumisrepresentation (within the meaning of Sectib(a) of the Securities Act) shall be
entitled to contribution from any person who was guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

5.5 Other Indemnification. Indemnification simitarthat specified in the preceding Sections 5.1madwith appropriate modifications) sh
be given by the Company and each selling Hold®eagfistrable Securities with respect to any requieggstration or other qualification of
securities under any Federal or state law or réigulaf any governmental authority, other than Seeurities Act. The indemnity agreements
contained herein shall be in addition to any otights to indemnification or contribution which amdemnified party may have pursuant to
law or contract.

5.6 Indemnification Payments. The indemnificatiowl @ontribution required by this Section 5 shalhiede by periodic payments of the
amount thereof during the course of any investigatr defense, as and when bills are receivedyeagpense, loss, damage or liability is
incurred.

60 GENERAL.

6.1 Adjustments Affecting Registrable SecuritietBe TTCompany agrees that it shall not effect or petondccur any combination or
subdivision of shares which would materially adedysaffect the ability of the Holder of any Regadite Securities to include such Registr:
Securities in any registration contemplated by Agseement or the marketability of such Registréddeurities in any such registration.

6.2 Registration Rights to Others. Other than a$osth on Schedule A attached hereto, the Comjigngt party to any agreement with
respect to its securities granting any registratights to any Person. If the Company shall att@mg hereafter provide to any holder of any
securities of the Company rights with respect torégistration of such securities under the Seearfct, (i) such rights shall not be in
conflict with or adversely affect any of the rigpiovided in this Agreement to the Holders andi{iguch rights are provided on terms or
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conditions more favorable to such holder than émm$ and conditions provided in this Agreement,Gbenpany shall provide (by way of
amendment to this Agreement or otherwise) such ffiaw@rable terms or conditions to the Holders.

6.3 Availability of Information. The Company coventa that it shall timely file any reports requitedbe filed by it under the Securities Ac
the Exchange Act (including, but not limited toe tleports under Sections 13 and 15(d) of the Exgiéwet referred to in subparagraph (c) of
Rule 144 under the Securities Act), and that itighke such further action as any Holder of Reglsie Securities may reasonably request, all
to the extent required from time to time to enahleh Holder to sell Registrable Securities withegfistration under the Securities Act within
the limitation of the exemptions provided by (i)|IRd44 under the Securities Act, as such rule neagrbended from time to time, or (ii) any
other rule or regulation now existing or herea#tdopted by the SEC. Upon the request of any HaflRegistrable Securities, the Company
shall deliver to such Holder a written statementioaghether it has complied with such requirements.

6.4 Amendments and Waivers. The provisions of Algireement may not be amended, modified, supplerdemtéerminated, and waivers or
consents to departures from the provisions heregf mot be given, without the written consent of @@npany and the Holders holding more
than 50% of the Registrable Securities then oudstap provided, however, that no such amendmentlification, supplement, waiver or
consent to departure shall reduce the aforesatkptage of Registrable Securities without the amittonsent of all of the Holders of
Registrable Securities; and provided, further, ti@hing herein shall prohibit any amendment, nmodifon, supplement, termination, waiver
or consent to departure the effect of which istimionly to those Holders who have agreed to so@mdment, modification, supplement,
termination, waiver or consent to departure.

6.5 Notices. All notices and other communicatiorsvjaed for or permitted hereunder shall be maderiting by hand delivery, telecopier,
any courier guaranteeing overnight delivery ortfilass registered or certified mail, return retefiguested, postage prepaid, addressed to th
applicable party at the address set forth belosuch other address as may hereafter be desigmatetting by such party to the other parties
in accordance with the provisions of this Section:

(i) If to the Company, to:

World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc. 1Ekt Main Street
P.O. Box 3857

Stamford, CT 06902

Attn: Edward L. Kaufman

Telecopy: 203-353-0236

Telephone: 203-352-8786

With a copy to:
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Kirkpatrick & Lockhart LLP Henry W. Oliver Building35 Smithfield Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15222-2312 Attn: W. Henry Snyderq.Es

Telecopy: 412-355-6501
Telephone: 412-355-6720
(ii) If to the Initial Holder, to:

National Broadcasting Company, Inc. 30 Rockeféflleiza, Room 10°-E New York, NY 10112
Attn: Duncan Ebersol

Telecopy: 212-977-7165

Telephone: 212-664-3302

With a copy to each of:

National Broadcasting Company, Inc.
30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10112

Attn: Law Department
Telecopy: 212-664-5835
Telephone: 212-664-7168

Proskauer Rose LLP
1585 Broadway
New York, New York 10036 Attn: Michael Cardozo, E

Telecopy: (212) 969-2900

Telephone: (212) 969-3000

(iii) If to any subsequent Holder, to the addressuzh Person set forth in the records of the Campa

All such notices and communications shall be deetmdtve been duly given: at the time deliveredhlpd, if personally delivered; when
receipt is acknowledged, if telecopied; on the roexdiness day, if timely delivered to a courierrgméeeing overnight delivery; and five days
after being deposited in the mail, if sent firstsd or certified mail, return receipt requestedtgge prepaid.

6.6 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shai ito the benefit of and be binding upon the partiereto and their respective successors
and permitted assigns. Any Holder may assign toAdfiljate or to any other transferee of at leaS000 Common Shares (subject to any

adjustment for stock splits, dividends, recapitdlizns and similar corporate
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events) (other than a transferee that acquires Regrstrable Securities in a registered publicraffgor pursuant to a sale under Rule 144 of
the Securities Act (or any successor rule)), ghts and obligations under this Agreement; proviteavever, if any such transferee shall take
and hold Registrable Securities, such transferak gtomptly notify the Company and by taking aralding such Registrable Securities such
transferee shall automatically be entitled to ree¢he benefits of and be conclusively deemed e lagreed to be bound by and to perform
all of the terms and provisions of this Agreememifdt were a party hereto (and shall, for all poses, be deemed a Holder under this
Agreement). If the Company shall so request, asgessor or permitted assign (including any pernhittensferee) shall agree in writing to
acquire and hold the Registrable Securities sultjeall of the terms hereof. For purposes of thigeement, "successor” for any entity other
than a natural person shall mean a successor hoesuity as a result of such entity's merger, ctidation, sale of substantially all of its
assets, or similar transaction. Except as provatexve or otherwise permitted by this Agreementheeithis Agreement nor any right,
remedy, obligation or liability arising hereunderby reason hereof shall be assignable by any Haldby the Company without the consent
of the other parties hereto.

6.7 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executésldror more counterparts, each of which, whenxazeted and delivered, shall be
deemed to be an original, but all of which courget taken together, shall constitute one anddange instrument.

6.8 Descriptive Headings, Etc. The headings inAlgigeement are for convenience of reference ontiysinall not limit or otherwise affect the
meaning of terms contained herein. Unless the gbofethis Agreement otherwise requires: (1) wasflany gender shall be deemed to
include each other gender; (2) words using theusamgr plural number shall also include the plunasingular number, respectively; (3) the
words "hereof', "herein" and "hereunder" and warfdsimilar import when used in this Agreement shedér to this Agreement as a whole
and not to any particular provision of this Agreem@nd Section and paragraph references are ®dtions and paragraphs of this
Agreement unless otherwise specified; (4) the worduding" and words of similar import when usedthis Agreement shall mean
"including, without limitation," unless otherwispexified; (5) "or" is not exclusive; and (6) praeiss apply to successive events and
transactions.

6.9 Severability. In the event that any one or najréne provisions, paragraphs, words, clausegggsror sentences contained herein, or the
application thereof in any circumstances, is helalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respectday reason, the validity, legality and
enforceability of any such provision, paragraphrdyelause, phrase or sentence in every otherceapd of the other remaining provisions,
paragraphs, words, clauses, phrases or senterees Gleall not be in any way impaired, it beingeimded that all rights, powers and privile

of the parties hereto shall be enforceable touledt extent permitted by law.

6.10 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be goveidmg and construed in accordance with, the lanth@fState of New York (without
giving effect to the conflict of laws principlesetteof).

6.11 Remedies; Specific Performance. The partietdv@cknowledge that money damages would not lzelaquate remedy at law if any
party fails to perform in any material
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respect any of its obligations hereunder, and aiegly agree that each party,'in addition to arlyeotremedy to which it may be entitled at
law or in equity, shall be entitled to seek to cetgpecific performance of the obligations of atlyen party under this Agreement, without
the posting of any bond, in accordance with thengseand conditions of this Agreement in any couthefUnited States or any State thereof
having jurisdiction, and if any action should beugght in equity to enforce any of the provisiongta$ Agreement, none of the parties hereto
shall raise the defense that there is an adeqemtedy at law. Except as otherwise provided by &delay or omission by a party hereto in
exercising any right or remedy accruing upon arghdwreach shall not impair the right or remedyanrgtitute a waiver of or acquiescence in
any such breach. No remedy shall be exclusive pi#mer remedy. All available remedies shall be clative.

6.12 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the RagetAgreement are intended by the parties as leefipaession of their agreement and
intended to be a complete and exclusive statenfeheagreement and understanding of the partietdven respect of the subject matter
contained herein. There are no restrictions, presjigepresentations, warranties, covenants or takilegs relating to such subject matter,
other than those set forth or referred to hereiim ¢éhe Purchase Agreement. This Agreement anétinehase Agreement supersede all prior
agreements and understandings between the Compdrili@other parties to this Agreement with respeetich subject matter.

6.13 Nominees for Beneficial Owners. In the evbat iny Registrable Securities are held by a norfioethe beneficial owner thereof, the
beneficial owner thereof may, at its election intiwg delivered to the Company, be treated as thddr of such Registrable Securities for
purposes of any request or other action by anyenald holders of Registrable Securities pursuatitibAgreement or any determination of
any number or percentage of shares of RegistragarBies held by any holder or holders of RegiraSecurities contemplated by this
Agreement. If the beneficial owner of any Regisieg®ecurities so elects, the Company may requgerasces reasonably satisfactory to it of
such owner's beneficial ownership of such Regitgr8lecurities.

6.14 Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury. Epalty to this Agreement hereby irrevocably and mditionally agrees that any legal action,
suit or proceeding arising out of or relating tstAgreement or any agreements or transactionengiated hereby may be brought in any
federal court of the Southern District of New Yankany state court located in New York County, &tH#tNew York, and hereby irrevocably
and unconditionally expressly submits to the peabpmisdiction and venue of such courts for thepmses thereof and hereby irrevocably
unconditionally waives any claim (by way of moti@s, a defense or otherwise) of improper venue,jttieahot subject personally to the
jurisdiction of such court, that such courts arérmonvenient forum or that this Agreement or thbjsct matter may not be enforced in or
such court. Each party hereby irrevocably and uditmmally consents to the service of process gf @iithe aforementioned courts in any
such action, suit or proceeding by the mailingagies thereof by registered or certified mail, pgstprepaid, to the address set forth or
provided for in Section 6.5 of this Agreement, ssehvice to become effective 10 days after suchimgaiNothing herein contained shall be
deemed to affect the right of any party to senazess in any manner permitted by law or commergal [groceedings or otherwise proceed
against any other party in any other jurisdictiorehforce judgments obtained in any

-25-



action, suit or proceeding brought pursuant to 8@stion. Each of the parties hereby irrevocablivestrial by jury in any action, suit or
proceeding, whether at law or equity, brought by eithem in connection with this Agreement or thensactions contemplated hereby.

6.15 Further Assurances. Each party hereto shahdgerform or cause to be done and performexliel further acts and things and shall
execute and deliver all such other agreementdficates, instruments and documents as any othéy pareto reasonably may request in
order to carry out the intent and accomplish thgpses of this Agreement and the consummationefrinsactions contemplated hereby.

6.16 No Inconsistent Agreements. The Company willhereafter enter into any agreement which isneistent with the rights granted to the
Holders in this Agreement.

6.17 Construction. The Company and the Holdersaeletdge that each of them has had the benefitgall leounsel of its own choice and |
been afforded an opportunity to review this Agreetweith its legal counsel and that this Agreeménatiishe construed as if jointly drafted by
the Company and the Holders.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be duly executed as of the degeviritten above.
NBC-WWFE HOLDING, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
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Schedule A

Other Registration Rights Granted by the Company

NONE
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EXHIBIT 10.14
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
by and between
VIACOM INC.
and
WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

Dated as of July 28, 2000



REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this or the "Agreent®) dated as of July 28, 2000, by and between &fiainc., a Delaware
corporation ("Viacom") and World Wrestling FedeoatiEntertainment, Inc., a Delaware corporation {empany").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Viacom and the Company have entered irBtmak Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 28 @g@h Stock Purchase
Agreement, as amended or otherwise modified frome tio time, the "Purchase Agreement”), pursuantich the Company will sell, and
Viacom will purchase, 2,307,692 newly-issued shafg3lass A Common Stock, par value $.01 per stddrihe Company (the "Common
Shares").

WHEREAS, the Company has further agreed to prové&in registration rights in respect of the Reglde Securities (as defined below)
the terms and subject to the conditions set foetiein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premised @iithe mutual agreements contained herein, andtfier good and valuab
consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, and intending to be kegallind hereby, the parties hereto agree
as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Agreement, the daling terms shall have the following meanings:

"Affiliate” shall mean (i) with respect to any Pers any other Person directly or indirectly coritngl or controlled by or under direct or
indirect common control with such Person, andwith respect to any individual, shall also meangheuse, sibling, child, stepchild,
grandchild, niece, nephew or parent of such Pexsatfie spouse thereof.

"Blackout Period" shall have the meaning set fontBection 2.6.

"Common Shares" shall have the meaning set forthdrrecitals hereto.

"Company" shall have the meaning set forth in teamble.

"Demand Registration" shall mean a registrationireqgl to be effected by the Company pursuant t¢i@e2.1.

"Demand Registration Statement" shall mean a magigh statement of the Company which covers thgisdable Securities requested to be
included therein pursuant to the provisions of ®ac2.1 and all amendments and supplements toreggistration statement, including post-
effective amendments, in each case including thegerctus contained therein, all exhibits theretbalhmaterial incorporated by reference

(or deemed to be incorporated by reference) therein

"Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended from time to time, and tiesrand regulations thereunder, or
any successor statute.



"Holders" shall mean the Initial Holder for so loag it owns any Registrable Securities and sudts oéspective successors and permitted
assigns (including any permitted transferees ofigtedle Securities) who acquire or are otherwhigettansferee of Registrable Securities,
directly or indirectly, from such Initial Holder (@ny subsequent Holder), for so long as such ssots and permitted assigns own any
Registrable Securities.

"Holders' Counsel" shall mean one firm of legal meel (per registration) representing the HoldeR@distrable Securities participating in
such registration, which counsel shall be selei}dd the case of a Demand Registration, by thgalting Holders holding a majority of the
Registrable Securities for which registration weguested in the Request, and

(i) in all other cases, by the Majority Holdersthé Registration.

"Incidental Registration” shall mean a registratiequired to be effected by the Company pursuaBSetdion 2.2.

"Incidental Registration Statement" shall meangasteation statement of the Company which coveesRRgistrable Securities requested to be
included therein pursuant to the provisions of ®ac2.2 and all amendments and supplements toreggistration statement, including post-
effective amendments, in each case including thegerctus contained therein, all exhibits theretbalhmaterial incorporated by reference
(or deemed to be incorporated by reference) therein

“Initial Holder" shall mean Viacom.

"Initiating Holders" shall mean, with respect tpaticular registration, the Holders who initiatké Request for such registration.

"Inspectors” shall have the meaning set forth ictia 4.1(g).

"Majority Holders" shall mean one or more HoldefsRegistrable Securities who would hold a majoafythe Registrable Securities then
outstanding.

"Majority Holders of the Registration" shall meavith respect to a particular registration, one erenHolders of Registrable Securities who
would hold a majority of the Registrable Securitiede included in such registration.

"NASD" shall mean the National Association of Sétes Dealers, Inc.

"Person” shall mean any individual, firm, partnépslkeorporation, trust, joint venture, associatifmmt stock company, limited liability
company, unincorporated organization or any othétyeor organization, including a government oeagy or political subdivision thereof,
and shall include any successor (by merger or wikej of such entity.

"Prospectus" shall mean the prospectus includedRegistration Statement (including, without lirtida, any preliminary prospectus and any
prospectus that includes any information previowshitted from a prospectus filed as part of anatife registration statement in reliance
upon Rule 430A promulgated under the Securitie$,A&ctd any such
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Prospectus as amended or supplemented by any ptosgeipplement, and all other amendments and esmepits to such Prospectus,
including post-effective amendments, and in eade @acluding all material incorporated by referefmedeemed to be incorporated by
reference) therein.

"Registrable Securities" shall mean (i) the Comr8bares issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreenet(ii)aamy other securities of the
Company (or any successor or assign of the Compamther by merger, consolidation, sale of assetsherwise) which may be issued or
issuable with respect to, in exchange for, or institution of, the Registrable Securities referehiceclause (i) above by reason of any
dividend or stock split, combination of shares, geer consolidation, recapitalization, reclassiiimat reorganization, sale of assets or similar
transaction. As to any particular Registrable Séesr such securities shall cease to be Regigti@bturities when (A) a registration stater
with respect to the sale of such securities staletbeen declared effective under the SecuritiesaAd such securities shall have been
disposed of in accordance with such registratiatestent, (B) such securities have been othervassferred, a new certificate or other
evidence of ownership for them not bearing thehelgestricting further transfer shall have beerveetd by the Company and subsequent
public distribution of them shall not require regagion under the Securities Act,

(C) such securities shall have ceased to be odisignor (D) such securities become eligible fdesmder Rule 144(k) without any volume,
manner of sale or other restrictions.

"Registration Expenses" shall mean any and all exgeincident to performance of or compliance s Agreement by the Company and
its subsidiaries, including, without limitation) @ll SEC, stock exchange, NASD and other regisimatisting and filing fees, (ii) all fees and
expenses incurred in connection with compliancé wiiite securities or blue sky laws and compliavite the rules of any stock exchange
(including fees and disbursements of counsel imeotion with such compliance and the preparatioa loiue sky memorandum and legal
investment survey), (iii) all expenses of any Pessetained by the Company in preparing or asgjstippreparing, word processing, printing,
distributing, mailing and delivering any RegistoatiStatement, any Prospectus, any underwritingeageats, transmittal letters, securities
sales agreements, securities certificates and dtieements relating to the performance of or coamgie with this Agreement, (iv) the fees
and disbursements of counsel for the Companyhg@/faées and disbursements of all independent pabtiountants (including the expense
any audit and/or "cold comfort" letters) and thesfend expenses of other Persons, including expetdined by the Company, (vi) the
expenses incurred in connection with making roamhspresentations and holding meetings with potémieestors to facilitate the
distribution and sale of Registrable Securitiesotdre customarily borne by the issuer, (vii) aggsfand disbursements of underwriters
customarily paid by issuers, and (viii) premiums ather costs of policies of insurance againsilligds arising out of the public offering of
the Registrable Securities being registered; pexiitiowever, Registration Expenses shall not irchlidcounts and commissions payable to
underwriters, selling brokers, dealer managerstmrasimilar Persons engaged in the distributioarof of the Registrable Securities or the
fees and disbursements of Holders' Counsel; anddwe, further, that in any case where Registraigpenses are not to be borne by the
Company, such expenses shall not include salafi€smpany personnel or general overhead expengbs @ompany, auditing fees,
premiums or other expenses relating to liabilityurance required by underwriters of the Compargtiver expenses for the preparation of
financial statements or other data normally



prepared by the Company in the ordinary coursésdiusiness or which the Company would have indumany event.

"Registration Statement" shall mean any registnastatement of the Company which covers any RedikrSecurities and all amendments
and supplements to any such Registration Staterimehiding post-effective amendments, in each @adeding the Prospectus contained
therein, all exhibits thereto and all material ippmrated by reference (or deemed to be incorpotatadference) therein.

"Request” shall have the meaning set forth in §ail(a).

"SEC" shall mean the Securities and Exchange Cosionisor any

successor agency having jurisdiction to enforceStbeurities Act.

"Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act 883, as amended from time to time, and the ruldsegulations thereunder, or any
successor statute.

"Shelf Registration" shall have the meaning sethfar Section 2.1(a).

"Shelf Registration Period" shall have the meamsiegforth in Section 2.3(b).

"Underwriters" shall mean the underwriters, if aof/the offering being registered under the Semsifct.

"Underwritten Offering” shall mean a sale of setiesi of the Company to an Underwriter or Underwsit®r reoffering to the public.
"Withdrawn Demand Registration" shall have the niegset forth in Section 2.1(a).

"Withdrawn Request" shall have the meaning sehfortSection 2.1(a).

4



2. REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.
2.1 Demand Registration.

(a) Right to Demand Registration. Commencing Deamib, 2000, at any time or from time to time wiies Shelf Registration Statement
provided for in Section 2.3 has not become or tsaffifective under the Securities Act, the Majotitglders shall have the right to request in
writing that the Company register all or part oflsuiHolders' Registrable Securities (a "Requesthi¢tv Request shall specify the amount of
Registrable Securities intended to be disposed sish Holders and the intended method or methbdisposition thereof) by filing with th
SEC a Demand Registration Statement. As promptfyragticable, but no later than 10 days after pasfia Request, the Company shall ¢
written notice of such requested registration talalders of Registrable Securities. Subject totl®ac2.1(b), the Company shall include in a
Demand Registration (i) the Registrable Securititended to be disposed of by the Initiating Hoddand (ii) the Registrable Securities
intended to be disposed of by any other Holder wkitall have made a written request (which regstest specify the amount of Registrable
Securities to be registered) to the Company fdusion thereof in such registration within 20 dayter the receipt of such written notice fr
the Company. The Company shall, as expeditiouspoasible following a Request, use its best effrtsause to be filed with the SEC a
Demand Registration Statement providing for théstegtion under the Securities Act of the Regidea&ecurities which the Company has
been so requested to register by all such Holdethe extent necessary to permit the dispositiuoh Registrable Securities so to be
registered in accordance with the intended metltiatisposition thereof specified in such Requestl(iding, without limitation, by means o
shelf registration pursuant to Rule 415 under theuBties Act (a "Shelf Registration") if so reqtessand if the Company is then eligible to
use such a registration). The Company shall udeegs efforts to have such Demand RegistratioreStant declared effective by the SEC as
soon as practicable thereafter and to keep suctab@mRegistration Statement continuously effectorelie period specified in Section 4.1

A Request may be withdrawn prior to the filing bétDemand Registration Statement by the Majoritidels of the Registration (a
"Withdrawn Request") and a Demand Registratione@tant may be withdrawn prior to the effectivenésseof by the Majority Holders of
the Registration (a "Withdrawn Demand Registrafijpahd such withdrawals shall be treated as a DdrRa&gistration which shall have been
effected pursuant to this Section 2.1, unless thieéts of Registrable Securities to be includesluch Registration Statement reimburse the
Company for its reasonable out-of-pocket RegisiraExpenses relating to the preparation and fitihguch Demand Registration Statement
(to the extent actually incurred); provided, howeteat if a Withdrawn Request or Withdrawn Dem&tejistration is made (A) because of a
material adverse change in the business, finaooiadition or prospects of the Company determinethé case of an Underwritten Offering,
by the sole or lead managing Underwriter in itsogeble discretion, or (B) because the sole oreatlhging Underwriter advises that the
amount of Registrable Securities to be sold in affdring be reduced pursuant to Section 2.1(binlaye than 20% of the Registrable
Securities to be included in such Registrationesi&int, or

(C) because of a postponement of such registratiosuant to Section 2.6, then such withdrawal si@lbe treated as a Demand Registration
effected pursuant to this Section 2.1 (and shalbeacounted toward the number of Demand
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Registrations), and the Company shall pay all Regisn Expenses in connection therewith. Any Holdguesting inclusion in a Demand
Registration may, at any time prior to the effeetilate of the Demand Registration Statement (ananfp reason) revoke such request by
delivering written notice to the Company revokingls requested inclusion.

There is no limitation on the number of Demand Regtions pursuant to this Section 2.1 which thex@any is obligated to effect. The
registration rights granted pursuant to the provisiof this Section 2.1 shall be in addition torgistration rights granted pursuant to the
other provisions of

Section 2 hereof.

(b) Priority in Demand Registrations. If a DemarepRtration involves an Underwritten Offering, ahd sole or lead managing Underwriter,
as the case may be, of such Underwritten Offeritadi sdvise the Company in writing (with a copyetach Holder requesting registration) on
or before the date five days prior to the date gwhreduled for such offering that, in its opinitne amount of Registrable Securities reque
to be included in such Demand Registration excéeglaumber which can be sold in such offering withiprice range acceptable to the
Majority Holders of the Registration (such writitmystate the basis of such opinion and the appraémumber of Registrable Securities
which may be included in such offering), the Compahall include in such Demand Registration, toekient of the number which the
Company is so advised may be included in suchioffethe Registrable Securities requested to Heded in the Demand Registration by
Holders allocated pro rata in proportion to the benmof Registrable Securities requested to be dedun such Demand Registration by each
of them. In the event the Company shall not, byueirof this Section 2.1(b), include in any DemargjiBtration all of the Registrable
Securities of any Holder requesting to be inclusieslich Demand Registration, such Holder may, wpditen notice to the Company given
within five days of the time such Holder first istified of such matter, reduce the amount of Regfid¢ Securities it desires to have included
in such Demand Registration, whereupon only theidRedple Securities, if any, it desires to haveduded will be so included and the Holders
not so reducing shall be entitled to a correspandinrease in the amount of Registrable Securitid® included in such Demand
Registration.

(c) Underwriting; Selection of Underwriters. Nothstanding anything to the contrary contained intise@.1(a), if the Initiating Holders
holding a majority of the Registrable Securitiesvitich registration was requested in the Requeslect, the offering of such Registrable
Securities pursuant to such Demand Registratiolh Isbén the form of a firm commitment Underwritt€ffering; and such Initiating Holders
may require that all Persons (including other Had)lparticipating in such registration sell thegdistrable Securities to the Underwriters at
the same price and on the same terms of underg/afiplicable to the Initiating Holders. If any DemlaRegistration involves an
Underwritten Offering, the sole or managing Undéievs and any additional investment bankers andagens to be used in connection with
such registration shall be selected by the Compsutyject to the approval of the Initiating Holdadding a majority of the Registrable
Securities for which registration was requestethRequest (such approval not to be unreasonatiiheid).

(d) Registration of Other Securities. WheneverGoepany shall effect a Demand Registration, norisiother than the Registrable
Securities shall be covered by such



registration unless the Majority Holders shall hasasented in writing to the inclusion of such otbecurities.

(e) Effective Registration Statement; SuspensioBefmand Registration Statement shall not be deembdve become effective (and the
related registration will not be deemed to haventeféected) (i) unless it has been declared effediy the SEC and remains effective in
compliance with the provisions of the Securities with respect to the disposition of all RegisteBlecurities covered by such Demand
Registration Statement for the time period spetifieSection 4.1(b), (ii) if the offering of any gistrable Securities pursuant to such Derr
Registration Statement is interfered with by ampsirder, injunction or other order or requiremaithe SEC or any other governmental
agency or court, or (iii) if, in the case of an @ndritten Offering, the conditions to closing spgied in an underwriting agreement to which
the Company is a party are not satisfied other tyathe sole reason of any breach or failure by-bklers of Registrable Securities or are
otherwise waived.

(f) Other Registrations. During the period (i) baging on the date of a Request and (ii) endindherdate that is 90 days after the date that a
Demand Registration Statement filed pursuant tb Rexquest has been declared effective by the SE€tlbe Holders shall withdraw such
Request or such Demand Registration Statemenheodate of such Withdrawn Request or such Withdd@amand Registration, the
Company shall not, without the consent of the Majdfolders, file a registration statement (otH®art a registration statement on Form S-4
or S-8 or any successor form to such forms) perngito any other securities of the Company.

(9) Registration Statement Form. Registrations utite Section 2.1 shall be on such appropriatestegion form of the SEC (i) as shall be
selected by the Initiating Holders holding a majodf the Registrable Securities for which registra was requested in the Request and as
shall be reasonably acceptable to the Company(i@nehich shall be available for the sale of Regible Securities in accordance with the
intended method of disposition specified in theuesis for registration; provided, however, thah& Company is then a registrant entitled to
use Form S-3 or any successor form thereto totergisich securities, such registration shall becte#d on such form. The Company agrees to
include in any such Registration Statement allimi@tion which any selling Holder, upon advice ofiesel, shall reasonably request.
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2.2 Incidental Registration.

(a) Right to Include Registrable Securities. If @@mpany at any time or from time to time propdase®gister any of its equity securities
under the Securities Act (other than in a regigtrabn Form S-4 or 8-or any successor form to such forms and other poasuant to Sectic
2.1 or 2.3) whether or not pursuant to registratights granted to other holders of its securitied whether or not for sale for its own accc
the Company shall deliver prompt written notice ighhnotice shall be given at least 30 days priaguoch proposed registration) to all Hold

of Registrable Securities of its intention to undke such registration, describing in reasonabiaildée proposed registration and distribut
(including the anticipated range of the proposddrofg price, the class and number of securitieppsed to be registered and the distribution
arrangements) and of such Holders' right to pgdie in such registration under this Section 2.Bessinafter provided. Subject to the other
provisions of this paragraph (a) and Section 2,2(pbdn the written request of any Holder made wi20 days after the receipt of such writ
notice (which request shall specify the amount egiRtrable Securities to be registered), the Comphall effect the registration under the
Securities Act of all Registrable Securities rege@dy Holders to be so registered (an "IncideR&distration”), to the extent requisite to
permit the disposition of the Registrable Secuwsitie to be registered, by inclusion of such Reajiddr Securities in the Registration Statement
which covers the securities which the Company psepdo register and shall cause such RegistrataiarBent to become and remain
effective with respect to such Registrable Seasith accordance with the registration procedusefosth in Section 4. If an Incidental
Registration involves an Underwritten Offering, iradiately upon notification to the Company from Wrederwriter of the price at which

such securities are to be sold, the Company shaltigise each participating Holder. The Holdersiestjng inclusion in an Incidental
Registration may, at any time prior to the effegtilate of the Incidental Registration Statemerd fanany reason), revoke such request by
delivering written notice to the Company revokingls requested inclusion.

If at any time after giving written notice of itstention to register any securities and prior ®éffective date of the Incidental Registration
Statement filed in connection with such registmatiime Company shall determine for any reasonmeegister or to delay registration of such
securities, the Company may, at its election, gigten notice of such determination to each HolofeRegistrable Securities and, thereupon,
(A) in the case of a determination not to regidtee, Company shall be relieved of its obligatiomegister any Registrable Securities in
connection with such registration (but not fromaldigation to pay the Registration Expenses irexiin connection therewith), without
prejudice, however, to the rights of Holders toseaguch registration to be effected as a registratnder

Section 2.1 or 2.3, and (B) in the case of a dat&tion to delay such registration, the Companyl ffeapermitted to delay the registration of
such Registrable Securities for the same perigdeadelay in registering such other securitiesyioied, however, that if such delay shall
extend beyond 120 days from the date the Compamyjved a request to include Registrable Secuiitissich Incidental Registration, then
the Company shall again give all Holders the opputy to participate therein and shall follow thetification procedures set forth in the
preceding paragraph. There is no limitation onrthber of such Incidental Registrations pursuariis

Section 2.2 which the Company is obligated to effec



The registration rights granted pursuant to theigions of this
Section 2.2 shall be in addition to the registratights granted pursuant to the other provisidrSeztion 2 hereof.

(b) Priority in Incidental Registration. If an Ini@ntal Registration involves an Underwritten Offigr{on a firm commitment basis), and the
sole or the lead managing Underwriter, as the nasebe, of such Underwritten Offering shall advtse Company in writing (with a copy to
each Holder requesting registration) on or befbeedate five days prior to the date then schedigiesuch offering that, in its opinion, the
amount of securities (including Registrable Semsjtrequested to be included in such registragiaeeds the amount which can be sold in
such offering without materially interfering withe successful marketing of the securities beingreff (such writing to state the basis of such
opinion and the approximate number of such seesrnitihich may be included in such offering withautts effect), the Company shall inclt
in such registration, to the extent of the numbkictv the Company is so advised may be includedi¢ch ®ffering without such effect, (i) in
the case of a registration initiated by the Comp#éAy first, the securities that the Company praso® register for its own account, (B)
second, the Registrable Securities requested itmcheded in such registration by the Holders, ated pro rata in proportion to the numbe
Registrable Securities requested to be includedidh registration by each of them, and (C) thitdeosecurities of the Company to be
registered on behalf of any other Person, andh(ifie case of a registration initiated by a Persthier than the Company, (A) first, the
securities requested to be included in such registr by any Persons initiating such registratallgcated pro rata in proportion to the nurr
of securities requested to be included in suchsteggion by each of them, (B) second, the Regikr@bcurities requested to be included in
such registration by the Holders, allocated pra matproportion to the number of Registrable Se@msirequested to be included in such
registration by each of them, (C) third, if the Gmamy was not the Person initiating such registnatioe securities that the Company proposes
to register for its own account, and (D) fourtheatsecurities of the Company to be registeredatvalb of any other Person; provided,
however, that in the event the Company will notybiyue of this Section 2.2(b), include in any suebistration all of the Registrable
Securities of any Holder requested to be includeslich registration, such Holder may, upon writietice to the Company given within thi
days of the time such Holder first is notified ath matter, reduce the amount of Registrable S@esiii desires to have included in such
registration, whereupon only the Registrable Séiesriif any, it desires to have included will keiscluded and the Holders not so reducing
shall be entitled to a corresponding increaseératinount of Registrable Securities to be includeslich registration.

2.3 Shelf Registration Statement.

(a) The Company: (A) shall cause to be filed wite SEC, on or before November 1, 2000, a shelétegion statement (the "Shelf
Registration Statement") on an appropriate formeatide Securities Act, relating solely to the offied sale of all the Registrable Securities
by the Holders thereof from time to time in accorckawith the methods of distribution specified bg tnitial Holder as set forth in the
Registration Statement and Rule 415 under the 8iesufict; and (B) shall use its best efforts tednauch Shelf Registration declared
effective by the SEC as soon as practicable thieredifut in no event later than
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December 15, 2000; provided, however, that no Hqloher than the Initial Holder) shall be entitkedhave the Registrable Securities held
by it covered by such Registration Statement urdash Holder agrees in writing to be bound bytadl provisions of this Agreement
applicable to such Holder.

(b) The Company shall use its best efforts to kbeShelf Registration Statement continuously ¢ffecsupplemented and amended in order
to permit the Prospectus included therein to bdulyvdelivered by the Holders of the RegistrabkrBrities through the date on which all of
the Registrable Securities covered by such ShejfdRation may be sold pursuant to Rule 144(k) unlde Securities Act (or any successor
provision having similar effect) without any volupmaanner of sale or other restrictions, or suchteh@eriod that will terminate on the date
on which all of the Registrable Securities havenbs@d pursuant to the Shelf Registration Stateriergny such case, such period being
called the "Shelf Registration Period"); providadwever, that prior to the termination of such $Relgistration, the Company shall first
furnish to each Holder of Registrable Securitiegigigating in such Shelf Registration (i) an opinj in form and substance satisfactory to the
Majority Holders of the Registration, of counsel foe Company satisfactory to the Majority Holdstating that such Registrable Securities
are freely saleable pursuant to Rule 144(k) uniteiStiecurities Act (or any successor provision lggimilar effect) without any volume,
manner of sale or other restrictions or (ii) a "Nction Letter" from the staff of the SEC statingitthe SEC would not recommend
enforcement action if the Registrable Securitietuitled in such Shelf Registration were sold in blipwsale other than pursuant to an
effective registration statement. The Company dfemlleemed not to have used its best efforts tp teeRegistration Statement effective
during the Shelf Registration Period if it voluniatakes any action that would result in Holdefshe Registrable Securities covered thereby
not being able to offer and sell such Registralgleuities during the Shelf Registration Periodgsalsuch action is required by applicable
law.

(c) If at any time the Majority Holders requestariting that all or any part of the Registrable Gettes covered by the Shelf Registration
Statement be offered by means of a firm commitrbrderwritten Offering, the Company shall causeddiled with the SEC as soon as
practicable any necessary or appropriate suppletoghe Shelf Registration Statement in order featfsuch Underwritten Offering. In such
case, the sole or managing Underwriters and aniiacia investment bankers and managers to be imseghnection with such registration
shall be selected by the Company, subject to theoapl of such Majority Holders (such approval tiobe unreasonably withheld).

2.4 Expenses. The Company shall pay all Registr&ipenses in connection with any Demand Registratncidental Registration, or Shelf
Registration, whether or not such registrationlghetome effective and whether or not all Regida&ecurities originally requested to be
included in such registration are withdrawn or otfise ultimately not included in such registratiercept as otherwise provided with respect
to a Withdrawn Request and a Withdrawn Demand Ragjisn in Section 2.1(a). Each Holder shall pdyacounts and commissions
payable to underwriters, selling brokers, managergher similar Persons engaged in the distrilmubibsuch Holder's Registrable Securities
pursuant to any registration pursuant to this $ai
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2.5 Underwritten Offerings.

(a) Underwritten Offerings. If requested by theesot lead managing Underwriter for any Underwrit@fering effected pursuant to a
Demand Registration or the Shelf Registration &tat#, the Company shall enter into a customary mwriteng agreement with the
Underwriters for such offering, such agreementaadasonably satisfactory in substance and forthet@Company and to each Holder of
Registrable Securities participating in such offgriand to contain such representations and wasaloy the Company and such other terms
as are customary in agreements of that type, imadydvithout limitation, indemnification and cortirition to the effect and to the extent
provided in

Section 5.

(b) Holders of Registrable Securities to be Paktiddnderwriting

Agreement. The Holders of Registrable Securitidsetalistributed by Underwriters in an Underwrit@fiering contemplated by Section 2
shall be parties to the underwriting agreement betwthe Company and such Underwriters and maygchtidolders' option, require that any
or all of the representations and warranties bgl,the other agreements on the part of, the Comfmaagd for the benefit of such
Underwriters shall also be made to and for the titeofesuch Holders of Registrable Securities dmat any or all of the conditions precedent
to the obligations of such Underwriters under suistierwriting agreement be conditions precedertteabligations of such Holders of
Registrable Securities; provided, however, thatGbeipany shall not be required to make any reptatens or warranties with respect to
written information specifically provided by a $ef Holder for inclusion in the Registration Staterh No Holder shall be required to make
any representations or warranties to, or agreenvatlisthe Company or the Underwriters other theyoresentations, warranties or agreernr
regarding such Holder and such Holder's Registr@bfurities.

(c) Participation in Underwritten Registration. Mithstanding anything herein to the contrary, ncsBe may participate in any underwritten
registration hereunder unless such Person (i) agoegell its securities on the same terms andittons provided in any underwriting
arrangements approved by the Persons entitled m#geto approve such arrangement and (ii) accyratehpletes and executes in a timely
manner all questionnaires, powers of attorney,rimu#es, custody agreements, underwriting agreesreemi other documents reasonably
required under the terms of such underwriting ayeaments.

(d) Limitations on Underwritten Offerings. In noent shall the Company be required to effect moae tivo (2) Underwritten Offerings
pursuant to this Agreement (whether as a Demands®Raiipn pursuant to Section 2.1(a) or a Shelfiegtion Statement pursuant to Section
2.3), provided, however, that such Holders shakiigled to an additional Underwritten Offeringthre event any Underwritten Offering by
the Holders under this Agreement is cut back fgr r@ason.

2.6 Postponements. The Company shall be entitipdstpone a Demand Registration and to requiréltiders of Registrable Securities to
discontinue the disposition of their securitiesa®@ad by a Shelf Registration during any Blackoutdee(as defined below) (i) if the Board of
Directors of the Company determines in good fditt effecting such a registration or continuinghsdisposition at such time would have an
adverse effect upon a proposed sale of all (ortanbally all) of the assets of the Company or ageg
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reorganization, recapitalization or similar currgmansaction materially affecting the capital, stawe or equity ownership of the Company, or
(i) if the Company is in possession of materidbimation which the Board of Directors of the Compaletermines in good faith is not in the
best interests of the Company to disclose in stegion statement at such time provided, howehet,the Company may delay a Demand
Registration and require the Holders of Registr&aeurities to discontinue the disposition of tiseicurities covered by a Shelf Registration
only for a reasonable period of time not to exce@dlays (or such earlier time as such transacticemsummated or no longer proposed or
the material information has been made public) (Blackout Period"); provided, further, that thdeetiveness period shall be extended by
number of days in any Blackout Period to the extleat the Registration Statement already was éffeett the commencement of the
Blackout Period. There shall not be more than olaek®ut Period in any 12 month period. The Compstmll promptly notify the Holders in
writing (a "Blackout Notice") of any decision to gtpone a Demand Registration or to discontinuess#I®egistrable Securities covered by a
Shelf Registration pursuant to this Section 2.6 stmall include an undertaking by the Company tanptly notify the Holders as soon as a
Demand Registration may be effected or sales ofdafle Securities covered by a Shelf Registratiary resume. In making any such
determination to initiate or terminate a BlackoatiBd, the Company shall not be required to consitkt or obtain the consent of any Holder,
and any such determination shall be the Companiésresponsibility. Each Holder shall treat allines received from the Company pursuant
to this Section 2.6 in the strictest confidence simall not disseminate such information. If the @amy shall postpone the filing of a Demand
Registration Statement pursuant to this

Section 2.6, the Majority Holders shall have thghtito withdraw the request for registration. Amygls withdrawal shall be made by giving
written notice to the Company within 30 days aftsreipt of the Blackout Notice. Such withdrawn sgition request shall not be treated as a
Demand Registration effected pursuant to Sectidr{ghd shall not be counted towards the numberesfi@dnd Registrations effected), and
Company shall pay all Registration Expenses in eotion therewith.

3. RESTRICTIONS ON SALE.

3.1 Restrictions on Sale by Holders of Common Share

(a) Each of the Holders agrees not to sell, trarmfetherwise dispose of any Shares to any Pardmr than an Affiliate of such Holder,
except in accordance with the following schedule:

Date Maximum percentage of Common Sh ares which the Holders may

sell, transfer or otherwise dis pose of following such date

November 1, 2000 50%
March 16, 2001 100%

(b) If the Company shall at any time hereafter pievto any holder of any securities of the Compaasjrictions with respect to the sale of
such securities on terms or conditions more faverabsuch holder than the terms and conditionsigeal in this Agreement, the Company
shall provide (by way of amendment to this Agreenmerotherwise) such more favorable terms or caomutitto the Holders.
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3.2 Offers to the Company. Notwithstanding Sec8dl(a) hereof, in the event that USA Cable's appktile decision rendered by the trial
court on June 27, 2000 (the "Decision") in thataiarCivil Action No. 17983 in the Court of Changaf the State of Delaware in and for the
New Castle County (USA Cable v. World Wrestling Eedion Entertainment, Inc., Viacom Inc. and CBS$pbaation) results in a fini
nonappealable judgment that is, in substance, &eto USA Cable (a "Final Adverse Judgment"),cdia may, for a period of thirty (30)
days after the entry of the Final Adverse Judgmafifier to sell all (but no less than all) of ther@mon Shares to the Company at a purchase
price equal to $13.00 per share (such Common Shackpurchase price subject to normal adjustmeon tipe occurrence of any event
described in clause (ii) of the definition of Regable Securities), and the Company shall purcease Common Shares at such purchase
price from Viacom.

3.3 Restrictions on Sale by the Company and Otfdrs.Company agrees that (i) if timely requestedriiting by the sole or lead managing
Underwriter in an Underwritten Offering of any Retgable Securities, it will not make any short s#ldoan, grant any option for the
purchase of or effect any public sale or distribbutdf any of the Company's equity securities (gr security convertible into or exchangeable
or exercisable for any of the Company's equity gges) during the nine business days (as such iewmsed in Rule 10b-6 under the
Exchange Act) prior to, and during the time peniedsonably requested by the sole or lead managidguiriter not to exceed 90 days,
beginning on the effective date of the applicabdgiRtration Statement (except as part of such writeen registration or pursuant to
registrations on Forms S-4 or8Ser any successor form to such forms), and (Wilitcause each officer and director of the Compand eac
Affiliate that holds 5% or more of equity secur#i@r any security convertible into or exchangeablexercisable for any of its equity
securities) of the Company purchased from the Compaany time after the date of this Agreemertigothan in a registered public
offering) to so agree.

4. REGISTRATION PROCEDURES.

4.1 Obligations of the Company. Subject to Secfidh) whenever the Company is required to effecteélgéstration of Registrable Securities
under the Securities Act pursuant to Section hisfAgreement, the Company shall, as expeditioaslgossible:

(a) prepare and file with the SEC (promptly, andiy event within 60 days after receipt of a retjteesegister Registrable Securities) the
requisite Registration Statement to effect sucksteggion, which Registration Statement shall congd to form in all material respects with
the requirements of the applicable form and inclaltléinancial statements required by the SEC tdiled therewith, and the Company shall
use its best efforts to cause such Registratiore@ent to become effective (provided, that the Camypmay discontinue any registration of
its securities that are not Registrable Securitiad, under the circumstances specified in Se@idnits securities that are Registrable
Securities); provided, however, that before film&egistration Statement or Prospectus or any amemts or supplements thereto, or
comparable statements under securities or bludasks/ of any jurisdiction, the Company shall (i) yide Holders' Counsel and any other
Inspector with an adequate and appropriate oppityttoparticipate in the preparation of such Ragtion Statement and each Prospectus
included therein (and each amendment or supplethergto or comparable statement) to be
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filed with the SEC, which documents shall be subfjeche review and comment of Holders' Counsed, @ not file any such Registration
Statement or Prospectus (or amendment or suppleimeneto or comparable statement) with the SEChictwHolder's Counsel, any selling
Holder or any other Inspector shall have reasonabjgcted on the grounds that such filing doescoatply in all material respects with the
requirements of the Securities Act or of the rdlesegulations thereunder;

(b) prepare and file with the SEC such amendmamdssapplements to such Registration StatementhenBriospectus used in connection
therewith as may be necessary (i) to keep suchsRation Statement effective, and (ii) to complyhathe provisions of the Securities Act
with respect to the disposition of all RegistraBerurities covered by such Registration Statenireegch case until such time as all of such
Registrable Securities have been disposed of iordaace with the intended methods of dispositiddiah in such Registration Statement;
provided, that except with respect to any Shelfi&egtion, such period need not extend beyond sirths after the effective date of the
Registration Statement; and provided, further, Wit respect to any Shelf Registration, such gkneed not extend beyond the time period
provided in Section 2.3, and which periods, in emgnt, shall terminate when all Registrable Seiegritovered by such Registration
Statement have been sold

(but not before the expiration of the 90 day perigigrred to in Section 4(3)

of the Securities Act and Rule 174 thereundempfligable);

(c) furnish, without charge, to each selling Holdésuch Registrable Securities and each Undemyiftany, of the securities covered by si
Registration Statement, such number of copies @i Registration Statement, each amendment andesuppt thereto (in each case incluc
all exhibits), and the Prospectus included in dRegistration Statement (including each prelimir@rgspectus) in conformity with the
requirements of the Securities Act, and other damis) as such selling Holder and Underwriter magaaably request in order to facilitate
the public sale or other disposition of the Reglsig Securities owned by such selling Holder (tben@any hereby consenting to the use in
accordance with applicable law of each such Registr Statement (or amendment or post-effectiveraiment thereto) and each such
Prospectus (or preliminary prospectus or supplertameto) by each such selling Holder of Regisaracurities and the Underwriters, if
any, in connection with the offering and sale & Registrable Securities covered by such Regisir&tatement or Prospectus);

(d) prior to any public offering of Registrable Sieties, use its best efforts to register or quyadifl Registrable Securities and other securities
covered by such Registration Statement under stingr securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdics as any selling Holder of Registrable
Securities covered by such Registration Statemetfiteosole or lead managing Underwriter, if anyymeasonably request to enable such
selling Holder to consummate the disposition inhsjucisdictions of the Registrable Securities owbgduch selling Holder and to continue
such registration or qualification in effect in Baich jurisdiction for as long as such Registraftatement remains in effect (including
through new filings or amendments or renewals),@mdny and all other acts and things which magydeessary or advisable to enable any
such selling Holder to consummate the dispositiosuich jurisdictions of the Registrable Securitiesied by such selling Holder; provided,
however, that the Company shall not be requirdd mualify generally to do business in any jurigiin where it would not
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otherwise be required to qualify but for this Sewtit.1(d), (ii) subject itself to taxation in anycé jurisdiction, or (iii) consent to general
service of process in any such jurisdiction;

(e) use its best efforts to obtain all other appl®yconsents, exemptions or authorizations froch glovernmental agencies or authorities as
may be necessary to enable the selling Holderadf Registrable Securities to consummate the dispo®f such Registrable Securities;

(f) promptly notify Holders' Counsel, each HoldéRegistrable Securities covered by such Regisingiitatement and the sole or lead
managing Underwriter, if any: (i) when the Registna Statement, any pre-effective amendment, tlosg&rictus or any prospectus supplement
related thereto or post- effective amendment tdRbgistration Statement has been filed and, wipeet to the Registration Statement or any
post-effective amendment, when the same has beetigwtive, (ii) of any request by the SEC or amatestsecurities or blue sky authority for
amendments or supplements to the RegistrationrBéaieor the Prospectus related thereto or for mah@it information, (iii) of the issuance

the SEC of any stop order suspending the effeatisgiof the Registration Statement or the initiatiothreat of any proceedings for that
purpose, (iv) of the receipt by the Company of aatjification with respect to the suspension ofdhalification of any Registrable Securities
for sale under the securities or blue sky lawsnyfjarisdiction or the initiation of any proceedifay such purpose, (v) of the existence of any
fact of which the Company becomes aware or the dw@ppg of any event which results in (A) the Registm Statement containing an untrue
statement of a material fact or omitting to stateaerial fact required to be stated therein oessary to make any statements therein not
misleading, or (B) the Prospectus included in dRebistration Statement containing an untrue statéwofea material fact or omitting to state
a material fact required to be stated therein cesgary to make any statements therein, in thedigthe circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading, (vi) if at any time tepresentations and warranties contemplated bydse2i5(b) cease to be true and correct in
all material respects, and (vii) of the Compangasonable determination that a post-effective amentito a Registration Statement would
be appropriate or that there exists circumstanogeget disclosed to the public which make furthedes under such Registration Statement
inadvisable pending such disclosure and post-éffeeimendment; and, if the natification relatesutoevent described in any of the clauses
(ii) through (vii) of this

Section 4.1, the Company shall promptly preparepplement or post-effective amendment to such Ragjisn Statement or related
Prospectus or any document incorporated therenefieyence or file any other required document ab th

(1) such Registration Statement shall not contajinuantrue statement of a material fact or omittédesa material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements theogimisleading, and (2) as thereafter deliverethéopurchasers of the Registrable
Securities being sold thereunder, such Prospebalbrot include an untrue statement of a matéaietl or omit to state a material fact requ

to be stated therein or necessary to make thexsats therein in the light of the circumstancesenwhich they were made not misleading
(and shall furnish to each such Holder and eachetmdter, if any, a reasonable number of copiesuath Prospectus so supplemented or
amended); and if the notification relates to améwdescribed in clause (iii) of this Section 4.1{fle Company shall take all reasonable action
required to prevent the entry of such stop ordéowemove it if entered;
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(g) make available for inspection by any sellingdéo of Registrable Securities, any sole or leadaging Underwriter participating in any
disposition pursuant to such Registration Stateptéoiders' Counsel and any attorney, accountaattar agent retained by any such sell¢
any Underwriter (each, an "Inspector" and, colladi, the "Inspectors"), all financial and othecaeds, pertinent corporate documents and
properties of the Company and any subsidiariegetfers may be in existence at such time (collelgtitbe "Records") as shall be necessary,
in the opinion of such Holders' and such Underwsiteespective counsel, to enable them to exetieese due diligence responsibility and to
conduct a reasonable investigation within the meaof the Securities Act, and cause the Compamgsaay subsidiaries' officers, directors
and employees, and the independent public accasméthe Company, to supply all information reasuy requested by any such Inspec

in connection with such Registration Statement;

(h) obtain an opinion from the Company's counsdlaficold comfort" letter from the Company's indegent public accountants who have
certified the Company's financial statements inetlidr incorporated by reference in such Regismabimtement, in each case dated the
effective date of such Registration Statement {fadch registration involves an Underwritten Offfigy, dated the date of the closing unde!
underwriting agreement), in customary form and ciogesuch matters as are customarily covered blg spmions and "cold comfort” letters
delivered to underwriters in underwritten publiepings, which opinion and letter shall be reastyahtisfactory to the sole or lead
managing Underwriter, if any, and to the Majoritglders, and furnish to each Holder participatinghia offering and to each Underwriter, if
any, a copy of such opinion and letter addressad¢b Holder (in the case of the opinion) and Uwdiéer (in the case of the opinion and the
"cold comfort" letter);

(i) provide and cause to be maintained a trangfenand registrar for all such Registrable Seiegritovered by such Registration Statement
not later than the effectiveness of such Registnafitatement;

(j) otherwise use its best efforts to comply witheg@plicable rules and regulations of the SEC anyl other governmental agency or authority
having jurisdiction over the offering, and make itafale to its security holders, as soon as readgnahcticable but no later than 90 days ¢
the end of any 12-month period, an earnings state(ijecommencing at the end of any month in whHregistrable Securities are sold to
Underwriters in an Underwritten Offering and (igramencing with the first day of the Company's casgrmonth next succeeding each sale
of Registrable Securities after the effective ddta Registration Statement, which statement slwadér such 12- month periods, in a manner
which satisfies the provisions of Section 11(a)hef Securities Act and Rule 158 thereunder;

(k) if so requested by the Majority Holders of fRegistration, use its best efforts to cause al fRegistrable Securities to be listed (i) on ¢
national securities exchange on which the Compamgarities are then listed or (ii) if securitiddtte Company are not at the time listed on
any national securities exchange (or if the listfidregistrable Securities is not permitted untierrules of each national securities exchange
on which the Company's securities are then list@alg national securities exchange or The Nasdack$tarket's National Market, as
designated by the Majority Holders;
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() keep each selling Holder of Registrable Semsiadvised in writing as to the initiation andgness of any registration under Section 2
hereunder;

(m) enter into and perform customary agreementdu@ing, if applicable, an underwriting agreementiustomary form) and provide office
certificates and other customary closing documents;

(n) cooperate with each selling Holder of Regidra®ecurities and each Underwriter participatinthim disposition of such Registrable
Securities and their respective counsel in conaratiith any filings required to be made with the 8iAand make reasonably available its
employees and personnel and otherwise provide mahsmassistance to the Underwriters (taking istmant the needs of the Company's
businesses and the requirements of the marketoweps) in the marketing of Registrable Securitiemny Underwritten Offering;

(o) furnish to each Holder participating in theesfiig and the sole or lead managing Underwritaanif, without charge, at least one manually-
signed copy of the Registration Statement and asy-gffective amendments thereto, including finahsiatements and schedules, all
documents incorporated therein by reference aneikalbits (including those deemed to be incorpatdg reference);

(p) cooperate with the selling Holders of Regidea®ecurities and the sole or lead managing Undtemyif any, to facilitate the timely
preparation and delivery of certificates not beguamy restrictive legends representing the Rediltr&ecurities to be sold, and cause such
Registrable Securities to be issued in such deratinims and registered in such names in accordaithdhve underwriting agreement prior to
any sale of Registrable Securities to the Undeersibr, if not an Underwritten Offering, in accanda with the instructions of the selling
Holders of Registrable Securities at least thre®rimss days prior to any sale of Registrable Sgesiri

(g) if requested by the sole or lead managing Umdtar or any selling Holder of Registrable Sedast immediately incorporate in a
prospectus supplement or post-effective amendmesht information concerning such Holder of RegideaRecurities, or the Underwriters or
the intended method of distribution as the solkead managing Underwriter or the selling HoldeReDistrable Securities reasonably reqt
to be included therein and as is appropriate im¢lasonable judgment of the Company, includingheuit limitation, information with respect
to the number of shares of the Registrable Seesiiiteing sold to the Underwriters, the purchaspreing paid therefor by such
Underwriters and with respect to any other termthefUnderwritten Offering of the Registrable Sé&s to be sold in such offering; make
all required filings of such Prospectus supplenoengost-effective amendment as soon as notifigtl@matters to be incorporated in such
Prospectus supplement or post-effective amendraedtsupplement or make amendments to any Registratatement if requested by the
sole or lead managing Underwriter of such Registr&ecurities; and

(r) use its best efforts to take all other stepsensary to expedite or facilitate the registratiod disposition of the Registrable Securities
contemplated hereby.
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4.2 Seller Information. The Company may requirehesadling Holder of Registrable Securities as tacltany registration is being effected
furnish to the Company such information regardinghsHolder, such Holder's Registrable Securitiessarch Holder's intended method of
disposition as the Company may from time to tinesomably request in writing; provided that sucloinfation shall be used only in
connection with such registration.

If any Registration Statement or comparable stat¢meder "blue sky" laws refers to any Holder bynesor otherwise as the Holder of any
securities of the Company, then such Holder stalklthe right to require (i) the insertion thereianguage, in form and substance
satisfactory to such Holder and the Company, teeffext that the holding by such Holder of suchusies is not to be construed as a
recommendation by such Holder of the investmenlityuaf the Company's securities covered therehy tat such holding does not imply
that such Holder will assist in meeting any futfinancial requirements of the Company, and (ijhia event that such reference to such
Holder by name or otherwise is not in the judgnaithe Company, as advised by counsel, requireithéyBecurities Act or any similar
federal statute or any state "blue sky" or se@gitaw then in force, the deletion of the refereiocguch Holder.

4.3 Notice to Discontinue. Each Holder of Regideahecurities agrees by acquisition of such RegjitdrSecurities that, upon receipt of any
notice from the Company of the happening of anyneweéthe kind described in Section 4.1(f)(ii) tbgh (vii), such Holder shall forthwith
discontinue disposition of Registrable Securitissspant to the Registration Statement covering Regjistrable Securities until such Hold
receipt of the copies of the supplemented or anpdaspectus contemplated by Section 4.1(f) arsh directed by the Company, such
Holder shall deliver to the Company (at the Compmaypense) all copies, other than permanentditées, then in such Holder's possession
of the Prospectus covering such Registrable Séesirithich is current at the time of receipt of sackice. If the Company shall give any s
notice, the Company shall extend the period dunihigh such Registration Statement shall be maiatheffective pursuant to this Agreem
(including, without limitation, the period referreéalin Section 4.1(b)) by the number of days dutimg period from and including the date of
the giving of such notice pursuant to Section 4.to(fand including the date when the Holder shallehreceived the copies of the
supplemented or amended prospectus contemplataddogneeting the requirements of Section 4.1(f).

5. INDEMNIFICATION; CONTRIBUTION.

5.1 Indemnification by the Company. The Companyagtto indemnify and hold harmless, to the fulbesént permitted by law, each Holder
of Registrable Securities, its officers, directqartners, members, shareholders, employees,afffliand agents (collectively, "Agents") and
each Person who controls such Holder (within thamreg of the Securities Act) and its Agents withpect to each registration which has
been effected pursuant to this Agreement, agaimstad all losses, claims, damages or liabilifieisit or several, actions or proceedings
(whether commenced or threatened) in respect thexed expenses (as incurred or suffered and indudhut not limited to, any and all
expenses incurred in investigating, preparing déerding any litigation or proceeding, whether comuoes or threatened, and the reasonable
fees, disbursements and other charges of legaketjun respect thereof (collectively, "Claims')sofar as such Claims arise out of or are
based upon any untrue
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or alleged untrue statement of a material factaiortd in any Registration Statement or Prospeatekifling any preliminary, final or
summary prospectus and any amendment or supplehezeto) related to any such registration or anission or alleged omission to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or s&aey to make the statements therein not misleadimany violation by the Company of the
Securities Act or any rule or regulation thereurajgslicable to the Company and relating to actioimaction required of the Company in
connection with any such registration, or any dication or compliance incident thereto; providadwever, that the Company will not be
liable in any such case to the extent that any §llalms arise out of or are based upon any untatersent or alleged untrue statement of a
material fact or omission or alleged omission afigerial fact so made in reliance upon and in conity with written information furnished
to the Company in an instrument duly executed leh ddolder specifically stating that it was exprgdsk use therein. The Company shall
also indemnify any Underwriters of the Registrabéeurities, their Agents and each Person who dgrdaryy such Underwriter (within the
meaning of the Securities Act) to the same extemravided above with respect to the indemnificatbthe Holders of Registrable
Securities. Such indemnity shall remain in fullderand effect regardless of any investigation nigder on behalf of any Person who may be
entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Sestband shall survive the transfer of securitiesigh Holder or Underwriter.

5.2 Indemnification by Holders. Each Holder, if Regable Securities held by it are included in $leeurities as to which a registration is
being effected, agrees to, severally and not jimidemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest exgermitted by law, the Company, its
directors and officers, each other Person whogpaties as an Underwriter in the offering or sdlsuzh securities and its Agents and each
Person who controls the Company or any such Undterwwithin the meaning of the Securities Act) atsdAgents against any and all
Claims, insofar as such Claims arise out of oased upon any untrue or alleged untrue statementnaterial fact contained in any
Registration Statement or Prospectus (includingm@eiiminary, final or summary prospectus and amgadment or supplement thereto)
related to such registration, or any omission lagald omission to state therein a material faatired to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading, textent, but only to the extent, that such untragestent or alleged untrue statement or
omission or alleged omission was made in reliarppmnwand in conformity with written information fushed to the Company in an instrum
duly executed by such Holder specifically statihgttit was expressly for use therein; provided, éav, that the aggregate amount which
such Holder shall be required to pay pursuantitoSlection 5.2 shall in no event be greater tharathount of the net proceeds received by
such Holder upon the sale of the Registrable S@esipursuant to the Registration Statement givisgyto such Claims less all amounts
previously paid by such Holder with respect to angh Claims. Such indemnity shall remain in fulicland effect regardless of any
investigation made by or on behalf of such indemadiparty and shall survive the transfer of suatuses by such Holder or Underwriter.

5.3 Conduct of Indemnification Proceedings. Prognafter receipt by an indemnified party of notideaay Claim or the commencement of
any action or proceeding involving a Claim undés tection 5, such indemnified party shall, if ail in respect thereof is to be made ag
the indemnifying party pursuant to Section 5, @Jify the indemnifying party in writing of the Clai or the commencement of such action or
proceeding; provided, that the failure of any indéiad party to provide such notice shall not reighe indemnifying
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party of its obligations under this Section 5, gtde the extent the indemnifying party is matdyiaind actually prejudiced thereby and shall
not relieve the indemnifying party from any liabjlwhich it may have to any indemnified party otliese than under this Section 5, and (ii)
permit such indemnifying party to assume the defarisuch claim with counsel reasonably satisfgdtothe indemnified party; provided,
however, that any indemnified party shall havertbbt to employ separate counsel and to participathe defense of such claim, but the fees
and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expéssich indemnified party unless (A) the inderyinif party has agreed in writing to pay
such fees and expenses, (B) the indemnifying =@yl have failed to assume the defense of sudinm @ad employ counsel reasonably
satisfactory to such indemnified party within 1§/slafter receiving notice from such indemnifiedtpahat the indemnified party believes it
has failed to do so, (C) in the reasonable judgroéaty such indemnified party, based upon adviamansel, a conflict of interest may exist
between such indemnified party and the indemnifyiagy with respect to such claims (in which cafstihe indemnified party notifies the
indemnifying party in writing that it elects to efop separate counsel at the expense of the indgmgiparty, the indemnifying party shall
not have the right to assume the defense of s@itm dn behalf of such indemnified party) or (D) Isiicdemnified party is a defendant in an
action or proceeding which is also brought agdimstndemnifying party and reasonably shall havectaled that there may be one or more
legal defenses available to such indemnified pattich are not available to the indemnifying paiip indemnifying party shall be liable for
any settlement of any such claim or action effeet@Hout its written consent, which consent shall be unreasonably withheld. In addition,
without the consent of the indemnified party (whadnsent shall not be unreasonably withheld), denmifying party shall be permitted to
consent to entry of any judgment with respect tdpeffect the settlement or compromise of anydgamor threatened action or claim in
respect of which indemnification or contributionyrt@e sought hereunder (whether or not the indepthiiarty is an actual or potential party
to such action or claim), unless such settlemampromise or judgment (1) includes an unconditioebdase of the indemnified party from
all liability arising out of such action or clairt®) does not include a statement as to or an admis$ fault, culpability or a failure to act, by
or on behalf of any indemnified party, and (3) doesprovide for any action on the part of any pather than the payment of money
damages which is to be paid in full by the inderyini party.

5.4 Contribution. If the indemnification providedrfin Section 5.1 or 5.2 from the indemnifying dir any reason is unavailable to (other
than by reason of exceptions provided thereinjs arsufficient to hold harmless, an indemnifiedtpdereunder in respect of any Claim, tl
the indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying sutmdemnified party, shall contribute to the amopaid or payable by such indemnified
party as a result of such Claim in such proporéeiis appropriate to reflect the relative faulthaf indemnifying party, on the one hand, and
the indemnified party, on the other hand, in cotinaawith the actions which resulted in such Claas,well as any other relevant equitable
considerations. The relative fault of such indering party and indemnified party shall be deterrdibg reference to, among other things,
whether any action in question, including any uatou alleged untrue statement of a material fachaission or alleged omission to state a
material fact, has been made by, or relates tarimdtion supplied by, such indemnifying party orénthified party, and the parties' relative
intent, knowledge, access to information and opity to correct or prevent such action. If, howetke foregoing allocation is not
permitted by applicable law, then each indemnifypagty shall contribute to the amount paid or pégdly such indemnified party in

20



such proportion as is appropriate to reflect ndy sach relative faults but also the relative bésedf the indemnifying party and the
indemnified party as well as any other relevantitatple considerations.

The parties hereto agree that it would not begast equitable if contribution pursuant to this 8tb.4 were determined by pro rata
allocation or by any other method of allocation e¥hdloes not take into account the equitable coridas referred to in the immediately
preceding paragraph. The amount paid or payabkegarty as a result of any Claim referred to initheediately preceding paragraph shall
be deemed to include, subject to the limitationdaeh in Section 5.3, any legal or other feests@r expenses reasonably incurred by such
party in connection with any investigation or predmg. Notwithstanding anything in this Section ta4he contrary, no indemnifying party
(other than the Company) shall be required purstaatitis

Section 5.4 to contribute any amount in excest®fiet proceeds received by such indemnifying festy the sale of the Registrable
Securities pursuant to the Registration Statemiemgyrise to such Claims, less all amounts presippaid by such indemnifying party with
respect to such Claims. No person guilty of frasdumisrepresentation (within the meaning of Sectib(a) of the Securities Act) shall be
entitled to contribution from any person who was guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

5.5 Other Indemnification. Indemnification simitarthat specified in the preceding Sections 5.1madwith appropriate modifications) sh
be given by the Company and each selling Hold®eagfistrable Securities with respect to any requieggstration or other qualification of
securities under any Federal or state law or réigulaf any governmental authority, other than Seeurities Act. The indemnity agreements
contained herein shall be in addition to any otights to indemnification or contribution which amdemnified party may have pursuant to
law or contract.

5.6 Indemnification Payments. The indemnificatiowl @ontribution required by this Section 5 shalhiede by periodic payments of the
amount thereof during the course of any investigatr defense, as and when bills are receivedyeagpense, loss, damage or liability is
incurred.

6. GENERAL.

6.1 Adjustments Affecting Registrable SecuritietBe TTCompany agrees that it shall not effect or petondccur any combination or
subdivision of shares which would materially adedysaffect the ability of the Holder of any Regadite Securities to include such Registr:
Securities in any registration contemplated by Agseement or the marketability of such Registréddeurities in any such registration.

6.2 Registration Rights to Others. Other than a$osth on Schedule A attached hereto, the Comjigngt party to any agreement with
respect to its securities granting any registratights to any Person. If the Company shall att@mg hereafter provide to any holder of any
securities of the Company rights with respect torégistration of such securities under the Seearfct, (i) such rights shall not be in
conflict with or adversely affect any of the rigpiovided in this Agreement to the Holders andi{iguch rights are provided on terms or
conditions more favorable to such holder than ¢hm$ and conditions provided in this
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Agreement, the Company shall provide (by way of raneent to this Agreement or otherwise) such movertble terms or conditions to the
Holders.

6.3 Availability of Information. The Company coventa that it shall timely file any reports requitedbe filed by it under the Securities Ac
the Exchange Act (including, but not limited toe tleports under Sections 13 and 15(d) of the Exgiéwet referred to in subparagraph (c) of
Rule 144 under the Securities Act), and that itighke such further action as any Holder of Reglsie Securities may reasonably request, all
to the extent required from time to time to enahleh Holder to sell Registrable Securities withegfistration under the Securities Act within
the limitation of the exemptions provided by (i)|IRd44 under the Securities Act, as such rule neagrbended from time to time, or (ii) any
other rule or regulation now existing or herea#tdopted by the SEC. Upon the request of any HaflRegistrable Securities, the Company
shall deliver to such Holder a written statementioaghether it has complied with such requirements.

6.4 Amendments and Waivers. The provisions of Algireement may not be amended, modified, supplerdemtéerminated, and waivers or
consents to departures from the provisions heregf mot be given, without the written consent of @@npany and the Holders holding more
than 50% of the Registrable Securities then oudstap provided, however, that no such amendmentlification, supplement, waiver or
consent to departure shall reduce the aforesatkptage of Registrable Securities without the amittonsent of all of the Holders of
Registrable Securities; and provided, further, ti@hing herein shall prohibit any amendment, nmodifon, supplement, termination, waiver
or consent to departure the effect of which istimionly to those Holders who have agreed to so@mdment, modification, supplement,
termination, waiver or consent to departure.

6.5 Notices. All notices and other communicatiorsvjaed for or permitted hereunder shall be maderiting by hand delivery, telecopier,
any courier guaranteeing overnight delivery ortfilass registered or certified mail, return retefiguested, postage prepaid, addressed to th
applicable party at the address set forth belosuch other address as may hereafter be desigmatetting by such party to the other parties
in accordance with the provisions of this Section:

(i) If to the Company, to:

World Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc. 1Ekt Main Street
P.O. Box 3857

Stamford, CT 06902

Attn: Edward L. Kaufman

Telecopy: 203-353-0236

Telephone: 203-352-8786

With a copy to:
Kirkpatrick & Lockhart LLP Henry W. Oliver Building
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535 Smithfield Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15222-2312 Attn: W. Henry Snyderq.Es

Telecopy: 412-355-6501
Telephone: 412-355-6720
(ii) If to the Initial Holder, to:

Viacom Inc.

1515 Broadway

New York, NY 1003¢
Attn: General Counsel
Telecopy: 212-258-6070
Telephone: 212-258-6099

(iii) If to any subsequent Holder, to the addressuzh Person set forth in the records of the Campa

All such notices and communications shall be deetmdtve been duly given: at the time deliveredhlgd, if personally delivered; when
receipt is acknowledged, if telecopied; on the roexdiness day, if timely delivered to a courierrgméeeing overnight delivery; and five days
after being deposited in the mail, if sent firgtsd or certified mail, return receipt requestedtaqge prepaid.

6.6 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shai it the benefit of and be binding upon the partiereto and their respective successors
and permitted assigns. Any Holder may assign toAdfiljate or to any other transferee of at leaS0p00 Common Shares (subject to any
adjustment for stock splits, dividends, recapitlians and similar corporate events) (other thararssferee that acquires such Registrable
Securities in a registered public offering or parsito a sale under Rule 144 of the Securities(@wcany successor rule)), its rights and
obligations under this Agreement; provided, howeifeany such transferee shall take and hold Regfitd Securities, such transferee shall
promptly notify the Company and by taking and hafdsuch Registrable Securities such transfereé altamatically be entitled to receive
the benefits of and be conclusively deemed to lagveed to be bound by and to perform all of thesesind provisions of this Agreement ¢

it were a party hereto (and shall, for all purpofesdeemed a Holder under this Agreement). IQbmpany shall so request, any success
permitted assign (including any permitted trans#gihall agree in writing to acquire and hold tlegRtrable Securities subject to all of the
terms hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, 'ssgmr” for any entity other than a natural perdwil snean a successor to such entity as a
result of such entity's merger, consolidation, sdlsubstantially all of its assets, or similamgaction. Except as provided above or otherwise
permitted by this Agreement, neither this Agreemmntany right, remedy, obligation or liability sing hereunder or by reason hereof she
assignable by any Holder or by the Company withlbetconsent of the other parties hereto.
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6.7 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executédaror more counterparts, each of which, whenxezeted and delivered, shall be
deemed to be an original, but all of which courset taken together, shall constitute one anddnge instrument.

6.8 Descriptive Headings, Etc. The headings inAlgiseement are for convenience of reference ontiysinall not limit or otherwise affect the
meaning of terms contained herein. Unless the gbofehis Agreement otherwise requires: (1) wasflany gender shall be deemed to
include each other gender; (2) words using theusamgr plural number shall also include the plunasingular number, respectively; (3) the
words "hereof', "herein" and "hereunder" and wafisimilar import when used in this Agreement siefér to this Agreement as a whole
and not to any particular provision of this Agre@meand Section and paragraph references are ®dtions and paragraphs of this
Agreement unless otherwise specified; (4) the worduding" and words of similar import when usedthis Agreement shall mean
"including, without limitation," unless otherwispexified; (5) "or" is not exclusive; and (6) prawiss apply to successive events and
transactions.

6.9 Severability. In the event that any one or najréne provisions, paragraphs, words, clauseggglsror sentences contained herein, or the
application thereof in any circumstances, is helalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respectday reason, the validity, legality and
enforceability of any such provision, paragraphrdyelause, phrase or sentence in every otherceape of the other remaining provisions,
paragraphs, words, clauses, phrases or senternees Gleall not be in any way impaired, it beingeimded that all rights, powers and privile

of the parties hereto shall be enforceable totlest extent permitted by law.

6.10 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be goveidmg and construed in accordance with, the lavth@fState of New York (without
giving effect to the conflict of laws principlesetteof).

6.11 Remedies; Specific Performance. The partiesdhv@cknowledge that money damages would not lzlaquate remedy at law if any
party fails to perform in any material respect anjts obligations hereunder, and accordingly agne¢ each party, in addition to any other
remedy to which it may be entitled at law or in igushall be entitled to seek to compel specificfprmance of the obligations of any other
party under this Agreement, without the postingumy bond, in accordance with the terms and conwitaf this Agreement in any court of 1
United States or any State thereof having jurigatictand if any action should be brought in eqtatenforce any of the provisions of this
Agreement, none of the parties hereto shall rhisalefense that there is an adequate remedy aEknept as otherwise provided by law, a
delay or omission by a party hereto in exercising @ght or remedy accruing upon any such breaell sbt impair the right or remedy or
constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in any swehch. No remedy shall be exclusive of any otberedy. All available remedies shall be
cumulative.

6.12 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the RagetAgreement are intended by the parties as leefipaession of their agreement and
intended to be a complete and exclusive statenfeheagreement and understanding of the partietdven respect of the subject matter
contained herein. There are no restrictions, presjigepresentations, warranties, covenants or takilegs relating to such subject matter,
other than those set forth or referred to hereiim ¢éhe Purchase Agreement. This Agreement anétinehase Agreement supersede all
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prior agreements and understandings between th@&uonand the other parties to this Agreement vagipect to such subject matter.

6.13 Nominees for Beneficial Owners. In the evbat tiny Registrable Securities are held by a noerfioethe beneficial owner thereof, the
beneficial owner thereof may, at its election intiwg delivered to the Company, be treated as thddr of such Registrable Securities for
purposes of any request or other action by anyenald holders of Registrable Securities pursuatitinAgreement or any determination of
any number or percentage of shares of Registraddarifies held by any holder or holders of Regid&r&ecurities contemplated by this
Agreement. If the beneficial owner of any Regisieg®ecurities so elects, the Company may requgerasces reasonably satisfactory to it of
such owner's beneficial ownership of such Regitr8lecurities.

6.14 Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury. Epahty to this Agreement hereby irrevocably and mdétionally agrees that any legal action,
suit or proceeding arising out of or relating tstAgreement or any agreements or transactionengiated hereby may be brought in any
federal court of the Southern District of New Yankany state court located in New York County, &te#tNew York, and hereby irrevocably
and unconditionally expressly submits to the peaspmisdiction and venue of such courts for thepmses thereof and hereby irrevocably
unconditionally waives any claim (by way of moti@s, a defense or otherwise) of improper venue,jttieahot subject personally to the
jurisdiction of such court, that such courts arérmonvenient forum or that this Agreement or thbjsct matter may not be enforced in or
such court. Each party hereby irrevocably and uditmmally consents to the service of process gf @irthe aforementioned courts in any
such action, suit or proceeding by the mailingagies thereof by registered or certified mail, pgstprepaid, to the address set forth or
provided for in Section 6.5 of this Agreement, seehvice to become effective 10 days after suchimgaiNothing herein contained shall be
deemed to affect the right of any party to sengeess in any manner permitted by law or commerga [groceedings or otherwise proceed
against any other party in any other jurisdictiorebforce judgments obtained in any action, sufiroceeding brought pursuant to this
Section. Each of the parties hereby irrevocablyesirial by jury in any action, suit or proceedindnether at law or equity, brought by any
of them in connection with this Agreement or thenractions contemplated hereby.

6.15 Further Assurances. Each party hereto shahdgerform or cause to be done and performexliel further acts and things and shall
execute and deliver all such other agreementsficatés, instruments and documents as any othty pareto reasonably may request in
order to carry out the intent and accomplish thgpses of this Agreement and the consummationefrinsactions contemplated hereby.

6.16 No Inconsistent Agreements. The Company willhereafter enter into any agreement which isneistent with the rights granted to the
Holders in this Agreement.

6.17 Construction. The Company and the Holders asletdge that each of them has had the benefitgall leounsel of its own choice and |
been afforded an opportunity to review this Agreetweith its legal counsel and that this Agreemédnatlisbe construed as if jointly drafted by
the Company and the Holders.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be duly executed as of the degeviritten above.
VIACOM INC.

By:

Name: Michael D. Fricklas
Title: Executive Vice President and
General Counsel

WORLD WRESTLING FEDERATION ENTERTAINMENT,
INC.

By:

Name:
Title:
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Schedule A

Other Registration Rights Granted by the Company

NBC-WWFE HOLDING, INC. (attached hereto)
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EXHIBIT 23.1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®eggion Statement No. 333-92041 on Form S-8 ofldd/restling Federation
Entertainment, Inc. of our report dated June 2002Quly 28, 2000 as to Note 18), appearing inAmsual Report on Form 10-K of World

Wrestling Federation Entertainment, Inc. for tharyended April 30, 2000.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP
St anford, Connecticut

July 28, 2000



ARTICLE 5
MULTIPLIER: 1,00C

PERIOD TYPE YEAR
FISCAL YEAR END APR 30 200
PERIOD START MAY 01 199¢
PERIOD END APR 30 200
CASH 101,77¢
SECURITIES 107,21:
RECEIVABLES 61,457
ALLOWANCES 1,03:
INVENTORY 2,75z
CURRENT ASSET¢ 287,85
PP&E 67,37¢
DEPRECIATION 25,89(
TOTAL ASSETS 337,03.
CURRENT LIABILITIES 68,09¢
BONDS 10,93
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0
PREFERREL 0
COMMON 682
OTHER SE 257,85!
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 337,03.
SALES 379,31(
TOTAL REVENUES 379,31
CGS 220,98(
TOTAL COSTS 220,98(
OTHER EXPENSE! 89,93t
LOSS PROVISION 115
INTEREST EXPENSE 2,15¢
INCOME PRETAX 73,69¢
INCOME TAX 14,79(
INCOME CONTINUING 58,90¢
DISCONTINUED 0
EXTRAORDINARY 0
CHANGES 0
NET INCOME 58,90¢
EPS BASIC 0.94
EPS DILUTED 0.94
End of Filing
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